MidAmerica XLIII

The Yearbook of the Society for the Study of Midwestern Literature

David D. Anderson, Founding Editor Marcia Noe, Editor

The Midwestern Press
The Center for the Study of
Midwestern Literature and Culture
Michigan State University
East Lansing, Michigan 48824-1033

Copyright 2016
by The Society for the Study of
Midwestern Literature
All rights reserved.

Printed in the United States of America.

No part of this work may be reproduced without permission of the publisher.

MidAmerica 2016 (ISSN 0190-2911) is a peer-reviewed journal that is published annually by The Society for the Study of Midwestern Literature.

This journal is a member of the Council of Editors of Learned Journals.



THE SOCIETY FOR THE STUDY OF MIDWESTERN LITERATURE

http://www.ssml.org/home

EDITORIAL COMMITTEE

Marcia Noe, Editor, The University of Tennessee at Chattanooga

Marilyn Judith Atlas Ohio University

William Barillas University of Wisconsin-La Crosse Robert Beasecker Grand Valley State University

Robert Dunne Central Connecticut State University
Scott D. Emmert University of Wisconsin-Fox Valley

Philip Greasley University of Kentucky

Sara Kosiba Troy University

Nancy McKinney Illinois State University
Mary DeJong Obuchowski Central Michigan University

Andy Oler Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University

Patricia Oman Hastings College

James Seaton Michigan State University

Jeffrey Swenson Hiram College

EDITORIAL ASSISTANTS

Michael Jaynes Michelle Suarez Gale Mauk Rene Sleeman

Heather Palmer

MidAmerica, a peer-reviewed journal of The Society for the Study of Midwestern Literature, is published annually. We welcome scholarly contributions from our members on any aspect of Midwestern literature and culture. Except for winners of our annual poetry and prose contests, we do not publish poems, short stories, or creative nonfiction. If you would like to submit a scholarly essay of not more than 15 pages or 3,750 words to be considered for publication in *MidAmerica*, please send a hard copy of your essay by July 1 to Marcia Noe, 1012 Forest Avenue, Chattanooga, TN 37405 and an electronic copy to marcia-noe@utc.edu Please use the seventh edition of the MLA *Handbook*; in documenting sources, use parenthetical citations within your essay with a list of works cited. If you include discursive notes, they should be endnotes that use Arabic, not Roman, numerals, not footnotes. Use no headers, footers, or page numbers. Do not put your name on your essay. Include your contact information in your cover letter to Marcia. Be sure to give your institutional affiliation. Do not submit work that has been previously published, in whole or in part, or that is under consideration by another publication; such submissions will not be considered for publication in MidAmerica.

In Honor of Donald Pizer

PREFACE

On June 2, 2016, members of The Society for the Study of Midwestern Literature gathered in East Lansing for its forty-sixth annual meeting. At the awards luncheon on June 3, Donald Pizer was named the 2016 winner of the MidAmerica Award for distinguished contributions to the study of Midwestern literature, and Michael Martone won the Mark Twain Award for distinguished contributions to Midwestern literature. Mary Minock was the winner of the Gwendolyn Brooks Poetry Prize for "If You Loved Me Half as Much as I Love You," and Douglas Sheldon won the Paul Somers Prize for Creative Prose for "Leather and Wool." Highlights included panels on Ernest Hemingway, Willa Cather, F. Scott Fitzgerald, and contemporary Midwestern short fiction, and a roundtable of editors of the Dictionary of Midwestern Literature, volume 2, published in August of 2016 by Indiana University Press.

SSML is currently operating at a loss due to increased expenses in publishing its journals and convening its annual symposium. Major gifts from the late Jane S. Bakerman, David Diamond, and David D. Anderson have enabled us to continue our work while we seek to establish a more stable financial footing for the work ahead. SSML is also grateful to the following members and friends who have made contributions in addition to their dues. As more such contributions are received, and earlier ones are discovered in searching the archives, we will add more names to this Honor Roll: Walter Adams, Robert Beasecker, Gwendolyn Brooks, Ray B. Browne, Mary Ellen Caldwell, Louis J. Cantoni, G.B. Crump, Bernard F. Engel, Kenneth B. Grant, Philip A. Greasley, Theodore Haddin, Donald Hassler, Janet Ruth Heller, Ted Kennedy, Jean Laming, Barbara Lindquist, Larry Lockridge, Loren Logsdon, Bud Narveson, Marcia Noe, Mary Obuchowski, Tom Page, E. Elizabeth Raymond, Herbert K. Russell, James Seaton, Guy Szuberla, Doug Wixson, Melody Zajdel, and the family and friends of Paul Somers.

CONTENTS

Preface		6
Recent Midwestern Fiction and Poetry		8
Self-Portrait The Gwendolyn Brooks Prize Poem	John Beall	9
Where Am I Who? The Paul Sommers Prize for Creative Prose	Jane L. Carman e	n 10
"Once More, the Round": Theodore Roethke's Last Word	William Barillas	14
A Career Begins: Ted Kooser's Official Entry E and an Emerging Voice	<i>Blank</i> Jeffrey Hotz	29
Worldly Temptations, Both Urban and Rural: J.F. Powers's <i>Morte D'Urban</i>	Jeffrey Swenson	44
Going to Paris with Donald Ogden Stewart and the Haddocks of Ohio	l Guy Szuberla	63
"I'm a Rootless Man": Richard Wright and the Limits of Midwestern Realism	Jon K. Lauck	78
"Time is the Fourth Dimension of Space": The Radicalism of Paul Gruchow's Theory of Time and Place	Michelle M. Campbell	96
Whose Book Is This? Textual Unhomeliness in Toni Morrison's <i>Home</i>	Joshua Murray	108
Hemingway as Craftsman: Revising "Fathers and Sons"	John Beall	118
Helen Ferguson and Friends in A Farewell to Arms	Charles J. Nolan	144
Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature 2014	Robert Beasecker	157
SSML Conference Information		231
Calls for Papers		232
Recipients of the Mark Twain Award		234
Recipients of the MidAmerica Award	Back C	Cover

RECENT MIDWESTERN FICTION AND POETRY

Fiction

Agee, Jonis. The Paradise of Bones. Morrow, 2016. [Nebraska]

Baxter, Charles. *There's Something I Want You to Do.* Pantheon, 2015. [Minneapolis]

Bell, Matt. Scrapper. Soho, 2015. [Detroit].

Chevalier, Tracy. At the Edge of the Orchard. Viking, 2016. [Ohio]

Flournoy, Angela. *The Turner House*. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt, 2015. [Detroit]

Fordon, Kelly. *Garden for the Blind*. Wayne State UP, 2015. [suburban Detroit]

Hamilton, Jane. *The Excellent Lombards*. Grand Central Publishing, 2016. [Wisconsin]

Harrison, Jim. The Big Seven. Grove, 2015. [Michigan, UP]

Hebert, Christopher. Angels of Detroit. Bloomsbury USA, 2016. [Detroit]

Hoag, Tami. *The Bitter Season*. Dutton, 2016. [Minneapolis]

Lodgson, Loren. *The Moon was Big and Yellow and I Was a Little Chicken Myself.* Eureka, 2016 [western Illinois]

Markovits, Benjamin. You Don't Have to Live like This. HarperCollins, 2015. [Detroit]

Means, David. Hystopia. Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 2016 [Michigan]

Morris, Mary. The Jazz Palace. Doubleday, 2015. [Chicago]

Rebeck, Theresa. *I'm Glad about You*. G.P. Putnam's Sons, 2016. [Cincinnati]

Scheibe, Amy. A Fireproof Home for the Bride. St. Martin's, 2015 [Minnesota]

Sittenfeld, Curtis. Eligible. Random House, 2016 [Cincinnati]

Sorrentino, Christopher. *The Fugitives*. Simon and Schuster, 2016. [Michigan]

Stradal, J. Ryan. Kitchens of the Great Midwest. Viking, 2015. [Minnesota]

Poetry

Gerber, Dan. Sailing Through Cassiopeia. Copper Canyon, 2012. Heller, Janet Ruth. Exodus. Cincinnati: Wordtech Editions, 2014. Knoepfle, John. The Aloe of Evening. Indian Paintbrush Poets, 2016.

Kooser, Ted. Splitting an Order. Copper Canyon, 2014.

SELF-PORTRAIT

JOHN BEALL

Then fourteen, she draws her self-portrait in graphite, No color, just penciled shaping and shading.

What am I to make of this girl I used to take Every morning to PS87 and pick up in the afternoon?

Now she looks in her self-portrait like an enigma, Her cropped hair bent around her eyes,

Her eyes bent as if half looking at her viewer, Half askance. Her nose firm, solid,

Her lips fully shaded and lightly lit, a Chiaroscuro half-smile. She still has that

Mona Lisa smile, but all she draws is her face, Hair, neck, and shoulders—her neck accented

By cross-hatchings. She leaves her forehead bare, Not a single line or smudge except for a light

Patch above her left eye. Her eyebrows are Thin, unadorned streaks of pencil.

What am I to do for my daughter Who draws herself as if beyond reach

Of anyone who does not see her strong, Firmly curved, darkly shaded chin?

Below her right shoulder her self-portrait Is signed EB, 2015.

Collegiate School

WHERE AM I WHO?

JANE L. CARMAN

She's sitting on the ground in a garden, legs crossed, wondering how she got there, wondering where the tomato plants are, how they escaped their tight cages, how the cages sunk away. She considers why tomatoes have names instead of numbers. Why Rutgers instead of 22 or Mr. Stripey instead of 11 or Abe Lincoln instead of any number.

She recalls her father's rule about livestock: *Never name something* you are going to eat, a rule that clearly does not apply to vegetables.

She imagines having butcher packets that say things like "Fluffy" instead of "lamb chops" or "Wilbur" instead of "ground beef" or "Dolly" instead of "roast." But even without a name, she thinks about those packets in the freezer following her down the fence line begging with round, brown eyes for clover just out of reach, how those nameless pieces and parts lean into her scratches.

What does a name matter? A person hit by a truck is still a person whether or not it has a name. The puddle of blood trickling into a patch of ditch lilies is the same whether it belongs to your mother or to your mother without a name. The twisted-up boy in a powder blue casket is still your brother whether or not his name is Rex.

She always buys tomato plants without regard to name. She searches the garden shop for unlabeled pots. If there are none, she removes the tags from the pots and leaves them behind. She doesn't care about names, about the statuses they carry. She is herself whether or not she is called Anna or Amma, Mom or Mamma, Ammu or Ameri, Mary Anna Maria or nothing.

Where Am I Who?

As she plants the tomatoes, she is sure to place one cup of sugar and a single banana in the bottom of the hole like her uncle that admired her "Dolly Parton" boobs taught her. She is sure the cages are tight and the fence around the garden secure against raccoons who seem to like bananas, sugar, and tomato roots very much.

Today she is sitting cross-legged in a garden with no tomatoes. Yesterday or was it the day or year, decade or hour before, she was tied to a bed, screaming, surrounded. She was looking at a bloody floor crying things like, "What have you done to me?" And, "Let me go." And, "You can't do this to me. I am a citizen. I am a US citizen." And, "Why are you doing this?"

She is fighting. Yesterday or was it the day or year, decade or hour before, she was in a room full of old people flapping their gums, some of them screaming, others staring off silent. She is in the delivery room a doctor at the foot of the bed telling her he is missing the game, telling her to push to come on and get it over. She is being chased by a big bully brother with a spider, with a snake, with the head of a dead kitten. She is beneath a football team saying things like, "Stop." And, "Help." She is on top of a Ferris wheel impressing a boy with facts about Galesburg and trains and inventors of giant wheels.

She is taking her first look at the ocean unable to blink or breathe. She is tearing up at a waterfall.

She is examining the way a funeral home artist put together a boy's face that had been peeled away by the shrapnel of a roadside bomb.

Other than knowing she is sitting cross-legged in a garden, she doesn't know where she is, doesn't know where the tomatoes or peppers are. She tries to remember what it is she knows and does not remember.

A hound nuzzles her side. She reaches for it. It falls to its back, feet in the air, tail tapping dust clouds into little messages in the sky. She shakes the dog's paw, "Nice to meet you." And, "Do I know you?"

For a moment the dog is her childhood friend Buster who used to ride in a cart behind her bicycle. Buster, collector of fleas and ticks, collector of girl hugs and kisses, collector of boots to the ribs and worms in the belly. "O, Buster," she cries. She makes parts in his hair looking for ticks. She strokes his muzzle. She is looking into his dark eyes. She finds nothing.

For a moment, the dog is an old hunter that her father trades a Stetson for at a horse show. Her father names the dog Once because the trader claims the dog will tree a coon every time he takes it hunting but that the dog will only bark once. The trader, an old man with no front teeth and half a right hand that includes a thumb and forefinger only, is as tall as a combine but has the feet of a small child, according to her father.

She is coon hunting with her father. Once barks and sits motionless beneath an oak. Above a coon is rolled into a tight ball. She holds the spotlight. Her father shoots. The coon falls, hisses, snarls. Once jumps as her father yells, "Get back." The gun echoes so it is hard to tell whether there is silence or deafness.

They are hunting and Once disappears. She walks the woods for three days calling him, but he's already barked. He's waiting.

Her father is wearing a long coonskin coat and Liberace sunglasses. His hair is full of Brill Cream and his mouth full of gold. "Where are you going?" she asks. "To see a man about a dog." This was his way of saying, "None of your business."

On the fourth day of walking the woods, she finds Once dehydrated beneath a tree. He is still sitting, still looking up. He won't break the trance. She carries him away, his eyes still fixed on the brown-gray ball dead or resting above.

For a moment the dog is in a painting on her great-grandmother's wall. Her grandfather is eating pickled pigs' feet. Her grandmother is at the sink pumping water to boil corn. She is eating the grapes out of homemade wine. She is getting tired. The dog has a card between its toes; it is handing the card beneath the table to its partner. The grapes are the ones she picked last summer; their sweetness replaced by a burn in her throat.

She is sitting in a tomatoless garden. Her legs are crossed. She hears voices coming toward her. They are sharp but not dangerous. She is

Where Am I Who?

patting a dog that is, for the moment, hers. She calls it Buster, calls it Once, calls it

She is sitting cross-legged

The dog wags its tail shaking her understanding of

She is patting

There is a dog.

There is

There is a garden.

There are no tomatoes, no fathers or brothers or mothers or grandparents. There is no homemade grape wine or pickled pigs' feet.

She is in the bed of a pickup surrounded by dead raccoons wondering if they will come back to life.

She is sitting, legs crossed, picking through mulch looking for squash beetles.

She is moving her fingers through a dog's coat looking for ticks, looking

She is sitting in her room, legs crossed, combing the carpet. There are voices saying things like, "Did you fall?" And, "Do you need help?" And, "What are you doing?"

She is sitting crossed-legged in her garden, tomato plants towering above her, a dog at her side, tail tapping. The sun is shining.

She is

Festival of Language / Lit Fest Press

"ONCE MORE, THE ROUND": THEODORE ROETHKE'S LAST WORD

WILLIAM BARILLAS

Certain poems by Theodore Roethke bear consideration as pivotal statements in the author's *Collected Poems* (1966, 1975). In addition to their intrinsic qualities, they offer keys to this poet's body of work, opening doors to what he called, at the beginning of his career, the "open house" of his continuously developing spirituality and sense of self. Some appear as the first or last poems in books, like "Open House," the curiously hermetic and cautious first and title poem of his inaugural volume of 1941, and "Night Journey," the closing poem in that book, which emphasizes the quest motif that became central in Roethke's vision. "The Waking," the last poem in the Pulitzer Prize-winning 1953 volume by that same title is the essential self-reflexive ars poetica by the poet from Saginaw. As Frank J. Kearful avers in his forthcoming essay on the poem, "It is as if all of Roethke's poetry thus far, the prior work selectively represented and the new poems culminating in 'The Waking,' had been a learning process leading to the title poem on the last printed page."

The same may be said of "Once More, the Round" (243), the last poem in Roethke's last book, *The Far Field* (1964), published shortly after the poet's death in 1963.² In this short, loosely metered, and mostly slant-rhymed poem, as in other late verses, Roethke seems to know that his remaining days are few; it reads like a last poem. Touching on motifs, themes, and literary influences familiar to his readers, he alludes to his psychological and spiritual struggles, the subject of major poems like "The Lost Son" and "In a Dark Time." He speaks affectionately of flora and fauna, the simultaneously literal and figurative fellow beings that provide so much of the imagery in his best work, from the greenhouse poems of *The Lost Son and Other Poems* (1948) to the expansive "North American Sequence" that opens *The Far Field*. Moving through a landscape at once inner

and outer, Roethke, in this final poem, takes his leave of the reader and of the world, yielding himself to a joyful and mystical union with all creation, a symbolic dance referred to in the poem's title and suggested by the repetition in the last line, Roethke's last words as a poet.

The spiritual quest in "Once More, the Round" is, of course, consistent with Roethke's romantic perspective. Roethke saw himself as working in the main line of English-language romanticism from Blake to Yeats, with Emerson and Whitman being especially influential on his thinking about nature and the numinous, eternal reality beyond and within the physical world. Emerson's Nature (1836) was for Roethke a guide, even a sacred text, emphasizing as it does the Platonic doctrine of correspondence by which everything in the material world stands for an abstract, ideal, and eternal reality. "Nature is the symbol of spirit" (20), Emerson famously wrote in that essay, and, like other American poets since Whitman, Roethke strove to identify and develop a symbolic language suited to the particularities of his own experience. Roethke's major symbols, as Jay Parini notes in his classic study of Roethke's romanticism, consist of the father, the greenhouse, and the field. "These images," Parini asserts, "became the signposts of his secret planet, and we can know Roethke best by knowing his entire work, by following his personal development from unrealized potential to self-discovery and, ultimately, selftranscendence" (4). Other symbols are also crucial; Parini mentions the wind, the stone, and the tree, a list to which may be added the nouns in "Once More, the Round" that Roethke capitalized so as to identify them as archetypes—Pebble, Pond, Hill, Bird, Leaf, Fish, Snail, and Eve—along with the abstractions Unknown, Love, and One, and the overarching motifs of the circle and the dance. By means of these figures, familiar from poems throughout his body of work, Roethke recapitulates and extends his poetic and spiritual journey in "Once More, the Round."

The poem's title introduces the archetypal "round," whose eternal, universal persistence, as well as previous development in Roethke's poetry, is communicated by the adverbial phrase "Once More." A number of meanings inhere, including forms of song and dance in which the speaker and his fellow beings may be said to be participating in unison. In regard to song, the round is an arrangement of multiple voices singing the same melody, with each voice beginning at a different point. ("Row, Row, Row Your Boat" is perhaps the most familiar round, easy to teach to schoolchildren because it fea-

tures only one chord). Two types of dances are referred to as "round dance," the simplest involving many dancers holding hands in a circle. "Round dancing" otherwise refers to many dancing partners following the steps called out by a leader. The reader may imagine any or all of these song and dance forms being enacted in the poem. Roethke is both singing and dancing with the myriad elements of nature, which in his world have selfhood and voice, as in the poem "Unfold! Unfold!" when he exhorts his fellow beings: "Sing, sing, you symbols! All simple creatures, / All small shapes, willow-shy, / In the obscure haze, sing!" (86). Perhaps the round dancing specified at the end of "Once More, the Round" begins as partnered, with Roethke taking a turn with William Blake, his mentor in mysticism and poetry, before the poets join all living things in a circle in which "everything comes to One"

In the poem's first line the alliteration of Pebble and Pond places them in parity as aspects of nature and consciousness, as does the rhetorical nature of Roethke's question as to which is "greater." Neither is greater or more significant; the speaker honors each equally as an emblem of self—not ego, bound by desire, fear, memory, and hope, but the universal self of which Emerson speaks in *Nature* when he declares himself "part or particle of God" (10). Roethke's Pebble and Pond recall the first lines of the poem that Emerson places as an epigraph at the beginning of *Nature*: "A subtle chain of countless rings / The next unto the farther brings . . . "(5). Although the absence of concrete nouns makes the scenario implicit rather than explicit, Emerson is evoking the ripples that extend in every direction when a stone is tossed into a body of water. This image serves as the first illustration in *Nature* of Platonic correspondence, by which (as the third line in Emerson's poem has it) the "eye reads omens where it goes" (5). Roethke employs the same image at the end of "The Far Field," where a "ripple widening from a single stone / Winding around the waters of the world" concludes a catalog of natural images illustrating the transcendentalist assertion that "[all finite things reveal infinitude" (195). The image also appears in "Praise to the End!": "The rings have gone from the pond. / The river's alone with its water" (81). Later in that poem, Roethke says, "I lost my identity to a pebble" (84), a statement that illustrates Parini's assertion that for Roethke "the stone [is] associated with transcendental experiences" (4). Selfhood is imagined not as separate but as relational, represented by an image (a pebble being thrown

into water) that suggests consciousness, bodily gesture, motion through space, immersion in a greater whole, and persistent effect on the world at large. "What falls away is always," Roethke assures us in "The Waking" (104), a phrase that in this context supports a reading of "Once More, the Round" as an *ars poetica*. "Throw a stone into the stream," Emerson writes in Chapter 4 of *Nature*, "and the circles that propagate themselves are the beautiful type of all influence" (21). The pebble in this regard stands for Roethke's immortality in verse, with the pond representing the world and eternity.

The two questions that open "Once More, the Round" strike Neal Bowers as being "very much like riddles or koans To the first question there is no answer, and the answer to the second is vintage Roethke and standard mystical doctrine" (198). The second question, "What can be known?" recalls another line from "The Waking": "We think by feeling. What is there to know?" (104). Roethke suspends that question in "The Waking," having stressed the primacy of emotion and intuition over rational thought. In the second line of "Once More, the Round," however, he supplies an answer: "The Unknown." Alluding to "The Waking," Bowers contends that "[b]y abandoning his attempts to know, the speaker [of 'Once More, the Round'] learns by going, and as he progresses, the Absolute he seeks becomes more visible" (199).

Spiritual insight and perspective come in lines 3 and 4, in which the speaker's "true self" (as opposed to the false self of his fearful and possessive ego) "runs toward a Hill." The hill recalls the experience of "prospects" in eighteenth-century English topographical poetry, which the Romantics, Wordsworth in particular, later sublimated into mountaintop epiphanies in which emotional and aesthetic ecstasies supersede mere description. "A prospect," as John Wilson Foster defines it, "is a view into the distance (space); it is also a view into the future (distance in time), often with the suggestion of opportunity or expectation: in each case, a prospect is a view of something beyond, yet to be achieved or satisfying merely in the spectacle" (238). In Roethke's poem, that "something beyond," the Unknown, includes life, death, love, and eternity. For Richard Allen Blessing, the hill "is, perhaps, both the elevation leading upward to God and the grave"; he implies that Roethke's speaker does not attain the hilltop with its prospect of time and space, at least within the poem itself (218). We are free, however, to imagine that he does, that the anapest in the last foot of line 3 ("toward a Hill") conveys his ecstatic momentum toward the height. That rising rhythm and the hard stresses that begin line 4 ("More! O More!) imply the widening of his view; that he takes in a full prospect of the landscape is also suggested by how the last word in the line (and in the stanza) reverses the previous line's final metrical foot. The dactylic "Visible," with a heavy stress followed by two unstressed syllables, reinforced by an end-stop and the expanse of a stanza break, acts as a falling away and an auditory manifestation of the speaker's elevated view of the circling horizon and the landscape around and below him.

The second stanza begins by hinting at the shadow of memory as well as the daylight of the soul's illumination. By saying "Now I adore my life" (emphasis added) the speaker implies that he has not always so felt. He may have reached the top of a hill but the summit recalls its antithesis, the valley of despair traversed in "The Lost Son" and "In a Dark Time." The word "now" resonates with what Christopher Giroux identifies as a "tension between spiritual unity and spiritual despair" in "Once More, the Round," an emotional oscillation in which "the joy of unification with the One is tempered" by darker feelings (45). Reading the litany that follows ("Now I adore my life / With the Bird, the abiding Leaf, / With the Fish, the questing Snail . . ."), one recalls that in earlier poems these and other totemic beings sometimes failed to answer the poet's calls for spiritual succor. The first stanza of "The Lost Son," for example, concludes with the speaker summoning three familiar presences:

Snail, snail, glister me forward, Bird, soft-sigh me home, Worm, be with me. This is my hard time.

The subsequent stanza break conveys the silence that follows his requests. Snail, bird, and worm do not speak, sing, or even approach. In the next stanza, the refusal continues:

Fished in an old wound, The soft pond of repose; Nothing nibbled my line, Not even the minnows came. (50)

Closed in by grief and mental illness, the isolated speaker finds himself unable to communicate with his fellow beings, to access those aspects of his soul that would help him advance in his quest. "The Lost Son" then proceeds with Roethke's most harrowing and memorable evocation of mania and despair, an experience that he portrays as a spiritual crisis as much as a psychological one.

The Lost Son's descent, however, makes possible the ascent in those poems in which Roethke moves toward joy and affirmation. In an oft-quoted passage from his essay, "Open Letter," Roethke emphasizes how in the soul's quest, "the method is cyclic. I believe that to go forward as a spiritual man it is necessary first to go back. ... There is a perpetual slipping-back, then a going-forward; but there is some 'progress'" (On Poetry and Craft 51). Both regression and progression are represented in Roethke's poetry as plants and small creatures either retreating from or advancing towards a heightened state of consciousness. In "The Longing," for example, "the spirit fails to move forward, / But shrinks into a half-life, less than itself, / Falls back, a slug, a loose worm / Ready for any crevice, / An eyeless starer" (181). By contrast, in "A Light Breather," the "spirit moves, / Yet stays . . . / Moves, like the snail, / Still inward, / Taking and embracing its surroundings, / Never wishing itself away, / Unafraid of what it is, / A music in a hood, / A small thing, / Singing" (97). Forward movement may convey one toward apotheosis, always and necessarily accompanied by the fellow beings that Roethke collectively identifies, in the titles of two poems, as "The Minimal" and "The Small." In such wise the speaker of "The Longing" presents his response to alienation in modern industrial society: "I would with the fish, the blackening salmon, and the mad lemmings, / The children dancing, the flowers widening / A leaf, I would love the leaves, delighting in the redolent disorder of this mortal life . . . " (182).

This primary motif in Roethke's work—the "lovely diminutives" of nature (60)—can best be understood in relation to Taoist philosophy. "Tao," as Julian F. Pas defines it, "is the eternal reality beyond, but also within, the visible universe." It is "deepest mystery; it cannot be grasped by the rational mind only, but intuitively, if the mind is still and desires are controlled" (308-309). Sometimes visualized as the great river of existence, the Tao is both creator and creation, the universe itself and something beyond and within all forms. Roethke's affinity with Taoism may be gauged by the first sentence of Tao Te Ching, the ancient classic attributed to the legendary Lao-Tzu: "The Tao that can be told / is not the eternal Tao" (Mitchell 3). Roethke echoes that fundamental truth in "Once More, the Round" when he invokes the knowable Unknown. His primary way of telling

the Tao, however, was to speak of the virtue and power of the infinite multitude of forms referred to in Chinese tradition as the "ten thousand things," which appear in Roethke's poetry as small elements of nature: mineral, vegetable, or animal. Perhaps more than any Anglo American poet, Roethke was a poet of *Te*, the second word in the title *Tao Te Ching*. Pas's definition of *Te* is particularly apt in relation to Roethke's imagery of nature:

If Tao is the overarching reality and cosmic energy, *Te* is what all beings receive from Tao; it is their own nature, with its specific talents and potentials, that enables them to act in their own way as if by their inner compulsion *Te* is the power of Tao, individualized, as, for example, in a seed, which has the inner potential and unfailing power to sprout and grow into a preprogrammed plant or tree. (332)

Roethke's greenhouse poems in *The Lost Son and Other Poems* illustrate precisely that principle, although when it came to propagation, Roethke favored images of cuttings and bulbs over seeds. Whether implicitly or explicitly, he always linked what we may call the *Te* of plants to the transcendent life force he hoped to sustain in himself. "I can hear, underground, that sucking and sobbing," he wrote in "Cuttings (later)" of the horticultural starts in his father's forcing house. "In my veins, in my bones I feel it . . ." (35).

That same identification with small organisms recurs in the litany of "Once More, the Round," with the verb "adore" recalling Christian-derived diction in "Cuttings (later)," in which the "resurrection of dry sticks" figures as more miraculous than any events recounted in the Bible: "What saint strained so much . . . ?" (35). Using "adore" in the sense of worship and prayer, Roethke praises and expresses gratitude for his life and all life. Boundaries between himself and the ten thousand things dissolve, as the parallelisms of lines 5 through 10 (noun phrases and clauses beginning in "with," "and," and "for") configure selfhood as situated, mutual, and participatory. The Bird, traditionally an archetype of the soul's freedom and joy,⁵ also invokes the actual birds of Roethke's life and poetry: heron, crow, sparrow, wren, lark, phoebe, killdeer, and many others, mostly species native to Michigan, Roethke's home state, and the Pacific Northwest, where he lived the last decade and a half of his life. The "abiding Leaf" stands for all plant life, recalling the orchids, roses, cyclamen, and carnations of the greenhouse poems; it also

echoes Whitman's *Leaves of Grass* (1855-1892), in which the single leaf, simultaneously distinctive and part of a greater whole, represents the self as organic, democratic, and immortal. The Fish embodies what Carl Jung calls a "'nourishing' influence of unconscious contents, which maintain the vitality of consciousness by a continual influx of energy" (142). Consistent with his borrowing of Christian terms to express his decidedly non-Christian spirituality, Roethke declares in "Unfold! Unfold!" that his "mission became the salvation of minnows" (86). Named in Roethke's poems more than any other fish, the diminutive minnow complements the horticultural starts of the "Cuttings" poems as an emblem of Te, the power and grace inherent even (and, for Roethke, especially) in small beings. In "Cuttings," "[o]ne nub of growth / Nudges a sand crumb loose . . ." (35). Similarly, in "The Sequel," the poet evokes how "a minnow nudged its stone" (233). The subtle actions of plant and animal in these passages involve interaction with and alteration of their environments. Growth and creativity presuppose purposeful movement, whether so subtle as nudging or as active as the running and dancing in "Once More, the Round." Like the pebble falling into the pond, these natural images represent Te as individual, bodied selves participating joyfully in Tao, the sacred mysteries of life.

The last figure, "the questing Snail," draws on traditional associations of snails with patience, sensitivity, fertility, healing, androgyny, self-reliance, and change. It also harkens back to "The Waking," in which "the lowly worm climbs up a winding stair . . ." (104). The snail, in Roethke's iconography, resembles a worm that carries its own winding stair in the form of its shell, which spirals outward and around itself as it grows. The quests of both creatures involve a steady ascent to a higher state of consciousness. "[T]he unfolding life-cycle is well conceived as a spiral staircase," Anthony Stevens observes in Archetype: An Updated Natural History of the Self (2002), "each stage of the cycle being a landing or 'secure base' which, once reached, provides a temporary resting place before yet another rite of passage moves one onwards and upwards to the next" (196). By such means, analogous to the adaptations that occur in biological evolution, the worm, the snail, the poet, and every other being may fulfill more exalted destinies.

Roethke's image of the worm and the staircase builds on literary precedent. Kearful cites William Butler Yeats's "A Dialogue of Self and Soul"; Roethke was undoubtedly familiar with "the winding ancient stair" (234) to which Yeats summons his soul at the beginning of that poem and which provided the title of his 1933 volume *The Winding Stair and Other Poems*. The "winding stair" in "The Waking" almost certainly alludes to that poem and book. Yet even closer intertextuality is evident with the poem that introduces Emerson's *Nature*. After the concentric waves, the eye reading omens, and the rose that "speaks all languages" (surely a motif to inspire the greenhouse keeper's son), Emerson concludes with a final archetypal image: "[S]triving to be man, the worm / Mounts through all the spires of form" (5). The affinity of those lines with Roethke's "lowly worm" that "climbs up a winding stair" almost certainly reflects repeated readings of *Nature*, with its initial poem whose motifs so closely parallel Roethke's own. This resemblance is a wave washing up on the shore of "The Waking," propagated by Emerson's essay hitting the water a century earlier.

Roethke, however, would never have said that the worm strives "to be man." Such anthropocentrism is inconsistent with Roethke's pantheistic, panpsychic faith, in which all beings have their own identities and evolutionary paths. In his essay "On Identity," Roethke stresses that he regards humble creatures like the worm and the questing snail not only as signposts on his own journey toward self-identity, but also as conscious, intrinsically valuable selves with their own relationship to the eternal: "If the dead can come to our aid in a quest for identity, so can the living—and I mean all living things, including the subhuman. This is not so much a naïve as a primitive attitude: animistic, maybe. Why not? Everything that lives is holy: I call upon these holy forms of life Therefore, in calling upon the snail, I am calling, in a sense, upon God . . ." (On Poetry and Craft 40). An uncredited citation of Blake appears here: "[E]very thing that lives is holy" is the last line in The Marriage of Heaven and Hell (1790-1793), a text of Blake's that profoundly influenced Roethke's poetry, both in its aphoristic and archetypal style and in its prophetic mysticism (Complete Poetry and Prose 45). When it comes to the allusion to Blake in line 8 of "Once More, the Round" and Roethke's outright naming of the English poet in line 9, it is important to keep in mind that he "dance[s] with William Blake" as a fellow poet and earthly being, not as a mere acolyte. In regard to writing what he called "the referential poem," Roethke advised taking "what you will with authority and see[ing] that you give it another, or even better life, in the new context" (On Poetry and Craft 56). Just as he converted Emerson's worm mounting the spire to become human into the more biocentric symbol of the worm climbing up a winding stair, so, too, with his Blakean references, Roethke emphasizes what is congenial to his own idiosyncratic vision of nature and spirit.⁷

The "Eye altering all" in line 8 comes from Blake's esoteric poem, "The Mental Traveller" (ca. 1801), which "describes the whole of the fallen time-world where innocence and experience shade into one another [and e]verything travels around the wheel of existence . . . (Adams 77). The poem's mythic narrative involves the mutual tormenting of a boy and an old woman, whose malevolent spell causes the boy to grow rapidly through manhood and old age and her to become young, before he does the same to her and the cycle starts again, apparently to repeat endlessly. The sixteenth quatrain reads as follows:

The Guests are scatterd [sic] thro' the land
For the Eye altering alters all
The Senses roll themselves in fear
And the flat Earth becomes a Ball (*Complete Poetry and Prose* 485)

Jesse S. Cohn sees the altering eye as "the pivot for the revolving whole" envisioned by Blake, who "regards the consequences of empirical philosophy as a kind of materialistically legitimized selfishness; the infinite cruelty of this universe Blake describes is a consequence of the narrowing of the senses" (131-32). In asserting the superiority of imagination over reason, Blake rejected eighteenthcentury rationalism, which he characterizes in terms of "Single vision & Newtons [sic] sleep," as opposed to his own double and even "fourfold vision" of a material world charged with spiritual energy and significance (Complete Poetry and Prose 722). 8 As he wrote in "There Is No Natural Religion" (1788), "If it were not for the Poetic or Prophetic character the Philosophical & Experimental would soon be at the ratio of all things, & stand still, unable to do other than repeat the same dull round over again" (Complete Poetry and Prose 3). That soul-deadening round is the world of "The Mental Traveller," in which "Single vision," rationalist, materialist, and unimaginative, reduces all of creation, including human beings, to the status of possessions with merely instrumental value. Only through the imagination's "mental travelling" may humanity perceive the world as bright rather than dull, ecstatically alive rather than spiritually dead.

Roethke, in keeping with his theory of giving poetic borrowings "another, or even better life," reverses the action of Blake's altering eye so that imagination revitalizes the world. His is not the "dull round" of Blake's nightmarish allegory, but a reciprocal cycle in which Roethke's own poetic and prophetic character dances with all beings, including "William Blake / For love, for Love's sake " Emerson, alluded to earlier in the poem, also joins the dance, though he goes unnamed: the line "The eye altering, alters all" appears in his writings more often than any other passage from Blake (O'Keefe 28). Clare Elliot, who points out that Emerson started reading Blake in the early 1840s, argues that this "crucial passage . . . summarizes both writers' obsessions with the relationship between the 'eye' and the 'I'." Like Blake before him and Roethke after, Emerson found the homophony of "Eye" and "I" instructive, collapsing as it does vision and the self, so that the world is only properly seen with the imaginative faculty, which can alter all for the better as well as for the worst. "Vision," Elliott continues, "for Blake, is imaginative, not merely ocular, and this is the instruction which Emerson gleans from his reading of Blake's poetry" (81). So, too, with Roethke, whose gleanings from both Blake and Emerson are on self-conscious display in "Once More, the Round." The "love" which he names twice in line 10 is synonymous with imaginative vision, which as lines 3 and 4 have it, makes "More! O More! Visible" to his I/Eye, his "true self."9

The poem's concluding couplet should be read with the entire poem in mind, particularly the foregoing pairs of complementary motifs and ideas: Pebble / Pond, Known / Unknown, Self / Hill, Past / Present, Human / Animal, Roethke / Blake, and Everything / One. The dualities culminate in that ultimate pairing in line 11, which expresses the speaker's mystical perception of unity: "everything comes to One "Roethke's monism reflects his readings in Asian literature, Neoplatonism, Yeats, and scholars of mysticism like Evelyn Underhill (Parini 135). His primary models, however, were Blake and Emerson, both of whom, as Richard A. O'Keefe observes, "thought dialectically—that is, contraries for them were generative or creative. Dualism, polarity, dichotomy—these modes of perceiving and organizing human experience not only appear throughout the major literary productions of both writers but also seem to produce those works, both poems and prose" (6-7). As Blake wrote in The Marriage of Heaven and Hell (the title of which is notably dialectic), "Without Contraries is no Progression. The progression of which Blake speaks

is from materialism to idealism, from a world that is fallen because it is seen as fallen, to a world in which "Energy is Eternal Delight" (Complete Poetry and Prose 34). Emerson, for his part, asserts in "The Over-Soul" (1841) that "[w]e live in succession, in division, in parts, in particles. Meantime within man is the soul of the whole; the wise silence; the universal beauty, to which every part and particle is equally related; the eternal ONE" (386). 10 Such a formulation, echoed by Roethke in line 11 of his poem, may seem to devalue the physical world of nature in all its multiplicity. But Roethke forestalls that misreading: none is greater, Pebble or Pond, Te or Tao, particular or universal, material or ideal. Roethke's "One" should be understood in light of the valorization of the Earth and its denizens that permeates his poetry. "God bless the Ground!" he declares in "The Waking" (104). Even more to the point is his exclamation in "A Field of Light," that emphasizes the sacredness of nature's discrete minimals: "I saw the separateness of all things!" (60).

In the last line Roethke, Blake, and their fellow beings "dance on, dance on, dance on." Blessing describes this as "an ending that does not end. The dance goes on and on, like a musical round, like a spiraling gyre, like the evolutionary process" (218). Audrey T. Rodgers, in her study of the dance motif in the work of Roethke and other modern poets, identifies this final moment as "a resolution of the vexations of the spirit and the affirmation of a truth he had struggled a lifetime to accept: the unity of all things in nature and in man. Perceiving the cyclic pattern of life in Papa's greenhouse, he knows himself to be one with life, bird, fish, and snail" (133). Don Bogen, who has done the most thorough investigation to date of Roethke's working methods as evidenced in the poet's papers, tells us that "Roethke considered Dance On, Dance On, Dance On as a title for his last volume," a fact that "shows how central this affirmative vision was for him" (168). It is fitting to cite so many scholars of Roethke in concluding this essay; they, too, have their part in the dance, their turn in the round. Roethke's last poem, his last word, along with of all his work, still commands the admiration of readers and the attention of scholars, its impact continuing like that of a "ripple widening from a single stone / Winding around the waters of the world" (195).

WORKS CITED

- Adams, Hazard. William Blake: A Reading of the Shorter Poems. Seattle: U of Washington P, 1963.
- Blake, William. *The Complete Poetry and Prose of William Blake*. Ed. David V. Erdman. Rev. ed. Berkeley: U of California P, 1982.
- Blessing, Richard Allen. *Theodore Roethke's Dynamic Vision*. Bloomington: Indiana UP, 1974. Bogen, Don. *A Necessary Order: Theodore Roethke and the Writing Process*. Athens: Ohio UP, 1991.
- Bowers, Neal. Theodore Roethke: The Journey from I to Otherwise. Columbia: U of Missouri P 1982
- Brøgger, Fredrik Chr. "Anthropocentric Nature Lover: Annie Dillard and the Transcendentalist Tradition in American Nature Writing." *American Studies in Scandinavia* 39.2 (Oct. 2007): 29-40.
- Cohn, Jesse S. "Blake's 'The Mental Traveller'." *The Explicator* 58.3 (Spring 2000): 130-33. Coupe, Laurence. *The Green Studies Reader: From Romanticism to Ecocriticism.* London and NY: Routledge, 2000.
- Elliott, Clare. "A Backward Glance O'er' the (Dis)United States: William Blake, Ralph Waldo Emerson and the 'Authentic American Religion'." *The European Journal for American Culture* 28.1 (Mar. 2009): 9-25.
- Emerson, Ralph Waldo. "Nature." 1836. *Essays and Lectures*. NY: Library of America, 1983. 5-49.
- —. "The Over-Soul." 1841. Essays and Lectures. NY: Library of America, 1983. 385-400.
 Finneran, Richard J., ed. The Collected Works of W.B. Yeats. Vol. 1. The Poems. Rev.ed. NY: Macmillan, 1989.
- Foster, John Wilson. "The Measure of Paradise: Topography in Eighteenth-Century Poetry." *Eighteenth-Century Studies* 9.2 (Winter 1975-1976): 232-56.
- Giroux, Christopher. "Once More, the Despair: Revisiting Roethke's 'Once More, the Round.'" *Explicator* 74.1 (Jan.-Mar. 2016): 44-46.
- Hutchings, Kevin. Imagining Nature: Blake's Environmental Poetics. Montreal: McGill-Queen's UP, 2003.
- Jung, C. G. The Archetypes and the Collective Unconscious. Ed. Herbert Read, Michael Forham, and Gerhard Adler. Trans. R. F. C. Hull. The Collected Works of C. G. Jung. Vol. 9, Pt. 1. NY: Routledge/Princeton UP, 2014.
- Kearful, Frank J. "Subduing Fear in 'The Waking'." Ed. William Barillas. *A Field Guide to the Poetry of Theodore Roethke*. Forthcoming.
- Lussier, Mark S. "Blake's Deep Ecology." Studies in Romanticism 35.3 (Fall 1996): 393-408.
 McKusick, James C. Green Writing: Romanticism and Ecology. NY: Palgrave/St. Martin's P, 2000.
- Mitchell, Stephen. Tao Te Ching. NY: Harper & Row, 1988.
- O'Keefe, Richard R. Mythic Archetypes in Ralph Waldo Emerson: A Blakean Reading. Kent, Ohio: The Kent State UP, 1995.
- Parini, Jay. *Theodore Roethke: An American Romantic*. Amherst: U of Massachusetts P, 1979. Pas, Julian F. *The A to Z of Taoism*. Lanham, Maryland: Scarecrow P, 1998.
- Rodgers, Audrey T. *The Universal Drum: Dance Imagery in the Poetry of Eliot, Crane, and Roethke*. University Park: Pennsylvania State UP, 1979.
- Roethke, Theodore. The Collected Poems of Theodore Roethke. Garden City, NY: Anchor P, 1975.
- On Poetry and Craft: Selected Prose of Theodore Roethke. Port Townsend, Washington: Copper Canyon P, 2001.
- Rowland, Beryl. Birds with Human Souls: A Guide to Bird Symbolism. Knoxville: U of Tennessee P, 1978.

Stevens, Anthony. Archetype: An Updated Natural History of the Self. London: Brunner-Routledge, 2002.

NOTES

¹Pagination varies between the original 1966 hardcover edition of *The Collected Poems* of *Theodore Roethke* and the 1975 paperback. The paperback remains in print and has become the standard edition for scholarly citation; all quotations and citations of Roethke's poems in this essay are from the 1975 paperback. Parenthetical references to the book have been dispensed with here; only page numbers are cited.

²Roethke and his wife Beatrice sent "Once More, the Round" to friends as their Christmas greeting for 1961. The poem had its first journal publication in *Encounter* 18.5 (May 1962): 45, and subsequently appeared in the January 1963 issue of *Harper's Bazaar* (117).

³The image of concentric waves emanating from a center appears elsewhere in Emerson's writing, as in "Circles" (1841): "The life of man is a self-evolving circle, which, from a ring imperceptibly small, rushes on all sides outward to new and larger circles, and that without end" (403).

⁴Pronunciation of "toward" varies according to dialect, including whether it is spoken with one syllable or two, and if two, whether the stress should go on the second syllable or the first. In most of the United States, including Roethke's (and my) native Michigan, "toward" is monosyllabic. I scan "My true self runs toward a Hill" as iambic trimeter with an anapestic substitution in the last foot: U/ U/ UU/

Those who take "toward" to be a two-syllable word may scan line 3 as either iambic tetrameter or iambic tetrameter with a trochee in the third foot. In any case, the line ends with a rising rhythm, like nine out of twelve lines in the poem. My point about the speaker's topographical and spiritual elevation being reflected in the meter stands regardless.

⁵In her study of bird symbolism, Beryl Rowland writes that the "idea of the soul as a winged creature is not new.... It is a widespread and extremely ancient belief that the soul assumes the form of a bird, or, put more extremely, that all birds are human souls" (xiii).

⁶Compare the dancing with Blake in "Once More, the Round" to these lines from Roethke's poem "The Dance": "I take this cadence from a man named Yeats; / I take it, and I give it back again . . ." (101). Each reference honors its subject by viewing poetic tradition as an exchange, a cycle, a rhythm, a song, or a dance.

⁷See, for example, Roethke's poem "The Slug," which begins with the exclamation "How I loved one like you when I was little!" and ends with the poet asking that "most odious" creature "Would Blake call you holy?" (145). Roethke thus expresses uncertainty about the extent to which Blake would have agreed with his animistic creed. The question calls to mind the line of criticism that sees the Platonic idealism of the Romantics as fundamentally human-centered and potentially anti-ecological. Both Emerson and Blake have been characterized by some critics as concerned with the human relation to the supernatural at the expense of the natural world. Fredrik Chr. Brøgger, for example, asserts that Transcendentalism "proves to be a very shaky ground for the interpretation of natural phenomena. It tends to cater to an anthropomorphic and even anthropocentric inclination that is hazardous to the health of the language used to describe the natural environment, and perhaps, ultimately, to the health of that environment itself" (31).

Recent ecocriticism, however, has argued for a green Romanticism. Acknowledging that "it has been customary to categorize [Blake] as a 'gnostic' visionary who treated the natural or 'vegetative' world with contempt," Lawrence Coupe reminds us that "we must bear in mind that it was the dead universe of Newton's physics that he was rejecting; what he believed in, by contrast, was nature as a mode of revelation" (13). Kevin Hutchings makes a persuasive case for a "distinctively Blakean view of the relationship between humanity and nature, a

view that productively challenges the traditional Western notion that humans should exercise a hierarchical and narrowly anthropocentric 'dominion' over the entire non-human portion of creation" (3). Also see works by Lussier and McKusick, listed in Works Cited. Ecocritical reassessment of Roethke needs to consider conclusions drawn in such studies of his Romantic precursors.

⁸A passage in the untitled poem Blake sent to Thomas Butts on November 22, 1802, is indicated:

For double the vision my Eyes do see And a double vision is always with me With my inward Eye 'tis an old Man grey With my outward a Thistle across my way (721-22)

⁹Emerson approvingly quotes Blake in his essay "Poetry and Imagination" (1883): "He who does not imagine in stronger and better light than his perishing mortal eye can see, does not imagine at all.... I assert for myself that I do not behold the outward creation, and that to me it would be a hindrance, and not action. I question not my corporeal eye any more than I would question a window concerning sight. I look through it, and not with it" (qtd. in Elliot 80). Elliot compares Blake's statement to the famous "transparent eyeball" passage in Emerson's *Nature*.

 $^{10}\mbox{This}$ is the Eleatic One of Parmenides, subsequently discussed and developed by Greek philosophers from Plato to Plotinus.

A CAREER BEGINS: TED KOOSER'S OFFICIAL ENTRY BLANK AND AN EMERGING VOICE

JEFFREY HOTZ,

Ted Kooser's first collection of poems, Official Entry Blank (1969), published when the thirty-year-old poet worked as an insurance underwriter with Bankers Life of Nebraska at the beginning of what would become a successful thirty-five-year business career, is A number of poems like "Beer Bottle," "Abandoned Farmhouse," "Rooming House," "Homestead," and "Wild Plums" may be read as harbingers of Kooser's unique poetic voice, defined by lyricism, visual detail, metaphor, and deep interest in local communities, which would emerge over the next five decades. As significantly, Official Entry Blank contains an underlying sense of alienation, a mood that is less evident in his later work, across poems characterized by ironic authorial detachment, sardonic treatments of family, and anxious political commentary. While disquieting elements can be found throughout his *oeuvre*, including works like the Pulitzer Prize-winning *Delights & Shadows* and his two memoirs, Kooser's more skeptical and doubtful stances tend to be understated and nuanced in his middle and late career. For a writer recognized for his attentive perceptions of people and places, as well as of flora and fauna, that enable meaningful connections, many of the poems in Official Entry Blank express surprising disconnections, leading to apparent dead ends. Official Entry Blank stands as a worthwhile collection in its own right, particularly in its artful balancing of varied, discordant elements, and provides a glimpse into the early formation of a major contemporary American poet committed to a hopeful but realistic vision of the world.

Kooser has described his *ars poetica* eloquently in his prose writing and numerous interviews. For example, in *Local Wonders:* Seasons in the Bohemian Alps (2002), Kooser explains his predilection for finding pleasure and wonder in that which lies right in front

of him: "I delight in the things I discover right within reach" (13). In The Poetry Home Repair Manual: Practical Advice for Beginning Poets (2005), Kooser highlights the first five words of the opening line of Jared Carter's poem, "Fire Burning in a Fifty-Five Gallon Drum," "Next time you'll notice them " (6-7), as being instructive for young writers. The poet, according to Kooser, must notice what others miss and convey the experience of discovery so as to deepen and refresh a reader's perception. Seeing the purpose of poetry as promoting a social good, Kooser quotes Nobel Prize winner Seamus Heaney in The Poetry Home Repair Manual: "The aim of the poet is finally to be of service" (Kooser's emphasis, 6). In place of wonder and service, a number of Kooser's early poems turn toward rejection and judgment. In these poems, the knowledge and insights that come from careful observation spark dislike and separation. Kooser's later poems strike a more delicate balance found in the play of light and shadow as a delight.

In addition to Kooser's process of discovery as an artist realizing his values and identifying his aims, biographical experiences likely also contributed to the unsettled tone of Official Entry Blank. Pulitzer Prize-winning poet Karl Shapiro had nominated Kooser's Official Entry Blank for publication with the University of Nebraska Press just before Shapiro left his teaching position at the university (Stillwell 58). While a University of Nebraska graduate student, Kooser had studied closely with Shapiro, an important mentor who would become a lifelong friend. After Kooser dropped out of the graduate program, he worked full time to support his family before the birth of his son. As he continued to write poetry and prepare his manuscript for publication, his marriage to Diana Tressler was failing (Stillwell 61). Just after the publication of Official Entry Blank, their seven-year marriage ended in divorce in 1969 (Stillwell 70). Kooser, a single father, had to adjust to new circumstances, including day-to-day separation from his three-year-old son, Jeff, who stayed with his mother on weekdays and spent weekends with his father (Stillwell 70). The tone of Official Entry Blank reflects anxiety and ambivalence, as well as anger, at a time when his life was changing profoundly and unexpectedly.

Kooser poignantly alludes to this difficult personal period in his 2004 essay, "Small Rooms in Time," which describes his stunned emotional response after reading a news story of a homicide of a fifteen-year-old boy in the same house, 2820 R Street, Lincoln,

Nebraska, where Kooser, his wife, and son had once lived thirty years before his divorce. Kooser revisits the pain his family endured in that house as a metaphorical murder: "At the site of where only the most common, most ordinary unhappiness had come to us-misunderstandings, miscommunications, a broken marriage like thousands and thousands of others—there had been a murder" (Splitting an Order 79). The upsetting memories stirred up by the murder of the teenage boy led Kooser to reflect on the compartmentalized "small rooms in time" of memory, related to "how it feels to be a young father, frightened by an enormous and threatening world, wondering what might become of his wife and son" (Splitting an Order 82). He adds, "For thirty years I had put it all firmly behind me, but like a perfect miniature it had waited in a corner of my heart, its room packed with memories" (81). After the teenage boy was shot—an innocent victim of a robbery attempt to steal a pound of cocaine that was never in the house—he turned toward the basement door leading to the cellar, the place that Kooser had once used as a study (Splitting an Order 79). Kooser relates the teenage boy's relationship with his father to his own relationship with his son, Jeff: "From time to time Jeff came to visit me at the home of friends who had taken me in. The dead boy, too, had gone to visit his father" (Splitting an Order 82). Although Kooser is not explicit on this point, the fifteen-year-old homicide victim had also presumably grown up with separated or divorced parents and had been on a visit to his father when the tragedy occurred.

The depictions of suffering families in a number of the poems from *Official Entry Blank* suggest facets of Kooser's own autobiography and the poet's processing of his experiences. "In "The Father," "Suicide," "Conjugal Solitude," and "Abandoned Farmhouse," for instance, emotional disturbance surfaces as the speaker addresses anxieties about fatherhood and marriage. The shadow self of the speaker is often on display, which is more unusual in his later poetry. In *Modern Man in Search of a Soul* (1954), Carl Jung describes the "shadow" as a conflict between one's higher ideals of the spiritual man and the day-to-day responses that fall short of noble intentions amid the frustrations of life (273). Jung explains the phenomenon by quoting the lament of Goethe's Faust, "Two souls, alas, dwell in my breast apart" (273), a phrase that could perhaps apply to Kooser's emotional state as he put together *Official Entry Blank*.

In the final four lines of the single-stanza poem, "The Father," the speaker touches the wetness left by his young son's mouth on his

chest, where the father had positioned the child to soothe him before putting the boy back to bed. In that spot of tender embrace, the father feels lingering hurt:

Touching the wet spot where his cheek has pressed I feel it turn to ice; beneath the numb and tingling ribs my heart shakes in a cage of bone. (22)

In the haiku-like six-line "Suicide," the speaker describes, without apparent affect, a husband who beholds the body of his hanged wife. The final two lines merge the speaker's and the widower's eerie detachment in an unspeakable irony that suggests possible relief: "love was her feet / hanging down" (44). "Conjugal Solitude," an aphoristic treatment of marital estrangement, describes the radio playing as a sound wall that separates a couple and irritates one spouse, becoming "a target" (59) of his resentment, which is symptom rather than the cause of their discontent. "Abandoned Farmhouse," a poem that critic William Barillas reads perceptively as Kooser's pastoral vision and "eye for social history, writing . . . about small farms that failed, or were failed by the industrial economy" (211), touches personal registers, too. Although the husband and wife in "Abandoned Farmhouse" are farmers from a bygone agrarian age, evident in the long abandoned, dilapidated homestead, the poem tells the story of a suffering nuclear family comprised of husband, wife, and son. The exact cause of their pain remains unknown, illustrated in the speaker's unsatisfactory twice-repeated phrase in the final stanza, "Something went wrong" (53). The poem ends with a vision of a child in absentia, a son around the same age of the poet's own son, who once playacted as a farmer with "a rubber cow, / a rusty tractor with a broken plow, / a doll in overalls" (53) and whose "toys are strewn in the yard / like branches after a storm" (53).

Perhaps to contain and conceal the personal dynamics inflected through the poetry, Kooser arranged the eighty poems of *Official Entry Blank* around the ironic conceit of the collection as a submission to a contest. The nearly eponymous opening poem, "Official Entry Form," serves as the supposed entry form to which the poet's collection responds. "Official Entry Form" purposefully differs from the book title, *Official Entry Blank*, which Kooser emphasized in a January 1969 letter to his editor, Virginia Faulkner, after he had reviewed the book proofs: "There is no poem in the book called

'Official Entry Blank.'" (qtd. in Stillwell 61). Rejecting the book title that appeared on the proofs at that time, "Official Entry Blank and Other Poems," Kooser stated his larger intention for the collection, explaining his reasoning for this preferred title: "Official Entry Blank, by itself, would refer to the collection as a whole—to the collection as a formal entry into the competition between books of poems" (qtd. in Stillwell 61). "The use of the title," Kooser added, "should imply that, as in an entry to a contest, the person entering has employed everything in his bag of tricks in the hope of success. This aspect reflects the heterogeneous nature of the book" (qtd. in Stillwell 61). The term "official entry blank," a phrase that largely dropped from American use in the late 1980s, is synonymous with a standard cover letter that must provide stipulated information outlined in an announcement. The book title, Official Entry Blank, and the title of the first poem, "Official Entry Form," imply an empty, unnamed, and potentially unremarkable submission, signaling further ironic distance.

"Official Entry Form," the opening sonnet, places an ironic mirror to the poet's endeavor to achieve success in the, at times, detached business of poetry publication. With alternating rhyme (ABAB, CDCD, DEDE, FF), the poem begins disjunctively with a near-slant rhyme from the unusual consonance of "January 1st" and "Editors" in the first and third lines. The poem, at the same time, conforms to the traditional Shakespearean sonnet structure with iambic pentameter, despite a slight irregularity in the eighth line, which has eleven syllables. The concluding rhyming couplet states the preference of the "Editors"—a term Kooser capitalizes to signify their sense of self-importance—for free verse. The poem provides no explanation why, however, making this an arbitrary choice, not a thoughtful artistic judgment: "Good luck! And please remember that we all / Prefer free verse to the traditional" (3). The third quatrain establishes the peremptory, capricious power of Editors, selected by virtue of their "fame," not their ability, who will acquire copyright for the successful poems, "winners," while they will incinerate all poems that do not come as stipulated: "All entries lacking postage will be burned" (3). With a playful yet mocking tone, Kooser satirizes the work of editors who enjoy the god-like power both to destroy and to possess.

The speaker of the poem "A Contribution to My Magazine," dedicated to A.W., ironically adopts the problematic persona of an editor himself, the recipient of another poet's contribution. The poem

possesses a subtle structure, a precursor to a style that Mary K. Stillwell identifies as a "Kooser sonnet," defined as "typically a poem of ten to twenty lines that generally follows the sonnet structure" through which Kooser "takes liberties with the sonnet form" (Stillwell 119, 64). Kooser's "A Contribution to My Magazine" works through a series of "or" appositive-like statements that rename the places from which the submission has been sent. The speaker's own poem about the young woman poet who has submitted her poems for review reflects the preference of the supposed "Editors" in "Official Entry Form" for "free verse to the traditional" (3). The speaker of "A Contribution to My Magazine" achieves the expectations that the young woman poet fails to reach. Kooser's speaker takes on the role of the judgmental, critical reader who knows the name and the address of the aspiring poet and then invents her history, making her the subject of his own poem. The poem, with its associative renaming, operates on a level akin to reverse psychological transference in which the speaker, a poet operating as editor, transfers his own insecurities onto the young woman, an aspiring poet like himself. The editor as poet becomes the force he fears: the critic. Psychologist Benjamin Wolstein describes transference in the clinical context as follows: "new editions or facsimiles of the tendencies and phantasies . . . are aroused and made conscious during the progress of the analysis; but they have this peculiarity . . . that they replace some earlier person by the person of the physician" (53). The speaker of "A Contribution to My Magazine" unconsciously sees himself in the young poet and, in a patronizing manner, responds to her in the way he himself fears, with rejection.

Developing his impression of the female poet based on the return address, "a dormitory room" (37), that she has dutifully included with her submission, the older editor and poet indulges in a male fantasy, imagining the writer's room suggestively, commenting on "desks and beds," each mentioned twice in the poem, as well as on randomly "drying brassieres" in a dorm room that is "trying to be the room / she grew up in" (37). The speaker envisions the young woman's dorm room as conforming to parental expectations, "with a picture from one of her parents' walls" (37), while the young woman herself struggles to challenge these expectations with a wall hanging "that one of her parents would never have hung on a wall / for one of their reasons" (37). The speaker of the poem searches hopefully for signs of transgression, not in the poem itself, as an astute editor would be

expected to, but in the person of the poet herself and her relationship to parental authority.

The turn of this Kooser sonnet, beginning in the middle of line ten and continuing to the finale in the sixteenth line, is a variation of the traditional sestet of the Petrarchan sonnet. In the final six and a half lines, the male poet and editor finds the poet's loneliness irresistibly enticing, as he revels in her vulnerability away from home. "Half home and half not," he notes, "the poem has made her / terribly alone with herself" (37). Kooser uses enjambment to emphasize the speaker's interest in the female poet and his consciousness of the power he wields over her poem: "I love her, / There sitting and writing her terrible poem / not so much to me as to her address. I love her, / there sitting and writing her wonderful poem" (37). Twice affirming his "love," the speaker exercises in a new way the "right to claim / all rights" like the arbiters of taste in "Official Entry Form" as he makes herself and her failed poem the subject of his poem. The sense of mastery in which the speaker indulges discloses the speaker's own vulnerability.

In *The Poetry Home Repair Manual*, Kooser expresses hesitation about confessional, first-person poetry, advocating instead "a different manner of poetry writing: the writing of impersonal observation" (*Poetry Home Repair* 97). Kooser observes, "Beginning writers, looking for subjects, are frequently advised to write about what they know, and since they know themselves better than anything else, they write about themselves" (97). He then asks, "But what about writing about things other than ourselves?" (97). Poems like "A Contribution to My Magazine" may be the kind of poetry Kooser has in mind for the beginning poet to avoid. Critic Wes Mantooth sees "impersonal observation" as a key component of Kooser's later poetry in which "readers must guess at the inner of life of the subject" (32).

Yet Kooser's confessional poetry in *Official Entry Blank* is ironically impersonal as the speaker presents himself as both the subject and object of his own detached observation, incorporating the external point of view in the confessional mode. The speaker in the sevenline "Home Town," for example, identifies himself with his hometown as opposed to the aspects that make him a unique individual. In the opening and mildly hopeful declarative line, "You may have seen me; maybe you did" (40), the speaker depicts himself as he may have been seen. The poet then paints an unflattering portrait of himself as an unoriginal attention seeker who "usually looked like some of the rest—" (40), who feigns being a town tough with "bleached-

out Levis, boots with chains, / leather jacket, and duck's ass hair" (40), before he announces honestly, "I would've been looking like I was looking / for fights but I wasn't" (40). The double use of "looking" in the fifth line achieves a mirror effect related to seeing and seeing oneself reflected. Similar to the poet who wishes for recognition in the supposed contest of *The Official Entry Blank* but who realizes the hollowness of the prize and the process that confers it, the speaker of "Home Town," admits in the final lines with ironic enjambment, "I was looking / to see if you'd see me, and so were the rest" (40). The speaker seeks authenticity through the ironic act of unmasking his inauthentic self.

The placement of the next poem, the fourteen-word "Cornflower," ingeniously reveals the speaker's self though impersonal observation. "Cornflower" describes in spare language the blueness of the cornflower, a plant that, unlike the speaker of "Home Town," is what it professes to be, "blue," and nothing else. Shifting suddenly from the self-revelation of "Home Town" to the natural description of "Cornflower" may seem a deliberate movement away from introspection. However, when juxtaposed with "Home Town," the blue in "Cornflower" suggests not just a color but a feeling that corresponds exactly with the speaker's sadness related to the experience of neither being oneself nor feeling like oneself.

Kooser's final poem in *Official Entry Blank*, "Man Opening a Book of Poems," underscores the poet's sense of ironic detachment from the collection, drawing a humorous analogy between a reader discovering a poem in a book and a man lifting up a rock to find a bug beneath: "Waving its wet antennae to the light, / a poem in its narrow track / stops dead and lifts its mossy mouth to him" (83). Just as Mr. Samsa in Franz Kafka's masterpiece, *The Metamorphosis*, shuts the door on his son Gregor after he transmogrifies into a bug, the male reader depicted in this poem decidedly turns down the invitation of the "mossy mouth" of the poem: "He lets the page fall softly back on it / and presses down the cover with both hands" (82). The placement as the last poem, however, subtly undercuts this rejection because readers who come to the final poem, more likely than not, have accepted the invitation, only closing the book after having completed it.

Kooser revisits the theme of the poet reaching a reluctant reader in his well-known poem, "Selecting a Reader," which appeared first in *A Local Habitation & a Name* (1974) and was later republished as the opening poem for *Sure Signs* (1980). Changing the gender of the

imagined reader from male to female, now conceived as a woman at a bookstore who chooses to spend her money to have her raincoat cleaned rather than to purchase the book of poems, Kooser depicts once again the rejection of the poem and the artist. In "Selecting a Reader," however, the speaker chooses her, of all his possible readers, as his ideal—the everyday, nonacademic reader whom Ted Kooser has purposely and successfully addressed for decades.

In addition to complex ironic detachment, which paradoxically reveals and conceals, Official Entry Blank contains sardonic studies of the family, a sacrosanct subject in his later poetry and prose. The tone in Official Entry Blank differs from that of Kooser's classic memoir, Lights on a Ground of Darkness: An Evocation of a Place and Time (2005), which depicts childhood and family with stunning, refined discernment. In Lights on a Ground of Darkness, Kooser paints complicated, three-dimensional pictures of family members in precise miniatures, showing their strengths and weaknesses with care. The book title, a phrase taken from a longer quotation from the Scottish poet Edwin Muir that Kooser uses as the epigraph, signifies the impermanence of the past and the vagaries of memory, which demand humility from the writer: "Our memories of a place, no matter how fond we were of it, are little more than a confusion of lights on a ground of darkness" (Lights on a Ground xi). In contrast, in Official Entry Blank Kooser inserts astringent closing lines in his poetry, set up with subtle diction, to turn poems from evident, though tense, appreciation of the family to complaint and criticism.

In the eleven-line "Gifted Hands," for example, the speaker notes the family's admiration of others' "gifted hands," a metonym for artistry and worth, and their sense of superiority in the hands of "Sister," a word the speaker capitalizes without giving the sister's name. The family is in awe of Sister's ability to paint horses' heads on coffee cups: "she painted hundreds, everyone alike, / with the same wild-stallions glass eyes / and petal pink flared nostrils. We were proud" (9). The final two lines of the poem, however, suddenly undercut the family's pride in Sister: "we gave her horses to the relatives / until a cousin said they looked like cows" (9). The poem sets up this shift with the repetitive, unchanging nature of Sister's painting, a foreshadowing of her mediocrity. Significantly, the extended family rejects the nuclear family's naïve conceitedness about Sister's abilities, and the speaker goes one step further by making the sister's lack of skill a poem. As if to reverse these sentiments, in the two-qua-

train, "To My Younger Sister," written in iambic tetrameter with alternate rhyme, the speaker expresses regret about their relationship: "I had forgotten you were there;" (76). The speaker asks his sister to guide him back to his former, presumably better, self: "Please lead me back to where we were / Before my first mistake" (76).

The six-line mock elegy, "Cousin Sue," also questions the accomplishments of family members. Kooser mismatches irregular line length with a consistent ABABCC rhyme scheme to mirror the poorly written poetry and letter writing of cousin Sue, referred to as "dear Sue" (58). The speaker's own poetic talents parody his cousin's failed prosody. With a sing-song internal rhyme in line five followed by parentheses in the concluding sixth line—techniques that are inappropriate in a funeral poem—the speaker concludes the poem by conflating cousin Sue's lack of writing talent with an apparently failed life: "Whoever knew dear Sue before she died / can say (with reservations) that she tried" (58).

"Letter from Aunt Belle," "Aunt Johanna the Spinster," and "Snapshot from a Reunion Picnic" depict eccentric aunts who find solace and meaning through flowers. "Letter from Aunt Belle," presented as a found poem from an actual letter written by the aunt to her nephew, reveals through dramatic monologue Aunt Belle's limited, callous perspective. Without empathy, Aunt Belle recounts how the neighboring Samson family's stove exploded, killing their daughter, as an aide-mémoire, having "reminded me of . . . Sarah's wedding!" (ellipses in original, 7). Showing no concern for her neighbors' bereavement or how this news will impact her nephew, Aunt Belle describes the corpse of the dead daughter, "who always made me think of you," in terms intended, in fact, to solicit sympathy for herself, looking "as old / as poor old me" before she announces, "I have to go—" (7). Aunt Belle understands the meaning of the fatality as an unwelcome interruption as she tries to fulfill her promise to water violet slips for her nephew. The letter ends, despite the inconvenience, with the completed task: "The violet slips are ready— / Write." (7). The five-quatrain "Aunt Johanna the Spinster" reveals another aunt without self-knowledge who clings, according to the speaker in the first two lines, to memories of a false lover from her youth: "How many times has your memory embraced / the supple innocence he seemed that night" (73). Like Aunt Belle, Aunt Johanna comforts herself with flowers, which the speaker comments on in an

imagined address to his aunt: "Yours is the single answer to regrets—/ a sunny window banked with violets" (74).

The ten-line "Snapshot from a Reunion Picnic" portrays Aunt Veenie unflatteringly as she attempts to preserve a family picnic through flower clippings: "Aunt Veenie fondles the violets / she'd dug out of the picnic grounds" (52). The speaker, meanwhile, takes a picture of Aunt Veenie as she packs the picnic items in the car trunk: "I let the shutter snap / On Veenie, holding the trunk lid up / to pack the picnic and the day / by the hot spare tire" (52). The scene appears tranquil and worth preserving until the speaker introduces a different "snap," a quotation in italics in the final two lines: "The cousins hissed / Oh let the old fool have her goddam way" (52). The poem expresses the seething family resentment and unwillingness to empathize reminiscent of Flannery O'Connor's fiction. Aunt Veenie clings to a family memory that her relatives see as an annoyance.

In three poems, "Scope," "The Anti-Mosquito Campaign," and "Story Problem," Kooser directly addresses political subjects, which is uncommon in his middle and late career, and he does so without any resolution. In a 2012 interview, Kooser commented that political messages are not a major part of his writing: "I have written a few poems with political messages, but they are far from my best work. That kind of poem falls into the category of occasional verse, and writing for occasions just doesn't work for me" (qtd. in Hotz 51). A challenge of occasional verse on current political topics is the writer's inability to know what will happen next. The three overtly political poems of *Official Entry Blank* rely upon speakers who are distressed by their witness of world's events and unable to respond, overwhelmed both intellectually and emotionally. The three poems end with an emerging yet incomplete insight.

The eight-stanza "Scope," comprising unrhymed couplets, dramatizes Martin Luther King's assassination of April 4, 1969, in a detached manner that suggests a benumbed speaker who cannot mentally process the event. The speaker's perspective is distanced from Dr. King in a third-person point of view that merges instead with actual viewpoint of the hateful assassin, James Earl Ray, Jr., through the rifle's scope. Dr. King appears in the assassin's scope in the moment right before and immediately after the horror of the assassin's pressing the trigger. The poem combines the Christian imagery of the crucifix with the crosshairs of the scope itself, "under the ignorant cross / in the hideous scope" (34), centering on Dr. King and the

contrast between black and white, suggested by Dr. King's white shirt collar and his neck and throat, "white against black—/where the collar circled/the throat throbbing/with freedom" (34). The poem ends by suggesting complicity with Dr. King's murder that encompasses the speaker, the reader, and the nation as a whole. In the final stanza, the speaker asks for divine intervention, "God save us, again, / your stupid children" (34), but the entreaty arises more from despair than faith. The word "again" renders Dr. King as a martyred savior like Jesus Christ.

In the environmentally conscious "The Anti-Mosquito Campaign," the speaker feels overwhelmed by the damage he sees being done to nature yet is unable to take action. The poem ends with a muted plea for divine help through a biblical allusion to a Genesislike flood. In tercet stanzas that constrict exposition, "The Anti-Mosquito Campaign" depicts the aftermath of mosquito spraying as a human-inflicted horror. In the opening lines, the speaker recounts how he hears the pesticide spraying, "All night long, / trucks hissed in the trees" (39), but does not see the process. The next day at dawn and at noon, and then in subsequent days, he beholds the aftermath of the spraying, described in three concise stanzas. Just as he fails to witness the spraying, the speaker fails to examine the causal relationships and human actors behind the spraying, but he suggests, to borrow Rachel Carson's term, an unchangeable "biocide" (8) that threatens all life in a desiccated world that can only be purged through an apocalyptic flood: "After the town / was as dry as a skull, / it rained bucketfuls" (39). The foreboding observation of aftereffects expresses, at best, a pessimistic, qualified faith born from despondency, not conviction, which ends in unavoidable yet purifying devastation.

In the four-quatrain Vietnam War protest poem, "Story Problem," the speaker envisions the corpses of eleven soldiers, "cold and dead" (55), being transported by rail to the soldiers" home towns for burial, as an incalculable algebraic word problem like those found in high school math textbooks. The presentation of the abstract math problem, coupled with the poem's AABB rhyme scheme reminiscent of the nursery rhyme, jars with the somber subject matter and the tragedy of the eleven deceased soldiers. After trying to relate the variables A, B, and C to different place names in order to arrive at some deflected answer related to speed and travel, the speaker arrives at an abrupt conclusion, asking the immediate, personal question:

"Which of the soldiers looks like me?" (55). The logical answer, which the poem does not supply, is that all of them look like the speaker, the unsettling truth of warfare. After fifteen non-sequitur lines in a math question focused on the train travel itself, not the larger political and social circumstances of the eleven soldiers' death, the poem arrives at the appropriate question in the last line, a starting point for an understanding of war.

While Kooser is not known for explicit political commentary, his later work retains a subtle political consciousness where the speaker maintains control of the subject matter and the emotional impacts while offering political messages for sensitive readers who engage with the writing on an imaginative level. In Delights & Shadows (2004), for instance, Kooser's "Four Civil War Paintings by Winslow Homer," a four-poem exphrastic series, offers a prescient study of the myriad human impacts of war that correspond to the unfolding tragic dynamics of the 2001-2014 war in Afghanistan and the 2003-2011 war in Iraq. In his memoir, Local Wonders, Kooser begins the section on "Summer" by sympathizing with the two contracted men who, lacking proper protective clothing and the health-care protections of county employees, risk future deadly cancers as they spray herbicides from the back of a 1978 Ford truck. Kooser criticizes the county's policy, which, in addition to killing weeds, results in death of flora and fauna, as well as unpleasant human impacts because "they're spraying nearly everything else" (40), a vision that corresponds with "The Anti-Mosquito Campaign." Kooser's children's books, Bag in the Wind and House Held Up by Trees, advocate for environmental protection and a symbiotic connection between people and the natural world. In each book, respect for the environment leads to human connection, whereas disrespect causes social disruption.

Any assessment of these early poems must take into account Kooser's stated ambivalence about *Official Entry Blank* in particular and, to a lesser extent, his two follow-up collections, *A Local Habitation & a Name* (1974) and *Not Coming to Be Barked At* (1976). In *The Poetry Home Repair Manual*, Kooser, describes himself as a beginning poet with self-deprecation: "I was an artificial poet, a phony, when by rubbing shoulders with poetry, I gradually became interested in writing it" (4). More recently, in an interview after his October 2, 2014, reading from *Splitting an Order* for the Seattle Arts & Lectures series, Kooser referred to *Official Entry Blank* disparagingly as "really an embarrassment." In a June 24,

2015, interview with John Stanizzi at the Sunken Garden Poetry Festival at the Hill-Stead Museum in Farmington, Connecticut, Kooser answered an audience member's question about his poetic voice by differentiating his early works from middle and late career works: "I think the most important thing as a writer is to figure out how to be yourself, and I think I figured out how to be myself, maybe I started to, when I was in my forties. My poems before are a little bit more derivative of other poems." Eliciting the audience's laughter, Kooser stressed the weakness of *Official Entry Blank* in personal terms: "My first book, which if I find one at a garage sale, I buy it and hide it. It's a terrible embarrassment to me." The autographed and inscribed copy of *Official Entry Blank*, which I borrowed from Marshall University in West Virginia to write this article, suggests this discomfort is not new. Kooser's inscription reads, "For John—This Ancient Embarrassment—Ted, 7/8/84."

Among contemporary poets, Kooser's knowledge of himself as a poet and of prosody is unequaled, but his assessment of Official Entry Blank is overly critical, reflective, in my opinion, of Kooser's exacting standards. Readers will conclude that Karl Shapiro was right to recommend Official Entry Blank for publication. In the late 1960s, Shapiro saw Ted Kooser, based on the quality of his poetry, as a promising young writer with a powerful emerging voice. Shapiro's introduction to Kooser's follow-up, A Local Habitation & a Name, highlights Kooser's artistic prowess: "Few poets have captured the spirit of place as he." While Kooser's middle and later career work differs from the poems found in Official Entry Blank, especially with respect to the sense of unease and uncertainty of these early poems, numerous points of continuity remain. The evolution of the career begins with Official Entry Blank. Kooser's decades-long view of the unfitness of the first book is consistent with the self-consciousness that pervades the first collection. With an understanding of the collection as an incomplete first step, he named his book Official Entry Blank. Kooser's artistic priorities and values would gradually emphasize a holistic, unifying artistic vision based in human dignity and respect for the natural world. His later poetry would incorporate the kinds of vexed and ironic meditations that emerged in his first collection within orientations that, on the surface, afforded more constructive possibilities.

WORKS CITED

Barillas, William. The Midwestern Pastoral: Place and Landscape in Literature of the American Heartland. Athens: Ohio UP, 2006.

Carson, Rachel. Silent Spring. 1962. Anniversary Edition. NY: Houghton Mifflin, 2002.

Hotz, Jeffrey. "Commentary and Interview: Ted Kooser's Artistic Perception." Midwestern Miscellany 40.2 (Fall 2012): 46-53.

Jung, C.G. Modern Man in Search of Soul. Trans. W.S. Dell and Cary F. Baynes. NY: Harcourt, Brace, and Company, 1954.

Kooser, Ted. Bag in the Wind. Illus. Barry Root. Sommerville, MA: Candlewick P, 2010.

- —. Delights & Shadows. Port Townsend, WA: Copper Canyon P, 2000.
- —. House Held Up by Trees. Illus. Jon Klassen. Sommerville, MA: Candlewick P, 2012.
- —. Interview by John Stanizzi. "Ted Kooser in Conversation with John Stanizzi." The Sunken Garden Poetry Festival at the Hill-Stead Museum in Farmington, Connecticut. 24 June 2015. Online Video Clip. *YouTube*. YouTube, 17 Feb. 2016. Web. 10 June 2016.
- Interview. "Poetry Series." SAL: Seattle Arts & Lectures. 16 Oct. 2014. Online Video Clip. YouTube. YouTube, 16 June 2015. Web. 15 June 2016.
- Lights on a Ground of Darkness: An Evocation of a Place and Time. 2005. Lincoln: U
 of Nebraska P, 2009.
- —. A Local Habitation & a Name. San Luis Obispo: Solo P, 1974.
- —. Local Wonders: Seasons in the Bohemian Alps. Lincoln: U of Nebraska P, 2002.
- —. Not Coming to Be Barked At. Milwaukee: Pentagram P, 1976.
- -. Official Entry Blank. Lincoln: U of Nebraska P, 1969.
- —. The Poetry Home Repair Manual: Practical Advice for Beginning Poets. Lincoln: U of Nebraska P. 2005.
- -. Splitting an Order. Port Townsend, WA: Copper Canyon P, 2014.
- —. Sure Signs: New and Selected Poems. Pittsburgh: U of Pittsburgh P, 1980.

Mantooth, Wes. "The Spy in the Lobby: Impersonal Observation in the Work of Ted Kooser." *Midwestern Miscellany* 40.2 (Fall 2012): 23-34.

Stillwell, Mary K. The Life & Poetry of Ted Kooser. Lincoln: U of Nebraska P, 2013.

Woolstein, Benjamin. *Transference: Its Structure and Function in Psychoanalytic Therapy*. 2nd ed. NY: Grune & Stratton, 1964.

WORLDLY TEMPTATIONS, BOTH URBAN AND RURAL: J. F. POWERS'S MORTE D'URBAN

JEFFREY SWENSON

The frontispiece of J.F. Powers's *Morte D'Urban*, winner of the 1963 National Book Award, presents the reader with a comic coat of arms for the novel's protagonist, Father Urban Roche. The heraldry contains many ironic references to the novel, including a dented helm alluding to Urban's position as a holy knight and his head injury on a golf course, a stag's head crest connected to one of his final challenges, and the banner "BE A WINNER" slung below the shield, a motto instilled in Urban by his mentor, the worldly and winning Father Placidus. The coat of arms also forecasts a central plot device, as the shield is supported on either side by the contrasting modern line drawings representing the novel's key settings: the skyscrapers of Urban's Chicago and the towering pines of rural Minnesota. This illustration of country and city within the coat of arms foreshadows the significance of the urban and rural dynamic in the text, and especially the importance of both settings in Urban's moral development. The image suggests the fish-out-of-water scenario that will drive much of the humor in Morte D'Urban, but more importantly, it posits the worldly difficulties that will plague Urban in both the country and the city, hinting at how Powers will playfully complicate and subvert standard expectations of the urban/rural dichotomy. And, as a novel about a nonconventional priest set upon a comic holy quest, Morte D'Urban ultimately questions deep assumptions of materialism and redemption, of the home and the cosmopolitan, and, finally, of friendship.

Powers's framework in *Morte D'Urban* is straightforward: Urban is a priest of a third-tier fictional Catholic holy order, the Clementines, who "were unique in that they were noted for nothing at all. They were in bad shape all over the world Their college was failing, their high schools were a break-even proposition at best, and their parishes, except for a few, were in unsettled parts of Texas

and New Mexico where no order in its right mind would go" (15). While the rest of his order is filled primarily with substandard men seemingly content with their lot as priests and brothers in a failing order, Urban is obsessed with being a winner. He has spent much of his adult life as a travelling priest based in Chicago, filling in at parishes for vacationing pastors, leading spiritual retreats and missions, and cultivating benefactors along the way. Urban's greatest win to date, Billy Cosgrove, a crass but wealthy native of Chicago, will prove to be his greatest spiritual challenge. While Billy's largesse allows the Clementines to move their office out of the slums of the Chicago Loop to a storefront in a more affluent location, the Provincial—the leader of the Clementines—rewards Urban's fundraising success with an assignment to the order's "latest white elephant," an abandoned sanatorium in rural Duesterhaus, Minnesota, that has been renamed St. Clement's Hill and now serves as a "retreat house for laymen" (15, 64). The plot follows Urban's struggles to find his footing as a doer in a setting where it seems there is little to be done. Against these odds, Urban achieves great things, promoting a new church building in a nearby parish and building a golf course on the grounds of St. Clement's Hill, making the retreat highly popular among the laity.

For good reason, much of the literary criticism of *Morte D'Urban* concerns the book as a distinctly Catholic and religious novel that follows the worldly temptations of Father Urban, or his concern with the daily and monetary needs of his order, as opposed to more lofty sacred goals. As Thomas Merton notes: "His clerical zeal, though energetic, is based on an assumed equation between his own enlightened self-interest and the interests of the Church In a word, he is a public relations man, an operator, a ham" (150). Unlike the other members of his order, Urban's work as an itinerant preacher sets him up well to cultivate donors:

While others talked of *more*—more time on the air, more publications, more schools, ever more activity of the kind that had already overextended their lines—Father Urban stumped the country, preaching retreats and parish missions, and did the work of a dozen men. And still he found the time and energy to make friends, as enjoined by Scripture, with the mammon of iniquity. (16)

Mammon generally refers to any worldly action or material good that would distract one from a connection with God, as in, "You cannot

serve God and mammon" (Douay-Rheims Challoner Bible, Matt. 6:24). The scripture Powers refers to on the mammon of iniquity, however—the parable of the unjust steward—is not so straightforward, as therein Jesus enjoins, "Make unto you friends of the mammon of iniquity; that when you fail, they may receive you into everlasting dwellings If then you have not been faithful in the unjust mammon; who will trust you with that which is the true?" (Luke 16: 9, 11). Urban himself calls the parable "a difficult text," and thinks perhaps that "Our Lord . . . may have been a little tired on the day he spoke this parable" (231). Despite his worry over the meaning of the parable, Urban clearly places some value in his skill with "unjust mammon," and as such is frustrated at being pulled from the city and placed at St. Clement's under the supervision of Father Wilfred, a priest stingy and ungifted in his worldly stewardship. How can Urban be expected to be trusted "with that which is true" after working with Wilfred, who, in renovating the retreat house, cuts paint with thinner so much that it "tinkled like water" and ends up having to redo the job because that thin paint bled?

The conflict between Urban's stewardship in this world and Wilfred's stewardship in the next prompts one of the critical debates about the novel: Is Urban simply a too-worldly priest, or does he learn a spiritual lesson? James Wood asserts the former of both *Morte* D'Urban and Powers's second novel: "The relentless emphasis on worldly parish activity, or on petty vices, at the experience of any discussion of spiritual aspiration becomes a little stultifying" (118). To read the novel as lacking a spiritual core, however, means that the reader has to identify more with the perspective of Father Urban than with the narrator. John Hagopian distances himself from Urban's worldly view in order to find a lesson in the novel; he notes that stripped of Urban's wry and hilarious perspective, "the plot can be seen as the experience of a man who uses the priesthood as an instrument for worldly success until a traumatic event shocks him into awareness that compromise with the mammon of iniquity is morally and spiritually degrading" ("Irony" 159). Both of these poles—either identifying with Urban too much or discounting his perspective as too worldly—run the risk of turning the novel into a didactic one, portraying Urban's journey either as exclusively morally empty or exclusively spiritually triumphant. Instead of drifting into didacticism, Powers's novel instead delves into the tricky ambiguities of attempting to live both in the world and beyond it.

Part of the difficulty in seeing this complexity within *Morte* D'Urban is its narrative voice, one Patricia Hampl has compared to that in Jane Austen's novels (21). Like Austen, Powers writes a slight, sly distance between his third-person narrator and Urban's perspective on the world, adding a wink and a nod, allowing the reader to understand the sometime folly of Urban's judgements and actions. Readers rightly wince when Father Urban rationalizes his benefactor Billy Cosgrove's boorish behavior, such as when Cosgrove uses Urban's presence in his car as an excuse to get out of a speeding ticket (9). At the same time, Powers sculpts Urban's perspective on his world as sympathetic and even alluring: when Urban first comments on the scruffiness of St. Clement's Hill, and of Father Wilfred's consistently cheap and short-sighted approach to dealing with the maintenance of the retreat—when the reader sees the shoddiness of the place through Urban's eyes-it is difficult not to agree with his assessment.

One standard note in critical approaches to the novel is to mistrust this alluring assessment, as does Hagopian: "An alert reader can see everything qualified by context and tone, rather than naïvely accept the neurotic narrative view of Urban as definitive" (154). Following this impulse, many critics have taken the reader's easy identification with Urban's attention to mammon as a signal that *Morte* is a didactic novel, as Walter Clark claims: "The reader who accepts the author's bait judges Urban by conventional American standards of success throughout the first half of the novel, only to have his interpretation stultified by the events of the second half' (21). To fully retreat from Urban's perspective, however, is to flatten the novel, to iron out ambiguity: Powers offers readers more than that.

At the same time, Powers sets those readers up to expect a more simple theme; the urban/rural dynamic of *Morte D'Urban* seems on face to bolster a didactic reading, as many of Urban's spiritual deficits do stem from his attachment to an urbane and cosmopolitan lifestyle. It should be good for Urban to have his dinners at the Pump Room and jaunts in red convertibles stripped from him when he is shipped off to Duesterhaus. D.H. Stewart observes, "Urban twentieth century American life determines [Powers's] character's every deed" (31), while Thomas Preston notes that in *Morte D'Urban* Powers "sets the conflict between this-worldliness and other-worldliness in the traditional opposition of city and country" (97). Robert Benson goes even further in this construction:

The great Midwestern cities such as Chicago and St. Paul are in Powers's fiction emblems of the world, the world of the tripartite formula that includes the flesh and the devil—three things that the Christian must reject; . . . Powers opposes to Chicago and St. Paul remote rural churches and monastic foundations where the bleak cold of winter offers the clearest view of the way of sanctification, a chill *via negativa* of discomfort and daily self-denial in such places as St. Clement's Hill, Duesterhaus, and Ostergothenberg. (184)

While this construction of the rural as antidote to the sins of the city is as alluring as Urban's own perspective in the narrative, the urban/rural dichotomy fails to recognize that the relocation that fuels conflict—Urban's forced move from a travelling priest's life based in Chicago to a more monastic existence at a rural outpost in Minnesota—does not actually solve his spiritual problems. Whether he is stationed in the city, at a suburban parish, at the rural retreat of St. Clement's Hill, or even in the wilderness of northern Minnesota, Urban is beset by this-worldly temptation—of vanity, of flesh, and of mammon.

Far from being a pastoral celebration of the simplicity of the rural as opposed to the complex and tempting cosmopolitanism of the city, Power's novel actually posits a constant and ever-present temptation of the worldly. Powers interrogates dichotomies that link temptation with the city and Franciscan holiness with the rural, positing instead a more comprehensive—and challenging—vision of worldly temptation in modern life. In short, the novel complicates a simple understanding of both simple country life and spiritual retreat.

Part of the reason it is so easy to read *Morte D'Urban* as a novel that celebrates the rural is that Powers so deftly constructs Father Urban as a character who loves the city. Beyond the obvious symbolism of Father Urban's taken name, Powers works throughout the novel to establish his protagonist's delight in all Chicago has to offer. When Urban finds that his friend Father Jack has also been assigned to Duesterhaus, he takes them—on Billy Cosgrove's dime—out to Chicago's Pump Room, a restaurant famous for its exotic fare of shish kabob and for its celebrity diners. When Jack gapes at the coffee served by a "colored boy got up in turban, white breeches, and green hose," Urban admits he has been to the restaurant before, not disclosing that "he had been there many times, and was known there even before he met Billy" (28-29). Jack is obviously ill at ease with the outlandish display of the restaurant, as he jumps back when "a

Turk passed with a piece of meat on a flaming sword," but Urban remains blasé: "Oh, that's all part of coming here" (29). Urban's tastes tend toward the luxurious, including dinners at French restaurants like Chicago's L'Aiglon, good scotch, and Cuban cigars (19). But it is important to note that while he enjoys high living, Urban does not horde his delicacies, instead spreading them as treats, as with his taking Jack to the Pump Room and sharing gifts of liquor with Father Wilfred and the others at St. Clement's Hill. He also uses his mammon to grease the wheel, as when he soothes Monsignor Renton—a powerful rural priest—with a fine cigar (207). Urban's appreciation for worldly goods is surely suspect, but readers should also be aware of how Urban turns the worldly to the work of the Church, often if not always to benign effect. Urban's urbanity may be his defining characteristic, but Powers determines to make that urbanity an ambiguous mix used for both good and ill.²

And again, while Father Urban's appreciation for worldly goods appears unseemly, his frustration at the grubbiness and inefficiency of his order and the Church in general is both a wellspring of humor and a gateway to sympathy from the reader. In the first pages of the book, Urban massages Billy Cosgrove first by giving him a tour of the Clementines' dilapidated offices in the Chicago Loop: "The old building occupied by the Clementines had been in receivership for vears and looked it—looked condemned, in fact That nothing. . . like painting or washing had been done in all the time of their tenancy, was now a matter of pride with some of his colleagues" (9). While the reader does have to view with skepticism the perverse "pride" that Urban sees in his colleagues' feeling, the office visit coupled with a gift to Billy of firewood of some split oak logs from the novitiate lands—does produce a reciprocal gift from Billy, a new office in Chicago. The slick new space, provided for only the cost of a "prayer" and "three cords of oak firewood annually," fails to evoke the kind of pride within the Clementines that Urban had hoped: "Father Urban was annoyed that so few of the men seemed to appreciate the new location, except for its nearness to the lake. They went for interminable walks just as if they were at the novitiate. Among themselves they jeered at the neighborhood's smart shops, at its restaurants with foreign names" (13). Urban dines at those restaurants, and while his attachment to the "smart shops" may be suspect, so, too, is his fellow Clementines' reaction to the "foreign" names of the restaurants or the fact that men treat their time working in the city

the same as if they were at the novitiate. Powers's narrative structure makes it difficult to determine the meaning of their long walks: readers are likely not to trust completely Urban's skewed perspective on their rejection of the upscale restaurants, but their walks clearly do not involve going out to do good works. And judging the relative value of actions is difficult even within the rules of a holy order. For example, the Clementines not only forego all possessions, but also pockets, as "St. Clement of Blois, the Holy Founder of the Order . . . regarded pockets rather than money as the root of evil" (10). Who is more holy, these jeering Clementines who neither take nor give as they move through the streets of Chicago, or Urban, who both takes and gives prodigiously? Pockets or no, urban or rural, a priest must live in the world. Relations with the world are more complex and problematic than a simple avoidance of worldly goods.

Whatever distance readers are supposed to keep from Father Urban, in chapter four, "Gray Days," Powers's narrator offers sympathy in describing the young Harvey Roche—the boy who will become Father Urban. Roche—literally "rock" in French—has been born in that part of Illinois where Catholics were outsiders in a world run by Protestants: "If you were a Catholic boy like Harvey Roche, you felt that it was their country, handed down to them by the Pilgrims, George Washington, and others" (75). Evoking F. Scott Fitzgerald's "Winter Dreams," Harvey is a caddy at the country club where his father works as a greenskeeper, and where he learns "that the best people, though Protestants, didn't always use the best language, or the best balls" (76), and where he is besieged by bullies who rip the buttons off his fly and hit him on the bony parts of his arms, "all because he could outplay them at golf" (81). Here Powers prompts the reader to empathize with the Harvey-who-will-become-Urban, and these foundational experiences are the rock upon which Urban the priest's unique perspective and personality are born—a strange combination of American Dream success story and religious man. For Harvey responds to the Fitzgeraldian desire to rise in social class and best those who mocked him on the golf course as a child by embracing the Catholic religion that makes him stand out even as he strives for success.

Harvey's situation is not one where religion offers retreat from the competition of the modern world, but instead one where his Catholicism makes him strange, even mysterious: It wasn't that [Protestants] remembered what tyrants (not all of them Catholics) had done to non-conformists in the past. They did not see themselves as descendants of the poor and oppressed. No, although that might be the history, that was not it. What troubled them was the hocus-pocus that went on in the Catholic churches. (75)

Harvey himself can see how the Protestants might see Catholics as bizarre: "Wasn't it all very strange there, in that place, at that time, the fancy vestments, the Latin, the wine?" (75). Harvey's embrace of the Catholic church itself is a move toward the cosmopolitan—in this case the old-world European and the exotic-instead of a move toward something safe or homelike. Powers never allows his readers to settle into easy interpretation here, as the mystery of the Catholic Church plays against the rock of Urban's rural Illinois upbringing. Harvey sticks to his religion even though it puts him in exotic company, at least in dominantly Protestant country: "He knew, too, that Catholics were mostly Irish and Portuguese, and that their religion, poverty, and appearance (especially in the case of the Portuguese) were all against them" (78). This difference—this diversity—drives people in the faith to leave it, to get rid of the differing stigma of Catholicism, but Urban clings to this cosmopolitan vision.³ Powers thus presents a Midwestern landscape already awash in cosmopolitan identity flowing beneath the surface.

Beset by these conflicting drives, Harvey falls under the mentorship first of Monsignor Morez, a priest who "was the first to suggest to him that there might be better places" than rural Illinois (76), and who cultivates his cosmopolitan demeanor: "Nobody had lived longer in the town by the time he died, a very old and even tinier man, but the idea persisted that he was a foreigner. His name was strange, and also his dress—his frock coat, homburg, and pince-nez" (76). Beyond Morez's exoticism, Harvey is impressed by his fortitude even in the face of a hooded mob:

Harvey was present one summer night when the old man admonished a hooded mob from the porch, then fired off a shotgun, which did the job as words hadn't, and then broke a bone in his foot kicking over the fiery cross that had been planted on the lawn. Where the cross fell and burned out, spoiling the grass, the old man had a bed of red geraniums blooming the next day. (77)

These are not lessons of the beatific simplicity of rural life, but rather of the ability of cosmopolitan religious figures to survive in a largely

rural and bigoted America that Morez describes as a "missionary country" (76). Urban's attachment to the city and finer things does not spring from being to the cosmopolitan manner born, but rather from complex drives based both in the Protestant American Dream and an exotic Catholic Church.

As Harvey grows up under Morez's influence, he finds himself contemplating life as a priest, and he worries about the dangers that might come from doing that work in a rural parish: "[Harvey] knew that the hands and heart of a priest could be occupied anywhere, of course, but he also knew that many were paralyzed by the possibility of scandal there, or, what was the same, were driven to drink by it, or, like Monsignor Morez, were turned in on themselves" (77-78). As Harvey begins to doubt, enter Father Placidus the Clementine, another kind of worldly priest, "a man from Maynooth [Ireland] by way of Chicago, sixteen stone and every ounce a priest" (78). Placidus's magnetic personality cuts a wide swath in town: "Everybody he met during his short stay seemed much better for the experience, including even the chief of police and also the sheriff and the mayor, on all of whom he (attended by Harvey) paid courtesy calls" (78). Harvey sees a brighter world with Placidus in it, and the odd characters of the world beat a path to the Clementine's door: "[O]ne evening, after benediction, the two of them swiftly repaired to the Opera House, and there, during curtain calls, members of the Chicago company of Mlle Modiste recognized the great man in his box and saluted him and his young companion" (78-79). In Placidus, Harvey sees the combination of priest and worldly gentleman, of man of God and man of the world. Harvey follows Placidus to the Clementine Novitiate, hoping to enter a society peopled by men like his new mentor, but there Harvey finds persecution similar to that which he found in his hometown. Among other indignities, one of the professors, "mimicked Harvey's drawl, denied him the best parts in plays, and never stopped trying to cast him as a yokel" (81). Powers ends this section of the novel with the older Urban reflecting on the fate of the boys and men who mocked and tormented him: they end up defamed or defrocked, and Urban the adult thinks to himself. "Revenge is mine," even going on to worry slightly over Father Boniface—the man who assigns Urban to Duesterhaus—"now that he'd joined the select little group of people who'd made life unnecessarily difficult for Father Urban" (82). In the long flashback, the reader's sympathy thus runs the gamut from identifying with the

young Harvey Roche to viewing skeptically Father Urban's *schaden-freude* at the demise of his enemies. And in this, the reader is left to both trust and mistrust Urban's viewpoint, neither seeing him as fully justified in his vision of the world or fully discounting it. Thus, as Urban shapes himself in Placidus's image, floating as a travelling man rather than linking himself directly to the community, readers can see both the strength and weakness of this position: Urban the cosmopolitan figure and Urban the man without a home.

The long setup of Urban's urbane lifestyle in the city and on the road makes it easy to see why many critics have viewed the rural landscape as Powers's antidote to worldly temptations. Powers depicts the country landscape, however, only in ironic descriptions of home and simple rural comfort. The train journey to Duesterhaus is bleak: "November was winter here. Too many white frame farmhouses, not new and not old, not at all what Father Urban would care to come home to for Thanksgiving or Christmas. Rusty implements. Brown dirt. Gray skies. Ice" (36). The rural setting offers neither respite nor charm to Urban, as he cannot even imagine the unremarkable farmhouses—neither historic nor new—as homelike. This ironic unhomeliness of the rural setting is further emphasized when Urban reaches the empty train station in Duesterhaus; he asks directions to the Order of St. Clement and learns that St. Clement's Hill is locally referred to as "The Home," as it previously served as a poorhouse and a sanitarium. Urban's worries about being attacked by dogs on the journey are comic—"Hounds. Mastiffs. Dead, perhaps eaten. Anything could happen here"-but his overblown fears are followed by a description of the horrific history of the home where a double murder and suicide took place (39, 42). Powers creates humor by putting his urbane fish in a backwater pond; this relocation is funny because readers see some truth in the sometimes bleak horror of the rural setting. Moving to the country does not always mean returning home.

Urban's view of the landscape contrasts with that of Father Wilfred, Urban's superior at St. Clement's Hill. When they first stand together on the porch and survey the November scenery that Urban sees as "bare trees and bushes, the dead fields, the trees in the distance like black whiskers on the winter horizon," Wilf says, "A grand place, this" (44). But this contrast does not mean that Wilfred is meant to be the antidote to Urban's worldliness. Despite all his rural affectation, Wilfred also concerns himself with mundane affairs, if

only in a miserly way. Wilf sets Urban, Jack, and Brother Harold to the task of renovating the rec room of the old Victorian house that makes up the main building at the Hill, but Wilf is relentlessly cheap, ordering war surplus paint—so thick that it is difficult to stir, a stiffness Wilf attributes "not to old age but richness" (88). But ordering by mail from a Minneapolis supplier rather than buying from a local lumberyard has put Wilf on the wrong side of the local hardware store that resents his asking for free materials such as spatulas and paint caps. Urban's pragmatic stance on Wilf's "penny wise and pound foolish" approach to renovation is reasonable (88). While critics such as Walter Clark have posited Father Wilfred as yin to Father Urban's yang, for all of his do-it-yourself work ethic, Wilf is still concerned with the world. As many home renovators have done, he and Brother Harold spend their off hours staring at the paint drying on the walls and making plans for further renovations, fully immersed in the mundane pleasures of fixing up the old house (86). Tightfisted actions don't equal godly ones, and thus the rural paradise of the Hill is consumed with day-to-day life just as much as Urban is in Chicago.

The rural setting is not so much a rural antidote to Urban's Chicago as home to a provincial worldliness. Under orders from Wilfred, Brother Harold has been taking sign-painting correspondence courses, and before Christmas he takes on a sign project for Rudy, Wilf's grocer brother:

[Harold] was now working on a commission . . . turning out signs that read "Rudy sez $98\,e$ " and "Rudy sez \$1.98" and so on. Some of the signs had ears of corn and straw hats drawn on them. The idea in all this was that Rudy was a country-storekeeper type, which, to Wilf's chagrin, Father Urban had professed to believe was the truth. ("What's the matter—can't your brother spell?"—"Oh, that's just a merchandizing stunt.") (106)

The point here is not that Wilf is attempting to make money to help support St. Clement's Hill, but rather that his provincial perspective—or the quasi-provincial, in Rudy's case—is as much a worldly worldview as Urban's cosmopolitanism. Marketing the rural is still marketing, quaint and kitschy as "Sez Rudy" may be.

These urban/rural dynamics are further complicated when Father Urban is sent off to work as a visiting priest in a suburban church faced with a growing parish due to a new housing development. This suburban space further complicates the idea of a worldly urban ver-

sus an idealized rural space by creating a third, suburban setting that brings further—but distinct—worldly challenges. The housing development and parish growth prompt worries in the priests who had grown used to a rural parish; they willfully ignore the parishioners that stand in the aisles at every mass as they question the need to build a new church. Even Urban's worldly coup, his elicited donation from Billy to fund the creation of a nine-hole golf course on the land at St. Clement's Hill and the skillful negotiation with a retiring farmer who sells his land to them, itself presents a strange amalgam of the country and the city, of a land fully sculpted, yet green and natural. The course, built as it is on former farmland, is the epitome of suburban development, and the success of the Clementine retreat follows not because it is a place of spiritual respite, but because of its destination as a place of outdoor recreation. Finally, without the growing suburban population of the surrounding parishes, there would be few pious golfers to fill St. Clement's fairways. The suburban is no easy middle ground between country and city, instead presenting its own temptations of mammon.

Power's novel further questions the easy dichotomy of city bad, rural good in its last chapters when Urban is faced with ardent spiritual tests of his faith, each set in wild or remote settings. These tests of faith begin after Urban's pivotal golf match on the St. Clement's fairway—a mock battle that pits Urban against Father Feld, a ringer brought in by the Bishop of the Great Plains Diocese. The battle has to do with control of the Hill, a property that the local Catholic diocese had no interest in when it was a run-down former asylum. As a holy order, the Clementines are beholden to the local diocese, and the bishop begins to show interest in the Hill as soon as the golf course is constructed and it becomes a popular retreat. On his first tour of the Hill, the Bishop "demonstrated that he was a poor sport as well as a lousy golfer," and he returns to challenge Father Urban, whose "near-professional game" he seems to regard as "unseemly and impertinent in a priest" (211). The duffer Bishop brings Father Feld to the match as his champion, while Urban is paired with another spectacularly bad golfer, and the foursome plays in a game described in terms of a duel:

Father Urban's defeat was not a necessary part of the Bishop's larger plan of conquest, but Father Urban could understand its appeal—to create an omen, as it were, and then to act in accord with it. In Father

Urban's mind, informed as it was by a good deal of solid reading, the match between him and Father Feld took on the appearance of a judicial duel. Victory for Father Urban in the field, however, would not mean victory for his cause. That was the hell of it. Father Urban had read of many ordeals by combat... but he doubted that history would reveal a parallel case. (244)

From the beginning, the battle is one that Urban has no foreseeable way of winning. If Urban bests the Bishop, he will maintain his grudge and claim the Hill for the diocese out of spite. If Urban tanks the match, the result is hardly better; the Bishop might simply take the Hill anyway, leaving Urban's sacrifice in vain. The match between Feld and Urban is even, and, as it progresses, a small gallery gathers as they seem to realize the unstated stakes. Despite the nowin scenario, Urban is unable to let go of his mantra of "Be a Winner," and though he enters the last three holes two strokes down, he preaches "a great sermon in golf" (246). He catches up, and as they face the final hole with the possibility of a tie, the Bishop suggests a sudden-death play-off to settle the match, to which Urban responds, "Sudden death it is, then" (248).

And as Urban is on the ninth green, well positioned to defeat Feld, he does prevail, though not through winning the match. Urban is struck down—a kind of sudden death—when the Bishop hits a stray shot right at him, the golf ball striking his head with a sound that Monsignor Renton later recalls makes a sound like "somebody'd opened a bottle of champagne," the blow rendering him unconscious (253). Feeling sorry for the accident, the Bishop retreats, and his guilt allows St. Clement's Hill to remain in Clementine hands.

After falling but achieving victory on the field, Urban unwittingly embarks on a series of comic spiritual challenges in the wilderness. As Marcia Noe well describes, Urban "is faced with three situations where he is required to either appease a lay benefactor by acquiescing in that person's immoral behavior or take a stand against that behavior and risk alienating the person" (114). Each of these situations places the worldly against the spiritual. He first spends time recuperating at the lake mansion of Mrs. Thwaits, the donor of the home and land that make up St. Clement's Hill. Hoping during his visit to gain Mrs. Thwaits's approval and subsequent patronage, Urban styles himself as St. Francis, going so far as to try to get a squirrel to take a green nut from his hand when he sees that Thwaits is watching him through the window (254). Urban soon learns, how-

ever, that Thwaits has been gambling and winning at dominoes with Katie, her young Irish house servant, and keeping all of the maid's salary as a result. When Urban questions Thwaits's behavior, she ignores him, silently retreating behind a wall of three simultaneously running television sets. Despite Urban's holy authority and the beatific setting on the shores of the lake, Mrs. Thwaits is locked into mammon, a wall of television easily separating her from any rural beneficence.

Urban's second challenge comes in his relationship with Billy Cosgrove, one that similarly disintegrates in a rural setting. On a fishing trip to "Henn's Haven" in northern Minnesota, Billy"s bad behavior—hard drinking, bullying the owner, and adultery with the owner's young wife—becomes a pressing moral issue that Urban struggles to address obliquely and with tact. But Urban's relationship with Billy comes to a head when they are on the lake, fishing. Billy's behavior has Urban reflecting in the boat on sermons he has given on "saints who had really asked for the martyr's crown," and thinking it might be better to celebrate "those who remained on the scene and got on with the job" (285). As Urban is driving the boat, Billy spies a deer swimming across the lake. Billy asks to go closer, and when Urban complies, Billy reaches out and forces the head of the deer underwater, attempting to drown the animal. Understanding that "his relationship with Billy was going to be a lot better or a lot worse from now on," Urban revs the outboard motor, spilling Billy overboard and freeing the deer (286-87). Upon getting back in the boat, Billy dumps Urban overboard and leaves him stranded on the shores of the lake. While the wilderness is the setting for what might be called Urban's spiritual test, the test itself—as with Urban's third and final, sensual temptation soon to come from Mrs. Thwaits's attractive daughter is one of pressing worldly concerns, of money and of the flesh. These concerns are in no way lessened in a rural setting. Urban's spiritual growth, his learning to turn from the world, comes after being more clearly confronted with the worldly in the rural, not in retreating from the world. In Powers's novel, there is no retreat from mammon.

This lack of a rural retreat is complicated by Father Urban's fate at the end of the novel, one set into motion in a scene where he plays his most knightly role as champion, battling for the fate of St. Clement's Hill. When Urban is hit on the head by a golf ball, he saves the Clementine retreat, at least temporarily, from the hands of the Bishop. If this resolution has a *deus ex machina* feel, it also triggers

a change in Urban: resulting headaches from the concussion render him a man who values peace and quiet much more than he does the company of others. The worldly priest thus at the end of the novel quite literally retreats from the world. This transition makes Urban seem to be a much more reverent man than he is at the beginning of the novel, though what this retreat means in the context of Powers's intensely ambiguous novel is unclear.

In a 1959 letter to longtime friend and benefactor Father Harvey F. X. Egan, Powers talked about the title and a central theme of what he was then calling his Duesterhaus novel: "I have considered from time to time the title Morte D'Urban for my Duesterhaus novel. Whether that will be it, I don't know, but in any event I intend to play upon the idea of dying to this world" (Suitable Accommodations 334, emphasis added). And most critics have seen the novel's ending, one where Father Urban becomes the provincial of the Clementines but ends up retreating from his benefactors and most all visitors, as a death of Urban's worldly connections and a spiritual triumph. But overwhelming evidence points to a conclusion not of Urban simply "dying to this world" but to Powers's intention "to play" with that concept. Reading any one section of the Morte D'Urban without the context of the whole can lead to an easy misreading, as Flannery O'Connor noted: "The whole adds up to a great deal more than the parts would suggest" (496). Powers's novel is not a morality play. Urban's state at the end of the novel prompts more questions than it answers.

Even those who read worldly ambiguity in the rest of the novel tend to see redemption for Urban at novel's end. Stanley Poss confesses that Urban always has a foot in both world and spirit: "The point hardly needs arguing that the most visible Father Urban in the novel is the one who knows the way the world goes But this Urban is also the later Urban potentially, because along with his fondness for expensive cigars . . . he is a good man, a man of charity" (71). Still, Poss believes in the death-to-the-worldly reading: "The real point of the novel is the death of Urban the glad-handing opportunist" (73). Long claims that Urban's lack of "true" intimacy leaves him alone with God: "Having lived a life of aggressive friendliness but no intimacy, he now has to face God in silence and alone. In Powers's hands, a reader feels that Urban is prepared for the encounter" (12). Both of these readings ignore the complexities of where the novel leaves Urban. Preston argues that in the final chapter, "Dirge," when Urban

sees St. Clement's Hill as "home," Powers has promoted "a final vision of the Christian life [that] is uncompromisingly other-worldly and perhaps for this very reason repugnant to modern eyes" (106). For while Father Urban manages to achieve many of his worldly aims—building a golf course at St. Clement's Hill and thus making it a popular retreat and being elected the Provincial, or head, of his order—he is left a shadow of his travelling self, a man so plagued with headaches that he is unable to converse with people for any length of time. Robert Benson reads the ending this way: "So at the end of *Morte D'Urban* Father Urban Roche, who became a priest because he wanted 'to stay in the best hotels, to meet the best people, to live like a Protestant,' . . . becomes the provincial of his order, and in removal from the world he finds peace and his true vocation" (184).

While Urban's retreat to a quieter life certainly is the death to the world that the "Morte" of the title speaks to, it is less certain that this death to the world is peaceful. As Provincial, Father Urban is plagued by administrative decisions that the Clementines' previous provincial neglected, such as cutting down the Ceratocystis-infected "Avenue of Elms" at the Novitiate (333). At his most unworldly point in the novel, Urban still deals directly with worldly concerns—concerns he would be remiss if he did not address. And Benson's idea of "peace" is even more questionable, based only on these triply ambiguous few sentences discussing his behavior with visitors when harboring one of his many migraine headaches:

They arrived and departed like sections of the Twentieth Century Limited—three or four times on some days, a dozen on others—and left him with a dazed and run-over feeling. When somebody was in the office, and he felt the first section coming down the tracks, he swiveled around in his chair, saying, "I'll be with you in a minute, Father," and opened his breviary, and closed his eyes, and waited until both sections had come and gone. Thus he tried to disguise his condition from others, and thus, without wishing to, he gained a reputation for piety he hadn't had before, which, however, was not entirely unwarranted now. (334)

First, these headaches ironically recall Urban's time on his favorite train—the Limited—even as the headaches' arrivals and departures keep him sequestered in his office. Second, while Urban gains a reputation for holiness in his frequent retreats to his breviary, these retreats are clearly not holy—only excuses for taking a moment away

from people. "Not entirely unwarranted" holiness is the best that Powers offers us, giving Urban a glancing chance at transcendence but snatching it away.⁵ Urban experiences no pure transcendence here, and if he is supposed to be triumphant in dying to the world, then why are we left with the image of a broken man in pain?

Urban's final state in the novel leaves a conundrum unresolved by declaring him dead to the world in a spiritual sense. The ambiguous ending is made more opaque because of Powers's classification as a Catholic novelist. As David M. LaGuardia suggests, despite writing about a Catholic subject, Powers's artistic aims were broader: "In his most serious moments of critical reflection. Powers intimates that he is quite concerned with the problem of achieving fictional universality despite thematic specificity" (268). LaGuardia goes on to mention an interview Powers gave to the American Benedictine Review in 1964, wherein he said, "I want to deal with things that I regard as important, like life and death . . . but I write about priests for reasons of irony, comedy, and philosophy. They officially are committed to both worlds in the way that most people are not. This makes for stronger beer . . . I just start with a priest, with a man with one foot in each world. It's as simple as that" (qtd. in LaGuardia 268). In other words, the "stronger beer" of the novel results from the uncertainty of Urban's end: has he truly changed, turning from the world to the spiritual, or is he simply a man who suffers bad headaches? The truth lies in both of the above descriptions: a man who seeks to be holy and yet lives in the world wherever he may reside. Urban or rural, on a train or in a rural retreat, Powers's hero struggles with a "foot in each world." Powers leaves the reader with no place of comfort, no firm resolution, neither country nor city, not cosmopolitan or homely. The rejection of the easy dichotomies is the central point of the novel, not the embrace of one side or the other.

In the end, *Morte D'Urban* is a novel of comfort and transcendence only in snatches: an act of bravery in Monsignor Morez standing up to a mob or a man being dumped in a lake—twice—for standing up for his values. The one consistent arc of Urban's development over the course of the novel lies in the growth of his attachment to his unlikely friends that he serves with at St. Clement's Hill—Jack and Wilf. Thomas Merton observes that the Urban of the first chapters of the novel is gregarious but lonely: "[I]f we tune out the other sounds and listen to his thoughts as they are relayed to us by Mr. Powers, we find in [Urban] empty gregariousness, not friendship" (150). When

Urban is forced to slow down and actually live with other men, he finds moments of true friendship. He plays—and loses—at checkers with Father Jack, and he even begins to think fondly of Father Wilfred, as Urban ultimately understands and sympathizes with Wilf's attachment to a dog that becomes a sticking point in the negotiations for the farmland necessary to build the golf course. The final line of the novel suggests that these connections are almost familial: "Oddly enough, although for many years he'd travelled out of Chicago, he seemed to think of the Hill as home" (336). And it is this connection to his friends, to the home of St. Clement's Hill, that holds redemption for Urban, connections begun in Chicago over a dinner with Jack and continued even after he leaves the Hill to head the Novitiate. These bonds, not the rural setting, allow Urban to grow. In Urban's friendships—not in the country—he finds a home.

Morte D'Urban is a novel that embraces no easy endings, even for priests. Powers creates not a novel about a priest dying to the world and finding transcendence, but a novel about the difficulty of any of us—even the priests—finding those moments which enhance our daily states of grace. It's a novel about struggle, plain and simple, to find the moments of connection and godliness that pull us above the worldly fray, no matter who we may be or where we may stand.

Hiram College

NOTES

¹In defense of Hagopian and others, many of these readings reacted to secular critical responses to Powers's novel like that of William Gass, who said, "I cannot imagine a book in which religious feeling would be more conspicuously absent" (qtd. in Hagopian 154). In response, many critics doubled down on the religious message of the novel, stressing too secular a reading as misreading, as does Joseph Hynes: "The novel's point of view is likely to encourage readers to sympathize with Father Urban's private point of view" (453). For more critics in the misreading camp, see Poss, Sisk or Henault.

²For more on this charity, see Stanley Poss: "But this Urban is also the later Urban potentially, because along with this fondness for expensive cigars . . . he is a good man, a man of charity" (71).

³ While many critics have identified Powers's Irish American heritage and themes, John Murphy notes that Powers layers his narrative with priests with Irish surnames while restraining himself to doing so "indirectly and sporadically" (80).

⁴Mille Modiste itself is an operetta a young Urban would have been impressed by, it being a story of a young milliner in a Paris hat shop who dreams of becoming a famous opera singer.

⁵Critics have noted how Urban's struggle in rural Minnesota echoes that of Sir Lancelot in Mallory's *Le Morte d'Arthur*. Like Lancelot, Urban moves from being a man of the world to being a man of the spirit. John Hagophian summarizes their parallel journeys as follows: "Like Lancelot, Urban first chooses the earthly road instead of the heavenly and thus fails to

find the Grail (sanctity). But having weathered his temptations, again like Lancelot, he can through three trials, occurring on or near lakes, at last achieve salvation" (141-42). Hagophian's reading of the Arthurian motifs in Power's novel is deft and revealing, but he and most critics fail to account for the empty feeling the reader is left with at the end of the novel.

WORKS CITED

- Benson, Robert. "The White Martyrdom of Urban Roche." *Place in American Fiction: Excursions and Explorations*. Ed. H.L. Weatherby and George Core. Columbia: U of Missouri P, 2004. 183-199.
- Clark, Walter H. "Structure in *Morte D'Urban*." Rocky Mountain Review 32.1 (Winter 1978): 20-32.
- Fitzgerald, Sally, ed. *The Habit of Being: Letters of Flannery O'Connor*. NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 1979.
- Hagopian, John V. J. F. Powers. NY: Twayne, 1968.
- —. "Irony and Involution in J. F. Powers's Morte D'Urban." Contemporary Literature 9.2 (Spring 1968): 151-71.
- Hampl, Patricia. "Undomesticated: The Life & Times of J. F. Powers." Rev. of Suitable Accommodations: An Autobiographical Story of Family Life: The Letters of J.F. Powers, 1942-1963. Commonweal 10 Oct. 2013, 19-23.
- Hynes, Joseph. "Father Urban's Renewal: J. F. Powers' Difficult Precision." *Modern Language Quarterly* 29.4 (Winter 1968): 450-466. MLA International Bibliography. Web. 23 June 2014.
- LaGuardia, David M. "A Critical Dilemma: J.F. Powers and the Durability of Catholic Fiction." Challenges in American Culture. Ed. Ray B. Browne, Larry N. Landrum, and William K. Bottorff. Bowling Green: Bowling Green U Popular P, 1970. 265-76.
- Long, J.V. "Clerical Character(s): Rereading J.F. Powers." Commonweal 8 May 1998, 11-14.
 Merton, Thomas. "J. F. Powers—Morte D'Urban: Two Celebrations." The Literary Essays of Thomas Merton. Ed. Patrick Hart. NY: New Directions, 1981, 147-51.
- Murphy, John L. "J.F. Powers & Betty Wahl: Irish Americans & Returning Yanks." *Estudios Irlandeses* 8 (2013): 79-92.
- Noe, Marcia. "The Politics of Piety: Gamesmanship in the Fiction of J.F. Powers." MidAmerica 17 (1990): 106-117.
- Poss, Stanley. "J.F. Powers: The Gin of Irony." *Twentieth Century Literature* 14.2 (July 1968): 65-74.
- Powers, J. F. Morte D'Urban. 1962. NY: New York Review Books, 2000.
- Powers, Katherine A., ed. Suitable Accommodations: An Autobiographical Story of Family Life: The Letters of J. F. Powers, 1942-1963. NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2013.
- Preston, Thomas. "Christian Folly in the Fiction of J.F. Powers." Critique: Studies in Modern Fiction16.2 (January 1974): 91-107. MLA International Bibliography. Web. 11 June 2014.
- Stewart, D.H. "J.F.Powers's *Morte D'Urban* as Western." Western American Literature 5.1 (Spring 1970): 31-44.
- Wood, James. "Church Mice." The New Yorker 11 Dec. 2000, 114-19.
- Wymard, Eleanor B. "On the Revisions of *Morte Di'rban.*" *Studies in Short Fiction* 14.1 (Winter 1977): 84-86. MLA International Bibliography. Web. 18 Jan. 2016.

GOING TO PARIS WITH DONALD OGDEN STEWART AND THE HADDOCKS OF OHIO

GUY SZUBERLA

Donald Ogden Stewart wrote the novel *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock Abroad* while living in Paris during the spring and early summer of 1924. Some fifty years after writing it, he would remember this time as one of "the happiest summers that I have ever enjoyed." Perhaps it was. He had composed his novel under conditions almost any writer would envy:

It was terribly easy to write (sitting in my little room at the Hotel Montparnasse) and what was even more fun was to trot every evening with what I had written over to Place St. Michel where Gerald and Sara Murphy were living and where the audience of listeners usually included their friends Ernest and Hadley Hemingway, John Dos Passos, and Gilbert Seldes, aided by certain magic drinks which Gerald and Sara devised. (MA 271)¹

On some nights, Ada and Archibald MacLeish joined the group of expatriates at the Murphys (BL 130). They were all there to laugh at Stewart's story of the Haddocks, a hapless and comically adventurous Ohio couple and their young daughter, Mildred. The novel's loosely drawn plot—with generous infusions of Crazy Comedy and surrealistic detours and flourishes—followed their zigzagging progress as the three traveled from Columbus, Ohio, to France.

Those who now remember Donald Ogden Stewart (1894-1980), it seems safe to say, think of him as the model for Jake Barnes's friend Bill Gorton in *The Sun Also Rises* (1926). Most of us, that is, first find our way to Stewart's humor through Hemingway's novel, encountering it second hand in Gorton's comic speeches, his riffs on stuffed dogs and expatriates, and his other assorted verbal hijinks. For others, Stewart's reputation as a writer largely rests on the screenplays he wrote in 1930s and 1940s. Film buffs recall that he wrote the

screenplays for Laughter (1930), The Philadelphia Story (1940), and the 1939 film, An Affair to Remember (a source for Sleepless in Seattle). "During the 1920s," Scott Donaldson notes, Stewart "was probably the nation's most widely read humorist" (99). But today the titles of some of his best-selling books—A Parody Outline of History (1921), Perfect Behavior (1922), and The Crazy Fool (1925)—command little or no significant recognition. Apart from those who follow footnotes closely or turn search engines up to full speed, few readers or scholars have heard of the two books focused on here, Mr. and Mrs. Haddock Abroad (1924) and Mr. and Mrs. Haddock in Paris, France (1926).

Stewart set out, he said in his autobiography, to write Mr. and Mrs. Haddock Abroad as "a whole book in the nonsense idiom" (BL 129). Years before the genre of Crazy Comedy had earned its name or an agreed-upon definition, he was writing "crazy fool humor," or "lunatic comedy"-what his friend Robert Benchley dubbed "dementia praecox" humor (Blair 433-36). Readers in the 1920s, those already attuned to Stewart's humor, would not have puzzled long over moments like the one in which Mr. Haddock studies a book of instruction on swim strokes as a guidebook to Paris (MA 93). Nor would they have been surprised that, near the beginning of their journey, Will Haddock runs into a "jolly fat gentleman . . . brushing his teeth and part of his left ear in order to battle pyorrhea" (MA 24). That the Haddocks think that Medoc wine is French water, believe that the French don't bathe ("they use perfume"), and that their hotel runs "a one-way elevator"—all this, read through the narrative logic and incongruous juxtapositions of Crazy Comedy, makes perfect comic sense (MP 22-3, 65).

Readers of the Haddock books in the 1920s—those who made the two novels into best sellers—were laughing at some familiar caricatures of the American tourist and the innocent Midwesterner abroad. It was easy enough to feel superior to the self-inflicted comic suffering and humiliations of the Haddocks, to laugh at this family of provincials far too far from the comforts and security of the heartland. Like Mark Twain in *Innocents Abroad* (1869), Stewart was pitting his naïve travelers against old-world sophisticates, playing for laughs the moments when their ignorance of foreign languages and customs resulted in comic confusion, and, now and then, toying with titillating scenes in which their native American puritanism blinded them to social and sexual realities.

Stewart may have exaggerated when he said the trip with the Haddocks had been "a journey into the Middle-West subconscious" (BL 129). But he was defamiliarizing some familiar character types and well-worn story lines. Through the distorting yet corrective lenses of Crazy Comedy and with the occasional shocks and surprises of the surreal, Stewart remade both the type-character of the Midwesterner and the narrative conventions that, since the nine-teenth century, had defined the American innocent abroad. Retelling these tales in his "nonsense idiom" transformed a character type and altered a fixed and traditional school of humor. Midwestern characters, who were expected to strike comic postures identified with old-fashioned common sense and plain speaking, now acted with zany and lunatic carelessness, spoke nonsense, and spun their comic logic into what some reviewers described as "Dadaistic."²

"A GENTLE FROLIC"

No matter how silly or naïve the Haddocks appear under the stress and strangeness of travel, they never quite descend into the simple, brute state of "ugly Americans." Behind the caricatures of the Haddocks and just beneath the comic distortions of their Midwest provincialism, Stewart held fast to a few nostalgic memories of Columbus friends and neighbors. Born in Columbus in 1894, Stewart grew up with his parents in an apartment-hotel in the city's downtown, attended Douglas grade school with James Thurber, and, all in all, felt for a time that the "Stewarts were 'in Society' in Columbus" (BL 12-17). In his autobiography, *By A Stroke of Luck!* (1975), he looked back on this world, the Columbus of his childhood, as "a very small world but very complete" (BL 16-7). Called on to create a radio play in the patriotic days just after Pearl Harbor, he drafted a sincere tribute to the people and democratic values of a small town in Ohio, titling his work "This is the Real America" (BL 260).

Stewart broke with Columbus and rebelled against the values of Middle America during the 1920s. In 1923, returning home after traveling to Europe and living in New York, he discovered at Christmastime that he no longer felt at home in the "solitudes of Columbus." "Columbus," he concluded with self-mocking humor, "wasn't in the least interested in the artistic ferment of Greenwich Village or Paris" (BL 127). Like the many American expatriates who had fled to Paris after World War I, he believed that by leaving America he might, as he later said, be "freed . . . of the New England

Puritan heritage" and escape from "Main Street Babbitry" and "anticultural Normalcy" (BL 106). He had read Harold Stearns's *Civilization in the United States* (1921), and, as his restatements of its main arguments should suggest, he "was ready to join the angry young men of 1921" (BL 93). His third book, *Aunt Polly's Story of Mankind* (1923), gave voice to the "great bitterness in my generation." He satirized and savaged the American Legion, the Ku-Klux-Klan, "Christian nations," anti-Semitic prejudices, Prohibition, the American brands of nativism, racism, and overblown patriotism, and all else that stood for "The Glorious Present' and 'Mankind'" (BL 120-23). Sales, to his great surprise, turned out to be miserably small. Readers expecting another clever set of parodies or spoof of contemporary manners—the kind of urbane and witty sendups he had delivered in *Perfect Behavior* (1922)—were bound to be disappointed.

Arriving in Paris in April 1924, with the disappointing reception of Aunt Polly's Story fresh in mind, he resolved to abandon "any pretense of despair, of anger, of political criticism." The Haddocks novels were to be "a gentle frolic, aimed at promoting laughter" (BL 130-31). Shortly after the publication of the first Haddock novel, Hemingway wrote to his good friend Bill Smith, urging him to "Get Mr. and Mrs. Haddock Abroad"—a "really funny book" that had "the old Lardnerers Stuff" (Baker 138-39). Hemingway was about half right. Stewart's mock travelogues—both Mr. and Mrs. Haddock Abroad and the sequel Mr. and Mrs. Haddock in Paris, France—did owe something to Ring Lardner's Gullible's Travels (1917) and The Big Town (1921). Some of the "old Lardnerers Stuff" filtered into Stewart's comic narratives of tourist travel and the scenes of the Haddocks' domestic life and squabbles. Like Lardner's traveling couples, the Gullibles of Chicago and the Hoosier Finches, the Haddocks are Midwesterners who, once they lose touch with the flat, friendly ground of the Midwest, become confused, disoriented, and quarrelsome. Their social sense, and their common sense, fail them in strange and foreign places.

It was not, in the end, Lardner's old Stuff that liberated Stewart's comic demiurge. Through his reading of Lardner's nonsense plays and acting a part in one of them during the winter of 1924, he was discovering and perfecting his own experiments with "crazy" humor. In the 1975 afterword to *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock Abroad*, Stewart acknowledged the influence of Lardner's "marvelous piece called *I Gaspiri—or The Upholsterers* which had introduced me to what was

beginning to be known as 'Crazy Humor.'" He spoke of Lardner and this nonsense play with gratitude, offering an almost solemn benediction: "To Ring, God Bless him . . . I particularly owe the creation of Mr. and Mrs. Haddock and their daughter Mildred" (MA 271).

What Stewart owed to Lardner and *I Gaspiri* may not be immediately evident in the opening pages of *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock Abroad.* Lardner's nonsense plays verged on "Dada or surrealism," as many critics in the twenties pointed out (Yardley 272). Consider his stage directions for Act I of *I Gaspiri*: "A man named Newburn comes out of the faucet which has been left running." Naturally enough, Newburn promptly "exits through the exhaust" (qtd. in Yardley 270-71). The opening lines in Stewart's novel, by comparison, seem almost coherent and downright conventional:

Mr. and Mrs. Haddock were very excited about going abroad. It was the first time either of them had ever been abroad to Europe, although Mr. Haddock had been to Chicago eight times, Kansas City five times, St. Louis four times, Denver four times, and New York City twice, but it had rained four times out of five.

Mrs. Haddock had been to St. Louis once and Chicago twice, in Pullman cars, named respectively, Edgar Allen Poe, Sweet Juniper, and Spauldingopolis. She had not slept very well the first two times and the third time she had not slept at all. She slept very well at home, though, mostly on her back and left side. Her mother's maiden name had been Quetch. (MA 11-12)

The humor here largely depends upon overcomplication or on what Jesse Bier, in his study of American humor, terms "the service of unholy complication." Such humor "makes simple events or situations unforeseeably complex" (Bier 3). We watch as one irrelevant detail follows another in a dizzying whirligig. The itemizing of the Haddocks' travel experiences spirals off into a final and inconsequential notation on Hattie Haddock's sleeping habits and her maiden name. Rube Goldberg could not have cranked up a more comically complex piece of machinery or equipped it with more cogs, tiny wheels and meshing gears. Stewart was blessed with a gift for "unholy complication" and misdirection.

Until this trip, the Haddocks' world had been a small one, bounded by and tied to Columbus, Ohio. Once outside the city's limits, they will be, to labor the all-too-obvious pun, fish out of water: Ohioans traveling too far from Ohio. They seem, at first, to fit pre-

cisely into the caricature and type-character of the Midwesterner: bland, boring, and normal, representatives of a middling middle class. They are certainly naïve, innocent of all cosmopolitan vices and virtues. On the other hand, Stewart does not use Will Haddock, a Columbus lumberyard owner, his sometimes daffy wife, and his twelve-year-old smarty pants daughter to represent "Main Street Babbitry" or what he and others of his generation liked to call "anticultural Normalcy." If *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock Abroad* holds a bitter protest, it is one that Stewart deflects and disguises through Crazy Comedy and his excursions into the surreal (BL 106).

The Haddocks' preparations for their trip illustrate, with an artful and comic imbalance, their innocence of a wider world and a certain ingrained and local narrowness. Hattie Haddock, faithful to her hometown prejudices, gathers "much useful information" about France from her Columbus friends:

PARIS—H.K.W. says French laundries useful, but make list. Chemise is a shirt in French. No starch best. Notre Dame best by moonlight. Evenings cool (Will—overcoat). Take full half-day for the Louvre. Venus de Milo on first floor. Good corsets (Cora) at "Au Printemps" near Opera pronounced O Prantom. French hard to understand. Don't let Will shout. Mona Lisa on second floor. Elevator—tip. Stairs not hard. Don't touch with white gloves. Louvre free on Sunday. Good Presb. Church near Arc de Triumph. Notre Dame catholic.

Cora says Notre Dame best in the morning and always check up on the waiters about the bill. Bill is addition, waiter garçon but pronounced differently. Bread dirty. Versailles-fountains play once a month. Don't drink French water. Vin blanc a good white wine French meals different. Will's pills. Napoleon's tomb sure.

Aunt Flora says Notre best in the afternoon. Always rains in the morning Eiffel tower unsafe. Morgue gone. French men unsafe. French immoral. No bathtubs. Catholics. (MA 18-9)

Mrs. Haddock's list is long and, with time and travel, will grow longer. It ends here with the clinching observation that "Mrs. Gueminder saw bugs" (19). Her jumbled catalog and stray comments—set down in a rush of laughably incongruous juxtapositions and expressed with wonderfully comic innocence—are being compiled in a notebook titled "My Trip Abroad." The resulting collection of notes exposes Columbus, Ohio's constricted, if altogether conventional, view of Paris and the French. From this fund of mis-

information and the itemized listing of xenophobic prejudices, Hattie intends to guide herself and her family safely through strange and foreign lands.

The Haddocks, as Hattie's catalog indicates, already fear that they will feel disconnected and disoriented outside Columbus. When they arrive in New York on their way to Europe, they neither have a hotel reservation nor any idea where they want to stay—other than Mrs. Haddock's preference for a hotel "near Grant's Tomb." Mr. Haddock decides, with a desperate and comically distorted logic, that "a white clad Street Cleaner" working the street in front of the Yale Club could help them. Exchanging introductions with the Haddocks, Mr. Perkins, the Street Cleaner, removes his white hat and one white glove, bows politely, and asks:

"Not the Boston Haddocks?"

"No," said Mr. Haddock, "We're from the middle west."

"Ah yes," said Mr. Perkins, "I see." And the tone of his voice became somewhat more reserved. (MA 43)

Perkins will snub the naïve Midwesterners a second time. He asks if they are sailing on the Aquitania, and, "after an embarrassing pause," Haddock admits they could not book passage. Perkins greets this answer "with a slight smile." But he goes on, with generous and quiet condescension, to describe the several highlights of his and Mrs. Perkins's Paris visit, telling the Haddocks: "You *must* go to Longchamps for the races" (44-5).

Away from home, the Haddocks are conscious of their "middle west" origins and sometimes expose that self-consciousness in odd ways. On board the steamship bound for France, Hattie Haddock sees a bearded young woman sitting on deck. She turns to her husband to say that the sight is "sort of funny":

"My dear Harriet," said Mr. Haddock, you must remember that we are after all, strangers here—practically guests of this boat. And furthermore, we are from the middle west, and have had practically no contact with European life. So please, my dear Harriet," he said patiently, "let's try and not to be too provincial."

"All right," said Mrs. Haddock. "But I don't see why you have to make a fool of yourself over the first young chippet who comes along with a beard." (MA 75-6)

Almost everything about this exchange between Will and Hattie sounds a bit crazy, though it is not the craziest conversation or moment in the two Haddock novels. What makes the Haddocks sound dizzy and daft and what gives their words and the situation its comic spin is Will Haddock's solemnly spoken belief that the sight of the bearded "young chippet" somehow represented "contact with European life." He fears his wife's failure to understand this was all "too provincial," an unmistakable sign of "middle west" innocence and ignorance.

No guide or guidebook could ever have prepared the Haddocks for their periodic encounters with the surreal or, as Stewart put it, their excursions into "the daydream region" and "cloud cuckoo-land" (BL 129-30). One occurs, with rather spectacular and grandly operatic flourishes, midway during the Haddocks' transatlantic crossing. Waiting in line to rent deck chairs, Will Haddock stands behind "two very large women" who haggle over the rental, disagree with each other, insult the deck steward, and then, for no apparent reason, begin to quarrel about tickets for a matinee. Before long, the line behind Will and the two women "had extended half way around the boat and out into the street and included men and women from all walks of life ..." (MA 85, 88). The crowd grows impatient and angry, and, suddenly, in a strange and surprising turn, Will begins to speak in Old Testament diction and, of course, begins to intone his words with prophetic authority: "If there is a god . . . He will give us a sign." His prayer, if that's what it is, is answered. With "a terrific flash of lightning and a deafening peal of thunder," a white whale floats up out of the deep. The crowd joins Will in "joyously" shouting:

"A miracle!" they all cried. "A miracle." So they took Alice and her friend and threw them into the ocean, and the whale swallowed them, and a choir of 300 mixed voices from the South Bethlehem Tonkunst ad Liederkranz Society burst into the final chorus, "Gott ist ewig," and the whale slowly lifted out of the ocean and gradually but jerkily ascended into heaven with a slight creaking of ropes, and the afternoon was over. (MA 90-91)

We can read this passage and the extended scene as a parody of biblical narrative, as ersatz grand opera and its stagecraft or, better yet, as an insincere homage to *Moby Dick*.

An "elderly gentleman," perhaps responding to the "creaking of ropes" and the jerking ascent of the whale, compares the action and the clumsy mechanics to the polished spectacle produced at the Bayreuth opera. He complains to Will that "there aren't any good

whales any more," and, though Will admits he's never been to Bayreuth, he agrees. He has begun to feel "the broadening influence of the trip" (MA 91). That's an illusion. He is no more sophisticated or cosmopolitan at the end of his transatlantic crossing than he was on the first day when he warned his wife "not to be too provincial."

"A CONSCIENTIOUS MIDWESTERN HUMORIST"

Other writers in the twenties drafted comic tales of Americans in Paris, lampooning or satirizing the Americans who had joined what journalists soon named "the great migration." The expatriate Samuel Putnam, writing in *The Chicagoan*, ridiculed the mass migration as an "invasion" of Americans come "to 'do' Paree" (13). Novelists, taking cues from the humor magazines and newspaper stories, retailed their own comic tales of wine, women, and the naughty nightlife of Paris. The Missouri writer Homer Croy wrote about the misadventures of "plain Pike Peters" and his family in They Had to See Paris in 1926 (48). And Lyon Mearson, in The French They Are a Funny Race (1931), has a Chicago bank clerk, Edgar Bowman, discover, to his amused surprise, that "the French are practically as human as almost anybody else" (159). Even the sober Sinclair Lewis, midway through the novel *Dodsworth* (1929), rounded up some of the usual jokes and old type-characters. At an expensive Paris restaurant, Lewis has "Tub" Preston of Zenith, Winnemac (the fictional state of Wisconsin/Minnesota), insult the "Frog" waiter and ridicule the French food. He feels obliged, out of some sense of patriotic duty, to kid "the lives out of these poor old . . . Europeans." Tub thinks of himself as playing the part of "a conscientious Midwestern Humorist" (284-85). Having read Booth Tarkington's *The Man from* Home (1908), a play in which the Hoosier hero, Daniel Vorhees Pike, sneers at vodka, caviar, and titled European nobility, Tub knows that he must loudly express his Americanness and shout out his distaste for any food or drink sporting a French name.

Stewart certainly knew these character-types, the old narrative tropes, and the national animus underlying many of the period's standard jokes and comic journalism about the French. In *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock in Paris, France*, as in the first Haddock novel, he refined worn-out jokes, translating some of the more common and common sense ones into the nonsense idiom of Crazy Comedy. Take, for example, the Haddocks' train ride to Paris in the first chapter of the novel. As the train speeds through the countryside, Will Haddock

turns to his wife: "Well Hattie," he said, patting [her] on the hand and pointing to a sign which read "Lucky Strike Cigarettes," "we're in France at last" (3). Will has an innocent eye and an overexcited imagination; he can, in the ripeness of the moment, extract wonder from the banal and the familiar. The words "Lucky Strike" on the sign advertising American cigarettes do not, in a conventionally ordered world or narrative, signal arrival in France or create a reason for Will's tender, sentimental gesture. (In *Finn and Hattie*, the 1932 film version of Stewart's two Haddock novels, the director announces arrival in Paris by rolling out stock footage of the Eiffel Tower, the grand boulevards, sidewalk cafés, and the Arc de Triomphe.)³ Stewart, in dramatizing the Haddocks' daydreams and wild exaggerations, presents the Lucky Strike advertising as foreign and romantic, associations as comic as they are nonsensical.

Cartoonists and comic journalists, in the 1920s, joked about American tourists being thrilled to find an "American Bar" in Paris. Homer Croy, writing for *Life*, the old humor magazine, jabbed lightly at those who searched for a Paris café or bistro where they could order an American breakfast "with pancakes and maple syrup" (21).⁴ Haddock, more like the characters in Robert Benchley's short nonsense pieces and S.J. Perelman's *New Yorker* essays, wrenches the "make believe world of commercial advertising" into a fantastic and literal truth (Blair and Hill 434-35).

The Haddocks do sometimes act like typical American tourists, performing as representative, if comic, type-characters. Repeating a common cliché, Mr. Haddock says he had "come over . . . to have a good time" (MP 237). He was, as his recital of this cliché suggests. joining the crowds of American tourists in the 1920s who chased favorable exchange rates and freedom from Prohibition's restraints. From the moment they board the train to Paris, though, the Haddocks begin to feel unwelcome and, despite their naiveté, recognize that they are the butt of jokes and ridicule directed at "Américains." One and then another French woman, each "dressed in black and carrying a small dog," looks in on the Haddocks' compartment, says "Américains," and slams the door (MP 13). When they have lunch, a polite Frenchman tells them that Paris "is the most wonderful city in the world . . . but it is not Paris any longer. No. It is too full of Americans" (MP 26). When the train nears Paris, a lady from New York in their compartment, shaking her head, says "Paris . . . isn't Paris any more." And Mr. Haddock, primed and ready with an ironic

riposte, replies: "I know The Americans have spoiled it" (MP 38). Hemingway used almost the same wisecrack and scripted scene in *The Sun Also Rises*. Madame Lecomte, the owner of a Paris restaurant—one now filled with Americans—reminds Jake Barnes that he "never comes here anymore." Jake's comeback line sounds well practiced: "Too many compatriots" (76). *Life* played a version of the same joke in a full-page cartoon showing a packed crowd of Americans on the terrace outside the famous Café du Dôme (Figure). Pointing to a passing French *flâneur*, one American looks up from his drink to exclaim with sincere surprise: "Look, Bill, a Frenchman!" (11).

Through most of *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock in Paris, France*, Stewart holds to the design and the intentions he summed up in his autobiography: the Haddock novels were to be "a gentle frolic, aimed at promoting laughter, and the friendly satire was directed only at certain lovable American traits and laughable customs" (BL 130-31). His satire sounds friendly enough, when he shows the Haddocks consulting guidebooks and planning a trip to the Louvre. Their conversation drifts inevitably into vaudeville patter and the absurdities of Crazy Comedy. Mr. Haddock asks:

"Do we want to go inside?"
"Of course," replied Mrs. Haddock, "that's where the Mona Lisa is."
"It oughtn't take long," said Mr. Haddock, "to look at the Mona Lisa.
How big a picture is it?" (MP 31)

No more than four years later, Parke Cummings's "A Guide to Historical Paris" boasted, with similar comic logic, that one Joe Gilch had "covered the whole [Louvre] in six minutes, eighteen and two-fifths seconds without the aid of starting blocks" (21). Stewart and *Life*'s columnists were drawing on a common fund of comic lore about American tourists and their customary, innocent, and laughable indifference to art and culture.

In somewhat the same way, American tourists' resistance to French dining customs—their suspicions of Paris waiters and French food—supplied Stewart, other novelists, and comic journalists with a rich source of humor. Take, for example, the gaffes of Edgar Bowman, Lyon Mearson's main character in *The French They Are a Funny Race*. At a Paris brasserie, he has to communicate with his waiter in a "funny" sign language, mistakes horsemeat for steak, and puzzles over the practice of reusing numbered napkins (138-42). At breakfast, he stares disconsolately at the meager ration of two crois-



VOLUME 93
CLIN MAXWELL, President
LANGBORNE GEBOON, Fice-President

April 5, 1929

NUMBER 2422

Published by LIFE PUBLISHING COMPANY, 598 Madison Avenue, New York Norman Anthony, Editor Charles Dana Gibson, Chairman of the Board Hexry A. Richter, Secretary-Treatner



Figure: "Look, Bill, a Frenchman!," Life 5 April 1929, 11.

sants and a pat of butter, and sniffs at the strong and repugnant smell of the warm milk and coffee. His friend Harry, dining with him at the famed and revered La Tour d'Argent, observes innocently that Des Moines could use "a place of this class." He knows "there's nothing of this kind in any of our middle-western cities," plans to talk with the proprietor, and put before him "a good chain-store proposition" (78).

During their first dinner in Paris, the Haddocks become disturbed over the French custom of serving meals in separate courses. They would like to eat, as Americans eat at home, with all their food put before them at once. Moreover, Mrs. Haddock will not eat anything listed on the *carte*, and demands "bread like the bread we have at home." After strained discussion with two waiters, she "reluctantly" concedes that she must eat "French bread" while in France (MP 87).

Mr. Haddock, striving to have Hattie's spinach and rice served together, negotiates again with the waiters: "So, after a consultation of three waiters and the head waiter, it was decided by a vote of three to one that the request of the American lady to have two vegetables served simultaneously should be granted, provided that the payments of interest on the French debt to America should be suspended until 1975" (MP 88). Will Haddock's mediation re-enacts the kind of wrangling and diplomacy that marked the Paris Peace Conference of 1920 and the creation of the Dawes Plan of 1924. Mixing the discourse of high-level international diplomacy with talk about serving vegetables, Stewart transforms the waiters into serious diplomats and carries off the Haddocks, once more, into a surreal world.

"A MAD, MAD BOOK"

Critics in the 1920s found it hard to settle on a name for Stewart's humor or to fix it in place with a stable generic definition. *The Chicagoan*, in a short note on the second Haddock novel, called it "Dadaistic style, if you know what we mean" ("The Bookshelf" 31). The young Herman J. Mankiewicz, reviewing for *The New York Times Book Review*, spoke of *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock Abroad* as a "wild piece of writing," and predicted that Stewart would soon emerge out of "the pack of automatic humorists." His novel, for all that, was confounding, new, and pleasing. What he was writing, Mankiewicz concluded, was "a mad, mad book . . . and as funny as can be imagined" (6).

Two years later, Edwin Clark, reviewing *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock* in *Paris, France*, said that, "the Haddocks are those mythical people,

the average Americans" (39). That said too much and too little. Stewart had, in creating the Haddocks, transfigured the stock character of the average American and recast the conventional narrative of the Midwesterner abroad. Booth Tarkington, Sinclair Lewis, Homer Croy, and magazine jokesmiths and cartoonists, among many others, continued to tell the tale of American innocents abroad who, in a forthright and plain spoken manner, displayed sturdy rural virtues and the moral certainties of small-town Midwesterners. Tarkington's Daniel Vorhees Pike and Lewis's Tub Preston, as we have seen, spoke what they thought to be common sense, struck the comic postures identified with old-fashioned "hoss sense." Their wisdom and wit were expressed in dialect speech and dispensed in down-home proverbs. Readers of American humor—since at least Twain's Innocents Abroad—had come to expect such characters to triumph over Europeans, to expose Old World affectations and venality, and to take down the haughty and the effete cosmopolitan.

These narrative conventions, comic postures, and stock characters disappeared in the rush and chaos of Stewart's Crazy Comedy. Small-town Midwesterners the Haddocks might be, but their daffiness disguises their Middle-American normalcy. The Haddocks speak nonsense, not "hoss sense." Stewart has—in firing up the imagination of these innocent, provincial, and slightly lunatic Midwesterners—created a crazily skewed perspective on the Paris of the 1920s. His humor, his Crazy Comedy, simultaneously illuminates the City of Lights and the American innocents who, in traveling there, journeyed into a "mad, mad" world.

University of Toledo

NOTES

¹References to Donald Ogden Stewart's two novels, *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock Abroad* (MA) and *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock in Paris, France* (MP), will be cited parenthetically in the text, as will references to Stewart's *By A Stroke of Luck!: An Autobiography* (BL).

²See, for example, the brief note on *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock in Paris, France* in "The Bookshelf," *The Chicagoan* 1 Dec. 1926: 31. In *By A Stroke of Luck!* Stewart recalls that the critic Gilbert Seldes encouraged him to "explain my 'crazy humor' to [Tristan] Tzara as the American equivalent of Dada" (116-17). All future references to *The Chicagoan* will be cited parenthetically in the text. Web. http://chicagoan.lib.uchicago.edu/xtf/search?static=home.

³The two Haddock novels sold well and were popular enough to warrant the making of a film, *Finn and Hattie* (1932). Not too surprisingly, the screenwriters and director erased almost every trace of Stewart's Crazy Comedy, replacing it with commercial slapstick, some conventional bedroom farce, and the cute comic antics of two child stars. This film version

of the American tourist's journey constituted a comforting return to 1920s normalcy and stereotyped Midwestern characters.

⁴ The humor magazine referred to throughout this essay is the old *Life* magazine, published from 1883 until 1936. There are no references in this essay to the *Life* magazine published by Henry R. Luce, who purchased the old *Life* magazine's title for his new venture in photojournalism in 1936.

WORKS CITED

Baker, Carlos, ed. Ernest Hemingway: Selected Letters, 1917-1961. NY: Charles Scribner's Sons. 1981.

Bier, Jessie. The Rise and Fall of American Humor. NY: Holt, Rinehart, 1968.

Blair, Walter, and Hamlin Hill. *America's Humor: From Poor Richard to Doonesbury*. NY: Oxford UP. 1978.

"The Bookshelf." The Chicagoan 1 Dec. 1926: 31.

Clark, Edwin. Rev. of *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock in Paris, France*, by Donald Ogden Stewart. *New York Times* 12 Sept. 1926: 39.

Croy, Homer. They Had to See Paris. NY: Harper, 1926.

-. "Paris, the Most Beautiful City in the World." Life 5 Nov. 1925: 21.

Cummings, Parke. "A Guide to Historical Paris." Life 4 July 1930, 21.

Donaldson, Scott. "Donald Ogden Stewart—Le Humoriste Malgré Lui," *Exploring the Midwestern Literary Imagination: Essays in Honor of David D. Anderson.* Ed. Marcia Noe. Troy, NY: Whitson Publishing, 1993. 99-111.

Hemingway, Ernest. The Sun Also Rises. 1926. NY: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1954.

Lardner, Ring. *The Big Town: How I and the Mrs. Go to New York to See Life and Get Katie a Husband.* Illus. May Wilson Preston. 1st ed. Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1921.

- -. Gullible's Travels, Etc. 1917. Chicago: U of Chicago P, 1965.
- I Gaspiri (The Upholsterers). The Ring Lardner Reader. Ed. Maxwell Geismar. NY: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1963. 601-602.

Lewis, Sinclair. Dodsworth. NY: Harcourt Brace, 1929.

Mankiewicz, Herman J. Rev. of *Mr. and Mrs. Haddock in Paris, France*, by Donald Ogden Stewart. *New York Times Book Review* 16 Nov. 1924: 6.

Mearson, Lyon. The French They Are a Funny Race. NY: Mohawk P, 1931.

Stewart, Donald Ogden. By a Stroke of Luck!: An Autobiography. NY: Paddington P, 1975.

- -. Mr. and Mrs. Haddock Abroad. 1924. Carbondale: Southern Illinois UP, 1975.
- —. Mr. and Mrs. Haddock in Paris, France. NY: Harper, 1926.

Yardley, Jonathan. Ring: A Biography of Ring Lardner. NY: Atheneum, 1984.

"I'M A ROOTLESS MAN": RICHARD WRIGHT AND THE LIMITS OF MIDWESTERN REGIONALISM

JON K. LAUCK

The life and work of Richard Wright can be examined by way of his career's various stages: surviving Jim Crow Mississippi, the Great Migration north, life on Chicago's South Side, the familiar literary move to New York, decamping to Paris, becoming allied with other activists organizing a transnational movement to promote decolonization, relations with other intellectuals and writers, etc. To keep pace with recent efforts to promote the study of the American Midwest, it now seems appropriate to again pay particular attention to Wright's years in the region and his subsequent commentary on the Midwest, or, more specifically, on Chicago. "Wright's Chicago years were his maturation years," as his fellow Southern-migrantturned-Windy-City-writer Margaret Walker recalled (Walker 53). Chicago is where he began the climb toward the heights of international fame and, along the way, became the first prominent African American writer and the "most influential African-American writer of the twentieth century" (Moskowitz, "Enduring" 58). To the African American writers who followed, "[h]e proved it could be done," as Wright's friend/rival James Baldwin recalled (qtd. in Moskowitz, "Bizarre" 20). More particularly, he proved it could be done from the Midwest and for a moment displayed some regionalist leanings that might have blossomed into a prominent component in his work. But after his time in Chicago, Wright turned away from the Midwest and any regionalist inclinations that might have animated him during his time there, and this transition may reveal the limitations of Midwestern regionalism or explain the erosion of movement by the mid-twentieth century and, more generally, help further explain some of the republic's enduring racial dilemmas.

While seldom thought of as a regional thinker in any formal sense, Wright, in his work, burns with a regional consciousness, or a

hatred of the Jim Crow South, especially its extreme Mississippi version. Unlike some of his youthful peers, who sought to recognize the color line in the South in order to keep the peace and avoid violence, Wright always bristled at the strictures of segregation, or more often openly rebelled against them. This rebellion led him to join the Great Migration to the North and to his settlement on Chicago's South Side, where he started on his path, as *Time* magazine said, toward becoming "the dean of Negro writers." In contrast to the brutalities of the South, Wright said, "I feel grateful that I'm in the cold, impersonal North where the whites just pass you by and let you alone" (Rowley 303). Indeed, Wright was shocked to find that when white women in the North brushed up against him, there were no consequences and that they would even ask him to tie their apron strings, all simple and forgettable moments in the North that could have sparked a riot in the South (Wright, Black Boy 270). When he went to work for a Jewish couple at a Chicago deli and they treated him like an equal, Wright had a hard time admitting or realizing what was happening (Rowley 55).

Passage between regions—or the escape from South to North was essential to Wright's story and family history. Wright's maternal grandfather ran away from Mississippi in the spring of 1865 to fight in the Civil War, and, after crossing the Ohio River, he joined the Union navy in Cairo, Illinois. Wright's close relatives joined the Great Migration north and decamped to Chicago and Detroit when they could make a getaway. As a boy in Jackson, Mississippi, Wright delivered the famously anti-Southern and pro-Northern newspaper, the *Chicago* Defender, which made its mission the deliverance of blacks out of the South to the Northern promised land.² "Richard would talk incessantly about the North," his biographer Hazel Rowley notes, and constantly recite stories of the North from the *Defender* (Rowley 32). Wright's friend, Joe Brown, recalled Wright explaining "[h]ow Negroes and white folks could swim together in Lake Michigan and that they sat down beside white women on the street cars and that you could go to the libraries and get any kind of book you wanted to read. He would always say, 'I'm gonna leave Mississippi and be long gone up north one of these days'" (Rowley 32).

During his early career, Wright would draw on his personal experience and expertly convey the story of this massive regional relocation of peoples. He would capture the story of the millions of blacks who fled the South in the book 12 Million Black Voices (1941), which

featured Farm Security Administration photos of the Great Migration accompanied by Wright's prose. "What emotions, fears, what a complex of sensations we felt when, looking out of a train window at the revolving fields, we first glimpsed the sliding waters of the gleaming Ohio!" (Wright, 12 Million 98) Wright recorded the transition between regions, explaining how migrants would "notice with attention and hope that the dense southern swamps give way to broad, cultivated wheat farms" and the "spick-and-span farmhouses done in red and green and white crowd out the casual, unpainted gingerbread shacks" (Wright, 12 Million 98). Midwestern farm silos came into view, paved highways replaced Southern dirt roads, and the "cheeks of the farm people [were] full and ruddy, not sunken and withered like soda crackers" (Wright, 12 Million 98). In one of Wright's most memorable lines in his autobiography, he wrote about how Southern blacks would take a "part of the South to transplant in alien soil [in the North], to see if it could grow differently, if it could drink of new and cool rains, bend in strange winds, respond to the warmth of other suns, and perhaps, to bloom." Isabel Wilkerson would adopt these lines for her prize-winning account of the Great Migration, The Warmth of Other Suns, which does much to emphasize the stark transition from South to North and to describe the celebrations of blacks once they crossed the Ohio River into the North.

As Wright recognized, the central purpose of the migration was to flee from one American region to another, an exodus premised on a deep commitment to a vision of regional differences and driven by "Northern fever" and a corresponding hatred of the South (Spear 133). Southern blacks routinely recounted the horrors of the Jim Crow South as a basis for leaving—they wanted to go "anywhere north," "anywhere but the south"—and were drawn by the "powerful image of the North as the Promised Land" (Grossman 99, 110). They saw Midwestern cities as a "New World" (Wilkerson 214). Wright described the trek as "going to another country" (Wright, 12 Million 99). As Wilkerson has explained, they hopefully moved "into a new world called the Midwest," a "foreign region of essentially another world" (190, 226). After crossing the Ohio River, black migrants from Mississippi stopped and held "solemn ceremonies" and rejoiced, and others embraced their new freedoms by sitting next to white people on the train (Spear 137; Wright, 12 Million 99). When a Chicago commission surveyed Southern black migrants and asked why they left, they cited the "better conditions" in Chicago and the

need "to get away from the South" (Wilkerson 217; Drake and Cayton 99-102). Black migrants such as Wright declared, "We'd rather be a lamppost in Chicago than the president of Dixie!" (Barnes 56). Wright was immediately struck by the absence of "racial fear" in Chicago and noticed how blacks and whites sat together on streetcars with nobody noticing, "as though this were a normal thing to do" (Wright, Black Boy 262; Wright, 12 Million 100). Wright recorded that the "white men seem impersonal and their very neutrality reassures us": "O sweet welcome indifference!" (Wright, 12 Million 99). Ida Mae Brandon Gladney, a migrant who left Chickasaw County, Mississippi, and was profiled by Wilkerson, said Chicago "looked like heaven to me then" (226). Gladney was following a common interregional migration stream that took blacks like Richard Wright and his family from Mississippi, Louisiana, and Alabama to Midwestern cities such as Chicago, Detroit, and Cleveland (blacks from coastal states, in another regional dynamic, tended to move to New York and Philadelphia).⁴

The regional divide was immediately visible to Southern black migrants, and their "vision of Canaan" in the Midwest "put into sharper focus the tyranny of Egypt" back in the South (Spear 138). In Chicago, for example, blacks and whites went to the same parks, theaters, race tracks, and bars, played together on baseball teams or played each other in front of interracial crowds, used the same YMCA, went to the same African American doctors, and even intermarried. Many black clubs, lodges, and churches existed, as did four black newspapers. Chicago housing was much better than the shacks of the South. Blacks could bring lawsuits to enforce their rights under the Illinois Civil Rights Act and, perhaps most shocking of all for recent black migrants from the South, they could vote in elections and participate actively in politics.⁵ Despite a more recent and less hopeful history, as Elizabeth Dale has noted, there was a "time when African Americans still held some hope for an integrated existence" in Chicago (Dale 313).

That some African Americans might finally come to grief in the North cannot erase the hopeful early moment of the Great Migration or the migrants' recognition of the deep regional differences over the treatment of African Americans or the post-migration cultural flowering that followed in northern cities and that yielded a quasi-regionalist body of work. From the 1920s to the 1950s, the new freedoms of Chicago's South Side, which Richard Wright fully embraced, fos-

tered a black renaissance that elevated several African American writers to national stature. Gwendolyn Brooks, who had moved from Topeka, Kansas, to Chicago as a young girl, would describe in fine detail the life of the South Side in books such as A Street in Bronzeville (1945). She also wrote poems for the Chicago Defender, but her big break came from a review by the Iowa regionalist Paul Engle, who praised her book in the Chicago Tribune as a form of "genuine Midwestern writing." Another Kansas transplant, Frank Marshall Davis, worked for the Associated Negro Press in Chicago and published widely about Chicago, including 47th Street Poems (1948), and generally sought to promote the work of Midwestern writers against the "effete" East. Langston Hughes, who was Missouri-born, Kansas-raised, and Cleveland-educated, also wrote a weekly column for the Chicago Defender and a novel, Not Without Laughter (1930), whose main character is a young African American who grows up in Kansas and moves to Chicago. Margaret Walker, an Alabama migrant-turned-writer, a friend, biographer, and, later, critic of Wright during the 1930s, also flourished in Chicago. The work of these writers demonstrates that the ingredients of a broader Midwestern regionalism, one that included African American voices which were intimately familiar with interregional distinctions, were present by the time of World War II. These ingredients could have mixed together and led to a flowering of Midwestern regionalism in the postwar era but it never came to pass.

Wright, perhaps better than all his fellow African American writers in Chicago, explained the reasons to flee the South and get to the North in grim detail in his famous autobiography *Black Boy* (1945). He sets forth the severe strictures of Jim Crow Mississippi and the various forms of submission African Americans made to the system. Wright is also forthright about how ripped apart his family life is and openly describes his own various forms of rebellion. *Black Boy* also addresses Wright's escape north and explains the close link between his intellectual development and Midwestern literature. During a short stint in Memphis, which he had heard wasn't as bad as Mississippi, Wright encountered jazz and blues and bookstores and Mencken's American Mercury (244, 248). He also discovered Main Street by Sinclair Lewis, the "first serious novel he had ever read" (Rowley 47). Wright's biographer argues that "Carol Kennicott's restlessness in a small, philistine Minnesota wheat-town was not unlike his in that stifling Southern environment" (Rowley 47). Soon

after, Wright read Lewis's *Babbitt* and then the books of Sherwood Anderson and Theodore Dreiser. He was reading the canonical works of the early-twentieth-century upsurge of Midwestern writing. "These books made [Wright] want to write himself," Rowley explains, and would make Wright a writer in coming years (47).

Wright finally moved to Chicago in 1927. While Wright had discovered the world of literature and had decided he wanted to be a writer, he had little formal schooling and no literary training. The next crucial stage of his literary development came when Wright fell in with the Communist Party and, more importantly, the left-wing writers and intellectuals of the John Reed Club in Chicago, which became "Wright's university" (Rowley 78). While the Reed Club exposed Wright to other writers and books and gave him an intellectual scene in which to grow, the CP came to be an oppressive force, a constraint on his literary ambitions, which often deviated from the party line. Wright nevertheless joined the CP and would actively write for its organs, but he later broke with the party in a public fashion in 1944.

Since the CP allowed little room for dissent from Moscow's pronouncements, it contributed to some regionalist stirrings in Wright. For example, when the CP decided to terminate the regionally oriented journal Left Front, the journal of the Reed clubs in the Midwest that Wright had written for and edited, he was angered (Wright, Black Boy 316-17, 321, 323, 342-43). Wright and others "argued hotly for the importance of local magazines," as any committed regionalist would do (Rowley 79). When the CP also voted Chicago's John Reed Club out of existence, Wright sided with the Chicagoans during the intense debate over the merits of literary "regionalism" versus the limitations of "proletarian literature" (Rowley 85). During the debate Philip Rahy, who edited the New York club's magazine Partisan Review, took a dim view of literary regionalism and "criticized the Midwestern delegates for their romanticism about the land," a common characteristic of Midwestern regionalism (Rowley 85).8 During these years. Wright seemed to be slowly acclimating to his new home region. When Wright made his first trip to New York (for a literary congress), he even felt the transition from "the flat western prairie" that he had become "used to" (Wright, Black Boy 346).

When the CP killed off their regionally oriented literary outlets, Wright and his fellow writers in Chicago were not deterred. Many African Americans came together to form the South Side Writers Group, which was consciously regional and bristled at restrictive ideologies or outside influences, especially from New York, which had been considered the home of African American arts and letters. "Heavily influenced by Wright," Hazel Rowley noted, "the young black Chicago writers consciously distanced themselves from their Harlem Renaissance predecessors" (117). In the South Side Writers Group, Wright worked to hone the stories that would be collected in his first book, *Uncle Tom's Children* (1938), and he began to develop the ideas for his first major novel, Native Son (1940), which would famously feature the Chicago-based antihero Bigger Thomas and, as James Baldwin noted, would become the "most powerful and celebrated statement we have yet had of what it means to be a Negro in America" (Baldwin 111). The idea for Bigger was specifically prompted by Wright's job as a relief worker at the South Side Boys' Club, which housed "a wild and homeless lot, culturally lost, spiritually disinherited, candidates for the clinics, morgues, prisons, reformatories, and the electric chair of the state's death house" (Wright, Black Boy 341). As part of the South Side Writers' Group, Wright came to know more deeply his fellow writers, such as Margaret Walker, Frank Marshall Davis, Gwendolyn Brooks, and others.

During the depths of the Depression in Chicago, Wright was able to find welfare jobs with the help of Mary Wirth, the wife of the famous sociologist Louis Wirth. This soon led Wright to explore the world of sociology with the help of Professor Wirth, who was a key component of the famed sociology school at the University of Chicago. Wirth prepared a reading list for Wright and was delighted when Wright took the assignment very seriously. Wright also came to know the Chicago-trained African American sociologists St. Clair Drake and Horace Cayton and would write the introduction to their famous book about Chicago, *Black Metropolis* (1945).

The next major intellectual development for Wright was being hired by the WPA's Illinois Writers Project in 1935, again with the help of Mary Wirth. The IWP was headed by the Iowa-born Midwestern regionalist John T. Frederick and was filled with Wright's old John Reed Club friends. Wright was tasked with working on the history of Illinois and African Americans in Chicago. Wright became the project's first black supervisor and personally helped promote a great deal of work on African American history. As part of the IWP, he wrote reports, for example, about life on a section of State Street in Chicago: "the beer taverns predominate, there being

about twenty-five. Dingy cafes and restaurants are a close second, there being about twenty. There are eight pool-rooms, seven drugstores, four smoke-shops, and two movies" (Hathaway 96). Through his IWP connections, Wright became associated with the emerging journal *Prairie Pages*, for which he worked on a play entitled "Song of the Prairies" (Fabre 134). He also used his time working for the IWP to write his first novel (a story of life in the Chicago post office, where Wright also worked for a time, which was published in 1963, after his death, under the title *Lawd Today*), the stories for *Uncle Tom's Children*, and his first important essay, "A Blueprint for Negro Writing." The IWP was formative for Wright, as his fellow Chicagoan Nelson Algren recalled, and Wright was the "writer whom the Illinois project helped the most" due to his devotion and diligence (Mangione 121).

The Illinois Writers Project naturally promoted a great deal of work on Chicago, a topic and a place and an experience that were never far from Wright's mind during these years. He expounded on life in Chicago in his original version of Black Boy, which first included sections not only on the South but also on his new northern home. Wright's publisher suggested that the Chicago material be cut and that the book focus on his early life in the South, but the Chicago section was later published as American Hunger (1977). By using the South Side as the launching pad for becoming the nation's first prominent African American writer, Wright ensured Chicago's place on the literary map. Nelson Algren said that Wright's "impact upon Chicago has been more enduring than that of any merchant prince, mayor or newspaper owner." In her biography, Margaret Walker explains how Wright was a member of five Chicago writing groups in which he forged his skills; she deems Chicago the "womb of the great naturalism of Richard Wright" and Wright "a classic example of the transfer of Afro-American folklife to the streets of urban, middle western life" (80). Noting how "American naturalism seems to have been born in the Middle West," Walker explains how in Chicago "Wright developed within the pattern and trend of American naturalism, particularly the middle western brand" (81).

But Wright lost faith in Chicago by the late 1930s. He was sent to work for the Federal Negro Theater in Chicago, for example, and the stint ended poorly. Wright pushed for hard-hitting productions, such as Paul Green's "Hymn to the Rising Sun," that focused on the miseries of chain gangs in the South. To Wright's great dismay, the

African American actors and actresses objected to the play because it was so grim and "indecent" and because they had never heard of chain gangs (Wright, Black Boy 365). Wright began to think that Chicago – "the Chicago of Sandburg, of Dreiser, of Anderson, of Masters"—which he thought had been so revolutionary, was becoming reactionary (Rowley 115). Wright soon after bolted for New York and then, after the war, Paris. In later years, Wright said Chicago had become a "dim memory," and when he returned, he was immediately struck by its "ugliness" and by how "dull and grey" it was in comparison to his tree-filled and orderly Paris. While noting the greater prosperity of the South Side in the postwar era, Wright thought "it still remained an undissolved lump in the city's melting pot." He explained how a "majority of Chicago Negroes derive from the Deep South and they are justifiably defensive" about being portrayed in a "degrading light" by outside observers. Wright's assault on Chicago was made in the pages of Ebony, which simply wanted Wright to reflect on his years in Chicago. After nearly killing the article because it was so negative, Ebony decided on a middle course of complementing Wright's article with an editorial rebutting it. Ebony decided to reject outright another article by Wright that made the case for exiling oneself from the United States.⁹

The conflict between Wright and Ebony and other writers and critics over the proper portrayal of African American life is central to Wright scholarship and to making sense of Wright and reveals Wright's central literary and personal failures. His unyielding negativity and his unwillingness to allow the faintest glimmers of light into his work was the source of routine and legitimate criticism. The regionalist writer Dorothy Canfield Fisher, who was highly sympathetic to Wright, had to beg him to remove a few passages from Native Son so that it could be chosen by the Book-of-the-Month Club for broad distribution. For Black Boy, Fisher wondered if Wright could note the American authors from which he found a "tinge of warmth" and who led him into a literary career; he finally added references to Dreiser, Masters, Mencken, Anderson, and Lewis (Rowley 289). Criticism of Wright extended beyond those who simply wanted him to craft his books to appeal to a broader, middle-class audience. Ralph Ellison had doubts about *Native Son*'s "view of reality" and thought Black Boy was "exaggerated" (Ellison, "Remembering" 670, 672). Wright's brother Leon also did not like the "misrepresentations in Black Boy" (Rowley 325). Langston Hughes objected to Native

Son's promotion of images of "defeat and death" and its focus on "caged animals who moan, who cry, who go mad, who are social problems, who have no guts" and he wanted greater recognition of the proud people working to loosen the constraints of Jim Crow (Hughes, "The Need"). W.E.B. Du Bois also thought Wright "a loath-some brat" and despised *Black Boy* and its unwillingness to recognize good people, black and white, who were working to improve race relations (Rowley 311). Some critics thought Wright was peddling negative stereotypes of African Americans in *Black Boy* to "make a buck" or, worse, that he believed them (Bradley).

Wright's unvielding interpretations are also linked to his ultimate failure as a regionalist, or his inability to maintain regional and cultural distinctions. Wright came to think, in short, that every place was Mississippi. His friend Ralph Ellison, who was from the regionally confusing borderland state of Oklahoma, could see the distinctions between his home and Wright's Mississippi. As Hazel Rowley noted, Oklahoma "was not the Deep South, and [Ellison] considered himself fortunate to have avoided that hell" (130). In a speech to the University of Iowa's Institute for Afro-American Culture in 1971, Ellison explained the Mississippi/Oklahoma distinction and noted how his home state "lacked many of the intensities of custom, tradition and manners which "colored" the institutions of the Old South, and which were important in shaping Wright's point of view" (Ellison 659). Wright's failure to see interregional distinctions is related to his full-throated embrace of cosmopolitanism and his parallel disdain for backward Southern blacks or for older traditions and folkways and long-standing tribal cultures, revealed most clearly during his later travels in Ghana and Indonesia: "I'm not yet one of those people who can get excited over primitive people"(qtd. in Rowley 197). He would proclaim "I'm a rootless man," a man who didn't need "many emotional attachments, sustaining roots, or idealistic allegiances" (Wright, White Man 647). Wright was eager to leave the States for Paris and to be a "citizen of the world," as Rowley recounts, and leave old identities behind (354). He embraced intentional exile. 11 Time magazine deemed Wright "another Davisite," or an adherent of the philosophy of the ex-American GI Garry Davis, who after the war famously abandoned his passport and declared himself a "world citizen" (Rowley 377). 12 Wright warmly embraced the new age of global thinking during the postwar era that Mark Greif has expertly chronicled.

In addition to his cosmopolitanism, Wright also lost touch with the nuances of American life due to his long commitment to the Communist Party. Because of the demands of instrumentalist literature and doctrinal politics and the world of Communist organizing, Wright "allowed himself to become further estranged from a sense of being part of a people, of a landscape, of songs and rhythms and gestures that made up the Negro American folk heritage" (McCarthy 100). As Harold McCarthy notes, Wright "had become a city man, an intellectual," and thus displaced from his home and people (104). Even when many intellectuals were fleeing the CP, Wright stayed true. Even after the horrors of the Moscow show trials and the betrayal of the Nazi-Soviet pact, Wright remained a committed party member (Rowley 126, 179, 254-55). By the time of World War II, Wright "still felt that Stalinist discipline was necessary, despite the Trotskyite trials of the thirties" (Fabre 138). Wright's at least partial surrender to the constraints of the CP surely limited his range and did damage to his artistic development and constrained his ability to see regional variations or forms of racial progress.

Wright's abandonment of a budding regionalist sentiment in favor of Communist doctrine and cosmopolitanism and exile and international efforts to promote decolonization can be explained by his increasing radicalism and personal bitterness over the state of American race relations. He was "cynical" about "uplift and hope" and notions of racial progress (Wright, Black Boy 285). He thought "white America" was "too superficially optimistic" and unwilling to acknowledge the nation's deep racial traumas (Wright, Black Boy 272). The *Ebony* editor thought that "[d]own deep inside of [Wright] there manifestly burns a relentless, insatiable loathing for white people and America that erupts whenever he sits down at a typewriter," which he thought fueled Wright's "hate school of literature" (Burns 21). Instead of racial reconciliation, Wright thought in terms of revenge and retaliation and developed, as Baldwin recalled, "an ever more unrewarding rage" (Baldwin 112). His best biographer linked his "rage" to the "many mangled, dead white women in Wright's fiction" (Rowley 410). John Houseman, who directed the movie version of Native Son, noted how he could see Wright's "deep, almost morbid violence that lay skin-deep below that gentle surface" (Rowley 216). In Chicago during the years when his thoughts on Native Son were congealing, Margaret Walker thought Wright's "pent-up neurotic anger . . . had grown to a peak of black rage" (Walker 53-54).

Throughout the 1950s and the victories on desegregation and civil rights legislation, Wright remained a nonbeliever, incapable of acknowledging the various forms of slow but sure racial progress. When the civil rights movement turned toward Black Power, Wright became relevant again and Bigger Thomas was "rediscovered . . . as forerunner of the Watts rebels" (Fabre vii, xvi). Wright's radical critique helps explain his new popularity during the more recent tumult of the "Ferguson era." ¹³

Wright is a reminder that in the transition from the early civil rights activism of the postwar period to the Black Power era, the regionalist sentiments that had once been embedded in the Great Migration—and for a time flickered in the minds of migrants such as Richard Wright—were ultimately lost. If the first generations of the Great Migration of African Americans to the Midwest were impressed with the signs of the region's racial progressiveness, or at least awed by its absence of strict Jim Crow apartheid, these hopeful signs were forgotten in the years after World War II. Prior to the Great Migration, when the African American population in the North was relatively small and when the Midwest took some regional pride in its non-Southern approach to civil rights, there was hope of building a decent regime of race relations in the region. But with the large influx of Southern blacks into the Midwest during the war and the pressures of post-World War II economic deconversion beginning to be felt, the previously weak color line in the North began to harden, especially in the area of residential segregation. The resulting creation of African American-dominated enclaves in Chicago (the South Side), Detroit (Paradise Valley), and other Midwestern cities gave rise to social pressures that would detonate in the late 1960s. What two sociologists described as the "general air of optimism" of the early Great Migration generation in the Midwest became a distant memory (Drake and Cayton 80).

African Americans were less and less impressed with the Midwest's regional progressiveness relative to the South and more focused on joining a national and international effort to promote civil rights for blacks and people of color more generally. ¹⁴ The one-time prominence of South/Midwest distinctions slowly dimmed, and public discourse relating to African Americans in the Midwest became focused on a more generic "urban problem" that seemed to grow in severity in the late twentieth century as whites fled cities and deindustrialization killed jobs and urban cores disintegrated into drug-

fueled shooting galleries. While the plight of African Americans in urban America became a major focus of intellectual life and public policy research in the post-World War II era, this focus had few regional dimensions and African American culture increasingly reflected frustrations "with the North's failure as a Promised Land" (Reich 121). Migrants to the North such as Richard Wright and Langston Hughes, who found their arrival in Chicago exhilarating and might have become Midwestern regionalist writers, instead joined national and international movements, embraced radical politics, and became voices protesting oppression writ large in an era of global decolonization efforts and pan-Africanism. 15 Wright, who could have become an essential voice of the Midwest, instead decamped to Paris for the rest of his life, where he "stood by the pride of his rootlessness" (Howe 182). Gwendolyn Brooks abandoned her traditional poetry focused on the quotidian lives of blacks in Chicago, became radicalized in 1967, and followed the call for black writers to embrace a "literature of transformation" and to promote "black separatism, black pride, and identifiable black literature." ¹⁶ Frank Marshall Davis became more involved in radical causes and in 1948 abandoned the Midwest for Hawaii, not to emerge again until the high tide of the Black Arts Movement.¹⁷ Along with Davis, many other African American writers and intellectuals joined the Black Arts Movement of the 1960s and, following Wright's early lead, became wedded to black nationalism and transnational decolonization movements.¹⁸ Chicago, once a city which abetted regionalist inclinations, would spawn movements such as the Black Panthers and the Nation of Islam that were decoupled from place. African American literature, as Elizabeth Schlabach has demonstrated, came to be populated by the "uprooted and orphaned" and dominated by themes of "homelessness and impermanence" (91).

It might have been different. Richard Wright, who was the undisputed leader of the African American intellectuals of the mid-twentieth century, might have taken a different path and others might have followed him. He might have more fully embraced a form of regionalism that promoted civic engagement and social rootedness and shunned rebellion and exile, a path that might have been more conducive to racial reconciliation and social peace. But the failures of the urban North may have made this impossible. Northern residential segregation surely weakened any budding regionalism. Perhaps African Americans in Northern cities have a weaker sense of place,

as Houston Baker has noted, because if a group is limited "by and within boundaries set by another, then one is not a setter of place but a prisoner of another's desire. Under such conditions what one calls and, perhaps, feels is one's own place would be, from the perspective of human agency, *placeless*" (Baker 87; Wright, *Native Son 222*, 354). Or perhaps the self-perpetuating and self-reinforcing combination of *de facto* segregation in Northern cities, a crippling form of placelessness, African American resistance and radicalism, and the resulting embrace of rootlessness and exile, or a rejection of regionalism, all knotted together in a confusing and chronic jumble whose origins are forgotten best explains our present difficulties.

Sioux Falls, South Dakota

NOTES

¹On various aspects of Wright's regional thinking, see Jeff Karem, "'I Could Never Really Leave the South': Regionalism and the Transformation of Richard Wright's *American Hunger*," *American Literary History* 13.4 (Winter 2001), 708. On the recognition of place in African American culture, see Ira Berlin, *The Making of African America: The Four Great Migrations* (New York, Viking, 2010), 238.

²See Ethan Michaeli, *The Defender: How the Legendary Black Newspaper Changed America from the Age of the Pullman Porters to the Age of Obama* (Boston, Houghton Mifflin Harcourt, 2016).

³See the discussion in Ralph Ellison, "Richard Wright's Blues," *Antioch Review* (1945), 200, where Ellison quotes from the original version of *Black Boy*.

⁴On these migrations, see Spear, *Black Chicago*, 140; Jack Temple Kirby, "The Southern Exodus, 1910-1960: A Primer for Historians," *Journal of Southern History* vol. 49, no. 4 (November 1983), 592; Kimberly L. Phillips, "But It Is a Fine Place to Make Money': Migration and African-American Families in Cleveland, 1915-1929," *Journal of Social History* vol. 30, no. 2 (Winter 1996), 395-96; James N. Gregory, *Southern Diaspora: How the Great Migrations of Black and White Southerners Transformed America* (Chapel Hill, University of North Carolina Press, 2005), 49-54.

⁵On race relations in Chicago during these years, see Elizabeth Dale, "Social Equality Does Not Exist among Themselves, nor among Us': Bayles vs. Curry and Civil Rights in Chicago, 1888," *American Historical Review* vol. 102, no. 2 (April 1997), 315, 324; Robert H. Zieger, 'Northern Exposure," *Reviews in American History* vol. 37, no. 4 (December 2009), 573-74; Spear, *Black Chicago*, 6, 187-91; Drake and Cayton, *Black Metropolis*, 50, 74, 109, 117-19, 136-37; Christopher Robert Reed, "Organized Racial Reform in Chicago During the Progressive Era: The Chicago NAACP, 1910-1920," *Michigan Historical Review* vol. 14 (Spring 1988), 75-76; Christopher Robert Reed, *Knock at the Door of Opportunity: Black Migration to Chicago*, 1900-1919 (Carbondale, Southern Illinois University Press, 2014); Fabre, *Unfinished Quest*, 74; Drake and Cayton, *Black Metropolis*, 53-54; Grossman, *Land of Hope*, 136-37. Joel E. Black, "A Theory of African-American Citizenship: Richard Westbrooks, the Great Migration, and the *Chicago Defender*'s 'Legal Helps' Column," *Journal of Social History* vol. 46, no. 4 (2013), 896-915. Several Midwestern states passed civil rights laws during the late nineteenth century: Illinois (1885); Iowa (1884); Ohio (1884); Indiana (1885); Michigan (1885); Minnesota (1885); Nebraska (1885); Kansas (1905).

⁶Engle, who had recently presented Brooks with the Midwestern Writers Conference Award for Poetry, hoped Brooks would become a "permanent talent" of the Midwest. See George E. Kent, *A Life of Gwendolyn Brooks* (Lexington, KY, University of Kentucky Press, 1990), 74.

⁷On Wright's experiences within the CP, see Wright, "I Tried to Be a Communist," *Atlantic Monthly* (August 1944 and September 1944) and Earle V. Bryant (ed), *Byline, Richard Wright: Articles from the Daily Worker and New Masses* (Columbia, University of Missouri Press, 2015).

⁸On the anti-rural and anti-regional focus of *Partisan Review*, see Terry A. Cooney, "Cosmopolitan Values and the Identification of Reaction: Partisan Review in the 1930s," *Journal of American History* vol. 68, no. 3 (December 1981), 582-84. 182; Moses Rischin, "When the New York Savants Go Marching In," *Reviews in American History* vol. 17, no. 2 (June 1989), 289, 292. The leading New York Intellectual Philip Rahv accepted the idea of "rural idiocy." James Atlas, *Bellow: A Biography* (New York, Random House, 2000), 300.

⁹These later opinions of Chicago were set forth in Wright, "The Shame of Chicago," *Ebony* (December 1951). The *Ebony* affair was explained by *Ebony* editor Ben Burns in "They're Not Uncle Tom's Children," *The Reporter*, March 8, 1956 (noting Wright's rejected essay entitled "I Choose Exile"). The exile essay is available from Kent State University's Special Collections and Archives.

¹⁰See also Alexa Weik, "The Uses and Hazards of Expatriation': Richard Wright's Cosmopolitanism in Process," *African American Review* vol. 41, no. 3 (Fall 2007), 459-75 and Eve Dunbar, "Black as a Region: Segregation and American Literary Regionalism in Richard Wright's *The Color Curtin*," *African American Review* vol. 42, no. 1 (Spring 2008), 109-12 (arguing that Wright substituted "blackness" for a form of literary regionalism).

¹¹See Wright's unpublished essay "I Choose Exile," 1-11, available from Kent State University's Special Collections and Archives.

¹²On Davis, see Atossa Araxia Abrahamian, *The Cosmopolites: The Coming of the Global Citizen* (New York, Columbia Global Reports, 2015).

¹³See the recent essay by Benjamin Anastas, "Teaching the Controversy: James Baldwin and Richard Wright in the Ferguson Era," *New Republic* (June 2015).

¹⁴On the growth of internationalism, see Spear, *Black Chicago*, 193-200 (on the appearance of Marcus Garvey and the "New Negros" and their militant black nationalism and their limited success displacing the middle class black leaders of Chicago during the interwar years); Adam Ewing, The Age of Garvey: How a Jamaican Activist Created a Mass Movement and Changed Global Black Politics (Princeton, Princeton University Press, 2014), 193 (noting efforts to diminish regional attachments in favor of pan-Africanism); Penny M. Von Eschen, Race Against Empire: Black Americans and Anti-Colonialism, 1937-1957 (Ithaca, Cornell University Press, 1997) (explaining the prominence of anti-colonial and pan-Africanist efforts among African-American intellectuals); Davarian L. Baldwin, Chicago's New Negroes: Modernity, the Great Migration, and Black Urban Life (Chapel Hill, University of North Carolina Press, 2007), 10; James H. Meriwether, Proudly We Can Be Africans: Black Americans and Africa, 1935-1961 (Chapel Hill, University of North Carolina Press, 2002); P.O. Esebede, Pan-Africanism: The Idea and Movement, 1776-1963 (Washington, DC, Howard University Press, 1982); William J. Maxwell, New Negro, Old Left: African-American Writing and Communism Between the Wars (New York, Columbia University Press, 1999).

¹⁵See Grossman, *Land of Hope*, 117; Finley C. Campbell, "Prophet of the Storm: Richard Wright and the Radical Tradition," *Phylon* vol. 38, no. 1 (1977), 15-18; Daniel Wongu Kim, "'We, Too, Rise with You': Recovering Langston Hughes's African (Re)Turn 1954-1960 in An African Treasury, the Chicago Defender, and Black Orpheus," *African American Review* vol. 41, no. 3 (Fall 2007), 419-20 (explaining Hughes's embrace of the "new, decol-

onizing Africa and its writers" and "anti-colonialist nationalism and pan-Africanism" and how Hughes "sought to lead the broader radicalization of the US black political imagination"); Anthony Dawahare, "Langston Hughes's Radical Poetry and the 'End of Race," MELUS vol. 23, no. 3 (Autumn 1998), 27-38; Charles P. Banner-Haley, From Du Bois to Obama: African American Intellectuals in the Public Forum (Carbondale, Southern Illinois University Press, 2010), 18-19; James Smethhurst, "Don't Say Goodbye to the Porkpie Hat': Langston Hughes, the Left, and the Black Arts Movement," Callaloo vol. 25, no. 4 (Autumn 2002), 1226-34; Scott, "Langston Hughes of Kansas," 7; James Smethhurst, "The Adventures of a Social Poet: Langston Hughes from the Popular Front to Black Power," in Steven Tracy (ed), A Historical Guide to Langston Hughes (London, Oxford University Press, 2004), 141-68; Anthony Dawahare, "Langston Hughes's Radical Poetry and the 'End of Race," MELUS vol. 23, no. 3 (Fall 1998), 21-41; Brett Hayes Edwards, "Langston Hughes and the Futures of Diaspora," American Literary History vol. 19, no. 3 (Autumn 2007), 689-711; Jonathan Scott, "Advanced, Repressed, and Popular: Langston Hughes during the Cold War," College Literature vol. 33, no. 2 (Spring 2006), 32-36; Barnes, "I'd Rather Be a Lamppost in Chicago," 52-54.

16On Brooks's transition, see Kent, A Life of Gwendolyn Brooks, 197 (transformation); Philip A. Greasley, "Gwendolyn Brooks: The Emerging Poetic Voice," Great Lakes Review vol. 10, no. 2 (Fall 1984), 19 (black), 16 (noting Brooks's "massive reversal in poetic orientation" beginning in 1967); Gwendolyn Brooks, Report from Part One (Detroit, Broadside Press, 1972), 45 (announcing herself as "essentially an essential African" and rejecting integration); Yomna Mohamed Saber, Brave to Be Involved: Shifting Positions in the Poetry of Gwendolyn Brooks (Bern, Peter Lang, 2010), 139, 154, 169); Annette Debo, "Signifying Afrika: Gwendolyn Brooks' Later Poetry," Callaloo vol. 29, no. 1 (Winter 2006), 168-72; Karen Jackson Ford, "The Last Quatrain: Gwendolyn Brooks and the Ends of Ballads," Twentieth Century Literature vol. 56, no. 3 (Fall 2010), 371-72; Angela Jackson, "In Memoriam: Gwendolyn Brooks," Callaloo vol. 23, no. 4 (Autumn 2000), 1166, 1168; John F. Callahan, "Essentially an Essential African': Gwendolyn Brooks and the Awakening to Audience," North Dakota Quarterly vol. 55, no. 4 (Fall 1987), 59-60, 65; Philip A. Greasley, "Gwendolyn Brooks's 'Afrika," MidAmerica vol. 8 (1986), 12.

¹⁷In Hawaii, Davis tutored a disconnected Barack Obama, who would later move to Chicago in search of a deeper grounding in black culture and politics. See generally Kathryn Waddell Takara, "Frank Marshall Davis," in Steven C. Tracy (ed), *Writers of the Black Renaissance* (Urbana, University of Illinois Press, 2011), 161-181.

¹⁸See Debo, "Signifying Afrika," 168 (describing the Black Arts Movement as "the artistic arm of the Black Power Movement); David Lionel Smith, "The Black Arts Movement and Its Critics," American Literary History vol. 3, no. 1 (Spring 1991), 102; Interview of Gwendolyn Brooks, Great Lakes Review vol. 6, no. 1 (Summer 1979), 51 (noting the Black Arts Movement's emphasis "on Blackness and on Black unity; on Black family—Blacks all over the world as family") (italics in original); Greasley, "Gwendolyn Brooks," 19 (explaining how "black writers [were] abandoning the integrationist-assimilationist philosophy" of earlier years and embracing the "poetics of President Leopold Senghor of Senegal," the "poetics of Negritude," the writings of Franz Fanon and Malcolm X, and the solidarity of "Black Writers' conferences" such as the one at Fisk University in 1967 that transformed Gwendolyn Brooks); Kevin K. Gaines and Penny M. Von Eschen, "African Americans in Literature and the Arts," in Robert L. Harris and Rosalyn Terborg-Penn (eds), Columbia Guide to African American History since 1939 (New York, Columbia University Press, 2006), 18; James Smethhurst, The Black Arts Movement: Literary Nationalism in the 1960s and 1970s (Chapel Hill, University of North Carolina Press, 2005); Lisa Gail Collins and Margo Natalie Crawford (eds), New Thoughts on the Black Arts Movement (New Brunswick, Rutgers University Press, 2006), 5-9.

WORKS CITED

Algren, Nelson. "Remembering Richard Wright." Nation 28 Jan. 1961, 85.

"Amid the Alien Corn." Time 12 Nov. 1958, 28.

Baker, Houston A. "Richard Wright and the Dynamics of Place in Afro-American Literature." New Essays on Native Son. Ed. Keneth Kinnamon. NY: Cambridge UP, 1990. 85-116.

Baldwin, James. "Many Thousands Gone." Critical Essays on Richard Wright. Ed. Yoshinobu Hakutani. Boston: G.K. Hall. 1982. 107-119.

Barnes, Deborah. "'I'd Rather Be a Lamppost in Chicago': Richard Wright and the Chicago Renaissance of African American Literature." *Langston Hughes Review* 14:1 & 2 (Spring-Fall 1996): 52-61.

Bradley, David. "On Rereading 'Native Son." New York Times Magazine 7 Dec. 1986, 68.

Brooks, Gwendolyn. A Street in Bronzeville. NY: Harper & Brothers, 1945.

Burns, Ben. "They're Not Uncle Tom's Children." The Reporter 8 Mar. 1956, 21-3.

Dale, Elizabeth. "Social Equality Does Not Exist among Themselves, nor among Us': Bayles vs. Curry and Civil Rights in Chicago, 1888." American Historical Review 102:2 (Apr. 1997): 311-39.

Davis, Frank Marshall. 47th Street Poems. Prairie City, Ill: Decker P, 1948.

Drake, St. Clair, and Horace R. Cayton. *Black Metropolis: A Study of Negro Life in a Northern City.* 1945. Revised and Enlarged Edition. Chicago: U of Chicago P, 1993.

Ellison, Ralph. "Remembering Richard Wright." *The Collected Essays of Ralph Ellison*. Ed. and Intro. John F. Callahan. Pref. Saul Bellow. NY: The Modern Library, 1995. 659-75.

Engle, Paul. "Chicago Can Take Pride in New, Young Voice in Poetry." Chicago Tribune 26 Aug. 1945, 3-4.

Fabre, Michel. The Unfinished Quest of Richard Wright. NY: William Morrow, 1973.

Greif, Mark. The Age of the Crisis of Man: Thought and Fiction in America, 1933-1973. Princeton: Princeton UP, 2015.

Grossman, James R. Land of Hope: Chicago, Black Southerners, and the Great Migration. Chicago: U of Chicago P, 1989.

Hathaway, Rosemary. "Native Geography: Richard Wright's Work for the Federal Writer's Project in Chicago." *African American Review* 42:1 (Spring2008): 91-108.

Howe, Irving. Decline of the New. NY: Horizon P, 1963.

Hughes, Langston. Not Without Laughter. NY: Random House, 1930.

—. "The Need for Heroes." The Crisis 84.6 (June 1941): 184.

Mangione, Jerry. The Dream and the Deal: The Federal Writer's Project, 1935-1943. Boston: Little. Brown. 1972.

McCarthy, Harold T. "Richard Wright: The Expatriate as Native Son." *American Literature* 44:1 (Mar. 1972):97-117.

Moskowitz, Milton. "The Enduring Importance of Richard Wright." *Journal of Blacks in Higher Education* 59 (Spring 2008): 58-62.

—. "Bizarre Conclusions." Threepenny Review 39. (Autumn 1989): 18-22.

Reich, Steven A. "The Great Migration and the Literary Imagination." *Journal of the Historical Society* 9.1 (Mar. 2009): 87-128.

Rowley, Hazel. Richard Wright: The Life and Times. Chicago: U of Chicago P, 2001.

Schlabach, Elizabeth. "The Dialectics of Placelessness and Boundedness in Richard Wright's and Gwendolyn Brooks's Fictions: Crafting the Chicago Black Renaissance's Literary Landscape." *The Black Chicago Renaissance*. Ed. Darlene Clark Hine and John Mccluskey Jr. Urbana: U of Illinois P, 2012. 79-95.

Spear, Allan H. Black Chicago: The Making of a Negro Ghetto, 1890-1920. Chicago: U of Chicago P, 1967.

Walker, Margaret. Richard Wright, Daemonic Genius: A Portrait of the Man, a Critical Look at His Work. NY: Warner Books, 1988.

Wilkerson, Isabel. The Warmth of Other Suns: The Epic Story of America's Great Migration. NY: Random House, 2010.

Wright, Richard. Native Son. 1940. NY: HarperPerennial, 2005.

- -. 12 Million Black Voices.1941. NY: Basic Books, 2008
- Black Boy (American Hunger): A Record of Childhood and Youth. 1943. NY: HarperPerennial, 2006.
- -. "The Shame of Chicago." Ebony 7.2 (Dec. 1951): 24.
- —. White Man Listen! (1957). Black Power: Three Books from Exile: Black Power; The Color Curtain; and White Man Listen! Ed. Cornel West. NY: HarperPerennial, 2008. 631-812.

"TIME IS THE FOURTH DIMENSION OF SPACE": THE RADICALISM OF PAUL GRUCHOW'S THEORY OF TIME AND PLACE

MICHELLE M. CAMPBELL

In Grass Roots, Gruchow's literary nonfiction essays divulge the inner mind of a conservationist who has passionately attempted to bring together a love of nature, battles with his own personal demons, a waxing nostalgia for a childhood that is in many ways regular and special in and of itself, and a philosophy of social justice that reconciles being and time and place. At first glance, the physical text of Grass Roots belies the radicalism found within. The cover of the 1995 Milkweed paperback edition, designed by Adrian Morgan, showcases a photograph by Michael Melford, Inc. of a lonely prairie dotted with small white flowers opening to the expansive horizon upon which rests a tall cumulus cloud. On one side, the statuesque cloud is cast in the brightness of an unseen sun, and the other side shaded in a deep, heady blue. The prairie is depicted as expansive, untouched, wild but serene, and, most importantly, without a trace of human interaction, save for the viewer looking through the portal of the photograph. So, too, the key words listed in the Library of Congress Catalog-in-Publication Data depict a book that is more about a quaint communion with nature and the down-home people of the Midwest than political philosophy or revolutionary aims. The topics under which one should find Grass Roots are: "Farm life— Minnesota," "Minnesota—Social life and customs," "Gruchow, Paul," and "Natural history—United States." Yet, all one has to do is flip a page and see essay titles such as "Guerilla Warfare to Revive the Countryside" and "Corn Is Not Eternal" to know there is more to this Gruchow character than the cover artwork and bibliographic information give away. And when we dig only a little bit into Gruchow's title, *Grass Roots*, which so clearly argues for the "Farm life" or "Natural history" moniker, it also argues for a radical reading, a grass roots political organizing—a radicalism that is grounded, but also comes from the ground up.

This reconciliation is nowhere more apparent than in the first two paragraphs of his piece "Home is a Place in Time." In this opening essay of the book, Gruchow asks: "What if one's life were not a commodity, not something to be bartered to the highest bidder, or made to order? What if one's life were governed by needs more fundamental than acceptance or admiration? What if one were simply to stay home and plant some manner of garden?" (1). Already in these first few lines, Gruchow links place and social justice in that he juxtaposes the neoliberal valuation of life as a commodity in contemporary capitalism with simply "staying at home," a place that can be, its suggested, out of the reach of neoliberal capitalism. In the broadest sense, social justice is an organizing principle founded on equal opportunity and human rights, which then should translate to collective well-being as identified by economic, intellectual, and emotional prosperity. Thus, Gruchow's linking of place and social justice creates the conditions for the triumph over other organizing principles, such as neoliberal capitalism, which are reliant on individuality translated into the stratification of winners and losers, rather than collective well-being. He continues in this vein of collective well-being over time by proposing: "To plant a garden is to enter the continuum of time. Each seed carries in its genome the history that will propel it into the future, and in planting it we stretch one of the long threads of our culture into tomorrow" (Gruchow 1). In Grass Roots, readers are shown that time is place, and living knowingly in time and place is social justice, which, for Gruchow, means a type of ethical living that is amiable to humans and the natural world in which they live. My argument here is presented in two parts: 1) that Gruchow presents a radical theory of time in the radical tradition of Midwestern literature and socio-political theory, a theory which has emerged from a postmodern late-capitalist socio-economic analysis married with an ecological approach to social organization, and 2) that Gruchow's theory of evolutionary time allows for an ethics of place in the Midwest that underpins a new approach to the praxis of contemporary organizing for the purpose of social justice.

THE THEORY OF TIME AND PLACE

Gruchow's ethics of place signify an ethics of time that transcend, or perhaps revise, the mythology of the past, present and future to encourage a more suitable symbiosis of time and place, which is the nature of being. Such an account of existence cannot rely simply on being and time; it must consider being and time and place, since being is within the confines of time and, as Gruchow and physics tell us, time is the fourth dimension of place. Therefore, one cannot be without place. To be means to be somewhere. Thus, when Gruchow writes that "the particular promise of evolutionary time is that it calls us to place," he means that evolutionary time creates a space for the ethics of being somewhere, and, Gruchow hopes, that particular somewhere is what we will come to call home (142). Such an assertion requires the consideration of space as a material product, as Manuel Castells argues in *The Urban Question* (1977). Not only is space a material product, as Castells asserts, but it exists "in relation with other material elements—among others, men, who themselves enter into particular social relations, which give to space (and to the other elements of the combination) a form, a function, a social signification" (115). I argue that theories of time, too, give social relations a form, a function, and a social signification; therefore, a radical theory of social justice requires not only a theory of space, but also a theory of time. This is why Gruchow's praxis is underpinned by a radical theory of evolutionary time, and his praxis looks to be organized through ecological principles, which are spatial and temporal, thereby supporting form, functions, and signification of social revolution writ as ethical principles and able to be supported in the long term.

Similar to Castells, Edward J. Soja in *Postmodern Geographies* (1989) also takes up a materialist approach to time and space. Soja argues that "From a materialist perspective, whether mechanistic or dialectical, time and space in the general or abstract sense represent the objective form of matter. Time, space, and matter are inextricably connected, with the nature of this relationship being a central theme in the history and philosophy of science. This essentially physical view of space has deeply influenced all forms of spatial analysis" (79). Moreover, Soja argues, "[s]pace in this generalized and abstracted physical form has been conceptually incorporated into the materialist analysis of history and society in such a way as to interfere with the interpretation of human spatial organization as a social product, the key first step in recognizing a socio-spatial dialectic" (79). Paul Gruchow, although not explicitly, utilizes a materialist approach not only to space, but also to time. Gruchow, taking a page

from a Foucaultian genealogical analysis, begins with the cyclical model of time that supports a seasonal version of social and ecological material relations, which, coincidentally, also assumes that civilizations and natural resources rise and fall organically, allowing for the justification of everything from the inevitability of colonization to the "natural" and historical cycles of global climate change. He then moves to the linear progression of time, which underscores the hope of modernity in that the new modernization would lead to perfection, and the horror of postmodernity, where theorists such as Fredric Jameson see the signs of late capitalism. In response to both of these failed versions of time, failed in that they neglect to take into account a socio-spatial dialectic that allows for the interpretation of human spatial organization as a social product, as Soja suggests, Gruchow develops a theory of evolutionary time, a theory of time that connects time, space, and matter in the hope of developing a contemporary praxis of social justice, a time and a place for people and ecologies (after all, as Gruchow argues, people are simply part of the ecology of the place in which they live) to exist in a mutually beneficial and productive relationship. Ultimately, Gruchow's ethics of being somewhere engenders a view of regionalism, and particularly the Midwest, that creates a radical space not only for the consideration and critique of place, as in the ecological themes of Midwestern literature that critics have considered for decades, but also for the people who live in these ecologies as a part of them in time and place.

THE MIDWESTERN TRADITION OF RADICALISM

In The Midwestern Pastoral: Place and Landscape in Literature of the American Heartland (2005), William Barillas identifies Gruchow's Grass Roots as an argument "for a renewed land ethic and aesthetic, putting forth specific recommendations for land use, education, and community revitalization in the rural upper Midwest" (219). In what Barillas calls Gruchow's "most incisive as well as his most personal book" due to its "polemic and narrative aspects," he places Gruchow's contemporary narrative in the tradition of the Midwestern pastoral, putting him in conversation with the likes of Jane Smiley and Leo Marx. Barillas's point is that Gruchow's analyses and proposals fuse pastoral theory and environmental justice in "the contemporary coalition between economically disadvantaged people and environmental activists who recognize class structure and racism as sources of environmental degradation as well as poverty"

(223). While the few scholars who engage with Gruchow's works focus mainly on his ecological themes, I will focus on his radicalism and, more specifically, his radical philosophy of time and place.

If one digs far enough, or sometimes not really at all, the Midwest can be defined in terms of radicalism. The Midwest is often considered a kind of utopia; it is a provincial, flat, and undifferentiated landscape, which is the perfect setting for a revised origin myth, not the true origin myth inscribed on the land of the East Coast, but, rather, a sequel to the national public imaginary: a do-over, a self-fulfilling prophesy of moral, economic, and personal triumph writ large against a backdrop of unremarkable landscapes and normal peoples. The Midwest may be the perfect place at the heart of a perfect union in a nationalistic public imaginary, but it is also a "no place" in this same imaginary—a place to fly over or drive through, not a destination: a cultural waste land of nothingness. And because the Midwest is not perfect, these are only imaginary attributes; it contains within its borders a healthy undercurrent of culture and socio-political unrest, which titillates and disturbs even our most modern sensibilities. The history of the Midwest and its peoples is a history of radicalism. Although many may view the Midwest as bland, indistinct, and featureless, the people of the Midwest operate in a paradoxical state that leaves ample room for radicalism. In his book Sacred Land: Sherwood Anderson, Midwestern Modernism, and the Sacramental Vision of Nature (2014), Mark Buechsel argues that while some, like Andrew R.L. Cayton, have observed that "the burden of life in the Midwest has been to deny any kind of difference," the Midwest is actually a place of an "at least superficially conflicting sense of existential turmoil; it is the site of the nation's very heartbeat, the place where big dreams are dreamt, crushed, and reenvisioned, a place where truth is defined in opposite, clashing ways, a spiritual battlefield" (47).

The paradoxical bedfellows of "featureless, statistically average, middle-class lives" and radical lives exist and flourish in the Midwest, as they have for at least 150 years (Buechsel 47). Many have documented the Ku Klux Klan's influence in the Midwest, especially in Indiana, but other extremism exists as well. My interest here is in how the Midwest became a place where radical thought and practice, particularly as related to labor struggles, not only survived, but flourished. David D. Anderson's "The Origins and Development of the Literature of the Midwest" in the *Dictionary of Midwestern*

Literature Volume One: The Authors (2001) gives an important lineage of ethos and thought as it relates to the people of the Midwest. Anderson asserts that the Midwest is a creation influenced by eighteenth-century rational thought (11). Moreover, he connects the Midwest with socio-political progress:

From the beginning, evolution of the Midwest has been marked by a faith in progress, an acceptance of change, a willingness—perhaps even an eagerness—to move on, and by a search for success and for order and a confidence in human ability. All of these have marked its political history from the beginning. Consequently, the Midwest has been in the forefront of political and moral movements ranging from Jacksonian democracy through abolition to populism and prohibition and beyond. (Anderson 12)

These political movements have led to a variety of lived existences and experiences in the Midwest. The most visible, and perhaps one of the most ubiquitous origin myths of the lived existences and experiences America at large has clung to as representative of a national identity, is that of the "good farmer" who embraces a wholesome lifestyle of hard work, living off the land, and faith that doing right will lead to both a reward in heaven for the individual and a better life for one's progeny. This mystical "good farmer" identity is one that overtook the national picture and remains a mythic version of the Midwest, even in an era of intense material and agricultural industrialization, the disappearance of the great middle class (if it ever really existed in the first place), environmental desecration, and a shift in moral and ethical codes throughout the United States.

Like nineteenth- and early twentieth-century radicals, reformers, and populists who shaped the historical and political trajectory of the Midwest, Paul Gruchow continues a tradition of regional radicalism that for him is rooted in, but not subsumed by, place and ecology. As Jon K. Lauck writes in his breakthrough book *The Lost Region: Toward a Revival of Midwestern History* (2014): "The Midwest also became a site of the great nineteenth century evolution of American capitalism. The dominance of small farm and small town capitalism of the prairie was later diminished by the rise of big business and urban centers" (26). Gruchow's radicalism, at least in *Grass Roots*, is not only informed but also driven by the colonization of big business (for Gruchow, namely, agribusiness) in the rural Midwest. His radicalism, which does not seem all that radical to many, is about a return

to the "dominance of the small farm and small town capitalism of the prairie" (26) as Lauck puts it. Thus, while it is correct to assert that Gruchow's radicalism emanates from his environmentalist ethics, I argue that his environmentalist ethics is only one confluent factor among many others, including shifting economic modes, social relations, and a philosophical commitment to social justice, which, for Gruchow, includes his environmentalist ethics, since he views people as a part of, rather than separate from, the environment in which they live, use, and, especially in the case of agribusiness, abuse.

THE ETHICS OF PLACE AND TIME: A FORMATIVE SOCIAL JUSTICE PRACTICE

How can a radical philosophy of time underpin an expansive ethics of social justice? The second part of my argument here is that Gruchow's theory of evolutionary time allows for an ethics of place in the Midwest that underpins a new approach to the praxis of contemporary organizing for the purpose of social justice. As stated previously, Gruchow's theory of evolutionary time creates a space for the ethics of *being somewhere*, and, Gruchow hopes, that particular *somewhere* is what we will come to call *home* (142). Evolutionary time, according to Gruchow, is based on seeing the earth and everything on it as a whole:

Just as a new myth of earth is emerging—one in which we see earth as a single, interdependent, self-regulating organism—so a new view of time has recently become possible. One might call it relative time, or evolutionary time. It would understand time neither as static—as in the old myth of cyclicity—not as mechanical—as in the more recent myth of progress—but as dynamic: an unfolding set of creative variations upon a finite set of basic materials. Such a view would allow us to accept both change and continuity as aspects of time without vilifying or deifying either, freeing it from the straightjacket of our neo-Victorian fundamentalism, which sees the past as villainy, the present as conspiracy, and the future as tragedy. (142)

Gruchow's evolutionary time has been made possible by the same globalization that has begun to wreak havoc on his home, turning small, imperfect family farms into massive industrial centers that destroy the land and culture of the rural Midwest. Evolutionary time is not pre-industrial; it is not based on the "old myth of cyclicity," such as the changing of the seasons or the cyclical calendar of festi-

vals, births, and deaths. Nor is it industrial, based on what he calls "the more recent myth of progress." Evolutionary time is not invested in the myth of forward, linear progress toward a more certain future; it is not the theory of time upon which manifest destiny nor empire is supported. Rather, Gruchow's evolutionary time is dynamic: it is "an unfolding set of creative variations upon a finite set of basic materials," i.e., what goes around comes around, but you can never step in the same river twice. Evolutionary time is a synthesis of past theories of time that allows for, as Gruchow puts it, "both change and continuity," accepting both, allowing both tradition and innovation, the old and the new.

One of the most beautiful things about Gruchow's theory of time is that it frees the individual from an authoritarian requirement of both tradition and innovation, thereby liberating the individual from the hegemony of the expectations of time marked by culture, but without disavowing tradition. The expectations of dynamic time are left up to the individuals to decide for themselves what works and what does not. Since social justice is an organizing principle founded on equal opportunity and human rights, Gruchow's theory of time supports an organizing principle of social justice in that it liberates the individual, thus allowing for the possibility of equal opportunity and the recognition, if not the expansion, of human rights. In short, Gruchow's evolutionary time is the disavowal of authoritarian politics of time and thus a disavowal of authoritarian politics of place. For Gruchow, the lure of the promises made by the globalization of wealth, prosperity, and efficiency are characteristic of perhaps the most authoritarian politics of all, in which local control, both political and social, is wrested away and placed in the domain of neoliberal capital, which plunders and funnels wealth from the rural to the urban, from the so-called third world to the first world.

Gruchow is not the first, nor certainly will he be the last, to notice this phenomenon of the loss of local control, which Fredric Jameson details in his book, *Postmodernism, or, The Cultural Logic of Late Capitalism* (1991). As Jameson sees it, late capitalism includes features such as transnational business as well as "the new international division of labor, a vertiginous new dynamic in international banking and the stock exchanges (including the enormous Second and Third World debt), new forms of media interrelationship (very much including transportation systems such as containerization), computers and automation, the flight of production to advanced Third World

areas" (xix); moreover, these economic and cultural features promulgate "all the more familiar social consequences, including the crisis of traditional labor, the emergence of yuppies, and gentrification on a now-global scale" (xix). Although Jameson is nowhere nearly as optimistic as Gruchow with regard to the potentiality of overcoming or even beginning to confront late capitalism, they are both tuned in to the symptoms of the same malady. The ultimate cure, for Gruchow at least, is his materialist version of time and space, which opens new vistas for a social justice organizing principle that takes for its foundation already known ecological principles.

The result of evolutionary time, according to Gruchow, is that it calls us home, to live our lives in particular places. Thus, we all live some place, and many of them are similar, but none of them are exactly the same, and this is as true over cartography as it is over space time. To be called to "particular places" means that individuals must have the power to choose where and when to find their homes; and it is in this incisively personal choice, in calling a time and a place home, that Gruchow's ethics of being somewhere can yield what he calls "the emerging idea of ecology as an organizing principle," which "opens new standards for judging the suitability of our social arrangements" (143). I argue that when Gruchow identifies ecology as an organizing principle, he identifies it as an organizing principle under the umbrella of social justice, not as a separate organizing principle. Conserving the land is also about conserving the culture and lives of the people who inhabit it. It is also about promoting equal opportunity and the rights of the land and the people who live there in order to create a time and place in which the people and the land can prosper. Gruchow explains, "The more abstract our organizing principles are, the more distant from the disciplines of nature and of local need, the more aggressively extractive and exploitative our lives become" (143). Globalization, then, has been a driving force of exploitation of local ecologies, but also an exercise in the exploitation of human beings, since both ecologies and people need to exist somewhere, which is always local, and can never truly be global. This is not to say that Gruchow is supporting a return to nineteenth- and early-twentieth-century regionalism as an organizing principle; rather, he is advocating for a more anarchic plan of local consideration of control: the ethics of being somewhere. In short, Gruchow is often rightly classified as an environmental conservationist, but his true potential is in his theory of time and place, combined with his knowledge of ecological principles, which yields a social justice defining "suitability of social arrangements" (143).

This is not all just theory for Gruchow: as a man rooted in place and time, he has real "action items" that would come from the ethics of being somewhere, which also means being at home. He lists five main criteria for judging the "suitability of social arrangements" under this new organizing principle, and all are based in place and time. His second criterion echoes the inclusive philosophy and pedagogy propounded by theorists such as bell hooks and disability studies advocates and scholars. Gruchow declares, "We will judge the health of local communities on the basis of its most vulnerable members' needs" because "[a]pparently ephemeral constituents of human communities may also have vital roles to play in their health, invisible though they may be in analyses that depend upon averages and means" (143-144). Diversity, even diversity that represents "apparently ephemeral constituents" of communities, has an important role to play, even if it defies what we have always been told about organizing principles. Gruchow's ethics of being somewhere do not measure the health of communities as statistical averages in short-sighted timelines; instead, the vitality of communities rests in their diversity, not in their consolidation to promote efficiency or what conventional thinking would connote as vitality. Variation, redundancy, and multiple strategies for survival over time, all of which Gruchow discusses in his five criteria, work against the conventional wisdom of social policy and public planning.

Consideration of local control and authority continues to be of the utmost importance throughout Gruchow's organizing principles, as seen in his fourth criterion:

We will come to understand that we have the adage "Think globally, act locally" backwards. A good abstraction may be made from an adequate number of particulars, but it is exceedingly difficult, if not impossible, to make a good particular from any number of abstractions. We will learn to think locally and to act globally—to act, that is, as if what we do locally matters globally, as indeed it does. This is one of the useful insights to be gained from chaos theory. (Gruchow 145)

This criterion shows that not only place is important, but also time. "Thinking locally" is where time melds with place, i.e., the consideration of social justice at a local level will come to affect the intercon-

nected world on a global scale. Rather than think about the whole and choose actions based on that, Gruchow argues that all change must happen first at home and, if sustainable and workable, will emanate to a global level. As Gruchow writes at the very beginning of *Grass Roots*: All one needs to do is stay at home and plant some manner of garden to enter into the continuum of time; time is as local as place, and, by focusing on the sustainability of the individual and local, one is actually focusing on the sustainability of the global whole.

This sentiment of "think locally, act globally" is reflected fully in the title of the book Grass Roots: The Universe of Home. Grass *Roots*, as mentioned earlier, is both a social justice and ecological title. It evokes the idea of grass roots organizing, i.e., the kind of local organizing—going door-to-door and talking to people one by one that has, in recent years, yielded massive successes on the national political stages for men like Barack Obama and Bernie Sanders. It also calls forth the literal grass roots of the prairie, a place that is made of billions of root systems of billions of grasses, grasses that lie fallow and come alive each year if left unfettered, always the same, but always a bit different. Gruchow's evolutionary time is exemplified by the prairie, for the prairie itself is comprised of billions of creative variations based on a finite set of basic materials. When Gruchow's evolutionary time calls us to live our lives in particular places, which he hopes we will call home, we are also being called to an ethics of responsibility for our homes, our places, our times, and, ultimately, our people. With evolutionary time, the power and responsibility no longer rest in the authoritarian politics of time dictated by culture, but with individuals, with Midwesterners, who are being called home to their grass roots to plant some manner of garden. But what kind of garden? Gruchow won't tell us, because each of us will have to decide what and how and when for ourselves.

Purdue University

NOTE

¹For further reading on the Ku Klux Klan's rise and influence in the Midwest, I recommend Richard K. Tucker's *The Dragon and the Cross: The Rise and Fall of the Ku Klux Klan in Middle America* from Archon Books (1991), and for a state-specific study of the Klan in Michigan, particularly the influence in Michigan by the Klan from Indiana in the 1920s, I recommend Craig Fox's *Everyday Klansfolk: White Protestant Life and the KKK in 1920s Michigan* from Michigan State University Press (2011).

WORKS CITED

- Anderson, David D. "The Origins and Development of the Literature of the Midwest." Dictionary of Midwestern Literature Volume One: The Authors. Ed. Philip A. Greasley Bloomington: Indiana UP, 2001. 9-24.
- Barillas, William. The Midwestern Pastoral: Place and Landscape in Literature of the American Heartland. Athens: Ohio UP, 2006.
- Buechsel, Mark. Sacred Land: Sherwood Anderson, Midwestern Modernism, and the Sacramental Vision of Nature. Kent: Kent State UP, 2014.
- Castells, Manuel. *The Urban Question: A Marxist Approach*. Trans. Alan Sheridan. Cambridge: MIT Press, 1977.
- Cayton, Andrew R. L. *The American Midwest: Essays on Regional History*. Ed. Andrew R.L. Cayton and Susan E. Gray. Bloomington: Indiana UP, 2001.
- Gruchow, Paul. Grass Roots: The Universe of Home. Minneapolis: Milkweed, 1995.
- Jameson, Fredric. Postmodernism, or, The Cultural Logic of Late Capitalism. Durham: Duke UP, 1991.
- Lauck, Jon K. The Lost Region: Toward a Revival of Midwestern History. Iowa City: U of Iowa P, 2013.
- Soja, Edward W. Postmodern Geographies: The Reassertion of Space in Critical Social Theory. NY: Verso, 1989.

WHOSE BOOK IS THIS?: TEXTUAL UNHOMELINESS IN TONI MORRISON'S HOME

JOSHUA MURRAY

Throughout the storied history of African American literature, themes of home and cultural displacement have played a central role. From slave narratives to contemporary novels, we can see the societal friction that arises out of racial violence and discrimination. The frequency of this occurrence in fiction has led to a number of texts that highlight the unwelcoming nature of the United States to nativeborn individuals. Within this canon, an ironic, titular home appears in Claude McKay's Home to Harlem (1928), in which Jake Brown spends as little time in Harlem as possible, and Langston Hughes's short story, "Home," (1934) presents Roy Williams's unsuccessful and tragic attempt to reintegrate into the United States after years in Europe. Thematically, Nella Larsen's *Quicks and* (1928) and Ralph Ellison's *Invisible Man* (1952) demonstrate the complicated nature of home in relation to race, as each protagonist fails to find true satisfaction and acceptance. Toni Morrison's recent novel, *Home*, published in 2012, creates an interesting addition to this trope, as Morrison similarly represents home ironically by emphasizing instability and literal homelessness.

Although published only a few years ago, the novel's 1950s setting examines the racist American society prior to the civil rights movement. Protagonist Frank Money finds himself struggling to construct his self-identity, and his return to America following his deployment in Korea presents him with the challenges of undiagnosed PTSD and racial stereotyping. While Frank's tale obviously demonstrates this intersection of race and a lack of home, there is more at play due to the novel's distinctive narrative strategy of alternating between first-person and third-person chapters. Ultimately, Frank's first-person chapters underscore the tension in his quest for belonging and self-identity, whereas the narrator's third-person chap-

ters create inconsistencies with Frank's personal narrative, thereby forcing him to become textually unhomed in his own story.

In 1997, fifteen years prior to the debut of *Home*, Morrison published an essay by the same title in the collection The House that Race Built. Here, while Frank Money's story was nowhere near its nascence, Morrison candidly examines the importance of home to her writings and personal beliefs. Even though this essay predates her 2012 novel, it nonetheless provides relevant insights into Frank's eventual plight. According to her theory on the topic, home equates to "a-world-in-which-race-does-not-matter [T]he term domesticates the racial project, moves the job of unmattering race away from pathetic yearning and futile desire; away from an impossible future or an irretrievable and probably nonexistent Eden to a manageable, doable, modern human activity" (3-4). With this working definition, then, the insatiable quest for home so prevalent in African American fiction can be seen as the attempt to locate a space in which race (or racism) does not detract from the quality of life. Morrison continues by expanding this theory and emphasizing its modern relevance:

[M]y own writerly excursions and my use of a house/home antagonism are related to . . . legitimacy, authenticity, community, belonging. In no small way, these discourses are about home: an intellectual home; a spiritual home; family and community as home; forces and displaced labor in the destruction of home; dislocation of and alienation within the ancestral home; creative responses to exile, the devastations, pleasures, and imperatives of homelessness as it is manifested in discussions on feminism, globalism, the diaspora, migrations, hybridity, contingency, interventions, assimilations, exclusions. The estranged body, the legislated body, the violated, rejected, deprived body—the body as consummate home. In virtually all of these formations, whatever the terrain, race magnifies the matter that matters. (5)

Indeed, in each of these instances the race factor complicates and amplifies the situation for an unhomed individual. As Morrison stresses, home allows for personal freedom in every conceivable category. Historically, racism has worked to remove such freedom, thereby establishing the complex nature of race in modern artistic production. In this way, Morrison's earlier thoughts on the concept play a key role in our understanding of a racial home within *Home*.

Central to my claim here is the textual structure of the novel, so before diving further into my argument and parsing out my terms and methodology, I will establish the parameters of the physical text. Of the seventeen chapters in the novel, nine are presented through a third-person narrator. These chapters are the meat of the book. Set entirely in the 1950s, they are lengthy sections that provide the majority of the novel's plot, dedicating space to detail the lives of Frank, his sister Cee, his step-grandmother Lenore, and his girlfriend Lily. As a counterpoint, the remaining eight chapters are written from Frank's contemporary first-person perspective and are visually set apart in the text through italics. They are much shorter than the other chapters, with the average length being two pages. The relationship between these sets of chapters is interesting, as Morrison inserts a writer-character whom Frank directly addresses at times during his sections. The effect is a documentary-style text in which the reader gets the sense that Frank is relating his life story for the purpose of its retelling. In other words, the italicized chapters appear as if part of an interview, while the nonitalicized chapters act as the narrative constructed by the interviewer. For the sake of avoiding confusion, I will refer to Morrison by name when discussing her compositional choices relating to the book as a whole, and I will refer to the narrator as such when discussing the implied character-author of the thirdperson chapters. Throughout the novel and specifically at the intersection of these constituent parts, we discover Frank's persistent unhomeliness.

Unhomeliness is a concept that Homi K. Bhabha defines in *The Location of Culture* (1994) as "the estranging sense of the relocation of the home and the world . . . that is the condition of extra-territorial and cross-cultural initiations" (9). Frank is an African American veteran returning to the United States from Korea, and this transnational and transcultural move inhibits his sense of belonging in his native country. Bhabha continues, "The recesses of the domestic space become sites for history's most intricate invasions. In that displacement, the borders between home and world become confused; and, uncannily, the private and the public become part of each other, forcing upon us a vision that is as divided as it is disorienting" (9). This final characterization of unhomeliness is especially relevant visà-vis Morrison's novel. Throughout *Home*, when only considering the third-person chapters, the narration is indeed divided and disorienting, frequently jumping from one character to the next with little

to no context for the shift. When these chapters are juxtaposed with Frank's alternating first-person chapters, a tension presents itself. This tension is characteristic of unhomeliness, which we can see throughout the entirety of the novel, both thematically and textually.

Morrison's epigraph to the novel is a telling framing device that speaks to Frank's racial liminality. Its brevity and ambiguity contribute to the disjointed narrative that follows. The epigraph reads:

Whose house is this?
Whose night keeps out the light
In here?
Say, who owns this house?
It's not mine.
I dreamed another, sweeter, brighter
With a view of lakes crossed in painted boats;
Of fields wide as arms open for me.
This house is strange.
Its shadows lie.
Say, tell me, why does its lock fit my key? (xi)

This introduction sets the tone, as Frank finds himself both perpetually in motion seeking a home and also questioning any perceived home he discovers. Melissa Schindler, in "Home, or the Limits of the Black Atlantic" (2014), succinctly delineates the dichotomous nature of home, particularly in connection to diasporic peoples. She claims, "[T]he idea of home, which can refer variously to a physical place one inhabits (with or without kin) [and] to a figurative national or transnational community, walks the line between public and private, masculine and feminine, self and other, center and periphery" (74). Returning from the Korean War to an unfamiliar United States, Frank exemplifies the plight of mid-twentieth-century black veterans. Like the binaries Schindler offers, Frank's existence is rife with opposition and contradiction. Rosemary Marangoly George, in The Politics of Home: Postcolonial Relocations and Twentieth-Century Fiction (1996), explores this concept of "home" and the innate spatiality in its quest. She writes, "The politics of location come into play in the attempt to weave together a subject-status that is sustained by the experience of the place one knows as Home or by resistance to places that are patently 'not home.' 'Location' . . . suggests the variable nature of both 'the home' and 'the self,' for both are negotiated stances whose shapes are entirely ruled by the site from which they are

defined" (2). Liminality, therefore, emerges as a direct result of this external/internal tension in the individual, removing agency from the subject. Racial liminality—or perhaps more accurately racist liminality—is forced upon an individual through prejudiced societal practices. Having no control over this marginalization, the subject, in this case Frank, attempts a resolution by means of embodied movement. While this transition may initially occur intranationally, its result is necessarily unsatisfactory, as the perceived movement is essentially static. An international move, therefore, becomes the logical next step, and the liminal perspective emphasizes the arbitrary nature of these invisible national borders, thereby emphasizing a transnational world-view. It is no coincidence, then, that the Korean setting plays such a large role in Frank's attempt to escape his broken home life initially, and later through the traumatic aftereffects of the war.

Throughout the third-person chapters, of which the first four utilize different primary characters, the narrator's apparent motivation is to establish the hardships of Frank's life. We learn of his close-knit relationship with his sister Cee, with whom he endured a difficult childhood at the hands of their step-grandmother. Thus, the absence of a welcoming home begins during his earliest years. He uses the opportunity to enlist in the military as a means of removing himself from the hostile home, thereby putting into motion his geographical movement from one place to the next in search of a satisfactory environment. As a result, Frank endures the trauma of the Korean War. which leaves him with flashbacks that result in violent outbursts and sudden wanderings. The horrors he experiences negatively impact all future human interaction, magnifying the liminality and ostracism he feels at each turn. Frank's girlfriend Lily offers him the first glimpse of hope and normalcy, as they rent an apartment and attempt to begin settling down and establishing a life together. Frank understands the beneficial effect her presence has on his life, recognizing that she "displaced his disorder, his rage and his shame" (108). Unfortunately, he has the inverse effect on her, souring her happiness with his laziness and unreliability. As their relationship progresses, Lily becomes unnerved by his idleness and she comes to resent the fact that she must take responsibility for all household chores. She attempts to convince Frank of the importance of their situation and his needed contributions, explaining to him, "This place is ours" (79). Nonetheless, Frank cannot live up to Lily's expectations and their relationship meets its inevitable conclusion. With Lily, he has

achieved a place of his own but he finds it unable to resolve his liminal state. When Frank leaves to find and help Cee, who has become ill at the hands of an experimental doctor, Lily gains the freedom to grow and succeed unimpeded by Frank's emotional baggage. What follows is Frank's coast-to-coast journey from Washington to Georgia as he seeks to save the only remaining light in his darkened existence. His transcontinental trip does not progress without obstacle, as he finds himself homeless, imprisoned, and penniless at varying points. By all accounts, Frank is an outsider who finds himself the victim of a nation that has no place for a veteran of color. Ultimately, the only thing that keeps him going is his motivation to rescue his sister.

Sidonie Smith, in Where I'm Bound: Patterns of Slavery and Freedom in Black American Autobiography (1974), provides insightful commentary on the connection between movement and liminality. While she employs this perspective in relation to black autobiography, applying this lens to Frank's situation yields a fruitful analysis. Smith suggests, "With no geographical place of freedom, the exile may be forever plagued with a lack of at-home-ness. Such total alienation is a devastating burden. Or he may, in fact, be running from himself and his past. Either way, the act of running becomes a new form of imprisonment The ultimate place of freedom lies within the self, which alone must be content to create its own 'free' consciousness" (75). As she succinctly explains, the black subject experiences liminality and transition following the forced exile from the overarching society, a society that shuns the racial minority into a marginalized existence. Regardless of the impetus for motion, individual quests for identity and freedom are just as internal as they are external. This is clearly the case for Morrison's Frank Money, who never truly remains stationary throughout the novel. Indeed, following his initial departure from Lotus, he enlists in the military. As the novel opens, we watch Frank begin his meandering cross-country journey from Washington to Georgia, appearing as a vagrant at each of his fleeting stops. Only in the final chapter does Frank seem to have located a permanent home.

The purported message of the novel is that Frank overcomes the hindrances that result from his hostile environment to arrive on the other side a better man who has forged his own home. Frank has come full circle, returning to Lotus, Georgia, and mending his broken family through the reunion with Cee. The novel begins with a scene of

horror, as young Frank and Cee witness the burial of a black man whose death, we later learn, was at the hands of his own son, forced by threatening white men. When he learns the truth about that night, Frank knows he must rectify the injustice. As one of the final scenes, Frank leads Cee back to that location, digs up the man's bones, and then gives him a proper burial under a bay tree beside a stream, hanging a sign that reads "Here Stands A Man" (145). For Frank, this symbolic act rehumanizes the nameless man while also affirming Frank's own personal journey. The seventeenth and final chapter, a single page from Frank's perspective, seems to cohere with this idea. It is the shortest of the entire novel, just ten terse lines. As the concluding page to the book and Frank's final personal statement, it appears to provide closure and a sense of redemption:

I stood there a long while, staring at that tree. It looked so strong
So beautiful.
Hurt right down the middle
But alive and well.
Cee touched my shoulder
Lightly.
Frank?
Yes?
Come on, brother. Let's go home. (147)

For the first time in the novel, a home is presented unironically. The feminist reading of these concluding chapters would point to Cee's role in establishing the sanctuary in Lotus and the fact that Frank can only find resolution after he has rejoined his sister. If nothing else, Cee exhibits more strength and determination by not accepting alienation as a livable circumstance. However, all readers have not accepted the purported positivity of the novel's conclusion; Sarah Churchwell claims *Home* creates "one of the least satisfying 'redemptions' I can remember" in her review of the novel for *The Guardian*. While I agree that the brevity of the novel as a whole leaves room for additional plot development and a more convincing conclusion, the textual reality of the book contradicts any such outcome by questioning Frank's credibility in his first-person chapters. If we are to view the third-person narrator's chapters as reliable, and if Frank's firstperson accounts disagree with them, then how are we to understand the text without allowing it to completely discredit itself?

Frank makes the relationship between the two sets of chapters obvious from the outset. At the conclusion of his opening chapter, he addresses the narrator of these other sections, directing the retelling of his story: "Since you're set on telling my story, whatever you think and whatever you write down, know this: I really forgot about the burial" (5). He goes on to provide more guidelines, but the important part for my argument here is the tension between the two storytellers. As the novel progresses, Frank conveys his antagonism and disbelief in the narrator's literary prowess and ability to capture his true story. Some of his comments include: "Describe that if you know how" (41); "Don't paint me as some enthusiastic hero" (84); and "You can keep on writing, but I think you ought to know what's true" (134). Mary Dudziak, in the essay, "The Limits of Empathy in Toni Morrison's *Home*" (2012), also underscores this pivotal element in the novel, positing that "the most jarring moments in *Home* aren't Frank's flash-backs to Korea. It is when he speaks directly to the author, criticizing her inability to understand him, and momentarily breaking the spell of the novel's fictive spaces. In those moments, this novel about war and home becomes an engagement with a broader human failing, one that will mar contemporary homecomings." In fact, at one point roughly halfway through the novel, Frank quite directly questions the narrator's truthfulness. As the reader, we are forced to reckon with the consequences of this altercation: "Earlier you wrote about how sure I was that the beat-up man on the train to Chicago would turn around when they got home and whip the wife who tried to help him. Not true. I didn't think any such thing. What I thought was that he was proud of her but didn't want to show how proud he was to the other men on the train. I don't think you know much about love. Or me" (69). The textual tension, at play as Frank's chapters pointedly address the narrator's earlier accounts, creates the same sort of hostile environment from which 1950s Frank attempts to distance himself.

Aitor Ibarrola, in "The Challenges of Recovering from Individual and Cultural Trauma in Toni Morrison's *Home*" (2014), agrees with the reading that emphasizes Frank's inconsistencies and unreliability in his chapters. Ibarrola highlights the novel's narrative structure, "which alternates the voices of the mentally unstable protagonist . . . and that of a more traditional—and apparently objective—scribe" (111). Clearly disregarding any healing Frank may have undergone, Ibarrola instead chooses to label the present-day Frank as "mentally

unstable," someone therefore unable to provide reliable commentary. He goes on to claim that the "juxtaposition of these two voices . . . allow[s] Morrison to investigate the complications of representing trauma in fiction" (111). The implications of war trauma are significant here, something that Evelyn Jaffe Schreiber notes in relation to Morrison's earlier novels: "Home—the psychic support for the 'self' or subjectivity—develops (or fails to do so) in connection with trauma, community, and memory" (2). Nonetheless, Ibarrola merely contributes to the removal and discrediting of Frank's voice, finding the relationship between Frank's chapters and the narrator's chapters a sort of symbiosis, contending that the "presence of somebody willing to bear witness and to assist in the recovery of those memories is crucial for the victim's reconstruction of a sense of self. But the witness/scribe must show the kind of empathy necessary to become a 'true sharer' of the traumatic memories" (117). Through this, he implies that the third-person narrator has achieved this status of empathetic true sharer, yet I contend that the tensions in the novel undermine Frank's progress toward agency and humanity. Frank's own chapters are subverted and made secondary to the narrator's more polished and traditional narration, thereby eliminating Frank's agency and voice.

As a result, Frank remains textually unhomed in his own story, one in which he should maintain authority and credibility. To emphasize this point, we need look no further than the conclusion of the book itself. If we are to abide by Ibarrola's reading and grant the narrator objectivity while placing Frank's personal memories and claims under the microscope, then the ending does not hold up. The closing scene presents the reader with a positive portrayal of the 1950s Frank as a reborn man of morals and reliability, yet the two narrative viewpoints create a disconnect, implying that current-day Frank has lost, or else never achieved, the resolution in conjunction with Cee. However, if we resist the urge to give the narrator highest authority and instead give Frank's voice more power (which a sympathetic text would presumably beseech us to do for the protagonist), then we must become skeptical of the book as a whole for attempting to invalidate Frank's present-day authority on his past. What we are left with, then, is a complex and imperfect work, but one that mirrors the social problems with which it takes issue. Nonetheless, the discrepancies and problematic components of the novel merely create more space for our continued analysis of the incompatibility of racism and

belonging, something that is rife with scholarly and pedagogical gems. Truly, if we view home as a space in which race is not absent but is no longer a defining and inhibiting factor—something Morrison seemed to consider fifteen years earlier in her essay "Home"—then we still have progress to make in the coming years. The fact that Frank finds no home in the text of *Home* itself is perhaps the greatest irony of all.

The University of Akron Wayne College

WORKS CITED

- Bhabha, Homi K. The Location of Culture. London: Routledge, 1994.
- Churchwell, Sarah. "*Home* by Toni Morrison—Review." *The Guardian*. Guardian News and Media 27 Apr. 2012. Web. www.theguardian.com/books/2012/apr/27/toni-morrison-sarah-churchwell-home.
- Dudziak, Mary. "The Limits of Empathy in Toni Morrison's Home." OUPblog, Oxford University Press, 28 May 2012. Web. blog.oup.com/2012/05/the-limits-of-empathy-intoni-morrisons-home/.
- George, Rosemary Marangoly. *The Politics of Home: Postcolonial Relocations and Twentieth-Century Fiction*. NY: Cambridge UP, 1996.
- Ibarrola, Aitor. "The Challenges of Recovering from Individual and Cultural Trauma in Toni Morrison's *Home.*" *International Journal of English Studies* 14.1 (Jan. 2014): 109-24.
- Morrison, Toni. "Home." *The House that Race Built: Black Americans, U.S. Terrain.* Ed. Wahneema Lubiano, NY: Pantheon Books, 1997. 3-12.
- —. Home. NY: Vintage Books, 2012.
- Schindler, Melissa. "Home, or the Limits of the Black Atlantic." *Research in African Literatures* 45. 3 (Fall 2014): 72-90.
- Schreiber, Evelyn Jaffe. *Race, Trauma, and Home in the Novels of Toni Morrison*. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State UP, 2010.
- Smith, Sidonie. Where I'm Bound: Patterns of Slavery and Freedom in Black American Autobiography. Westport, CT: Greenwood P, 1974.

HEMINGWAY AS CRAFTSMAN: REVISING "FATHERS AND SONS"

JOHN BEALL

Hemingway ended each collection of his stories with a Nick Adams story: "Big Two-Hearted River" to conclude In Our Time, "Now I Lay Me" as the final story of Men Without Women, and "Fathers and Sons" to end Winner Take Nothing as its "anchor story" (Reynolds, 1930s 138). His extensive revisions for each of these culminating stories provide a window into how carefully he crafted them. In revising "Big Two-Hearted River," Hemingway worked to capture Nick's American idiom, his watchful eye, and his keen sense of touch. In revising "Fathers and Sons," Hemingway enriched the portrait of Nick Adams as son and father with a lyrical elegy of the Midwestern landscapes where his father and the Ojibway taught him. As Paul Smith observed, "No other manuscripts show more extensive and detailed revisions . . ." (Reader's Guide 310). Hemingway's fishing story, "Big Two-Hearted River," portrays Nick Adams in solitude, "Fathers and Sons" is a story crowded with a father's evening memories of his father, memories of his son's innocent questions. In a letter to his editor, Maxwell Perkins, dated 13 July 1933, Hemingway wrote from Havana, Cuba, that he was rewriting "The Tomb of His Grandfather" (the earlier title of the story) as "either next to last or last in the book." He added, "Damned good story—Wrote it down here" (Bruccoli 192).² In a letter to Hemingway dated 22 September 1933, Perkins wrote: "I do not think you ever wrote a story better than 'Father and Sons'" (Bruccoli 200).

Surprisingly, "Fathers and Sons" has received relatively little attention from scholars writing about Hemingway.³ His revisions of "Fathers and Sons" show that Hemingway, again at the height of his art, transformed what began as a tale about a sexual initiation into a comical and elegiac story about Nick Adams's recognition of his responsibilities as a son remembering his father, as a man remem-

bering the Ojibway people, as a father responding to his son, and as an artist crafting his work of art.

This essay will focus on Hemingway's careful and complex process of drafting and revising his story, examining closely six different stages in his composition: the earliest draft, a pencil manuscript fragment (folder 382 in Box 44 in the Hemingway Collection at the John F. Kennedy Library); two different fragments in pencil on two different numbered pages (folder 384); an extensive pencil manuscript titled "The Tomb of My Grandfather," twenty-five pages (folder 383); a typescript, fourteen pages, with three inserted, handwritten pages (folder 385A); the "setting" copy for "Fathers and Sons" as located with the "setting" copies for the stories collected in Winner Take Nothing (folder 222); and the print edition, including material not present even in the handwritten revisions to the setting copy.⁴ The narrative structure of "Fathers and Sons" is as complex and nuanced as any in Hemingway's collection of stories—with at least nine different flashbacks in Nick's memories, several different interior monologues during which Nick reflects upon his responsibilities as a father and as a son and as a writer, and a two-part conversation with his son presented mostly as dialogue. Thus, the extent of Hemingway's careful revisions and additions over several different stages of composition reflects the richness evoked by the plural nouns in its title. Hemingway's revisions to "Fathers and Sons." like his extensive work in composing "Big Two-Hearted River," are consummate examples of artistic craftsmanship.

FOLDER 382: THE EARLIEST FRAGMENT

In the draft that Paul Smith determined was "clearly the earliest fragment" (*Guide* 307), Hemingway begins with the first-person, unnamed narrator answering his son's spoken question about what it was like growing up with the Ojibway people when he was a boy. In the final version of the story, Nick Adams's son does not speak until the final section of the story, breaking what until that point are mostly flashbacks cast as interior monologues. In contrast, this earliest fragment ends with the narrator's asking himself his own version of his son's question; that is, the narrator wonders what *his own* father knew "besides the nonsense he fed me" (fragment in folder 382, qtd. in Smith, *Guide* 308). In the beginning of this fragment Hemingway makes clear that the "nonsense" from his father was "about sexual life." The narrator answers his own question about what his father

knew by attributing his father's useful knowledge to his keen, inborn eyesight, and to his connection with the Ojibway people. In this earliest draft, Hemingway presents the narrator's conversation with his father as free indirect discourse: "... when I asked him what the Indians were like when he was a boy he said that... he was very fond of them and that they called him Me-the-ta-la which means Eagle Eye" (folder 382, qtd. in Smith, *Guide* 308). This fragment presents the narrator's conversation with his son first, then his inward meditation; in the version of the story published in *Winner Take Nothing*, these elements are reversed.

In the middle of this draft is the evocative and explicit interior monologue in which the narrator remembers what he cannot tell his son—his sexual initiation with a girl whose "plump brown legs, flat belly, hard little breasts" are physical memories that evoke the metaphoric "great bird flown"—details in the published story that are present in this very first draft (Hemingway, *Stories* 375-376).⁵ Thus, from its beginning, this untitled draft is focused on sexual activity as a revelation, an awakening to flight in a story that, unlike "Summer People," Hemingway decided to publish. Perhaps most striking of all the elements in this original version of "Fathers and Sons" are the references to the smell of Trudy. If one bears in mind the offensive references that the Garners make comparing the odor of native Americans to that of skunks in "Ten Indians," then the narrator's lyrical evocation of Trudy's smell could not be more distant from the Garners' racist derision (see Hemingway, CSS 253-257). In "Ten Indians," Nick Adams's friend Carl Garner taunts him about his knowledge of skunks: "You ought to. You got an Indian girl" (CSS 254).⁶ Neither the younger Nick nor his father speaks or thinks with similar derision about Prudence Mitchell. Likewise, in "Fathers and Sons" an older Nick explicitly rejects "any jokes about them nor old squaws" (376). In "Fathers and Sons," a mature and adult Nick Adams strongly rejects either racist jibes at, or stereotypes of, Ojibway women.

Furthermore, even in this earliest draft, Hemingway portrays Nick as remembering the "smell" of the Ojibway people, not just Trudy, as so powerful that "all the empty pain killer bottles and the flies that buzz do not turn against the sweetgrass smell . . ." (376). Hemingway's language in the print version of the story is close to the language in this earliest draft referring to the narrator's memory of the Ojibway. To the language in the original fragment about "empty

pain killer bottles" that could not expunge the fragrance of the Ojibway, Hemingway added another rare simile: ". . . the smoke smell and that other like a fresh cased marten skin" (376). Their smell is what the narrator knows from direct experience and remembers fondly. Thus, this original draft contains at least five kernels of "Fathers and Sons"—the narrator's son's asking him about his youthful experiences with the Ojibway, the narrator's memories of his father's "nonsense" about sexual life, Nick's interior monologue about his sexual initiation, his memory of the fragrant aroma of the Ojibway, and his memory of his eagle-eyed father.

NEXT FRAGMENTS: FOLDER 384

In what Paul Smith has identified as the "second fragment" of the story, Hemingway actually has two separate fragments, one numbered page five and one on page six of a manuscript (EH/KL, folder 384). Although Smith quotes at length from the first fragment and almost all of the second fragment (Guide 308-309), he does not point out that Hemingway crossed out all of the first fragment on page five but did not cross out the second fragment on page six. Smith characterizes the first fragment as approaching "uncontrollable rage" (Guide 308), and one can see why, even at this early stage, Hemingway canceled entirely a passage in which he advises his father to "get rid of" his wife "with whom he has nothing in common" (quoted in Smith, Guide 308; Reynolds, The Young Hemingway 102; and Reynolds, 1930s 136). The narrator's anger at the mother is searing as he hears her remind him how "mother carried vou, darling, over her heart all those months and her heart beat in your heart" (EH/JFK, folder 384, cited in Reynolds, Young Hemingway 102; Smith, Guide 308). The frostiness in the Adams' marriage, a chill that Hemingway keeps relatively under the surface in "The Doctor and the Doctor's Wife" and in "Now I Lay Me," is in this manuscript fragment an iceberg.

In the second fragment, the first-person narrator is baffled by his father's surprising weakness. Tired from rowing a boat in the evening, the father asks the narrator to take over the rowing "because it was uncomfortable." The father in this fragment seems to feel "uncomfortable" out of fatigue. The narrator cites his father's explanations for his discomfort: "It's the hot weather," he said, "And the exercise." The unnamed first-person narrator—eventually to become Nick Adams in the third person—then describes himself in

a boat looking at his father sitting in the stern, a reversal of the position of Nick and his father in a boat at the end of "Indian Camp." The narrator describes his father as black: "... sitting in the stern the bulk of him, the blackness of him, he was very big and his hair and beard were black, his skin was dark and he had an indian nose and those wonderful eyes..." (EH/JFK, folder 384; cited in Smith, *Guide* 309). Although the narrator wonders why his father turned over the oars to him, he seems more focused on his father's bulk, black skin color, and Ojibway features than on his physical weakness.

The narrator's vision of his father as other than a white, middleclass professional stands in tension with his comical summary of his father's sexual education as tantamount to claiming that "masturbation produced blindness, insanity and death" (EH/JFK, folder 384, printed in Smith, Guide 309; CSS 371). The fragment ends as the narrator indicates that his father's warning about prostitutes and venereal disease came when they were squirrel hunting (the passage in folder 384 ends in mid-sentence with the word "squirrel"). In this early version of the story, squirrel hunting provides the context for his father's lectures about the maladies to follow sexual misconduct. These lectures are what seemed to make the narrator begin "to feel uncomfortable" in his father's presence. In this second fragment, Hemingway suggests the fragility and weakness of the narrator's father—first physically, as he seems too tired or weak to row, and then emotionally, as his efforts to educate his son about sex seem feeble and lead the narrator to awkward discomfort. As he revised his story, Hemingway removed the first fragment about the narrator's parents' marriage completely. He preserved part of the second fragment now in folder 384. Although he did not retain the vivid portrait of his father's black beard and black skin color in describing Dr. Adams's "big frame" (370), he did include, almost verbatim, the father's lessons about the dire consequences of masturbation and sex with prostitutes (371). This second fragment in folder 384 deepens the contrast in the earliest draft between the narrator's admiration for his father's keen sight and his bemusement at his sexual teachings. Taken together, these two fragments show Hemingway's early ventures in this story towards a stark narrative of his parents' marriage.

"THE TOMB OF MY GRANDFATHER": FOLDER 383

The first full-length pencil manuscript of the story, still in the first person but for the first time identifying the narrator as Nicholas and

Nickie, is titled "The Tomb of My Grandfather" (EH/JFK, folder 383).⁸ This twenty-five-page manuscript incorporates key elements of the earlier fragments: Trudy's sexual initiation of the narrator, the contrast between the father's eagle eyes and advice about masturbation and prostitutes, and the memory of the fragrant "sweetgrass smell" of the Ojibway (CSS 376)—evocative language that is mainly present in the earliest manuscript and retained in "Tomb of My Grandfather." Hemingway continues to tell the story of "Tomb" in the first person and refers to his father as "my father," rather than as "his father." However, for the first time, "The Tomb of My Grandfather" begins with the narrator's driving in a car. For the first time, this draft develops the contrast of settings between the "main street of this town" (CSS 369) surrounded by fields where the cotton had been picked in the story's present (locating the start of the story in the South) and the Midwestern landscapes of the narrator's past both those landscapes in which his father and he hunted, and the forest where he spent time with the Ojibway. In this draft Hemingway crossed out by hand the only reference in the first paragraph to his son and did not refer to his son's presence (here named "Schatz," as in the story "A Day's Wait," CSS 332) until the end of the story. The conversation between Nick Adams and his son at the end of the story in this draft is almost identical with the ending in the print story, except that in "Tomb" Nick's son doesn't mention his grandfather's gift of an air rifle (CSS 376).

In this stage of revising the story, Hemingway significantly expanded the conversations between Trudy and the narrator, as well as the conversation at the end between the narrator and his son. In this draft of "Tomb," Hemingway adds a striking simile, "like an owl in the twilight," to the metaphor for his sexual initiation, "the great bird flown" (CSS 376). This added simile, with its evocation of an owl's evening flight, deepens Nick Adams's nostalgic memory of sexual activity with Trudy during "daylight in the woods" (CSS 376). Conversely, Hemingway kept out of the story a searing, graphic indictment of Dr. Adams's marriage to his wife. In "Tomb" Hemingway again considered including—and then cut—references to the narrator's mother. On the bottom of page four of this manuscript Hemingway crossed out with a large X a passage referring to the narrator's father as a coyote married to a "white French poodle"—another return to the topic of his parents' marriage that he

struck out in the first of two earlier fragments preserved in folder 384 and that he deleted from the draft of "Tomb" now in folder 383.

Whereas the earliest fragment of the story begins with a conversation between the narrator and his son, Hemingway moved that conversation to the end of "Tomb." Furthermore, at the beginning of this draft, Hemingway appears to struggle with the decision about how to introduce the narrator's son as a character. As has been noted, he struck out the narrator's reference to "my sister" as present in the car (Smith, Guide 309); moreover, he twice crossed out references to the narrator's son as sleeping on the seat beside him in the car. Eventually, Hemingway decided to restore some of the language referring to "the boy asleep" that he struck out in "Tomb": "... his son asleep on the seat by his side" (369). Likewise, the son in "Tomb" does not speak until he startles his father with a question near the end of the story—virtually the same question he asks in the very first drafted fragment of the story: "What was it like, Papa, when you were a little boy and used to hunt with the Indians?" (375). Noteworthy is that, once he introduces the narrator's son as a speaker near the end of "Tomb," Hemingway renders the conversation almost exactly as it remains in the print version, from "You might not like them but I think you would" (376). And the ending of "Tomb" is identical (punctuation aside) to the print version—from the son's question, "Why do we never go to pray at the tomb of my grandfather?" to the father's answer at the end: "I can see we'll have to go" (377). Thus, unlike his process of revising "Big Two-Hearted River," when Hemingway made major deletions and revisions to his initial ending of the story, with "Fathers and Sons" he settled firmly on the ending of the manuscript draft titled "Tomb of My Grandfather." The final revisions of "Fathers and Sons" leave intact most of the conversation when Nick Adams, instead of being guided by his father. becomes the struggling mentor for his son.

In comparison to the earlier drafts and fragments, Hemingway fleshes out his portrait of the narrator's father substantially in "Grandfather's Tomb." For instance, to the initial references to his father's eagle eye, he adds the flashback of a vignette about Dr. Adams's asking Nick if he can see that his sister has run the flag up the flag pole and about his father's counting sheep that, to Nick, appear dimly as a "whitish patch" on the hill (370). This vignette sharpens the portrait of the father's keen vision. However, Hemingway included in "Tomb" three different comparisons of the

narrator's father's physique to pictures of James J. Jeffries, a heavy-weight boxing champion who was coaxed out of retirement as the "great white hope" to face Jack Johnson, the African American heavy-weight who defeated him (Rozen). In the third reference, Hemingway's narrator remembers his father, undressed to go swimming, as resembling the pictures of the heavyweight boxer. Deleting such comparisons from his final version of the story keeps the focus on Nick's father's temperament and vision rather than on his physique or weakness. "Tomb" also retained the scene when the narrator's father asks him to take over the rowing of a boat on a lake and explained his discomfort with rowing as a combination of the heat and the "exercise." In contrast, the final version of "Fathers and Sons" leaves out references to his father's physical stature, focusing instead on Dr. Adams's emotional and mental conditions as 'very nervous' and "sentimental" (CSS 370)—language not present in "Tomb."

Likewise, in addition to the father's attempts at sexual education in the earliest fragment of the story, Hemingway included two comical anecdotes as narrative flashbacks in "Tomb." First, the father's definition of "bugger" as "a man who has intercourse with animals" leads the narrator to think "of various animals but none seemed attractive or practical"—language quite close to the anecdote as added in "Tomb" (371). The father's reference to bestiality ironically incites, rather than curbs, his son's sexual imagination. That the father seems unaware that "bugger" is also British slang for sodomite is surely part of the humor added to the story in this manuscript version. 9 The references to the flagpole scene and to the father's definition of "bugger" intensify the contrast between the father as keen hunter and as fumbling sex educator. Even funnier is the anecdote associating Enrico Caruso with "mashing"—a vignette present for the first time in "Tomb." Hemingway's comical reference is to the arrest of Caruso for allegedly groping women in the Monkey House of the Central Park Zoo in 1906, a front-page story in *The New York* Times when Hemingway was a young boy ("Signor Caruso," Bauerle 140, note 2). In portraying the father's account of "mashing" as "the most heinous of crimes," Hemingway presents the mature narrator as mocking his father's hyperbole. His portrait of the narrator's reaction is laughable: as a boy Nick assumed that Caruso did something "strange, bizarre, and heinous with a potato masher to a beautiful lady." Thus, in language present for the first time in "Tomb," the first-person narrator "resolved, with considerable horror, that when he was old enough he would try mashing at least once" (371). Again, his father's effort to curb his son's imagination only spurs his wayward thoughts—an ironic dimension of the story present for the first time in "Tomb of My Grandfather."

Hemingway's original source for the anecdote may well be his father, the model for Dr. Adams, but another source for this story in his comical portrait of Nick's sexual education is probably James Joyce. In the "Sirens" chapter of *Ulysses*, Joyce puns on both meanings of "mash": as turning ripe potatoes into a liquid form of "mashed potatoes," and as sexually accosting another person. 10 At the same time as Leopold Bloom hears Blazes Boylan's "flick of whip" on his "mare's glossy rump" as Blazes rides towards his assignation with Bloom's wife Molly, Bloom "mashed mashed potatoes" as he dines in the bar of the Ormond Hotel (Joyce 222). Bloom is mashing potatoes, while Boylan rides a carriage towards Bloom's wife, whom he will "mash." Hemingway's recounting of the "mashing" incident with Caruso seems to follow Joyce in his sexual puns, albeit from the older Nick's viewpoint in bemusedly reflecting on the story about Caruso. 11 Hemingway's jocular allusion to the Caruso "mashing" would seem to place Joyce over his father as his mentor in such matters of sexuality. Hemingway presents the narrator's remembering himself as an innocent American boy, caught in an intrigue that excites his imagination but eludes his understanding. In the manuscript of "Tomb," with the anecdotes of "bugger" and "mashing," Hemingway builds a comical portrait of a father's flawed teachings about sexual malpractice.

The other fully developed relationship in "Tomb" is the sexually active one between the narrator and Trudy. Building on the minimalist dialogue of the earliest draft, in "Tomb," Hemingway richly evokes the landscape, the "virgin forest" (372) in Michigan where he hunts squirrels with Trudy and her brother Billy and has sex with her. This powerful evocation of the lost landscape of the Ojibway serves in "Tomb," as in "Fathers and Sons," as a poignant transition between the comedy of his father's miseducation and the narrator's sexual initiation with an Ojibway girl. Among the many vivid aspects of this passage is the narrator's reference to the hemlock bark "piled in long rows of stacks, roofed over with more bark, like houses, and the peeled logs lay huge and yellow where the trees had been felled" (372). This sentence, with a couple of commas added later by Hemingway, is present at this point in "Tomb" as the Edenic setting

in a forest of sexual freedom. Hemingway's comparison of the bark to the roofs of houses seems ironic, connecting the narrator's sexual dalliances with the Ojibways' loss of their home. Furthermore, while the peeling of tree bark in "Indian Camp" may have as much to do with native medicine as with industrial production (*CSS* 67), here the narrator explicitly indicates that the Ojibway people are stripping and selling their native forests to a "tannery at Boyne City" and leaving those forests "open, hot, shadeless, weed-grown slashing" (372)—language in the print version that is identical to that in the "Tomb" manuscript. The setting suggests a contrast between Dr. Adams's civilized sense of "heinous" sex crimes discussed with Nick during their squirrel hunting and the narrator's sexual initiation, in which hunting for squirrels seems a pretext for sex in the forest that is becoming a paradise lost for the Ojibway people.

A central section of "Tomb" returns to a focus of the earliest draft: the narrator's flashback to Trudy's encouraging him to have sex. While this draft retains what Marc Kevin Dudley termed "broken descriptors" (60), Hemingway revised and deepened his portrait of Trudy in a scene of mounting intensity and climactic power. In "Tomb," she addresses the narrator as "Nickie," first by encouraging him to shoot a squirrel (CSS 373), later in insisting that the narrator leave her half brother alone. Initially, Trudy denies that her half brother is doing anything more than bluffing to temper her brother Billy's claim that their half brother Eddie said that he is going to sleep with the narrator's sister Dorothy. Trudy reacts strongly when the narrator brutally threatens to inflict a stereotypically Indian execution on Eddie. In both "Tomb" and in the print version, the narrator repeats: "'I'll scalp him,' I said happily" (373). Trudy's responses are as strong and insistent as Nick's are brutally demeaning. After Nick's threat to scalp Eddie, Trudy responds by fondling Nick as a means of persuasion, with Hemingway even more explicit in his print version that she "... was exploring with her hand in Nick's pocket" (373). At the same time, she responds with a direct judgment about scalping that ironically subverts the stereotype of Native Americans: "No,' said Trudy, 'That's dirty." And when Nick responds with even more savagery, "'I'll scalp him and send it to his mother," Trudy's reply is insistent, pragmatic, and personal: "His mother dead . . . Don't you kill him, Nickie. Don't you kill him for me" (373). (In "Tomb" at this point of the story Hemingway has Trudy address the narrator more formally as Nicholas). Despite her plea,

Nick's threats become more brutal and dehumanizing: "'After I scalped him I'd throw him to the dogs" (373). Nick then acts out in pantomime how he would scalp "that half-breed renegade," perhaps the ugliest slur Hemingway has Nick speak in any of the Nick Adams stories, present verbatim in "Tomb" (373). Hemingway portrays the young Nick here as a blustering brute. Billy's response to Nick's threats is morose. Based on his facial expression, Nick observes that he "was very depressed." After Nick's threats, Billy speaks ominously about Eddie in language present in "Tomb" and in the print version of the story: "He better watch out plenty" and then "gloomily" repeats "He better watch out" (373). While Billy does give voice to a possible warning he may carry to Eddie, his weak response underscores how forcefully Trudy checks and diverts Nick from his savage threats.

As was the case with his manuscript of "Tomb," Hemingway's language in this scene of "Fathers and Sons" clearly shows Trudy's physically opposing Nick's blustering threats. Viewed from Nick's perspective, he shifts from being "pleased with the picture" of his contemplated act of murder to falling "backward against the tree, held tight around the neck, Trudy holding, choking him, and crying, 'No kill him! No kill him! No. No. No. No. Nickie. Nickie. Nickie!" (373). In the climax of this scene—arguably the climax of the entire story—Trudy has thrown herself upon Nick, pushed him back onto the tree, and begun strangling him to literally beat sense into him. The major difference in this scene between "Tomb" and the print version of the story is the shift from first-person to third-person narration—from "I fell back" to "he fell backward" when Trudy reacts powerfully to Nick's threat. Indeed, in the print version Hemingway restored language that he struck from the manuscript of "Tomb"—whereas he crossed out "holding tight" in the draft, he makes clear in the final draft that Trudy began to strangle Nick—"held tight around the neck . . . choking him . . ." (373). Her own physical action shifts, that is, from gently erotic caresses to actions and words that are among the most forceful of any of Hemingway's female characters. That Nick presents the scene as if he fell backward, for no apparent reason, indicates how shocked he was, as suggested by his feeble question, also present in the "Tomb" draft: "What's the matter with you?" Trudy's response to his question is to repeat her three-word command: "No kill him" (373). Her words suggest that nothing is the matter with her; what is wrong is Nick's threat of killing Eddie Gilby. Trudy's speech may be fractured and basic, but it is clear, moral, and effective. The girl's strong speech in English leads me to question Dudley's claim that "[i]n 'Fathers and Sons,' English is the domain of Nick and Nick alone" (60). Trudy's English is as forceful as any words spoken in the story. My reading of this scene in "Fathers and Sons" is also quite different from Flora's reference to it as "an amusing account" of Nick as a "sexual athlete" (*Adams* 241). Trudy is neither a mute spectator nor a passive receptacle for Nick's sexual sport. Rather, Hemingway has constructed this scene, first present in "Tomb" and largely preserved in "Fathers and Sons," as a powerful and mounting portrait of interracial conflict where an Ojibway girl revolts against a white boy's threat to scalp her half brother.

Even the young Nick shows signs of having been deeply affected by Trudy's vehemently repeated command. One sign of Nick's disturbance is his insisting that her brother leave before their next act of sex. When Hemingway first mentions her as a partner for Nick, both in "Tomb" and in "Fathers and Sons," her brother serves as a kind of panderer, asking: "You want Trudy again?" When she affirms that she wants to have sex, Nick bids her come away: "Come on." When he objects to having sex in front of Billy, she responds: "He my brother" (372). Since that part of the scene ends there, Hemingway implies Nick's acquiescence in having sex in the presence of Trudy's brother. After the three-way conflict about Eddie Gilby's interest in Nick's sister, Billy is far less accommodating, and Nick is insistent that Trudy send her brother away. Clearly perturbed by Nick's vicious threats about Eddie, Billy responds with disgust that his sister is willing to make love to the young man who just threatened to kill their half brother. After Nick concedes that he will not kill Eddie "unless he comes around the house," Trudy seems to offer herself as a reward for his change of mind: "That's good,' Trudy said. 'You want to do anything now? I feel good now." Nick responds that he will "do anything" only "[i]f Billy goes away." Billy's response is the most obscene oath spoken in the story: "Son a bitch,' Billy said. 'I get tired this. What we come? Hunt or what?" (372). Although rendered in broken English, Billy's response in "Tomb" and in later drafts evokes his anger at Nick and his sister. He is not "all but mute," as Marc Dudley claimed (60). He acquiesces and takes Nick's offer of a gun, but he swears, utters his frustration clearly, and asks harsh questions.

Moreover, a simple narrative comment about this exchange suggests the adult Nick's distance from his boyish self. After the younger Nick's condition for sex, "If Billy goes away," the narrator adds: "Nick had killed Eddie Gilby, then pardoned him his life, and he was a man now" (373). In "Tomb" Hemingway includes this sentence, but uses the first-person point of view. In shifting the narrative point of view from the first person of "Tomb" to the third-person limited narrator, Nicholas Adams, Hemingway enhances his story by implying a distance between the younger and older Nick. The older Nick Adams seems to be mocking the ease with which, as a boy, he convinced himself of his manhood by a sexual conquest after acceding to Trudy's pleas in defense of her half brother. Hemingway's shift from the past perfect ("had killed Eddie Gilby") to the past tense ("then pardoned him") to the imperfect ("was a man now") is more effective in the third-person perspective of "Fathers and Sons." Nick even offers to let Billy take his gun—an offer that seems part of the sexual comedy after a deeply serious interracial conflict.¹⁴ While most of this exchange is contained in the earlier draft, "Grandfather's Tomb," Hemingway's crucial change from the first person of "Tomb" to the third person in "Fathers and Sons" distances Nick Adams as the ruminating father from Nickie as an irascible, sexually aroused, and hypocritically protective brother.

UNTITLED TYPESCRIPT WITH PENCIL CORRECTIONS AND THREE-PAGE PENCIL INSERT: FOLDER 385A

The next significant stage in Hemingway's composition of "Fathers and Sons" is the untitled fourteen-page typescript contained in folder 385a of the Hemingway Collection at the Kennedy Library. This typescript shifts the narrative point of view from first to third person. As is the case in the print version, Nicholas Adams is named in the winding first sentence of the story. In this typescript Hemingway introduces the presence of Nick Adams's son in the opening paragraph. This typescript takes out all of the narrator's references in "Tomb" to his father as physically resembling the boxer James Jeffries; likewise, the rowing scene in which the father feels too "uncomfortable" to row the boat is completely cut except for the reference to his father's counsel about masturbation, prostitutes, and venereal disease. To the anecdote about "mashing," in this typescript Hemingway has the young Nick imagining the "beautiful lady" as

resembling "the pictures of Anna Held on the inside of cigar boxes," a fine touch he added to "Tomb" that he kept in the print edition (371).

Some of the revisions and additions to this typescript that Hemingway made by hand are striking in their references to Nick Adams as a writer. In the paragraph that begins "Like all men" (in both the typescript and print version) Hemingway adds a crucial phrase to a sentence when Nick refers to himself as a writer. In the typescript, Nick refers to the "trap" that led to his father's death. With just a slight change, Nick's reference to writing remains in the final print version: "Nick could not write about him yet . . . " (370). By hand. Hemingway added to Nick's interior monologue a shift to the future that he retained in the print version: "... although he would, later" (370). This addition contributes a moment of metanarrative early in the story, as Nick reflects upon his knowledge that he would, in the future, write the story of his father's death, even if he is not yet ready to do so in the present. Later in this typescript, Hemingway adds another reference in Nick's interior monologue to his writing. After the sentence when Nick muses over his father's advice that he should keep his "hands off of people," Hemingway added, by hand, much of the sequence in the print version from "On the other hand" to "If he wrote it he could get rid of it. But it was still too early for that" (371). In this monologue, Hemingway's revisions by hand evoke Nick's inner conflict as a writer—between the catharsis of his pain that writing could bring and the pain that his writing might bring to others—hence, making it "too early" for Nick to write the story yet. By deepening the portrait of the older Nick Adams as a writer with a sense of responsibilities, Hemingway enriches and complicates the portrait of the younger Nick in the woods with Trudy and her brother.

In by far the most substantial revision to this typescript, Hemingway wrote "insert" in reference to three hand-written pages that he placed between two pages of the typescript. He inserted these pages after the scene with the three-way exchange between Billy, Trudy, and Nick Adams about Eddie Gilby that ends with Trudy's asking Nick for a "kiss on the face" (374). After portraying the young Nick Adams as a blustering boor, Hemingway's addition of another flashback humanizes Nick as loving the father who taught him how to fish and hunt, but also as hating the father whose body odor repulsed him. His addition evokes Nick's revulsion—with almost the fury of Swift's Gulliver at the end of his travels—at the smell of

his father. This hand-written addition complicates the portrait of the young Nick. His murderous hatred of the father who beat him for hiding the underwear he forced his son to wear seems a world apart from the tenderness Nick shows towards his own son at the end of the story. The three pages Hemingway added at this stage of composition are comparable to the three pages Hemingway added about Nick's watching a kingfisher fly above the trout stream in "Big Two-Hearted River." Yet there is a world of difference between three pages added to "River" of Nick's silently and carefully observing a kingfisher and trout in a Michigan stream and three pages added here with Nick's thinking of blowing his father's brains out with the gun in his hands.

In the first section of his handwritten additions, Hemingway presents a poignant elegy to Nick's father. In a 118-word sentence that begins "His father came back to him," Hemingway wrote by hand a gorgeous word painting of the Midwestern landscapes where he remembered his father in various seasons and places: "... by grist mills, cider mills and dams and always with open fires" (374-375). Hemingway evokes the landscape here as a nurturing presence working mills, warming fires—that sets a different scene from the denuded setting at the beginning of "The End of Something," the burnt-out terrain at the beginning of "Big Two-Hearted River," or the "weed-grown slashing" that replaced the "virgin forest" of the Ojibway people in the earlier section of this story (372). Here, in Nick's interior monologue, the mills are working, literally and figuratively, as these mills are the places where Nick remembers sensing his father's spirit. Among the most important revisions after the manuscript of "Tomb," this handwritten addition to the typescript, preserved in the print edition, records Nick's flashbacks of his father's visitations:

His father came back to him in the fall of the year, or in the early spring when there had been jacksnipe on the prairie, or when he saw shocks of corn, or when he saw a lake, or if he ever saw a horse and buggy, or when he saw, or heard, wild geese, or in a duck blind; remembering the time an eagle dropped through the whirling snow to strike a canvas-covered decoy, rising, his wings beating, the talons caught on the canvas. (374)

Here Hemingway's repetition of "or when" underscores how Nick remembers his father's presence in different seasons and in a variety of hunters' landscapes. The repetitions in this winding crescendo affirm that Nick's father *did* return to him in spirit when Nick found himself in landscapes like those where he learned to hear, see, and hunt the wild geese and ducks.

This elegy is rhythmically rhapsodic, poetically memorializing how a variety of seasonal scenes helps Nick in his interior monologue as a father see his father. Hemingway portrays Nick's memories as lyrically bringing his father to his consciousness, "suddenly, in deserted orchards and new-plowed fields" (375). 17 After a fall harvest and before a spring planting, Nick's father appears to him with arresting force. This sentence in the handwritten addition to folder 385a continues to include not only the rest of that paragraph but also the following paragraph, beginning "His father had frost in his beard" (375). Hemingway's later decision to end the paragraph with the sentence "the talons caught on the canvas" underscores Nick's associating his father with an eagle before the transition to the vignette about his father's underwear. Here Hemingway remembers his father as an eagle-not only as powerfully sharp-sighted and swift, but also as misguided, striking a "decoy" and catching its talons on the decoy's canvas. At times the eagle's eye that Nick compares to his father's vision seems myopic.

This powerful elegy is a prelude to Hemingway's evocation of Nick's deep hatred of his father's smell in contrast to the sweet smell he remembers of the Ojibway people with whom he grew up. In this three-page hand-written insertion, Hemingway adds layers of narrative complication. After the part of the addition that memorializes his father's spirit in the landscape, Hemingway follows his pastoral elegy with Nick's memories of holding a gun in his hand and thinking, "I can blow him to hell. I can kill him" (375). These simple thoughts echo Nick's earlier thoughts about killing Eddy Gilby. Nick's holding the gun as he thinks of shooting his father are far distant from the restraint Dr. Adams shows in placing his shotgun behind the dresser in "The Doctor and the Doctor's Wife" (CSS 75). In these three pages Hemingway completed after "Tomb" and added to the typescript preserved in folder 385a, he set in Nick's interior monologue those two memories as a powerful juxtaposition of extreme emotional conflict between love and hatred.¹⁸ Moreover, his portrait of Nick's reflecting upon his memory of hating his father turns the story from an interracial conflict with Eddy Gilby into a fierce family duel, with the unmentioned mother below the surface.

"FATHERS AND SONS" SETTING COPY WITH HANDWRITTEN TITLE: FOLDER 222

The next substantial stage in Hemingway's composition of "Fathers and Sons" is the setting copy on which the author worked while assembling separate stories into the collection Winner Take Nothing. This setting copy is preserved in folder 222 in the Hemingway Collection of the Kennedy Library. Some of these are tear sheets of previously published stories, and some are typescripts. Hemingway left a story like "A Clean, Well-Lighted Place" intact without a single change in the tear sheet. On the other hand, to a typescript of "The Light of the World," Hemingway made a total of almost thirty changes by hand—none of which seems to alter the story substantially. To the typescript of "A Way You'll Never Be," Hemingway made roughly forty changes. Of all the stories he was assembling in Winner Take Nothing, the most substantial revisions come in the typescript of "Fathers and Sons," also contained in folder 222. In a letter to Maxwell Perkins dated September 2, 1933, Hemingway apologized for the extent of his late revisions on the setting copy: "Sorry I had so much correcting on last story. Please go over that very carefully before sending final proof. It's a damned good story—It's a good book. Having just read it for 6th straight time feel pretty good about it."19

There are three layers of revision between the untitled typescript contained in folder 385a and the final version of "Fathers and Sons" printed in Winner Take Nothing. First, there are the changes Hemingway made between the typescript contained in folder 385a and the typescript in the setting copy of folder 222. Second, there are the changes he made by hand via insertions and cross outs on the typescript in folder 222. Third, there are the changes in "Fathers and Sons" evident only in the first edition of Winner Take Nothing changes that were not present even in the handwritten revisions in the folder 222 typescript. In these late revisions Hemingway fleshes out the intense ambivalence in Nick Adams towards his father—vacillating between deeply fond memories and increasingly horrific details about his death. Nick's aversion to his father's smell contrasts even more strongly with Nick's positive memories of the smells he associates with the Ojibways with whom he grew up. As Hemingway continued to revise "Fathers and Sons," he associated Nick Adams more with the Ojibways and the father of his childhood, and less with the father whose death he suggests was an act of violence plastered over by a mortician's cosmetic art.

Another vital layer of revisions came in the framing of the scene with Nick, Trudy, and Billy with a reminiscence of his father after that scene. Hemingway first added the flashback in the transcript preserved in folder 385a, the next version after the manuscript, "Tomb of His Grandfather." While a substantial part of that addition appears in the typescript of folder 385a, the later typescript in folder 222 includes several important revisions. For instance, Hemingway added, by hand, a sentence that remains in the print version: "The end of the day never made him think of him." After editing this typescript, Hemingway added another sentence to the final print version: "The end of the day had always belonged to Nick and he never felt right unless he was alone with it" (371). These two sentences—one added by hand to the typescript in folder 222, one added later—are richly ironic. Even as Nick banishes his father from his evening reveries, the paragraphs that follow show Nick's being haunted by the presence of his father in various scenes of hunting, wild life, and "cider mills and dams" (375), as if the father's spirit brings Nick back to pastoral landscapes. Hemingway bracketed the nostalgic lure of these memories with another pair of sentences that did not appear in any manuscript or typescript until the first edition of Winner Take *Nothing*: "The towns he lived in were not towns his father knew. After he was fifteen he had shared nothing with him" (375). Thus, Hemingway's last revisions of "Fathers and Sons" qualify Nick's romantic memory of his father as an eagle-eyed hunter visiting him in spirit. Instead, the revisions emphasize his firm recognition of the distance he had drifted from his father after his childhood, culminating with his break with his father when he was fifteen and ultimately ending with his appearance at his father's funeral.

Hemingway makes that distance most palpable in the scene when Nick's father forces him to wear his underwear and Nick recoils at the smell. However, Hemingway's revisions to this scene also intensify the guilt Nick feels in remembering his thought of shooting his father, after his father had whipped him. In the transcript that he used as a setting copy for "Fathers and Sons," Hemingway inserted a paragraph symbol to set apart the paragraph beginning "Afterwards, he had sat inside the woodshed . . ." (375). Setting that paragraph apart places an emphasis on its contents: Nick's murderous thought that "I can blow him to hell. I can kill him" (375). Furthermore,

Hemingway's revisions make Nick's guilt at remembering these patricidal thoughts more graphic. He wrote by hand in the typescript in folder 222 the words "that his father had given him," preserved with another slight addition in the print version as "... he felt a little sick about it being the gun his father had given him" (375). Again, Hemingway sharpens the contrast between young Nick, full of murderous fury, and the older Nick, wincing at having pointed at his father the very gun his father had given him for hunting. Such a contrast enriches the later conversation when Nick's own son asks him when he can have a gun, as the layers of fathers, guns, and sons deepen. Moreover, Hemingway's late revisions paint an even starker picture of the death of Nick's father. In one of the most important revisions included, for the first time, in the setting copy in folder 222, Nick refers to "[t]he handsome job the undertaker had done on his father's face . . . " (371). That language, contained in the typescript of folder 222 of the Hemingway Collection, was not present in earlier drafts. At some point, while working with this setting copy, Hemingway added by hand the sentence that "There were still too many people" for Nick to write the story of his father's death completely. Hemingway's revisions make clearer Nick's sense of responsibilities as a writer.

Finally, in three phrases coming in his handwritten revisions to the transcript that served as the setting copy for "Fathers and Sons" in Winner Take Nothing, Hemingway conveys the retrospective affection the older Nick Adams feels in remembering Trudy, the girl who "did first what no one has ever done better" (375). First, after "hard little breasts" in the typescript in folder 222, Hemingway added by hand, "well holding arms" to make the blazon of Trudy's body include the very arms with which she had wrung his neck for threatening to scalp Eddie Gilby (375). That the thirty-eight-year-old Nick Adams remembers her arms as "well holding" suggests his fondness for her physical intimacy. Second, again by hand, Hemingway added to the typescript the word "smell" twice, to leave the sentence in the print version as: " ... all the pain killer bottles and the flies that buzz do not kill the sweetgrass smell and the smoke smell . . . " (376). Nick's repeating "smell" amounts to an incantatory recollection of the Ojibways' fragrance as an antidote to his father's rancid odor. In context, the reference to "smell" is not just to Trudy, but to all of the Ojibway who have vanished: "So that when you go in a place where Indians have lived you smell them gone . . . "(376). Nick's thought here mourns the passing

of the aromas of the Ojibway in his childhood and regrets their replacement by the smells of his father's underwear.

Moreover, to the transcript in folder 222, Hemingway added by hand the following sentences in Nick's meditation on the loss of the Ojibway from his childhood home: "They all ended the same. Long ago good. Now no good" (376). These curt sentences are virtually the final thoughts the elder Nick Adams has in reflecting upon his childhood before his son's question breaks his reverie: "What was it like, Papa, when you were a little boy and used to hunt with the Indians" (375). Ironically, these late additions give the mature Nick Adams the fractured English that Trudy and Billy spoke earlier in the story. The narrator seems to adopt the English that the younger Nick's Ojibway lover and her brother might have spoken. ²⁰ "Long ago good. Now no good," sounds like a father's private meditation about a lost paradise of childhood before turning to his son with fatherly, simple, deferential comments. In a delayed response to his son's question about whether he would like the Ojibways, Nicks says, "You might not like them . . . But I think you would" (CSS 376). When asked when he will be old enough to handle a shotgun and hunt by himself, Nick answers: "Twelve years old if I see you are careful" (CSS 376). After his son confides that he doesn't "feel good never to have even visited the tomb of my grandfather," Nick says, "I can see we'll have to go" (CSS 377). In each case, Hemingway presents a two-way conversation, not a father-to-son lecture. He portrays Nick as acceding to his son's wishes, but tentatively, until the boy's open desire to see his grandfather's tomb elicits an absolute concession. Nick Adams's final words in the story, presented as directly spoken, are caring words from a father in response to his son's queries and lament.

"FATHERS AND SONS": THE FINAL DRAFT

Even later than his handwritten revisions to the setting copy preserved in folder 222 did Hemingway add Nick's explanation of why he could not yet write the story: "It was a good story but there were still too many people alive for him to write it" (371). This sentence is not completely present in *any* draft before it appeared in the first edition of *Winner Take Nothing*. Thus, only in his final version of the story does Hemingway make clear what kept Nick from feeling free "to write it" (the story of Dr. Adams's death)—his concern for the living members of his family. Moreover, earlier in that paragraph, Hemingway added a sentence, not present before the print version,

explaining why he would like to write about the death, at some point: "He had gotten rid of many things by writing them" (371). Thus, these two additions after the handwritten revisions made in the typescript used as the setting copy convey the conflict in Nick Adams as a son for whom the memory of his father carries responsibilities to his family *not* to record his father's cause of death. On the other hand, writing about his father's death would be cathartic, a way of setting troubling memories to rest (Meyers 249; Young 61). However, he had to consider the feelings of other "people alive," his family members. Only in the version published in the first edition of Winner Take Nothing does the sentence that begins "The handsome job the undertaker had done" end with the words " . . . and all the rest of it was quite clear, including the responsibilities" (371). This carefully crafted paragraph portrays the older Nick-even more clearly than in the earlier typescripts—as a mature writer aware of his responsibilities about what to tell and what not to tell now. That portrait of Nick as an adult writer is a vital prelude to the depiction later in the story of the much less responsible younger Nick who blusters about scalping Trudy's half brother to protect his sister and his sense of racial purity. Hemingway's final revisions to "Fathers and Sons" balance such bravado in the younger Nick with the older, more responsible writer, Nicholas Adams.

At the same time as Hemingway's final layers of revision portray Nick Adams as son and writer, they also offer more grotesque details about Dr. Adams's appearance at his funeral. Even as he depicts Nicholas Adams as a writer restrained about what to include about his father's death, Hemingway added, after editing the transcript in folder 222, details that strongly suggest a gunshot wound to Dr. Adams's head: "He had complimented the undertaker. The undertaker had been proud and smugly pleased. But it was not the undertaker who had given him that face. The undertaker had only made certain dashingly executed repairs of doubtful artistic merit" (371). This entire excerpt does not appear until the publication of "Fathers and Sons" in the first edition of Winner Take Nothing. Hemingway's repetition of "the undertaker," with particular emphasis on his smug pride in his cosmetic art, suggests that his art is a sham—one can see its marks and one can see the signs of the wound it does not completely efface. Even though Hemingway restrains from identifying how Nick's father died, he implies that a gunshot wound led to "dashingly executed repairs," an art that Nick ponders mockingly.²¹ Nick

admires his father's face as having fashioned itself, more than the false face doctored up by an undertaker's cosmetics: "The face had been making itself and being made for a long time. It had modeled fast in the last three years" (371). Again, this language is not in the text of the setting copy. Hemingway must have added this passage even after marking that copy by hand. The phrase, "modeled fast," ironically implies a swift decline in the face of Nick's aging father, as opposed to the mortician's cosmetic illusion.²²

CODA

In Nick's conversation with his son at the end of the story, the shift in verb tenses marks how central the memory of past time and anticipation of future time is to the story. The very first fragment of the story is dominated by the past tense, as in the question the narrator's son asks him, "What was it like, Papa . . ." (CSS 375). The first reference to evening as the time when Hemingway sets the story comes near the end of "Tomb," as the transition between Trudy's asking young Nick for a "kiss on the face" and the older Nick's interior monologue that begins with a reference to the presence of the past: "Now, as he rode along the highway in the car, and it was getting dark ..." (374). Although the narrative viewpoint in "Tomb" is first-person, the clause "it was getting dark" is present in that draft and in the final version of the story (374). In "Tomb" Hemingway crossed out by hand the only reference near the beginning of the story to its being the end of the day. Not until the next draft does Nick refer early in the story to "his son asleep on the seat by his side, the day's run made" (369). Thus, as of the draft written after the manuscript "Tomb of My Grandfather," Hemingway frames "Fathers and Sons" as an evensong, a lyrical meditation at the end of a day (Flora, Adams 248).

Once his son wakes up and asks his father near the end of the story about what the Ojibway were like, Nick's interior monologue records what he will not confide in his son—his memory of sexual climax with Trudy as "fully, finally, unendingly, never-endingly... suddenly ended" (376). After the rhapsodic rhythms evoking Nick's memory of orgasm, he compares it to a symbolic "great bird flown like an owl in the twilight, only it was daylight in the woods"—comparison of sexual climax to a bird's flight present from the first fragment of the story to the final draft (376). Even though Nick knows that Trudy and he made love in the daytime, in his memory he associates the time with the evenings when he saw the "great bird" fly. Twilight

becomes associated in Nick's memory with his initiation into sexual climax and its aftermath. At the same time, the story, so dominated by layers of memories, ends in the present and future—the present of Nick's son's feelings about his grandfather, the conditional future of his son's contemplated prayers "at the tomb of my grandfather on the way to the ranch," and the imperative future of Nick's promise: "I can see we'll have to go" (377). From the manuscript of "Tomb" to the printed version of the story, Hemingway deftly interweaves verbs in the present, future conditional, and future tenses, as the father and son look ahead to visiting the tomb together.²³

The final revisions of "Fathers and Sons" leave intact most of the conversation when Nick, instead of being mentored by his father, becomes a mentor for his son. Particularly as he revised the story, Hemingway presents Nick in "Fathers and Sons" as a rounded, humane, and complex character. As such, the Nicholas Adams of this story brings Winner Take Nothing to a close with a far less cynical figure than the loners and misfits that generally populate the collection—doctors who cannot heal a self-mutilated boy ("God Rest You"), Nick at the front as an hysterical advance man showing the American flag ("A Way"), a son whose father shot himself (Part III of "Homage to Switzerland"), and a writer whose "nerves are bad now" ("The Gambler, The Nun, and the Radio," CSS 365). The Nicholas Adams of "Fathers and Sons" is closer, I think, to the Nick of "Indian Camp," "Cross-Country Snow," and "Big Two-Hearted River"—independent, complex, and caring for his father (and, in this case, his son). The brilliance of this story is Hemingway's placing Nicholas Adams as a father meditating about two stories he cannot tell his son—the erotic story of his own sexual initiation and the grim story of his father's death. The story blends elegy with comedy, as Nick remembers his father and, with a quiet smile, accommodates his son's wish to pray at his father's tomb. Hemingway's revisions to "Fathers and Sons," like his extensive work in composing "Big Two-Hearted River," are consummate examples of artistic craftsmanship.

Collegiate School

APPENDIX

Note: all references to folders are to Box 44 in the Hemingway Collection at the John F. Kennedy Library.

<u>Folder 382</u>: early pencil manuscript, untitled (partially reprinted as "clearly the earliest fragment" in Paul Smith, *Reader's Guide* 308).

<u>Folder 384</u>: early pencil manuscript fragment, two pages discarded, untitled (partially reprinted as a fragment in Smith, 308-398, actually two different fragments)

- a) First fragment—partially quoted in Smith, crossed out by hand with a big "X"—not included in the print edition of the story.
- b) Second fragment—mostly quoted in Smith, not crossed out. In a scene that echoes the ending of "Indian Camp," Nick remembers rowing in a lake with his father, who in this fragment has asked his son to take over the rowing.

<u>Folder 383</u>: "The Tomb of My Grandfather," pencil manuscript, titled, twenty-five pages—the full story beginning with Nick's driving in a car.

Folder 385A: typescript, fourteen pages, with three inserted, handwritten pages.

<u>Folder 222</u>: the "setting" (or proof) copy for "Fathers and Sons" as placed in *Winner Take Nothing*. This copy includes Hemingway's relatively extensive, handwritten revisions.

<u>Print Edition</u>: the print edition includes material not present even in the handwritten revisions to the setting copy contained in folder 222.

NOTES

¹I gave an earlier version of this essay at a panel on "The Short Fiction of Ernest Hemingway" at the 46th annual meeting of the Society for the Study of Midwestern Literature on June 3, 2016. I would like to thank my co-presenter, Donald A. Daiker, for reading and offering suggestions. I discuss Hemingway's extensive revisions to "Big Two-Hearted River" in "Hemingway as Craftsman: Revising 'Big Two-Hearted River," forthcoming in *The Hemingway Review* 36:2 (Spring 2017).

²In a later letter to Perkins from Madrid, dated 31 August 1933, Hemingway settled on "Fathers and Sons" as the title of the final story of the collection (Bruccoli 199).

³The most extensive discussions of "Fathers and Sons" as a work of art are by Dudley, Flora, and Smith, *Guide*. More often, as most skillfully in Reynolds's *1930s*, scholars focus on the biographical dimensions of the story.

⁴Subsequent references to the contents of folders in the Hemingway Collection will list EH/KL followed by the folder number. To avoid copyright issues, I reproduce passages from manuscripts only if they have previously appeared in print. I am grateful to Stacey Chandler for her help during my research in the Hemingway Collection at the Kennedy Library.

⁵I will cite subsequent references to Hemingway's *Complete Short Stories* as *CSS*, followed by the page number. Although Hemingway does not rename Prudy as Trudy until the typescript draft contained in folder 385a, I will refer to her as Trudy.

⁶For a fine reading of "Ten Indians," see Daiker.

⁷Michael Reynolds cites this fragment in full in *Young Hemingway*, 102-103. However, at the end of his citation, he includes part of the first sentence of the second fragment—a fragment separate in folder 384 from the first fragment. This second fragment begins where Reynolds's citation ends: "I've seen him when we used to row in the boat in the evening, trolling, the lake quiet, the sun behind the hills . . . " The second fragment in folder 384 continues from there.

⁸Hemingway probably referred to "Tomb of My Grandfather" as the "24 page story" that he mentioned in his letter to Maxwell Perkins on 13 June 1933 from Havana, Cuba, as having finished the previous day (Hemingway *Selected Letters* 394). Hereafter I will cite this collection as SL. In a later letter to Perkins, dated 13 July 1933 and also posted from Havana, Hemingway referred to "The Tomb of His Grandfather" as "one more story I am re-writing," the same story he described as "Finished" in his letter of 13 June.

⁹"buggery, n. and adj." *OED Online*. Oxford UP, June 2015. Web. 9 September 2015. Ironically, the young Nick's swearing at the squirrel that bit him as a "bugger" also fits the sense of "bugger" as a coarse insult. "bugger, n.1." *OED Online*. Oxford UP, September 2015. Web. 10 September 2015.

¹⁰"mash, v.1." *OED Online*. Oxford UP, June 2015. Web. 9 September 2015. "mash, v.2." *OED Online*. Oxford UP, June 2015. Web. 9 September 2015.

¹¹As Bauerle argues about the arrest and trial of Caruso, "The event gained immortality when Joyce drew upon it for scenes in Bloom's trial in *Ulysses*..." (125). Hemingway showed a substantial knowledge of Caruso by the time he wrote his parents from Toronto on 22 April 1920 (Hemingway *Letters* vol. 1, 231 and notes 3 and 4). See also Beall, "Ernest Hemingway's Reading of James Joyce's *Ulysses*."

¹²Susan Beegel connects this stripping of the landscape with a "forestry holocaust enabled by new forms of transport, felling, and mill technology..." (238).

¹³As Carl Eby notes, "The threat is clearly ironic"; he further suggests a "fetishistic dimension" to Nick's threat (293). Nick's reaction is both violent and hysterical. Mark K. Dudley posits that in "Fathers and Sons," Hemingway "violently confronts the prospects of miscegenation" and depicts Nick's "quite violent defense of his own sister's maidenhood" (12). In contrast, Amy Strong defends Hemingway's portrait of Trudy in "Fathers and Sons" as an example of Hemingway's "openly defying white anxieties over miscegenation" (326). Strong argues further that Hemingway "made a point of humanizing Indians through his writing" and "challenges the entrenched stereotypes of American Indians that had flourished in popular culture" (326-7).

¹⁴As Nancy Comley and Robert Scholes argue, "Nick is trading one sign of manhood for another" (12). On Nick's struggle to assure himself of his masculinity, see McCann (271).

¹⁵Hemingway probably wrote this version of "Fathers and Sons" after 26 July 1933. In a letter on that date to Maxwell Perkins, Hemingway indicated that he plans to "start re-writing The Tomb of My Grandfather today" (*SL* 395).

¹⁶See my discussion of the three pages Hemingway inserted in a draft of "Big Two-Hearted River," in my essay "Hemingway as Craftsman: Revising 'Big Two-Hearted River," forthcoming in *The Hemingway Review* 36:2 (Spring 2017).

¹⁷See Flora's observation that in "Fathers and Sons" Hemingway swerves from the "clipped, staccato" sentences of *In Our Time* and "The Killers" and instead writes in "sentences tending to be long and even languid" (*Study* 46).

¹⁸See McCann on Nick's being "torn between love and guilt" about his father (267-8).

¹⁹Archives of Charles Scribner's Sons (C0101), 1786-2004 (mostly 1880s-1970s), Box 770, Folder 13. Manuscripts Division, Department of Rare Books and Special Collections, Princeton University Library.

 20 In his preface to his edition of Hemingway's letters, Carlos Baker quotes Hemingway's comment that "he had picked up from an actual old Indian: 'Long time ago good, now heap shit'" (SL xi-xii).

²¹Anne Edwards Boutelle observes that "[t]here is no explicit mention of his father's suicide, but there are enough heavy hints for the reader to feel that it is the true subject of the story . . . " (142). For discussions of the depression and suicide of Hemingway's father, see Reynolds, "Home," and Donaldson.

²²Erik Nakjavani describes Hemingway's portrait of the father's remade face as a "still life," pointing to the irony that the French phrase for "still life" is "nature morte" (99). See also his discussion of the Oedipal triangles in the story, particularly his discussion of Nick's revulsion at the smell of his father's underwear.

²³Thomas Strychacz claims in his essay, "Masculinity," that "[n]one of Hemingway's major male characters deals with children in any significant way" (281). However, "A Day's Wait" and "Fathers and Sons" are two stories in *Winner Take Nothing* with narrators as fathers who care for their children.

WORKS CITED

-. , ed. Selected Letters: 1917-1961. NY: Charles Scribnerís Sons, 1981.

Bauerle, Ruth. "Caruso's Sin in the Fiendish Park: 'The Possible Was the Improbable and the Improbable the Inevitable.'" *James Joyce Quarterly* 38.1/2 (Fall 2000-Winter 2001): 125-42.

Beall, John. "Ernest Hemingway's Reading of James Joyce's *Ulysses*." *James Joyce Quarterly* 51.4 (Summer 2014): 661-72.

Beegel, Susan F. "Environment." Moddelmog and del Gizzo 237-46.

Boutelle, Ann Edwards. "Hemingway and 'Papa': Killing of the Father in the Nick Adams Fiction." *Journal of Modern Literature* 9.1 (1981-1982): 133-46.

Bruccoli, Matthew J. The Only Thing That Counts: The Ernest Hemingway/Maxwell Perkins Correspondence, 1925-1947. NY: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1996.

Comley, Nancy R., and Robert Scholes. *Hemingway's Genders: Rereading the Hemingway Text*. New Haven: Yale UP, 1994.

Daiker, Donald A. "'I think Dad probably waited for me': Biography, Intertextuality, and Hemingway's 'Ten Indians.'" *MidAmerica* 42 (2015): 36-53.

Donaldson, Scott. "Hemingway and Suicide." *Sewanee Review* 103.2 (Spring 1995): 287-95.

Dudley, Marc K. Hemingway, Race, and Art: Bloodlines and the Color Line. Kent: Kent State UP. 2011.

Eby, Carl P. Hemingway's Fetishism: Psychoanalysis and the Mirror of Manhood. Albany: State U of New York P, 1999.

Flora, Joseph M. Hemingway's Nick Adams. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State UP, 1982.

-. Ernest Hemingway: A Study of the Short Fiction. Boston: Twayne, 1989.

Hemingway, Ernest. *The Complete Short Stories of Ernest Hemingway*. The Finca Vigia Edition. NY: Charles Scribner's Sons, 2003.

Joyce, James. *Ulysses: The Corrected Text*. Ed. Hans Walter Gabler, Wolfhard Steppe, and Claus Melchoir. NY: Vintage, 1986.

McCann, Richard. "To Embrace or Kill: Fathers and Sons." New Critical Approaches to the Short Stories of Ernest Hemingway. Ed. Jackson J. Benson. Durham: Duke UP, 1990. 266-74.

Meyers, Jeffrey. Hemingway: A Biography. NY: Harper and Row, 1985.

Moddelmog, Debra A., and Suzanne del Gizzo, eds. *Ernest Hemingway in Context*. NY: Cambridge UP, 2015.

Nakjavani, Erik. "The Fantasies of Omnipotence and Powerlessness." *Hemingway: Up in Michigan*. Ed. Frederic J. Svoboda. East Lansing: Michigan State UP, 1995. 91-101.

Reynolds, Michael S. The Young Hemingway. NY: W.W. Norton, 1986.

—. Hemingway: The 1930s. NY: W.W. Norton, 1998.

—. "Hemingway's Home: Depression and Suicide." American Literature 57.4 (Dec. 1985): 600-610.

Rozen, Wayne. "Great White Hope: Not Great, No Hope." *New York Times* 3 July 2010. http://www.nytimes.com/2010/07/04/sports/othersports/04boxing.html.

Sanderson, Rena, Sandra Spanier, and Robert W. Trogdon, eds. *The Letters of Ernest Hemingway* 1926-1929. Vol. 3. NY: Cambridge UP, 2015.

Spanier, Sandra, and Robert W. Trogdon, eds. *The Letters of Ernest Hemingway 1907-1922*. Vol. 1. NY: Cambridge UP, 2011.

"Signor Caruso, Tenor, Arrested in Zoo." New York Times 17 Nov. 1906: 1.

Smith, Paul. "The Tenth Indian and the Thing Left Out." *Ernest Hemingway: The Writer in Context.* Ed. James Nagel. Madison: U of Wisconsin P, 1984. 53-74.

 A Reader's Guide to the Short Stories of Ernest Hemingway. Boston: G.K. Hall and Company, 1989.

Strong, Amy. "Race and Ethnicity: American Indian." Moddelmog and del Gizzo 323-331. Strychacz, Thomas. "Masculinity." Moddelmog and del Gizzo 277-286.

Young, Philip. Ernest Hemingway: A Reconsideration. University Park: Penn State UP, 1966.

HELEN FERGUSON AND FRIENDS IN A FAREWELL TO ARMS

CHARLES J. NOLAN JR.

Although in recent years critics like Sandra Spanier, Peter Hays, Jamie Barlow-Kayes, and Suzanne del Gizzo have thoroughly discussed Catherine Barkley from differing perspectives, not much has been written about Catherine's nursing colleague, Helen Ferguson. Only two full-length articles have been devoted to her: in a thoughtful piece, Fern Kory has provided the usual reading of Fergy's distressing response to Frederic Henry when he catches up with Catherine and her friend in Stresa, whereas Miriam Mandel has seen Fergy's actions as motivated by lesbian love. Others, of course, among them James Mellow and Debra Moddelmog, have touched upon Helen in their discussions of the novel, but she has not otherwise engendered much comment. Surprisingly, no one seems to have noticed how Hemingway uses Fergy and the other women surrounding Catherine (Miss Gage and Miss Van Campen) in the same way that he creates male characters around Frederic (the Priest, Rinaldi, and Count Greffi) in order to develop his central figures and to highlight his major meaning in the book. In each case, a collection of characters functions to achieve Hemingway's larger aims.

Those aims, of course, are what make *Farewell* more than just a war novel. Yes, the book deals with World War I and its horrors and dislocations, but it is also and more importantly a novel about the way things are in the modern world, a world quite different from and less stable than the one that existed before the Great War. It is an existential world in which the values and the way to live in it are hammered out by each person, based on his or her experience, a world uncomfortable with absolutes and aggressively malignant, one that "kills the very good and the very gentle and the very brave impartially" (Hemingway 249). We are all alone in this world and struggle to make sense of it; in the process, we grow and develop, adapt to what life

does to us, and, if we are lucky, learn how to live in it. So *Farewell* is a maturation novel as well. The characters surrounding Catherine and Frederic help to develop them and assist both them and the book's readers in understanding the universe in which we all live.

First among these characters is, of course, Helen Ferguson. Our introduction to Fergy comes in a short sentence when Frederic and Rinaldi come to the hospital in Gorizia to meet Catherine, who is sitting in the garden; Frederic tells us that, "Another nurse was with her" (18). As Frederic and Catherine become acquainted in their rather awkward and sometimes painful first conversation, Fergy and Rinaldi spend their time chatting. After Frederic has learned the details of Catherine's earlier romantic view of meeting her betrothed at the front and of his subsequent loss ("He didn't have a sabre cut. They blew him all to bits" [20]), the two, soon-to-be lovers return to their friends. Rinaldi is confused when Fergy tells him that she doesn't love England because she is Scottish, though when Rinaldi wonders if she therefore does not like Catherine, Fergy tells him, "Oh, that's different. You mustn't take everything so literally" (21). As Frederic and Rinaldi walk back to their quarters, Rinaldi notes that Catherine likes Frederic better than she likes him but, perhaps in compensation, that Fergy is "very nice." Frederic obligingly agrees but thinks to himself that "he had not noticed her." So in her first appearance, Fergy—for Frederic and for the reader—is just an afterthought, suggesting Catherine's superiority and importance.

The next evening when Frederic calls on Catherine, he once again finds both women in the garden. After initial greetings, Helen generously excuses herself so that her friend can be alone with Frederic. observing that, "You get along very well without me" (25). Though Catherine protests, Fergy understands that the other two would prefer some privacy. In the conversation that follows between Frederic and Catherine, we learn another important detail about Fergy: she is a trained nurse and not, like Catherine, a V.A.D. (Voluntary Aid Detachment). "A nurse is like a doctor," Catherine explains. "It takes a long time to be. A V.A.D. is a short cut" (25). Helen's next appearance occurs when Frederic calls on Catherine after he has been away for a few days doing his job in the mountains. As he waits for her in the reception hall of the British villa, Fergy comes down to tell him that Catherine cannot see him because "She's not awfully well" (41), alluding to the depression from which she is still recovering (Nolan 109). When he asks Ferguson if she thinks it would be possible for him to see Catherine the next day, Fergy signals that it would be a good idea. Here, as in the couple's second meeting, Helen seems to encourage their further relationship, in contrast to the way she will act later on.

After Frederic's wounding and his transfer to the American hospital in Milan for evaluation, treatment, and recuperation, Catherine and Ferguson get posted there so that Catherine can be with Frederic. In discussing the unpleasantness of his preparation for surgery, Frederic notes that he wishes that Catherine did not have to get him ready for the event, but she prefers to perform the task herself, she tells him, because "I don't want anyone else to touch you . . . I get furious if they touch you" (103). "Even Ferguson?" Frederic asks. "Especially Ferguson and Gage and the other [Walker] . . . ," she replies. Although Fergy is aware of the couple's growing relationship, including perhaps Catherine's sexual possessiveness, she goodheartedly carries notes back and forth between the lovers during the day. Frederic, however, who notes that Fergy is "a fine girl," never makes much of an effort to learn anything about her except that she has two brothers in the war and is "very good" to Catherine (108; Mandel 22). Clearly, Fergy is of only secondary importance to Frederic, once more highlighting Catherine's specialness.

But, in what appears to be a bit of an overreaction, Fergy, despite her helpfulness, is clearly upset with Frederic. Her anger and sense of bitterness come out when she lectures Frederic about his relationship with Catherine, telling him that he will never marry her and that the couple will "fight before [they'll] marry (108)," then warning Frederic not to get Catherine pregnant. She also urges him to ask Catherine to take some time off from night duty because she is exhausted. In what may then be just fair warning, Fergy tells Frederic that Miss Van Campen has taken notice that he sleeps in every morning, presumably because he is up all night making love to Catherine. That warning, however, may be tinged with a bit of aggression.

When we next hear of Fergy, we learn that she goes to the horse races with Catherine and Frederic and Crowell Rodgers, another patient (127). After learning that the expected pay off on a horse they had bet on would be significantly diminished, Catherine is disappointed, but Fergy seems outraged: "It's crooked and disgusting" (130), she tells her friend indignantly, reflecting a greater sense of moral rigidity than Catherine, who is more flexible and who reminds Fergy that they wouldn't have bet on that particular horse if they had-

n't already known that the races were fixed. Unlike Fergy, Catherine is clearly attuned to the new reality, having learned from experience that old codes do not fit the world in which they live now.

Much later, after Frederic deserts and finds Catherine and her friend in Stresa, Fergy is distraught, and the scenes involving her are especially revealing. In the first, Catherine and Fergy are eating dinner in their hotel when Frederic finds them. Almost immediately, Ferguson goes on the attack: "My God You're a fine mess What are you doing here?" (246). But then with a kind of ambiguity of feeling that runs throughout the scene, she asks with apparent concern, "Have you eaten?" After Frederic sits downs and orders his meal, Fergy attacks again, telling him that he is in "some mess" and observing that she "know[s] the mess [he's] gotten this girl into."

But when Catherine remarks that she has gotten herself into her own mess. Ferguson unloads on him instead of on her friend. To Catherine she announces: "I can't stand him He's done nothing but ruin you with his sneaking Italian tricks. Americans are worse than the Italians." When Frederic asks her, "Am I sneaky, Fergy?" she replies, "You are. You're worse than sneaky. You're like a snake. A snake with an Italian uniform: with a cape around your neck." When Frederic notes that he isn't in uniform, Fergy blasts him again: "That's just another example of your sneakiness. You had a love affair all summer and now I suppose you'll sneak off" (247). Then when Catherine tells her friend that they will sneak off together, Fergy attacks her: "I'm ashamed of you Catherine Barkley. You have no shame and no honor and you're as sneaky as he is." After this tirade. Catherine tells Fergy not to denounce her, observing that Fergy knows that the two nurses have been friends. This comment brings another angry blast: "If you had any shame it would be different You've no shame and no feelings." At this point, Fergy breaks down. Catherine tries to comfort her, asking her not to cry, but this attempt at consolation brings another attack on Frederic: "I hate you You dirty sneaking American Italian."

Ultimately, when Catherine calmly tells Fergy that she is being "unreasonable," Fergy accedes: "I know it," she sobs. "You mustn't mind me, either of you. I'm so upset. I'm not reasonable. I know it. I want you both to be happy." But when Catherine tells her that she and Frederic are happy, Fergy complains that she does not want the couple to be happy with their current status, asking Frederic why he doesn't marry his lover. Catherine then tells her that they will get

married if it will "please" her (248), but Fergy argues that Catherine should want to get married, not just marry to make her friend happy.

Catherine jokes that the couple has been busy, to which Fergy replies, "Yes, I know. Busy making babies." Then she slips into bitterness, commenting that she supposes that Catherine will leave with Frederic, and when Catherine agrees that she will go if Frederic wants her to, Fergy cries out, "What about me?" Catherine tells her that she will stay if Fergy prefers, but Fergy demands that the lovers leave now, that she is tired of seeing them. When it becomes clear that Catherine does want to go, Fergy breaks down again: "I've always wanted to go to the Italian lakes and this is how it is." When Catherine tells her friend that she will not leave her, Fergy switches back to being less self-absorbed: "No. No. I want you to go. . . . I'm so unreasonable. Please don't mind me." This whole scene suggests Fergy's instability in contrast to Catherine's awareness of and accommodation to modernity. The passage also shows Fergy's powerful needs, so far unnamed, in her relationship with Catherine and their ability to break through when they are denied.

The next morning Catherine goes to see Fergy at her hotel. When Catherine brings Fergy back for lunch, she asks Frederic to be nice to her friend, reminding him of how much love the two of them share and that Fergy does not have anything. Frederic suggests that Fergy does not want what the lovers have, to which Catherine thoughtfully replies: "You don't know much, darling, for such a wise boy" (257). This exchange occurs just after Catherine has made a link between Frederic and Othello, noting that, without being part of the Ambulance Corps, Frederic is like "Othello with his occupation gone." Frederic replies, in part: "... I'm not jealous. I'm just so in love with you that there isn't anything else." The couple then goes down to lunch with Fergy, and the wine helps all of them feel better. After lunch, Fergy goes back to her hotel to lie down for a time. Ultimately, Helen disappears from the novel in a comment that Catherine makes to Frederic as they row across the lake to Switzerland: "Poor Ferguson In the morning she'll come to the hotel and find we're gone" (271).

I've recounted these events in some depth because of the contrary opinions that critics have advanced about Fergy. When she seems so bitter about romantic relationships in the hospital in Milan, we suspect that it is just her unwillingness to see her friend hurt that motivates her, a common enough reason for her to be wary of Frederic.

But Fern Kory suggests that an earlier painful experience with men may lie behind her anger: "The emotional mixture of protectiveness, and, especially, bitterness . . . hints that these emotions come from some experience beyond, or, more likely, previous to the present situation" (23). Later, in Stresa, Fergy's feelings about the lovers' relationship are more intense, suggesting that there may be more than just friendship involved. Miriam Mandel (19), James Mellow (384), and Debra Moddelmog (15) have all pointed to a homoerotic attraction that Fergy feels for Catherine that sparks her strong reactions. As Moddelmog, echoing Mandel, convincingly notes, "Although Helen probably has never professed her love for Catherine—she may not even have named it herself—her behavior (following Catherine from place to place, being so upset when their plans are interrupted) indicates that if it were possible, she *would* want what Frederic has: a romantic relationship with Catherine . . . " (16).

For Miss Gage, however, another of the nurses in Milan, the emotions are much simpler. We meet her shortly after Frederic arrives at the hospital and rings for assistance in his room; she comes in looking "young and pretty" (84). As they are talking, she undresses him "except for the bandages" and washes him "very gently and smoothly," a procedure that Frederic tells us "felt very good." As Mandel notes, "Her ministrations to him are tinged with the sexual flattery that Henry understands, enjoys, and can recall in accurate detail . . . " (22). After Miss Van Campen peremptorily tells Frederic that he cannot have wine with his meals unless the doctor approves and Frederic is abrupt with her for her officiousness, Miss Gage questions him about why he was so rude. Later she brings him a glass of eggnog that Miss Van Campen had put some sherry in, telling Frederic again that he should not treat her superior so badly. The next day when Frederic awakens and Miss Gage comes in, he thinks that "she looked a little older in the bright sunlight and not so pretty" (89), though he soon learns that she had protected him while he slept by hiding both a bottle of vermouth with which he had fallen asleep in bed and another bottle he had put under it. When she asks why he had not asked her for a glass and he tells her that he was afraid that she would not have let him have the alcohol, her response reflects her flexibility and perhaps her interest in him: "I'd have had some with you." But she warns him that it is not good for him to drink alone. She also tells him that Catherine has arrived but states directly, "I don't like her" (90).

Later, after Fergy had suggested that Frederic should let Catherine take some nights off and also warned him about Miss Van Campen's negative view of his sleeping late, he calls Miss Gage in to learn more. When he asks her about why Catherine does so much night duty, Miss Gage immediately calls him on his attempt to manipulate her, telling him that she is a friend of his—something she does three more times during this conversation—and not to talk to her in that way. Perhaps to make up for having offended her, he offers her some vermouth, and she accepts, retrieving the bottle and a glass from the armoire. As they drink, Frederic also questions her about Miss Van Campen's irritation with his sleeping late. When Miss Gage tells him that her superior just "jawed about it" (110), calling him their "privileged patient," Frederic expresses his animosity. But Miss Gage notes that Miss Van Campen "isn't mean," "just old and cranky," observing that her superior never cared for Frederic; Miss Gage also claims that she is his friend. Frederic then tells her that she is "awfully damned nice," but she rejects the compliment, noting that she knows who Frederic thinks is nice (i.e., Catherine), and asserts her friendship again. As they continue their conversation, she asks Frederic how his leg is, remarking that she will bring some cold mineral water that he can pour over his cast to help with the itching. Finally, she adjusts the sandbags that are immobilizing his leg, telling him again that she is his friend. When Frederic responds that he knows she is, she rejects his comment: "No, you don't. But you will some day" (111).

Miss Van Campen, however, is not so friendly. After Frederic comes down with jaundice and she discovers empty liquor bottles in his room, she accuses him of drinking to produce jaundice so that he will not have to return to the front. When he tells Miss Gage why Miss Van Campen is so angry with him and that she may try to have him court-martialed, Miss Gage vows to support him: "Pooh. I'll swear that you've never taken a drink" (145). She also gathers up all the remaining liquor bottles and puts them in a rucksack to give to the porter to dispose of, but Miss Van Campen, porter in tow, interrupts them, telling the porter to take the bottles away because she wants to show them to the doctor when she writes her report on Frederic.

In fact, of all the nurses in Milan whom Frederic encounters, the worst is clearly Miss Van Campen, "the superintendent" (86), who is in charge of the nurses and the hospital (88). As Frederic reflects,

"She did not like me and I did not like her. She was small and neatly suspicious and too good for her position" (86); "snooty" (87), Frederic calls her, after their first meeting, in which she rejects his request for wine with his meals unless the doctor prescribes it. Perhaps reconsidering her nastiness, she later sends up some eggnog with sherry in it, but that act of kindness is the last we see her perform for him. Miss Gage explains, "She's not young and this hospital is a big responsibility for her" (88). Although Miss Van Campen does eventually accept Frederic and Catherine's relationship as "great friends" (118), she does so because Catherine works so hard and because she believes that Catherine "comes from very good people"; her snobbish bias in favor of family status is very clear. But when she sees the porter carrying out liquor bottles and finds more in Frederic's room, she immediately assumes that Frederic has brought on his jaundice by drinking so that he can avoid further combat. When he disputes her accusation by asking her if she has ever known anyone to "disable himself by kicking himself in the scrotum" (144), a sensation, he tells her, that very few women have felt, she is furious and leaves the room. Later, she interrupts Frederic and Miss Gage's attempt to get rid of the rest of the liquor bottles; she confiscates them so that she can show the doctor. Although, as noted earlier, Frederic worries that he may be court-martialed, the worst that Miss Van Campen can do is to get his leave cancelled.

This recitation of the details of the three nurses is necessary, perhaps because readers, focusing on Frederic, the narrator, tend to overlook the role that Fergy and her colleagues play in the novel, a role that may seem less important than that of the three male characters surrounding Frederic. Framing him and his development are his two friends in Gorizia—the priest and Rinaldi. The priest lives ideationally—in a medieval world. In Abruzzi, he tells Frederic, "the peasants all called you 'Don' and when you met them they took off their hats" (73). It is a place where they were "always honored" if the upper class dropped in and ate with them, a place where the authorities prohibited the playing of the flute at night because of its power to arouse the girls sexually, a place where the trout were plentiful and the birds were plump. Most important, this paradise is a theocentric world, one in which, because God is at the center, there is order and purpose and meaning, one in which the priest is "not a dirty joke" (71) but a respected person. It is a universe quite unlike the chaotic, violent, modern one that most of the characters of the book are living in, the universe that is Rinaldi's. His is essentially a nihilistic world, in which he is happy only when he is working. As he tells Frederic, there are just two other things that give him pleasure—alcohol and sex (170). When his friend suggests that he will find other things to enjoy, Rinaldi rejects the possibility: "No. We never get anything. We are born with all we have and we never learn. We never get anything new. We all start complete" (171). In his world of whorehouses and drunkenness, Rinaldi suffers the emptiness that is modern life, and though he is not on the front lines, he probably contracts and certainly worries about syphilis. As Moddelmog also points out, "There is . . . [as well] more than a hint of the homoerotic in [his—and the priest's—] attachments to Frederic and in his to them" (14). Though these feelings are never consummated, they do perhaps explain some of the loneliness that Rinaldi and the priest experience.

Frederic, of course, is a man in transition. Although when we first meet him, he is already closer to Rinaldi's view of life than to the priest's, he was presumably raised, if not Catholic, at least in some Protestant denomination and therefore started out as a believer. And despite the fact that he tells Count Greffi that he doesn't "know about the soul" (261), he also comments that he might become devout and that he will pray for the Count if he dies (263). Later, after the baby is stillborn, he notes flatly, "I had no religion but I knew he ought to have been baptized" (327); and after Catherine hemorrhages, he pleads with God: "Please, please, please, dear God, don't let her die" (330). This prayer—born of desperation—seems, however, merely a return to a psychological mechanism that in an earlier time had the power to allay fear. At the end of the novel, with its devastating conclusion, he seems at that point completely without God and fully nihilistic.

For such bleakness, the Count, who has earned his wisdom during his ninety-four years, will offer Frederic a new way of dealing with a world in which "[t]hey threw you in and told you the rules and the first time they caught you off base they killed you" (327). As the two play billiards in Stresa, he asks Frederic what he values most, and when Frederic replies, "Someone I love," the Count tells him that it is the same for him (262). He then asks Frederic if he values life, to which, of course, he replies that he does. Count Greffi notes, "So do I. Because it is all I have." These, then, are the values—love and life—that replace the earlier religious and traditional ones Frederic

had brought out of his childhood, new values that will allow him to survive in the modern world. In the old terminology, the Count is the "code hero" (Young 63-64), who is here teaching Frederic how to live in a world gone to smash, one in which the earlier ways of thinking are irrelevant because they no longer explain the lives he and the others are leading. This is, after all, a maturation novel in which Frederic becomes painfully aware of the modern world's devastating power and must learn new ways of coming to grips with it.

Just as Hemingway uses these other characters to reflect Frederic's development and to point us toward his larger meaning about the nature of the universe and life in our time, he also uses those around Catherine in a similar way. It's a mistake, I think, to push the similarities too far, but there are some parallels worth noting. The first is that Catherine, like Frederic, is framed by two other characters-Miss Gage and Helen Ferguson-who function to show readers alternate ways of dealing with what life offers us. Of the two, Miss Gage is the less problematic. As Mandel notes, "Henry can appreciate and understand the friendly, uncomplicatedly heterosexual Gage ..." (22), whose attentions to him are compassionate and thoughtful. No doubt because of her attraction to him, she initially dislikes Catherine, whom she recognizes immediately as a rival. Nonetheless, as we have seen, she is continually helpful to Catherine and Frederic, especially in his uneasy relationship with Miss Van Campen, and remains their good friend throughout, even though Frederic apparently does not fully recognize the depth of Miss Gage's feelings for him (Hemingway 111). Fergy, on the other hand, is all trouble. Traditional and rigid, she is irritable and unstable because of her homoerotic, though perhaps unacknowledged, love for Catherine and sees Frederic as a rival for Catherine's affections. Her ambivalence in her feelings for the lovers is tinged with envy, though she is basically good-hearted, as her occasional recognition of and apology for the nastiness of her behavior indicates. So Miss Gage and Fergy, like the Priest and Rinaldi, offer contrasting approaches to dealing with life in the twentieth century.

Besides framing Catherine, both Fergy and Miss Gage point us toward another aspect of the nature of the modern world that Catherine and Frederic must come to grips with besides its violence and horror: the importance of relationships and the centrality of and confusion about sexuality in them. It was, of course, desire that led Frederic to Catherine initially, and the result of their love affair will

lead to Catherine's death. As Catherine remarks, "It's just a dirty trick" (331). But, as Fergy makes particularly clear, desire is uncontrollable; we cannot help whom we love and sometimes it makes us do unproductive things. Though Catherine recognizes the underlying basis of Fergy's attentions to her, she is not judgmental; she remains understanding of Helen's needs and open to her friendship. Miss Gage, on the other hand, whom Mandel calls Fergy's "literary foil" (22), reinforces Catherine's choice of lover in her straightforward interest in Frederic. Catherine's willingness, ultimately, to "get rid of" Helen in Stresa after she and the lovers have lunch so that the two can be together romantically (257-58) emphasizes the priority—for Catherine—of Miss Gage's sexual preference and, in part, the reason Miss Gage is in the novel.

Another similarity in the way Hemingway uses the characters around each of his lovers involves the fact that, like Frederic. Catherine is also a person in transition, though not of the kind he is undergoing. Having already been through what her lover is experiencing and no longer a believer (19, 313), she is moving from illness to health with the help of Frederic's love. "A little crazy" (154) at the beginning, she is fully recovered by the time they are living in the mountains at Mrs. Guttingen's outside Montreux (300). Frederic as well, she has a third person available to her—Miss Van Campen—whom we might expect to provide a function similar to the one that Count Greffi does for Frederic. Miss Van Campen is, after all, older and in some ways more experienced than Catherine, given her position as superintendent of the hospital, but she is hardly satisfactory in the role of mentor. Snobbish, rule-bound, "cranky," and stressed by her responsibilities, she has much too narrow a worldview to have anything to offer to Catherine. Though she likes Catherine because she gets a lot of work out of her and because she comes from a good family, her attitude toward Frederic and her actions against him hardly mark her as someone who has anything to teach Catherine, who has moved far beyond Miss Van Campen in understanding the world.

It may be that Hemingway does not give Catherine a wise role model as he does for Frederic in order to heighten the sense of doom that surrounds her. There is no one to guide her to a set of values that will help her survive in this world, so she has to come to those values on her own. In fact, because of Catherine's coming to grips with her earlier traumatic experience, she is fit to be a mentor herself and

plays that role at times for Frederic (Spanier, "Soldier" 80). Almost from the first—in fact, in their second encounter—Catherine foresees their life together. She asks him to be good to her because, as she tells him, "we're going to have a strange life" (Hemingway 27). Delbert Wylder (87, 91, 94, 226) and later Michael Reynolds (254-55), Joyce Wexler (112-13, 116-17), Sandra Spanier ("Code" 132, 134; "Soldier" 76, 80, 98), and Peter Hays (16) have all seen Catherine as Hemingway's hero, in one form or another, in the book. If in no other way, Catherine will fulfill that function in teaching Frederic how to die with dignity. These secondary women characters, then, help us to understand the complexity of Catherine Barkley as she and Frederic meet a world that "breaks everyone" (249).

A Farewell to Arms remains one of the great books of our time, in large part because in it Hemingway shows us how to live in an aggressively hostile universe in which we are mere ants on a fiery log. Frederic and Catherine are the principal figures through whom Hemingway achieves his ends, but the characters who surround them play a significant part in *their* development. Along with the priest, Rinaldi, and Count Greffi, Helen Ferguson and her friends help us understand just how grim our world can be and just how important it is to endure its travails with stoicism. In that way, Hemingway tells us, we wrest a little dignity from the bleakness of our time.

United States Naval Academy

WORKS CITED

Barlow-Kayes, Jamie. "Re-reading Women: The Example of Catherine Barkley." Hemingway: Seven Decades of Criticism. Ed. Linda Wagner-Martin. East Lansing: Michigan State UP, 1998. 171-84.

Del Gizzo, Suzanne. "Catherine Barkley: Ernest Hemingway's *A Farewell to Arms.*" Women in Literature: Reading through the Lens of Gender. Ed. Jerilyn Fisher, Ellen S. Silber, and David Sadker. Westport, CT: Greenwood, 2003. 105-107.

Hays, Peter L. "Ministrant Barkley in A Farewell to Arms." Hemingway in Italy and Other Essays. E. Robert L. Lewis. NY: Praeger, 1990. 11-19.

Hemingway, Ernest. A Farewell to Arms. 1929. NY: Simon and Schuster, 1995.

Kory, Fern. "A Second Look at Helen Ferguson in A Farewell to Arms." Hemingway and Italy and Other Essays. Ed. Robert W. Lewis. NY: Praeger-Greenwood, 1990. 21-33.

Mandel, Miriam. "Ferguson and Lesbian Love: Unspoken Subplots in *A Farewell to Arms*." *Hemingway Review* 14.1 (Fall 1994): 18-24.

Mellow, James R. Hemingway: A Life Without Consequences. Boston: Houghton, 1992.

Moddelmog, Debra. "We Live in a Country Where Nothing Makes Any Difference': The Queer Sensibility of A Farewell to Arms." Hemingway Review 28.2 (Spring 2009): 7-24.

Nolan, Charles J Jr. "A Little Crazy': Psychiatric Diagnoses of Three Hemingway Women Characters." *Hemingway Review* 28.2 (Spring 2009): 105-20.

- Reynolds, Michael S. *Hemingway's First War: The Making of* A Farewell to Arms. Princeton: Princeton UP, 1976.
- Spanier, Sandra Whipple. "Catherine Barkley and the Hemingway Code: Ritual and Survival in *A Farewell to Arms.*" *Ernest Hemingway's* A Farewell to Arms. Ed. Harold Bloom. NY: Chelsea, 1987. 131-48.
- "Hemingway's Unknown Soldier: Catherine Barkley, the Critics, and the Great War."
 New Essays on A Farewell to Arms. Ed. Scott Donaldson. NY: Cambridge UP, 1990. 75-108
- Wexler, Joyce. "E.R.A. for Hemingway: A Feminist Defense of A Farewell to Arms." *Georgia Review* 35.1 (Spring 1981): 111-123.
- Wylder, Delbert E. Hemingway's Heroes. Albuquerque: U of New Mexico P, 1969.
- Young, Philip. *Ernest Hemingway: A Reconsideration*. Rev. ed. University Park: Penn State UP. 1966.

ANNUAL BIBLIOGRAPHY OF MIDWESTERN LITERATURE, 2014

ROBERT BEASECKER, EDITOR Grand Valley State University

This bibliography includes primary and secondary sources of Midwestern literary genres published, for the most part, during 2014. Criteria for inclusion of authors are birth or residence within the twelve-state area that defines the Midwest. Fiction and poetry using Midwestern locales are included irrespective of their authors' ties with this region. Primary sources are listed alphabetically by author, including (if applicable) designations of locale within square brackets at the end of each citation. However, because of space constraints, primary source materials are limited to separately-published works; those appearing in literary journals and magazines are generally not included. Secondary sources, usually journal articles, books, or doctoral dissertations, are listed by subject.

The third section lists Library of America editions of Midwestern authors issued in 2014; and periodicals published for the first time in 2014 that relate in some way to Midwestern literature, either in subject, content, or locale, are listed alphabetically by title in the fourth and final section of this bibliography.

Not included in this bibliography are the following types of material: works only published in electronic format; reprints or reissues of earlier works, except for some new or revised editions; baccalaureate or masters theses; entries in reference books; separate contents of collected essays or Festschriften; audio or video recordings; electronic databases; and internet websites which have the tendency to be unstable or ephemeral.

Abbreviations used in the citations denoting genre and publication types are as follows:

A	Anthology	juv	Juvenile fiction
bibl	Bibliography	lang	Language; linguistics
biog	Biography	M	Memoir
corr	Correspondence	N	Novel
crit	Criticism	P	Poetry
D	Drama	pub	Publishing; printing
I	Interview(s)	rev	Review essay
jrnl	Journalism	S	Short fiction

Citations for novels, poetry, short stories, memoirs, and other types of literature about the Midwest, as well as those written by Midwestern authors, are continually sought by the editor for inclusion in this annual bibliography. Please send them to Robert Beasecker, University Libraries, Grand Valley State University, 1 Campus Drive, Allendale, Michigan 494011.

ANNUAL BIBLIOGRAPHY OF MIDWESTERN LITERATURE, 2014

PRIMARY SOURCES

Aames, Avery. Days of Wine and Roquefort (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [Ohio] Aaron, Rachel. Nice Dragons Finish Last (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Abbot, Laura. The Gift of a Child (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Kan.]

Abraham-Watne, John. *Our Senior Year* (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Iowa]

Adamov, Bob. Zenobia (N). Ashland, Ohio: Packard Island Publications, 2014. [Put-in-Bay, Ohio]

Adams, Shanda Tvedt. *The Apple of His Eye* (S). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [S.D.] Adcox, James Tadd. *Does Not Love* (N). Chicago: Curbside Splendor, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.]

Ader, Brenda. Tales from the Rural Landscape (S). Akron, Ohio: 48Hr Books, 2014. [Midwest]

Aguirre, Ann. As Long As You Love Me (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin, 2014. [Neb.]

Akervik, Caroline. Calvin the Cookie Maker (juv). Casper, Wyo.: Whiskey Creek Press, 2014. [Wis.]

-. White Pine (N). White Bear Lake, Minn.: Melange Books, 2014. [Wis.]

Akil, Mujahid. Street Certified (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Archway Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Alan, Isabella. Murder, Served Simply (N). NY: Obsidian, 2014. [Ohio]

-. Murder, Simply Stitched (N). NY: Obsidian, 2014. [Ohio]

Alden, Laura. Poison at the PTA (N). NY: Obsidian, 2014. [Wis.]

Alden, Paulette Bates. *Unforgettable* (S). Minneapolis: Radiator Press, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Alexander, Carol. *The Big Squeal* (juv). Taylorville, Ill.: Oak Tree Press, 2014. [Ill.]

Alexander, Hannah. Dandelion Moon (N). Monett, Mo.: H. Alexander Books, 2014. [Mo.]

-. Hallowed Halls (N). Colorado Springs, Colo.: Christian Writers Guild, 2014. [Mo.]

Allen, Nancy. The Code of the Hills (N). NY: Witness Impulse, 2014. [Ozark, Mo.]

Alter, Molly, et al., eds. *Diversity Spotlight: Identity in a Diverse World* (P; S). Carterville, Ill.: John A. Logan Community College, 2014.

Altman, Joel. Rosie's Run through Reds Country (juv). Herndon, Va.: Mascot Books, 2014 [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Aman, Robert J. *The Story of Chief Gray Wolf* (juv). Grand Rapids, Mich.: Schuler Books, 2014. [Mich.]

Amato, Mary. Get Happy (juv). NY: Egmont USA, 2014. [III.]

Amour. Child Support (N). Wyandanch, N.Y.: Urban Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Anderson, Carl see Khadijah

Anderson, Harry M., Jr. *The GTO Kid* (N). Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

-. Paul and Rosa (N). Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Anderson, Jodi Lynn. The Vanishing Season (juv). NY: HarperTeen, 2014. [Wis.]

Andrew, Elizabeth. Hannah, Delivered (N). Virginia Beach, Va.: Koehlerbooks, 2014. [Minn.]

Andrews, Keira. A Forbidden Rumspringa (N). S.l.: KA Books, 2014. [Minn.]

Andrews, William. *The Essential Truth* (N). Minneapolis: MADhouse Press, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Andrews-Katz, Eric. *Balls and Chain* (N). Valley Falls, N.Y.: Bold Strokes Books, 2014. [Minn.] Antani, Jay. *The Leaving of Things* (juv). Seattle, Wash.: Lake Union Publishing, 2014. [Wis.] Applewhite, Claire. *Candy Cadillac* (N). Chicago: Smoking Gun Publishing, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

Apps, Jerry. *The Great Sand Fracas of Ames County* (N). Madison, Wis.: Terrace Books, 2014. [Wis.]

Apps, Zoey. The Door to November (N). S.l.: s.n., 2014. [Wis.]

-. Dream Lover (N). S.l.: s.n., 2014. [Wis.]

Arden, Sara. Return to Glory (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin, 2014. [Kan.]

Armstrong, Kelley. Visions (N). NY: Dutton, 2014. [III.]

Armstrong, Lori. Dead Flowers/Baited (S). S.I.: LJLA, 2014. [S.D.]

Arnegard, Iver. Whip & Spur (S). Los Angeles, Calif.: Gold Line Press, 2014. [N.D.]

ArtB. Shattered Marbles (N). S.l.: ArtB, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Artherhults, Eric Carl. Lakota Summer (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [S.D.]

Ashley, Kristen. The Promise (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Ashlinn, Mia. *Their Luscious Dream* (N). Austin, Tex.: Siren Publishing, 2014. [Kan.]

Ashur Collective. Blood Money (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Askew, Kim. Anyone But You (N). Blue Ash, Ohio: Merit Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Athey, Virginia. Quilts Galore (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]

Austin, Lynne Carol. Ten of Swords (N). Castroville, Tex.: Black Rose Writing, 2014.

Aymes, Kahlen. *Confessions After Dark* (N). Longboat Key, Fla.: Telemachus Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

—. Promises After Dark (N). Longboat Key, Fla.: Telemachus Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Baack, James and Eric S. Brown. *Terror of the Abominable Snowman* (N). Chicago: Great Lakes Artists Group, 2014. [Wis.]

Babka, Daniel. Lightning Strikes (N). Roseville, Calif.: Blue Squirrel Press, 2014. [Twinsburg, Ohio]

Bacus, Kathleen. *Calamity Jayne and the Trouble with Tandems* (N). Los Gatos, Calif.: Gemma Halliday Publications, 2014. [Iowa]

Baldwin, Richard L. *Murder at the Stadium* (N). Haslett, Mich.: Buttonwood Press, 2014. [Mich.]

Bale, Karen A. see Duey, Kathleen

Ball, Donna. Raging Rivers (N). Mountain City, Ga.: Blue Merle Publishing, 2014. [Cairo, Ill.]
 Ball, Madonna. Memories of a Mud Bee (N). S.l.: Humble Hound Publishing, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Balster, Laura M. *In the Garden*... (N). Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse, 2014. [Lucas, Kan.] Bamberger, W.C. *A Light Like Ida Lupino* (N). Livingston, Ala.: Livingston Press, 2014. [Mich.] Bancks, Bob. *Call Sara* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Iowa]

Bard-Collins, J. *Honor Above All* (N). Forest Park, Ill.: Allium Press of Chicago, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Barker, Lillian. *Out of the Eater* (N). Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Barlean, Gina M. *Thorns of Rosewood* (N). S.I.: Less Traveled Roads Publishing, 2014. [Neb.] Barr, Nevada. *Destroyer Angel* (N). NY: Minotaur Books, 2014. [Minn.]

Barra, Paul A. A Death in the Hills (N). Colfax, N.C.: W & B Publishers, 2014. [S.D.]

Barwell, Anne. *Shades of Sepia* (N). Tallahassee, Fla.: Dreamspinner Press, 2014. [Ohio]

Baskin, Janie. *Paint Me a Monster* (juv). Berkeley Heights, N.J.: Scarlet Voyage, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Batta, Patricia K. How Many Old Ladies Will Die? (N). Traverse City, Mich.: Lillimar Publishing, 2014. [Traverse City, Mich.]

Baumgartner, John Robert. So Ends the Immortal (N). Baltimore: America Star, 2014. [Ft. Wayne, Ind.]

Bazzett, Michael. You Must Remember This (P). Minneapolis: Milkweed Editions, 2014.

Beckemeyer, Roy J. *Music I Could Once Dance To* (P). Lawrence, Kan.: Coal City Review Press, 2014.

Beckstrand, Jennifer. Huckleberry Christmas (N). NY: Zebra Books, 2014. [Wis.]

-. Huckleberry Hill (N). NY: Zebra Books, 2014. [Wis.]

—. Huckleberry Summer (N). NY: Zebra Books, 2014. [Wis.]

Behn, Brea. Wolves in the Woods (N). Castroville, Tex.: Black Rose Writing, 2014. [Wis.] Belfie, June Bryan. *My Heart Cries Out* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ohio] Belieu, Erin. *Slant Six* (P). Port Townsend, Wash.: Copper Canyon Press, 2014.

Bell, Alvin B. No Ordinary Pain (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]
Bell, Dana Marie. Hecate's Own (N). Cincinnati: Samhain Publishing, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio]

Bell, David. The Forgotten Girl (N). NY: New American Library, 2014. [Ohio]

Benjamin, Chloe. *The Anatomy of Dreams* (N). NY: Atria Paperback, 2014. [Madison, Wis.]

Benjamin, David. A Sunday Kind of Love (N). S.l.: Event Horizon Press, 2014. [Wis.]

Benns, Jerry E., ed. *State of Horror: Illinois* (S). High Ridge, Mo.: Charon Coin Press, 2014. [Ill.] Benson, Alice. *Her Life Is Showing* (N). Castroville, Tex.: Black Rose Writing, 2014.

Benson, Evie. We Interrupt This Marriage (N). Terrace, B.C.: CCB Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Benson, Tyler. *The Adventures of Onyx and the Angels in the Air* (juv). Gloucester, Va.: Ensign Benson Books, 2014. [Mich.]

Bergendahl, C.D. *Against the Boards* (juv). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Minn.] Bergsgaard, L.D. *First Stone* (N). Indianapolis: Dog Ear Publishing, 2014. [Minn.]

-. Stoned Too (N). Indianapolis: Dog Ear Publishing, 2014. [Minn.]

Berkshire, Mary Ann. *The Black Glove Versus the Watcher* (juv). Frederick, Md.: America Star Books, 2014. [Wis.]

Bernier, Craig. Your Life Idyllic (S). Pittsburgh, Pa.: Black Lawrence Press, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Berryman, John. *The Heart Is Strange: New and Selected Poems* (P). Ed. Daniel Swift. NY: Farrar, Straus, and Giroux, 2014.

Beukes, Lauren. Broken Monsters (N). NY: Mulholland Books, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Binkley, Jennifer. Bridleless (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Xlibris, 2014. [Kan.]

Binns, B.A. *Minority of One* (juv). Arlington Heights, Ill.: AlltheColorsofLove, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Birdsall, Bridget. *Double Exposure* (juv). NY: Sky Pony Press, 2014. [Milwaukee, Wis.] Birkenholtz, Rick. *Rebecca's Run* (N). Pella, Iowa: Write Place, 2014. [Iowa]

Bjorlie, Carol Pierce. *Sweet Harmony* (N). Kernersville, N.C.: Cut Above Books, 2014. [Minn.] Black, Kole. *The End of All Chance: Chance's End* (N). Woodbury, Conn.: Spaulden Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Black, Lisa. Close to the Bone (N). Sutton: Severn House, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio]

Black, Sean. The Innocent (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Minn.]

Black Crow, Dorothy. The Handless Maiden (N). Reno, Nev.: Lucky Bat Books, 2014. [S.D.]

Blaine, Josie. Nowhere, Everywhere (N). Washburn, N.D.: Sunflower Press, 2014. [N.D.]

Blake, Toni. All I Want Is You (N). NY: Avon Books, 2014. [Ohio]

Blystone, Susan. Where Are All the Redbirds? (juv). Normal: Illinois State U, 2014. [Normal, Ill.]

Boddie, Brandi. A Windswept Promise (N). Lake Mary, Fla.: Realms, 2014. [Kan.]

Bodensteiner, Carol. *Go Away Home* (N). Des Moines, Iowa: Rising Sun Press, 2014. [Iowa] Boero, Lisa. *Bombers and Nerdy Girls Do Brunch* (N). Marshfield, Wis.: Nerdy Girl Press, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

Booth, Roy C. and Axel Kohagen. *Orphans* (N). San Francisco, Calif.: Dark Fantasy Press, 2014. [Iowa]

Borger, Judith Yates. Who Bombed the Train? (N). Anoka, Minn.: 40 Press, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Borsenik, Dianne, ed. Lipsmack! (P). Elyria, Ohio: NightBallet Press, 2014.

ed. Songs in the Key of Cleveland (P). Cleveland, Ohio: Crisis Chronicles, 2014.
 [Cleveland, Ohio]

Boruch, Marianne. Cadaver, Speak (P). Port Townsend, Wash.: Copper Canyon Press, 2014.

Bostick, Chris. Rebellion in the Northwoods (N). S.l.: Krill Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Botsford, James. Them Apples (P). Wausau, Wis.: Sandyhouse Press, 2014. [Wis.]

Boyd, Daniel. Easy Death (N). London: Titan Books, 2014. [Ohio]

Boyden, Mark see Kilzer, Lou

Boykin, Eligah. *The Blackboard of God* (P). Bloomington, Ind.: Xlibris, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.] Brack-Johnson, Ann. *Angie of Garfield Farm* (N). S.I.: A. Brack-Johnson, 2014. [III.]

Brackett, John K. Suffer the Little Children (N). Wilmington, Ohio: Orange Frazer Press, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Bradley, Sally. Kept (N). S.l.: Salena House Publishers, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Bradley, Sarah J. *Dream in Color* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Milwaukee, Wis.] — *Lies in Chance* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Milwaukee, Wis.]

Bradshaw, B.K. *Treasures of the Current* (juv). Nashville, Tenn.: Goldminds, 2014. [Mo.] Brakken, James A. *The Secret Life of Chief Namakagon* (N). Cable, Wis.: Badger Valley Publishing, 2014. [Wis.]

Brankin, Katherine. *The Family Girl* (N). Batavia, Ill.: DMD Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Brauning, Kate. *How We Fall* (juv). Blue Ash, Ohio: Merit Press, 2014. [Mo.]

Brede, Fred A. *The Dam Is Coming* (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Minn.]

-. A Keystone Beginning (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Keystone, S.D.]

Bree. *Pigskin in a Blanket* (N). Pleasureville, Ky.: Green Panda Press, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio] Brett, Simon. *Blotto, Twinks and the Bootlegger's Moll* (N). NY: Felony & Mayhem, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Brezenoff, Steven. *Guy in Real Life* (juv). NY: Balzer & Bray, 2014. [St. Paul, Minn.] Brogan, Tracy. *The Best Medicine* (N). Seattle, Wash.: Montlake Romance, 2014. [Mich.]

Bromley, Sarah. A Murder of Magpies (juv). S.l.: Month9Books, 2014. [Wis.]

Brooke, Leah. Ice Men of North Dakota (N). Austin, Tex.: Siren Publishing, 2014. [N.D.]

Brooks, Burl L. Cinch Marks (P; S). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mo.]

Brown, Chuck. Dunn Days (N). Alexandria, Minn.: Hennepin House, 2014. [Minn.]

Brown, Duffy. Geared for the Grave (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [Mackinac Island, Mich.]

Brown, Eric S. see Baack, James

Brown, Jason Lee. *Prowler* (N). Toronto: Zetabella Publishing, 2014. [Mattoon, Ill.]

Brown, Jennifer. Torn Away (juv). NY: Little, Brown, 2014. [Mo.]

Brown, Joyce A. *Getting Away with Everything* (N). South Holland, Ill.: Live the Dream Publishers, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Brown, Joyce Ann. *Catastrophic Connections* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Kansas City, Mo.]

Brown, Robert L. *The War Chief's Son* (N). Harbor Springs, Mich.: Ramona Park Press, 2014. [III.; Mich.]

Browne, Christopher. *The Monster Who Ate the State* (juv). Pierre: South Dakota Historical Society Press, 2014. [S.D.]

Brownley, Margaret. Petticoat Detective (N). Uhrichsville, Ohio: Shiloh Run Press, 2014. [Kan.]

Brunstetter, Wanda E. Humble Pie (juv). Uhrichsville, Ohio: Shiloh Kidz, 2014. [Ohio]

Brutt, Rhonda, et al. *Romancing the Lakes of Minnesota: Autumn* (S). Prior Lake, Minn.: Nordic Publishing, 2014. [Minn.]

Brystal, Cadee. Wide Open Spaces (N). S.I.: Two Ponies Publishing, 2014. [S.D.]

Bubany, Midge. The Equalizer (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Buchen, Kathy. Death in the Stacks (N). Frederick, Md.: America Star Books, 2014. [Wis.]

Buckley, Carla. The Deepest Secret (N). NY: Bantam Books, 2014. [Ohio]

Bultman-Deardruff, JaLeen. The Heiress and the Farmer (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

-. The Indiana Creager Family Saga (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

Burgess, Rosalind and Patricia Obermeier Neuman. *Lethal Property* (N). S.l.: Blake Oliver Publishing, 2014. [Downers Grove, Ill.]

Burgoon, Patte. *Buckeye Lake Summer 1949* (N). Columbus, Ohio: Educational Publisher, 2014. [Ohio]

Burke, James Lee. Light of the World (N). NY: Simon & Schuster, 2014. [Kan.]

Burleson, William E. *Hunting in the Dark* (juv). S.l.: Bartleby Snopes Press, 2014. [Minn.] Burley, John. *No Mercy* (N). London: Avon, 2014. [Ohio]

Burton, David L. Short Stories from the Ash Grove (S). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mo.]

Bush, Holly. Reconstructing Jackson (N). Pennsylvania?: Holly Bush Books, 2014. [Mo.]

—. Romancing Olive (N). Pennsylvania?: Holly Bush Books, 2014. [Ohio]

—. Train Station Bride (N). Pennsylvania?: Holly Bush Books, 2014. [S.D.]

Busha, Gary C. Along the Shore (P). Sturtevant, Wis.: Wolfsong Publications, 2014. [Wis.]

—. Around the Bay (P). Sturtevant, Wis.: Wolfsong Publications, 2014. [Wis.]

—. Bay View Spiders (P). Sturtevant, Wis.: Wolfsong Publications, 2014. [Wis.]

Butcher, Shannon K. Willing Sacrifice (N). NY: Signet Books, 2014. [Kan.]

Butler, Nickolas. Shotgun Lovesongs (N). NY: Thomas Dunne Books, 2014. [Wis.]

Butterfield, Joanne. *The Dust Settles* (N). Enumclaw, Wash.: Redemption Press, 2014. [Iowa] Buyert, Arlin, ed. *Open to the Sky* (A). Overland Park, Kan.: Arts in Prison, 2014.

C., Cheraee. *Another Shady Mission* (N). Detroit, Mich.: Mocy Publishing, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.] Calhoun, Anne. *Jaded* (N). NY: Berkley Sensation, 2014. [S.D.]

Cameron, Douglas E. *The Body Beneath the Bridge* (N). Colfax, N.C.: W & B Publishers, 2014. [Mich.]

Cameron, Paige. Captivating Cowboys (N). Austin, Tex.: Siren Publishing, 2014. [S.D.]

```
-. Gallant Guardians (N). Austin, Tex.: Siren Publishing, 2014. [S.D.]
```

—. Treasured Temptation (N). Austin, Tex.: Siren Publishing, 2014. [S.D.]

Cameron, W. Bruce. *The Midnight Plan of the Repo Man* (N). NY: Forge, 2014. [Kalkaska, Mich.]

Cantrell, Janet. Fat Cat at Large (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.] Capri, NeNe see Ca\$h

Carey, Jacqueline. Poison Fruit (N). NY: Roc, 2014. [Mich.]

Carl, JoAnna. The Chocolate Clown Corpse (N). NY: Obsidian, 2014. [Mich.]

Carlile, Taylor, et al., eds. *Chicago After Dark* (A). Chicago: Columbia College, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Carlino, Renée. Nowhere But Here (N). NY: Atria Paperback, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Carlson, Richard Henry. The Adventures of Chipper (N). Victoria, B.C.: Friesen Press, 2014.

Carroll, Lois. Double the Dream (N). Casper, Wyo.: Whiskey Creek Press, 2014. [Dak.]

Carstens, Dennis L. Media Justice (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Carter, Dannaye. Boutique (N). S.l.: Kenerly Presents-Fam Cartel, 2014. [Columbus, Ohio]

Carter, Grace Gillespie. *City of Three Rivers* (N). S.l.: Chardonnay Pearl Publishing, 2014. [Dayton, Ohio]

Ca\$h and NeNe Capri. *Deadly Alliance* (N). Jonesboro, Ga.: Lock Down, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio] Cashman, Dan. *The Reflectory* (N). Duluth, Minn.: Lion Bridge Publishing, 2014. [Minn.] Cass, Laurie. *Tailing a Tabby* (N). NY: Obsidian, 2014. [Mich.]

Cassidy, Carla. Return to Mystic Lake (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin, 2014. [Kan.]

Castillo, Ana. Give It to Me (N). NY: Feminist Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Castillo, Linda. The Dead Will Tell (N). NY: Minotaur Books, 2014. [Ohio]

Catalano, Joseph. *Mosaic* (N). Milwaukee: Three Towers Press, 2014. [Wis.]

Cellini. The Power of Choice (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Akron, Ohio]

Celmer, Michelle. Caroselli's Accidental Heir (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Chabot, Marlene. *Death at the Bar X Ranch* (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Chan, Crystal. Bird (juv). NY: Atheneum Books for Young Readers, 2014. [Iowa]

Chance, Lynda. *Rule's Property* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.] Chandler, Jessie. *Chip off the Ice Block Murder* (N). Woodbury, Minn.: Midnight Ink, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Change Happens (P; S). Cincinnati: Losantiville Press, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Chapman, Vannetta. *Murder Simply Brewed* (N). Grand Rapids, Mich.: Zondervan, 2014. [Ind.]

-. Murder Tightly Knit (N). Grand Rapids, Mich.: Zondervan, 2014. [Ind.]

Charles, Ann. An Ex to Grind in Deadwood (N). S.l.: s.n., 2014. [Deadwood, S.D.]

Charles, Lizzy. Perfectly Messy (juv). San Francisco, Calif.: Swoon Romance, 2014. [Minn.]

Charyn, Jerome. I Am Abraham (N). NY: Liveright Publishing, 2014. [Lincoln, Abraham]

Cheatham, Marian. Eastland (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.; Ind.]

Cherry, Brittany C. Loving Mr. Daniels (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]

Cherryh, C.J. Peacemaker (N). NY: Daw Books, 2014.

Childs, Laura. Scorched Eggs (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [Midwest]

Christie, Andrew. Wrath of the Righteous (N). London: Austin Macauley, 2014. [Neb.]

Cintrón, Esperanza Malavé. Visions of a Post-Apocalyptic Sunrise: Detroit Poems (P). Ithaca, N.Y.: Stockport Flats, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

—. What Keeps Me Sane (P). Detroit, Mich.: Lotus Press, 2013.

Ciotta, Beth. Beauty and the Biker (N). S.l.: BC Ink, 2014. [Neb.]

-. Enchanting Christmas (N). S.l.: BC Ink, 2014. [Neb.]

Clark, Anna, ed. *A Detroit Anthology* (A). Cleveland, Ohio: Rust Belt Chic Press, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Clark, Catherine. How to Meet Boys (juv). NY: HarperTeen, 2014. [Minn.]

Clark, Ray W. K and J (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.] Clark, Wahida. Blood, Sweat & Payback (N). NY: Cash Money Content, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Clarke, Max. The Hadden Purge (N). Cottesloe, W.A.: M. Clarke, 2014. [S.D.]

Clayton, Grover W. *Moth at the Window: Poetry of Grover W. Clayton and Recollections of Indiana*. Edited by Mary F. Lachman (P). Bloomington, Ind.: Xlibris, 2014.

Clemens, Sharon L. Door County Escape (N). Groveland, Ill.: Farm Grove, 2014. [Wis.]

Clinton, Tyeshia. *Running from the Past* (N). Atlanta, Ga.: Ashanti Publishing Group, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.; Dayton, Ohio]

Clippard, Carol Lee. Coming Home (N). S.l.: Clippard Publishing, 2014. [Mo.]

Cloud, Abigail. Sylph (P). Warensburg, Mo.: Pleiades Press, 2014.

Coates, Deborah. Strange Country (N). NY: Tor, 2014. [S.D.]

Coates, Grace Stone. *Clear Title* (N). Helena, Mont.: Drumlummon Institute, 2014. [Kan.] Coco, Nancy. *To Fudge or Not to Fudge* (N). NY: Kensington Publishing, 2014. [Mackinac Island, Mich.]

Coker, M.K. Dead Wrong (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [S.D.]

Colbert, Brandy. Pointe (juv). NY: G.P. Putnam's Sons, 2014. [Ill.]

Cole, Olivia A. Panther in the Hive (juv). Chicago: Fletchero Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Collins, Max Allan. The Wrong Quarry (N). London: Titan Books, 2014. [Ill.]

Combs, Tom. Nerve Damage (N). Plymouth, Minn.: Evoke Publishing, 2014. [Minn.]

Conger, Trace. The Shadow Broker (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Conlon, Christopher. When They Came Back (N). Albany, Ga.: BearManor Media, 2014. [Neb.] Conway, Martha. Thieving Forest (N). San Francisco: Noontime Books, 2014. [Ohio]

Cook-Lynn, Elizabeth. *That Guy Wolf Dancing* (N). East Lansing: Michigan State UP, 2014. [S.D.]

Cools, Joseph. "Murder" in Quotes (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Midwest]

Cooney, Jeanne. A Second Helping of Murder and Recipes (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Minn.; N.D.]

Corley, Kevin. Sixteen Tons (N). Brooklyn, N.Y.: Hard Ball Press, 2014. [Virden, Ill.]

Cote, Lyn. Heartland Courtship (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Wis.]

Covin, David. Prodigal (N). Sacramento, Calif.: Blue Nile Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Cowan, Laura K. Music of the Sacred Lakes (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mich.]

Craig, Patrick E. Jenny's Choice (N). Eugene, Or.: Harvest House, 2014. [Ohio]

Craigmiles, James. First, Last, Only (N). Holiday Shores, Ill.: Art Out Loud Productions, 2014. [Mo.]

Crane, Martin. *The Confessions of Old King Coal* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Peoria, III.]

Cremer, Andrea R. The Inventor's Secret (juv). NY: Philomel Books, 2014.

Crocker, Nancy. Seeing America (N). Aurora, Ill.: Medallion Press, 2014. [Mo.]

Croghan, Melissa. Cliff Walk (P). Simsbury, Conn.: Antrim House, 2014. [Mackinac Island, Mich.]

Cronk, Donna. Sweetland of Liberty Bed & Breakfast (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

Crooks, Pam. *The Spyglass Project* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Cross, Julie. *Whatever Life Throws at You* (juv). Fort Collins, Colo.: Entangled Teen, 2014. [Mo.]

Cross, Mason. The Killing Season (N). London: Orion, 2014. [Midwest]

Crownover, James D. Wild Ran the Rivers (N). Waterville, Me.: Five Star, 2014. [New Madrid, Mo.]

Crownover, Jeanne. In a Globe of Swirling Snow (N). Eugene, Or.: J. Crownover, 2014. [Wis.]

Cryns, Jim. Cocaine Vampires (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2013. [Milwaukee, Wis.]

Cullinan, Heidi and Marie Sexton. Family Man (N). Cincinnati: Samhain Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Culver, Chris. By Any Means (N). NY: Grand Central Publishing, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.]

Cunningham, Carson. 21st Century Adventures of Huckleberry Finn (N). Helena, Mont.: Huckleberry Books, 2014. [Ind.; Finn, Huckleberry]

Curran, Tim. Nightcrawlers (N). North Webster, Ind.: DarkFuse, 2014. [Wis.]

Curren, Patricia. Clipped (N). West Conshohocken, Pa.: Infinity Publishing, 2014. [Neb.]

Curtis, Christopher Paul. The Madman of Piney Woods (juv). NY: Scholastic Press, 2014.

Cutler, Jane. Susan Marcus Bends the Rules (juv). NY: Holiday House, 2014. [Mo.]

Cyr, Roderick. An Accidental Abduction (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Minn.]

 $Dailey, Judy. \ \textit{Forget You Ever Knew Me} \ (N). \ Waterville, Me.: Five Star, 2014. \ [Chicago, Ill.; Ind.]$

Dallas, Sandra. A Quilt for Christmas (N). NY: St. Martin's Press, 2014. [Kan.]

Daniels, Jim. Eight Mile High (P). East Lansing: Michigan State U P, 2014. [Mich.]

Daniels, Phoenix. Beautiful Prey (N). Hammond, Ind.: Femistry Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

-. Beautiful Prey 2 (N). Hammond, Ind.: Femistry Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Danker-Dake, Joshua. The Retail (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mo.]

Darhower, J.M. Made (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

-. Sempre: Redemption (N). NY: Gallery Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Darnielle, John. Wolf in White Van (N). NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2014. [Kan.]

Darr, Brian. Tontine: The Eye of Providence (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.

Datcher, Michael. Americus (N). Wilhelmshaven: Safkhet Publishing, 2014. [East St. Louis, Ill.]

Davenport, Randi. The End of Always (N). NY: Hachette Book Group, 2014. [Wis.]

Davidson, MaryJanice. Undead and Unwary (N). NY: Berkley Sensation, 2014. [St. Paul, Minn.]

Davies, Brenda K. A Stolen Heart (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Kan.] Davis, Aric. Tunnel Vision (N). Seattle, Wash.: Thomas & Mercer, 2014. [Grand Rapids, Mich.]

Davis, Bridgett M. *Into the Go-Slow* (N). NY: Feminist Press, 2014. [Orand Rapids, Wich.]

Davis, Carol. A Door County Night Before Christmas (juv). Sturgeon Bay, Wis.: Door to Door Publishing, 2014. [Wis.]

Davis, Olena Kalytiak. *The Poem She Didn't Write* (P). Port Townsend, Wash.: Copper Canyon, 2014.

Davison, Josette. *Time Aside* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [McConnelsville, Ohio] Dawn, Sasha. *Oblivion* (juv). NY: Egmont USA, 2014. [III.]

Dawson, Jennifer. Take a Chance on Me (N). NY: Zebra Books, 2014. [Ill.]

Dawson, Mark. The Sword of God (N). London: Black Dog Publishing, 2014. [Mich.]

Day, Anjela. Hard 4: The Double Cross (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Dean, R.J., Jr. *Time Voyagers: Catfish in Hannibal* (N). Charleston, S.C.: Create Space, 2014. [Clemens, Samuel L.]

DeCillis, Diane. Strings Attached (P). Detroit: Wayne State U P, 2014.

Decker, M.C. Unwritten (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mich.]

Declercq, Al and Tom Ervin. Bernida (juv). Ann Arbor, Mich.: Sleeping Bear Press, 2014. [Mich.]

Deese, Barbara. Forgotten Spirits (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [St. Paul, Minn.]

Deiss, Rick. Return of the Piano Man (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]

—. The Spirit Warriors (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]

Demettrea. Love, Lies, & Obsessions 2 (N). S.l.: Pleasure Principle Publications, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Demuth, Hilda. *Hattie's War* (juv). Milwaukee: Crispen Books, 2014. [Milwaukee, Wis.] Desir, Christa. *Bleed Like Me* (N). NY: Simon Pulse, 2014.

DeSmet, Christine. Hot Fudge Frame-Up (N). NY: Obsidian, 2014. [Wis.]

Devine, Frances. Christmas on the Prairie (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Kan.]

Devon, Cat. Love Your Entity (N). NY: St. Martin's, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

De Witt, Karen. *Quilters of the Bunco Club* (N). Matteson, Ill.: Frame Masters, 2014. [Ill.] Diaz, Joanne. *My Favorite Tyrants* (P). Madison: U Wisconsin P, 2014.

Diersen, Billie Jean. *Thinner Skin* (N). Oshkosh, Wis.: Blue Gentian Books, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Dixon, Lynn M. A Golden Leaf in Time Revised (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Trafford, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Donelan, Brenda. The Day of the Dead (N). Sioux Falls, S.D.: B. Donelan, 2014. [S.D.] —. Holiday Homicide (N). Sioux Falls, S.D.: B. Donelan, 2014. [S.D.]

Dorsey, John see Wagner, D.R.

Doyle, Lisa. Milked (N). Montrose, Calif.: Simon & Fig, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Draper, Norman. Backyard (N). NY: Kensington Books, 2014. [Midwest]

Draper, Penny. Red River Raging (juv). Regina, Sask.: Coteau Books, 2014. [Minn.; N.D.]

Drews, Lynda. Circle of Innocence (N). Casper, Wyo.: Whiskey Creek Press, 2014. [Wis.]

Drexler, Jan. A Mother for His Children (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Ind.]

Driver, Lee. The Vaporizer (N). Bluffton, S.C.: Full Moon Publishing, 2013. [Ind.]

Drury, Tom. Pacific (N). NY: Grove Press, 2013. [Iowa]

Duerksen, Carol. Kate's Truth (N). Hillsboro, Kan.: WillowSpring Downs, 2014. [Kan.]

Duey, Kathleen and Karen A. Bale. Fire: Chicago, 1871 (juv). NY: Aladdin, 2014 [Chicago, Ill.]

Dufresne, Jerilyn. Who Killed My Boss? (N). Quincy, Ill.: J. Dufresne, 2014. [Quincy, Ill.]

Duncan, Janet. Now I Know (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Manhattan, Kan.]

Duncan, Rex. Daisha's Good Deed (juv). Topeka, Kan.: Studentreasures Publishing, 2014. [Ill.]

Dunham, Rita. A Token for the Journey (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Xlibris, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Dunlap, Jan. Swift Justice (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Savage, Minn.] Dunn, Sharon. Top Secret Identity (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Iowa]

Durkee, R.C. Rum Run (N). Abbeville, S.C.: Moonshine Cove Publications, 2014. [Ohio]

Dwyer, Joseph F. Harvest the Bitter Root (N). S.l.: J. Dwyer, 2014. [Mo.]

Dybek, Stuart. Ecstatic Cahoots (S). NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2014.

—. Paper Lantern: Love Stories (S). NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Eastman, Dawn. Be Careful What You Witch For (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [Mich.] Eberle, Randy. Gemini (N). Indianapolis: R. Eberle, 2014. [Ind.]

Edminson, Amy, et al. Patchwork (P; S). Mankato, Minn.: Bethany Lutheran College, 2014. Eide, Duane A. Leaving Home (N). Bloomington, Ind.: iUniverse, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.] Ellis, Mary Relindes. The Bohemian Flats (N). Minneapolis: U Minnesota P, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Ellison, Joan Jarvis. Tangled Web (N). Pelican Rapids, Minn.: Northcroft, 2014. [Minn.]

Ellory, Roger Jon. Carnival of Shadows (N). London: Orion, 2014. [Kan.]

Engelhard, Jack. The Girls of Cincinnati (N). Terrace, B.C.: DayRay, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio] Enger, Lin. The High Divide (N). Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books, 2014.

Erhart, Peggy. Through My Grandmother's Eyes (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ohio]

Erickson, Mary Belardi. Barn Climbing (P). S.l.: M.B. Erickson, 2014.

Ernst, Kathleen. Tradition of Deceit (N). Woodbury, Minn.: Midnight Ink, 2014 [Minn.] Ervin, Tom see Declerca, Al

Eskens, Allen. The Life We Bury (N). Amherst, N.Y.: Seventh Street Books, 2014. [Minn.] Estleman, Loren D. Don't Look for Me (N). NY: Forge, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

- -. Ragtime Cowboys (N). NY: Forge, 2014.
- -. You Know Who Killed Me (N). NY: Forge, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Etter, Dave. The Yellow House (P). Northfield, Minn.: Red Dragonfly Press, 2014.

Eulberg, Elizabeth. Better off Friends (juv). NY: Scholastic, 2014. [Wis.]

Evans, Tabor. Longarm and the Whiskey Runners (N). NY: Jove Books, 2014. [Mo.]

Fanetti, Susan. All the Sky (N). S.l.: Freak Circus Press, 2014. [Mo.]

- -. Alone on Earth (N). S.l.: Freak Circus Press, 2014. [Mo.]
- —. Into the Storm (N). S.l.: Freak Circus Press, 2014. [Mo.]

```
-. Leave a Trail (N). S.1.: Freak Circus Press, 2014. [Mo.]
```

-. Show the Fire (N). S.l.: Freak Circus Press, 2014. [Mo.]

Farrell, Jamie. The Husband Games (N). S.l.: J. Farrell, 2014. [Ill.]

Ferguson, Paul-Thomas. Watershed (N). Rock Island, Ill.: Necropolis Press, 2014. [Ill.]

Ferrell, Suzanne. Vanished (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Columbus, Ohio]

Ferris, Joshua. To Rise Again at a Decent Hour (N). NY: Little, Brown, 2014.

Ferris, Monica. The Drowning Spool (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [Minn.]

Finkbeiner, Susie. *My Mother's Chamomile* (N). Cumberland, Md.: WhiteFire Publishing, 2014. [Mich.]

Fisher, Benuel M. *Kansas Prairie Doctor* (N). New Holland, Pa.: Fisher Publishing, 2014. [Kan.] Fisher, Dave P. *Jury of Six* (N). Waterville, Me.: Five Star, 2014. [Neb.]

Fisk, Makenzi. Just Intuition (N). S.1.: Mischievous Books, 2014. [Minn.]

Flanagan, Robert. Story Hour & Other Stories (S). Huron, Ohio: Bottom Dog Press, 2014.

Fleming, Tom. Prairie Tapestry (N). Austin, Tex.: Lindsey Creek Press, 2014. [Kan.]

Flint, David Burton. Deadmen on the Missouri (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mo.]

Florio, Gwen. Dakota (N). Sag Harbor, N.Y.: Permanent Press, 2014. [N.D.]

Flower, Amanda. A Plain Malice (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ohio]

Floyd, Antwan. *Dope Fiction: Alpha Female* (N). Minneapolis: Bleeding Pen, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.]

Floyd, Jacie. *Cursed by Love* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio] —. *Meet Your Mate* (N). S.I.: J. Floyd, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Fluke, Joanne. The Blackberry Pie Murder (N). NY: Kensington Books, 2014. [Minn.]

Fontaine, Elizabeth. Eagle Peak (juv). Rio Rancho, N.M.: PRIZM, 2014. [Minn.]

Foster, Lori. No Limits (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin Books, 2014. [Ohio]

Fox, Mae. Pattern of Betrayal (N). Berne, Ind.: Annies, 2014. [Mo.]

Frahmann, Dennis. The Finnish Girl (N). Cambria, Calif.: Loon Town Books, 2014. [Wis.]

Frazier, Darnetta. Focus (N). S.l.: Honorable Menchan Media, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio]

Fredrick, J.L. Piano Man (N). Poynette, Wis.: Lovstad Publishing, 2014. [Baraboo, Wis.]

Fredrickson, Gordon W. Farm Country Moments (P). Edina, Minn.: Beaver's Pond Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Fredrickson, Jack. Silence the Dead (N). Sutton: Severn House, 2014. [Ill.]

Freese, Tera. Remind Me That I'm Wild (P). Asheville, N.C.: Master Key Press, 2014. [Duluth, Minn.]

Friman, Alice. *The View from Saturn* (P). Baton Rouge: Louisiana State U P, 2014.

Fritz, Anne Marie (N). Mary Jane (N). Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing, 2014. [Minn.]

Gage, Camille J., ed. *One Minneapolis: A City in Verse* (P). Minneapolis: s.n., 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Gaiman, Neil. The Sleeper and the Spindle (juv). London: Bloomsbury, 2014.

Galaviz-Budziszewski, Alexai. *Painted Cities* (S). San Francisco: McSweeney's, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Gallagher, Peter. Requiem for Rosco (N). Chicago: Ampersand, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Gallaher, John. In a Landscape (P). Rochester, N.Y.: BOA Editions, 2014.

Gallanis, Peter J. *The Reporter: Redemption* (N). Bradenton, Fla.: Abuzz Press, 2014. [Palatine, Ill.]

—. The Reporter: Rise and Fall (N). Bradenton, Fla.: Abuzz Press, 2014. [Palatine, Ill.]

Gard, Rosemary. *Destiny's Dance* (N). Bradenton, Fla.: BookLocker.com, 2014. [Gary, Ind.] Gardner, Kenneth C. "And All Our Yesterdays..." (S). Bloomington, Ind.: iUniverse, 2014. [N.D.]

Garland, Bob. *Buffoonery on Woodhouse Avenue* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [St. Paul, Minn.]

Garlock, Dorothy. *Take Me Home* (N). NY: Grand Central Publishing, 2014. [Wis.]

Garrett, A.D. Believe No One (N). London: C&R Crime, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

```
Garrett, Brad. Kicking with Kennedy (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]
Garrity, Kevin J. Unclaimed Persons (N). West Bloomfield, Mich.: Hammer Handle, 2014.
   [Detroit, Mich.]
```

Garson, Chris. Perk Noir (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Shaker Heights, Ohio] Gaspard, John. The Bullet Catch (N). Dallas, Tex.: Henery Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Gatch, Judith Toombs. 60 Mound Street (juv). Milford, Ohio: J. Gatch, 2014. [Ohio]

Gatling, Rachael. Your Iowa Grandmother's Recipe Book (N). Raleigh, N.C.: Lulu, 2014.

Gebben, Claire. The Last of the Blacksmiths (N). Seattle: Coffeetown Press, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio]

Gee, Darien. An Avalon Christmas (N). Kamuela, Hawaii: Gee & Co., 2014. [Ill.]

Gehlert, Edward. Dark Harvest (N). Holiday Shores, Ill.: New Babel Books, 2014. [Mo.]

Gerber, Carole. The Twelve Days of Christmas in Ohio (juv). NY: Sterling Children's Books, 2014. [Ohio]

Gerry, Barbara. Rockford Sock Monkey Tales (juv). Rockford, Ill.: Jungle Wagon Press, 2014. [Ill.] Gettelman, Nancy. Mysteries Have No Borders (N). S.I.: Nightengale Press, 2014. [Milwaukee, Wis.]

Geuss, William. Finding the Way Home (S). S.l.: Backcourt Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Gibson, David J. Shrink-Wrapped and "Way off-Broadway" (N). Cedar Falls, Iowa: Rancho el Mecca News Press, 2014. [Iowa]

Gibson, Julia Mary. Copper Magic (N). NY: Starscape, 2014. [Mich.]

Giddens, Sherrie. Savannah (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

Gilliland, Eric. Swept Away (N). Belton, Mo.: Felony Books, 2014. [Columbus, Ohio]

Giordano, Adrienne. The Defender (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

-. The Prosecutor (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Giorgio, Michael. Justice Comes Home (N). Castroville, Tex.: Black Rose Writing, 2014. [Wis.] Giscombe, C.S. Ohio Railroads (P). Richmond, Calif.: Omnidawn Publishing, 2014. [Ohio]

Glaz, Linda S. The Preacher's New Family (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Dak.]

Glazer, J.B. Out in the Open (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Gligor, Patricia. Desperate Deeds (N). Cincinnati: Post Mortem Press, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Glomstead, Ginger K. Spinning a Good Yarn (N). S.I.: CBHE Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Gloss, Susan. Vintage (N). NY: William Morrow, 2014. [Madison, Wis.]

Goeglein, T.M. Embers & Ash (juv). NY: G.P. Putnam's Sons, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Goldberg, Tod. Gangsterland (N). Berkeley, Calif.: Counterpoint, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Golden, Karen Anne. The Cats That Chased the Storm (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

-. The Cats That Told a Fortune (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.] Gonzalez, Ray. Soul Over Lightning (P). Tucson: U Arizona P, 2014.

Goodman, Ronald I. Inn of the Everlasting Vacancy (N). S.l.: R. Goodman, 2014. [Mo.]

Gorczyca, Jacob. *Theory of Mind* (N). Little Elm, Tex.: eLectio Publishing, 2014. [Mich.]

Gorman, Ed. Riders on the Storm (N). NY: Pegasus Crime, 2014. [Iowa]

Gormley, Amelia C. Saugatuck Summer (N). Hillsborough, N.J.: Riptide Publishing, 2014. [Mich.]

Gossett, Gigi. The Midwife Factor (N). Bloomington, Ind.: iUniverse, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio] Gouge, Louise M. Then Came Love (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

Grace, Alexa. Profile of Terror (N). S.l.: A. Grace, 2014. [Ind.]

Graham, Vicki. The Hummingbird's Tongue (P). Red Wing, Minn.: Red Dragonfly Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Granger, Diana. Wake up Call (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]

Gray, Helen. Ozark Reunion (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Mo.]

- -. Ozark Sweetheart (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Mo.]
- —. Ozark Wedding (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Mo.]

Gray, Shelley Shepard. *Hopeful* (N). NY: Avon Inspire, 2014. [Ohio]

```
-. Secrets of Sloane House (N). Grand Rapids, Mich.: Zondervan, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
```

—. Snowfall: A Days of Redemption Christmas Novella (N). NY: Avon Inspire, 2014. [Ohio]

-. Thankful (N). NY: Avon Inspire, 2014. [Ohio]

Grayson, K.L. Where We Belong (N). S.l.: K. Grayson, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

Green, Kat. First Contact (N). Middletown, N.J.: Crescent Moon Press, 2014. [Waukesha, Wis.]

Green, Kate. *Tourist in the Pure Land* (P). Duluth, Minn.: Holy Cow! Press, 2014. [Minn.] Green, Tim. *First Team* (juv). NY: Harper, 2014. [Ohio]

Greenburg, Bradley. *When Lilacs Last in the Dooryard Bloomed* (N). Dingwall, Scotland: Sandstone Press, 2014. [Ind.]

Gregoire, Marilyn. Prayers for Anna (N). Grand Forks, N.D.: M. Gregoire, 2014. [N.D.]

Grengs, Barbara. *Toby Martin: State Fair Security* (juv). Cambridge, Md.: Cambridge Books, 2014. [St. Paul, Minn.]

Grey, S.R. Never Doubt Me (N). Pennsylvania: S. Grey, 2014. [Ohio]

Griffin, Donna. The Twelve Days of Christmas in Indiana (juv). NY: Sterling Children's Books, 2014. [Ind.]

Griffo, Michael. Starfall (juv). NY: Kensington Publishing, 2014. [Neb.]

Gross, Larry. Vevay, Indiana (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Vevay, Ind.]

Grover, Linda LeGarde. *The Road Back to Sweetgrass* (N). Minneapolis: U Minnesota P, 2014. [Minn.]

Groves, Melody. Kansas Bleeds (N). Waterville, Me.: Five Star, 2014. [Kan.; Mo.]

Grush, Byron. Romeo's Revenge and Other Wisconsin Stories (S). Delavan, Wis.: Broadhorn, 2014. [Wis.]

Gudenkauf, Heather. Little Mercies (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin Mira, 2014. [Iowa]

Gulley, Philip. A Place Called Hope (N). NY: Center Street, 2014. [Ind.]

Gunn, Elizabeth. Noontime Follies (N). Sutton: Severn House, 2014. [Minn.]

Gunn, Redrae. Needing More (N). Austin, Tex.: Siren Publishing, 2014. [N.D.]

Gutteridge, Rene. Old Fashioned (N). Carol Stream, Ill.: Tyndale House, 2014. [Ohio]

Hackman, Gene. Pursuit (N). NY: Pocket Books, 2014. [Mo.]

Haessly, A.T. The Beginning of War (N). Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse, 2014. [Wis.]

Hagen, Bethany. Landry Park (juv). NY: Dial Books for Young Readers, 2014. [Kansas City, Mo.]

Hager, Faye E. Leo and the Listener (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Lebanon, Ohio]

Hager, J.C. Hunter's Witness (N). Rapid River, Mich.: Greenstone Publishing, 2014. [Mich.]

Hahn, Catherine Rhodes. A Michigan Yankee Marches with Sherman: A Union Soldier's Spiritual Journey (N). Grand Rapids, Mich.: Sheliday Publishing, 2014. [Mich.]

Hale, Kathleen. No One Else Can Have You (juv). NY: HarperTeen, 2014. [Wis.]

Haley, Karen J. Smiling at Heaven (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Kan.]

Hall, Marilyn L.R. *Pray for Us Sinners* (N). College Station, Tex.: Virtualbookworm, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Hall, Markita. *The Real Housewives of Section 8* (N). S.l: Write House Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Hall, Michael R. The Shaman of the Alligewi (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Trafford Publishing, 2014. [Ohio]

Halleson, R.Z. God's Child: The Origin of Fear (N). Evanston, Ill.: R. Halleson, 2014. [Wis.] —. God's Child: Unraveling (N). Evanston, Ill.: R. Halleson, 2014. [Wis.]

Hanley, James. *The Calling* (N). Denver, Colo.: 5 Prince Publishing, 2014. [Kan.]

Hannah, Andrea. Of Scars and Stardust (juv). Woodbury, Minn.: Flux, 2014. [Ohio]

Hannigan, Kate. *Cupcake Cousins* (juv). Los Angeles: Disney/Hyperion Books, 2014. [Saugatuck, Mich.]

Hansen, Annie. Bean in Love (N). S.l.: HF Publishing, 2014. [Geneva, Ill.]

— . Give Me Chocolate (N). Bourbonnais, Ill.: Weaving Dreams Publishing, 2013. [Geneva, Ill.]

Haring, Jo. *Annamanda* (N). Cape Girardeau, Mo.: Southeast Missouri State U P, 2014. [Mo.] Harmon, Brian. *Rushed: Something Wicked* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.] — *Rushed: The Unseen* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]

Harper, Karen. Forbidden Ground (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin MIRA, 2014. [Ohio] —. Shattered Secrets (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin MIRA, 2014. [Ohio]

Harrison, Jon. *The Banks of Certain Rivers* (N). Seattle, Wash.: Lake Union Publishing, 2014. [Mich.]

Harrison, Kim. *The Undead Pool* (N). NY: Harper Voyager, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio] —. *The Witch with No Name* (N). NY: Harper Voyager, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Hart, Ellen. *The Old Deep and Dark* (N). NY: Minotaur Books, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.] Hart, Regina. *Harmony Cabins* (N). NY: Kensington Books, 2014. [Ohio]

Hartley, Michael D. Deadfall (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Abbott Press, 2014. [S.D.]

Harvkey, Mike. In the Course of Human Events (N). Berkeley, Calif.: Soft Skull Press, 2014. [Mo.] Haskins, Selena. A River Moves Forward (N). Capitol Heights, Md.: Calidream, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Hattemer, Kate. The Vigilante Poets of Selwyn Academy (juv). NY: Alfred A. Knopf, 2014.
[Minn.]

Hautman, Pete. The Klaatu Terminus (juv). Somerville, Mass.: Candlewick Press, 2014.

Haven, Rumer. Seven for a Secret (N). Los Angeles, Calif.: Omnific Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Hawkins, Amy Jo. *It Doesn't Have to Be That Way* (N). St. Charles, Mo.: Remarkable Press, 2014. [Mo.]

Hawkins, Margaret. Lydia's Party (N). NY: Viking, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Hazelgrove, William. Real Santa (N). Virginia Beach, Va.: Koehler Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
 Hazelwood, Ann Watkins. The Ghostly Quilts on Main (N). Paducah, Ky.: American Quilter's Society, 2014. [Mo.]

Heal, Deborah. Once Again (N). S.l.: Write Brain Books, 2014. [Ill.]

Hedlund, Jody. Captured by Love (N). Minneapolis: Bethany House, 2014. [Mackinac Island, Mich.]

-. Love Unexpected (N). Minneapolis: Bethany House, 2014. [Mich.]

Heers, Alli see Susedik, Tina

Helget, Nicole Lea. Stillwater (N). Boston: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt, 2014. [Minn.]

Hellberg, Dustin. Squirrel Haus (N). Winchester, Hants.: Roundfire Books, 2014. [Iowa]

Hellenga, Robert. *The Confessions of Frances Godwin* (N). NY: Bloomsbury USA, 2014. [Midwest]

Heller, Jean. *The Someday File* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Hellman, Dene. *The Ninety-Ninth Reunion* (N). Kernersville, N.C.: Cut Above Books, 2014. [Iowa]

Hellmann, Libby Fischer. *Nobody's Child* (N). Chicago: Red Herrings Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Hendricks, Jacqueline. *The Dance* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

—. The Rainbow (N). Boulder, Colo.: J. Hendricks, 2014. [Ind.]

-. The Shelter (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

Hendrix, Grady. Horrorstör (N). Philadelphia: Quirk Books, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio]

Henry, Christina. Black Spring (N). NY: Ace Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Herbach, Geoff. Fat Boy vs the Cheerleaders (juv). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks Fire, 2014. [Minn.]

Hernandez, Lolita. *Making Callaloo in Detroit* (S). Detroit: Wayne State U P, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Herschbach, Dennis. *A River through Two Harbors* (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Two Harbors, Minn.]

Hershberger, Jo. Windfall (N). Denver, Colo.: Outskirts Press, 2014. [Ill.]

```
Heyden, Josephine Wolf. Torn Pages (N). Raleigh, N.C.: Lulu, 2014. [Wis.]
Heynen, Jim. Ordinary Sins: After Theophrastus (S). Minneapolis: Milkweed Editions, 2014.
Heywood, Joseph. Mountains of the Misbegotten (N). Guilford, Conn.: Lyons Press, 2014.
   [Mich.]
Higgins, Kyle and Alec Siegel. C.O.W.L.: Principles of Power (N). Berkeley, Calif.: Image
   Comics, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
Hilberry, Conrad. Until the Full Moon Has Its Say (P). Detroit: Wayne State U P, 2014.
Hill, Denise. Double Crossed (N). Indianapolis: DH Publishing, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.]
Hill, Russell. Mesabi Pioneers (N). Albuquerque, N.M.: Lempi Publishing, 2014. [Minn.]
Hill, Ted. Sudden Independents (N). Franklin, Tenn.: Permuted Press, 2014. [Neb.]
Hillmann, Bill. The Old Neighborhood (N). Chicago: Curbside Splendor, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
Hilton, Laura V. A White Christmas in Webster County (N). New Kensington, Pa.: Whitaker
   House, 2014. [III.]
Hoag, Tami. Cold Cold Heart (N). NY: Dutton, 2014.
Hoffman, Brenda L. The Lake Dweller (N). Indianapolis: B.L. Hoffman, 2014. [Ind.]
Hokenson, Terry. Leif's Journey (juv). South Hampton, N.H.: Namelos, 2014. [Minn.]
Holden, Kim. Bright Side (N). S.l.: Do Epic, 2014. [Minn.]
Hollenback, Chris. Sleep When You're Dead (N). Green Bay, Wis.: TitleTown, 2014. [Green
   Bay, Wis.1
Holm, Catherine Dybiec. The Great Purr (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Minn.]
Holmes, Katherine L. Josiah's Apple Orchard (juv). Duluth, Minn.: Couchgrass Books,
   2014. [Wis.]
Homel, David. The Fledglings (N). Toronto: Cormorant Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
Housewright, David. The Devil May Care (N). NY: Minotaur Books, 2014. [Minn.]
—. Full House (S). Lutz, Fla.: Down and Out Books, 2014. [Minn.]
Houston, Victoria. Dead Lil' Hustler (N). Blue Ash, Ohio: Tyrus Books, 2014. [Wis.]
Houts, Michelle. The Practical County Drama Queen (juv). Quebec: MuseItUp, 2014. [Ind.]
Hovey, Dean L. Undeveloped (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Minn.]
Hovley, Margot.
                  Glimmering Light (N). American Fork, Utah: Covenant, 2014.
   [Independence, Mo.]
Howard, Carolyn. Faith Healer's Daughter (N). Sudbury, Mass.: EBookIt.com, 2014. [Ind.]
Howard, Richard. A Progressive Education (P). NY: Turtle Point Press, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio]
Hruba, Kim. Elevator Girl (N). Minneapolis: Wise Ink, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]
Hubalek, Linda K. Tying the Knot (N). Linsborg, Kan.: Butterfield Books, 2014. [Kan.]
Hubbard, Charlotte. Breath of Spring (N). NY: Zebra Books, 2014. [Mo.]
Hudson, C.J. Turf Warz (N). S.l.: C. Hudson, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio]
Hughes, Declan. All the Things You Are (N). Sutton: Severn House, 2014. [Madison, Wis.]
Hunter, Denise. Barefoot Summer (N). Nashville, Tenn.: Thomas Nelson, 2013. [Ind.]
Hunter, Julius K. Priscilla & Babe (N). St. Louis, Mo.: Bluebird Publishing, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]
Hupton, Nick. Stone Ridge (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Minn.]
Hurt, Rochelle. The Rusted City (P). Buffalo, N.Y.: White Wine Press, 2014. [Midwest]
Hurwitz, Michele Weber. The Summer I Saved the World-in 65 Days (juv). NY: Wendy
   Lamb Books, 2014. [Ill.]
Husom, Christine, et al., eds. Festival of Crime (S). Minneapolis: Nodin Press, 2014. [Minn.]
```

Ickler, Glenn. Killing Fair (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Minn.]Ifkovic, Edward. The Colored Artist (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Clemens, Samuel L.]

— Final Curtain (N). Scottsdale, Ariz.: Poisoned Pen Press, 2014. [Ferber, Edna] Imagine This!: An ArtPrize Anthology (A). Grand Rapids, Mich.: Chapbook Press, 2014. Ingram, Paul. The Lost Clerihews of Paul Ingram (P). Iowa City, Iowa: Ice Cube Press, 2014. Isbell, Megan Nugen. Far from Home (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Kan.]

- Isenhoff, Michelle. *Blood of Pioneers* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wayland, Mich.]
- Ivancic, Stephen M. *Incident at the Blue Mine Shaft* (N). Eau Claire, Wis.: Monarch Tree, 2014. [Minn.]
- Ivery, Angela. *Papa, Take My Hand* (juv). Detroit, Mich.: Esteem Multimedia, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]
- Ivy, Alexandra. Born in Blood (N). NY Kensington Publishing Co., 2014. [Kansas City, Kan.]
- J., Coco. Love and Betrayal (N). Tallahassee, Fla.: Sullivan Productions, 2013. [Detroit, Mich.]
 Love and Betrayal 2 (N). Tallahassee, Fla.: Sullivan Productions, 2013. [Detroit, Mich.]
 Jablonski, Petronius. Schrödinger's Dachshund (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Milwaukee, Wis.]
- Jackson, A.L., et al. When We Met (S). NY: New American Library, 2014. [Mich.]

Jackson, Dave see Jackson, Neta

- Jackson, James M. Cabin Fever (N). Vancouver, Wash.: Barking Rain Press, 2014. [Mich.] Jackson, Mickey. Once (N). Grand Rapids, Mich.: Blink, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
- Jackson, Neta and Dave Jackson. *Penny Wise* (N). Evanston, Ill.: Castle Rock Creative, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
- and Dave Jackson. Pound Foolish (N). Evanston, Ill.: Castle Rock Creative, 2014.
 [Chicago, Ill.]
- Jadlow, Sally. *The Late Sooner's Daughter* (N). Denton, Tex.: Roots & Branches, 2014. [Mo.] Jaffe, Michele. *Minders* (juv). NY: Razorbill, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]
- Jagears, Melissa. A Bride in Store (N). Minneapolis: Bethany House, 2014. [Kan.]
- James, David. No Way to Stop the Bleeding (P). Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press, 2014. [Mich.]
- James, Elle. Christmas at Thunder Horse Ranch (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin, 2014. [N.D.]
 James, Eric. A Halloween Scare in Chicago (juv). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks
 Jabberwocky, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
- —. A Halloween Scare in Indiana (juv). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks Jabberwocky, 2014. [Ind.]
- —. A Halloween Scare in Iowa (juv). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks Jabberwocky, 2014. [Iowa]
- —. A Halloween Scare in Michigan (juv). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks Jabberwocky, 2014. [Mich.]
- —. A Halloween Scare in Minnesota (juv). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks Jabberwocky, 2014. [Minn.]
- . A Halloween Scare in Wisconsin (juv). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks Jabberwocky, 2014. [Wis.] James, Margaret. Magic Sometimes Happens (N). Camberley, Surrey: Choc Lit, 2014. [Minn.] James, Steven. Blur (juv). NY: Skyscape, 2014. [Wis.]
- James, Stewart. Super PAC Dark Money Fracking: The Redemption of Parker Moore (N). Petoskey, Mich.: Mitchell Street Press, 2014. [Mich.]
- Janney, Rosemary. Audelia's Adventures (juv). S.l.: Crack of Dawn Publishing, 2014. [Wis.]
 Jay, Johnie. Inevitable, Act II (N). San Antonio, Tex.: Delphine Publications, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]
- Jenkins, Beverly. Heart of Gold (N). NY: William Morrow, 2014. [Kan.]
- Jenkins, Suzanne. Christmas in Greektown (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.
 [Detroit, Mich.]
- The Liberation of Ravenna Morton (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.
 [Saugatuck, Mich.]
- Jennings, Regina. A Most Inconvenient Marriage (N). Minneapolis: Bethany House, 2014. [Mo.] Jensen, K.B. Painting with Fire (N). Chicago: Crimson Cloud Media, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
- Jeter, Derek. The Contract (juv). NY: Simon & Schuster, 2014. [Kalamazoo, Mich.]
- Joern, Pamela Carter. In Reach (S). Lincoln: U Nebraska P, 2014. [Neb.]
- Johns, Madison. Target of Death (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mich.]

Treasure in Tawas (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [East Tawas, Mich.]
Johnson, Brandi. Powder Blu (N). Wyandanch, N.Y.: Urban Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
Johnson, Christine. Groom by Design (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Mich.]
Suitor by Design (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Mich.]

Johnson, Derrick. *Street Kingz* (N). Minneapolis: Street Life Publishing, 2014. [Milwaukee, Wis.] Johnson, Diane. *Flyover Lives* (M). NY: Viking, 2014. [Moline, Ill.]

Johnson, Joy. *From the Eye of the Moose* (N). S.l.: Centering Corporation, 2014. [Neb.] Johnson, Melissa Fite. *While the Kettle's* On (P). Pittsburg, Kan.: Little Balkans Press, 2014. [Kan.]

Jollymore, Tim. *Listener in the Snow* (N). Oakland, Calif.: Finns Way Books, 2014. [Minn.] Jones, A.E. *Mind Sweeper* (N). S.I.: Gabby Reads Publishing, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio] Jones, Arlene Swift. *No Stones in Heaven* (N). Troy, N.Y.: Troy Book Makers, 2014. [Iowa]

Jones, Bella. Love Ain't Loyal (N). S.l.: TBRS Publications, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Jones, Keilon. Queen Pin: *Hustler's Wife* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Jones, Laura Reasoner. Eel River Rising (N). Sarasota, Fla.: First Edition Design, 2014.
[Midwest]

Jones, Patrick. At All Costs (juv). Minneapolis: Darby Creek, 2014. [Ohio]

-. Out of the Tunnel (juv). Minneapolis: Darby Creek, 2014. [Ohio]

Jones, Wayne Allen, et al., eds. *Skylines: the Poets' Club of Chicago 78th Anniversary Anthology* (P). Chicago: Poets' Club of Chicago, 2014.

Jordan, J. Mark. Morgan County Morning (N). S.l.: Our Written Lives of Hope, 2014. [Ohio] Joslin, J. Michael. Jacob's Ladder of Vengeance (N). Bradenton, Fla.: BookLocker.com, 2014. [Kan.]

Judge, Kimbeth Wehrli. *The FlipSide* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Just, Ward. *American Romantic* (N). Boston: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt, 2014.

Kahn, Michael. *Face Value* (N). Scottsdale, Ariz.: Poisoned Pen Press, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.] Kai, Naleighna. *Open Door Marriage* (N). S.l.: Brown Girls Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Kaiser, Kris. *Proclivity* (N). Aurora, Colo.: Birchback Publications, 2014. [Iowa]

Kansas Voices: Winning Entries from 2014 (P; S). Winfield, Kan.: Winfield Arts & Humanities Council, 2014. [Kan.]

Kapp, George. My Friend, the Hitman (N). Milwaukee, Wis.: Three Towers Press, 2014. [Wis.]
Kasischke, Laura. The Infinitesimals (P). Port Townsend, Wash.: Copper Canyon Press, 2014.
—. Mind of Winter (N) NY: Harper, 2014. [Mich.]

Katcher, Brian. Everyone Dies in the End (N). Austin, Tex.: Dark Continents, 2014. [Columbia, Mo.]

Kehoe, Tim. Furious Jones and the Assassin's Secret (juv). NY: Simon & Schuster, 2014. [Ill.; Ohio]

Keiffer, Kathy. *The Adventures of the Hobby Farm Family* (N). Little Elm, Tex.: eLectio Publishing, 2014. [Ind.]

Keillor, Garrison. The Keillor Reader (A). NY: Viking Press, 2014.

Keithley, Zoe. *The Calling of Mother Adelli* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.] Kekec, John. *Fire in the Hole* (N). Castroville, Tex.: Black Rose Writing, 2014. [Kan.]

Keller, Jessica. The Widower's Second Chance (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Mich.]

Kelly, Dasha. *Call It Forth* (P; S). Milwaukee: Mpact Communications, 2014. [Wis.]

Kenealy, Ryan. *Animals in Peril* (S). Chicago: Curbside Splendor Publishing, 2014. [Midwest]

Kenemore, Scott. Zombie, Indiana (N). NY: Talos Press, 2014. [Ind.]

Kenerly, Shaunta. *The Game Ain't Over* (N). Pittsburg, Calif.: AMB Publishing, 2014. [Dayton, Ohio]

Kennedy, Ed. The Zone (N). Raleigh, N.C.: Lulu, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Kery, Beth. Since I Saw You. NY: Berkley Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Khadijah and Carl Anderson. *The Forbidden Fruit* (N). S.l.: All In Publishing, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Kilburn, Mark D. Last Song (N). Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing, 2014. [Neb.]

Killeen, Dan. Tillie & Clementine (juv). St. Louis, Mo.: Happy Fun Books, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

Killeen, Kevin. Try to Kiss a Girl (N). St. Louis, Mo.: Blank Slate Press, 2014. [Mich.]

Kilmer-Jackson, Kate. Manito (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Trafford Publishing, 2014. [III]

Kilzer, Lou and Mark Boyden. Fatal Redemption. NY: Enigmas Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
Kincaid, Juliet W. January Jinx (N). Overland Park, Kan.: Azure Sky Press, 2014. [Kansas City, Mo.]

King, Stephen. Mr. Mercedes (N). NY: Scribner, 2014. [Midwest]

Kinsey, Madalyn S. *The Ghost of Cheeney Creek* (juv). Indianapolis: Dog Ear Publishing, 2014. [Ind.]

Kirby, Alan F. *In the Shadow of the Water Tower* (N). Minneapolis: Mill City Press, 2014. [Ind.] Kleinfeld, Lenny. *Some Dead Genius* (N). S.l.: Niaux-Noir Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Klinkenberg, Dean. *Rock Island Lines* (N). St. Louis, Mo.: Travel Passages, 2014. [Ill.; Iowa]

Klise, James. *The Art of Secrets* (juv). Chapel Hill, N.C.: Algonquin Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Klumpers, Anita. Winter Watch (N). S.l.: Prism Book Group, 2014. [Wis.]

Knizley, Skye. Fresh Blood (N). Novi, Mich.: Vamptasy Publishing, 2014. [St. Charles, Mo.] —. Stormwind (N). Novi, Mich.: Vamptasy Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Knox, Annie. Groomed for Murder (N). NY: Obsidian, 2014. [Minn.]

Kohagen, Axel see Booth, Roy C.

Kooser, Ted. Splitting an Order (P). Port Townsend, Wash.: Copper Canyon Press, 2014.

-. The Wheeling Year (M). Lincoln: U Nebraska P, 2014.

Kostoff, Lynn. Words to Die For (N). Key West, Fla.: New Pulp Press, 2014. [Ind.]

Kraack, Cynthia. The High Cost of Flowers (N). Minneapolis: Calumet Editions, 2014. [Minn.]

-. Leaving Ashwood (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Kramer, Julie. *Delivering Death* (N). NY: Emily Bestler Books, Atria, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Kraus, Susan. All God's Children (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Topeka, Kan.]

Krause, Ervin D. You Will Never See Any God (S). Lincoln: U Nebraska P, 2014. [Neb.]

Krengel, Matthew J. *The Map Maker's Quest* (juv). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Duluth, Minn.]

Krosoczka, Jarrett. *The Ostrich Conspiracy* (juv). NY: Walden Pond Press, 2014. [Kalamazoo, Mich.]

Krueger, William Kent. Windigo Island (N). NY: Atria Books, 2014. [Minn.]

Kruk, Janet Irene. Teena (N). La Farge, Wis.: Greenhollow Publishing, 2014. [Wis.]

Kubica, Mary. The Good Girl (N). Toronto: Mira Books, 2014. [Minn.]

Kuntz, Wanda Kennedy. Kennedy Music (N). Brentwood, Mo.: Gene Del Publications, 2014. [Mo.]

Laberje, Reji. *Max Explores Chicago* (juv). Chicago: Triumph Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Ladd, Linda. *Bad Bones* (N). NY: Kensington Publishing, 2014. [Mo.]

Lambert, Christophe. *Aucun Homme n'est une Île* (N). Paris: Editions J'ai Lu, 2014. [Hemingway Ernest]

Lancaster, Jen. Twisted Sisters (N). NY: New American Library, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Landvik, Lorna. Best to Laugh (N). Minneapolis: U Minnesota P, 2014. [Minn.]

Langtry, Leslie. Merit Badge Murder (N). Los Gatos, Calif.: Gemma Halliday, 2014. [Iowa]

Lanz, D.D. Going, Going, Gone (N). Minneapolis: Two Harbors Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Lapides, Ted. *The New Adventure of Farrell Ryder* (N). Gainesville, Fla.: Fine Images, 2014. [Ohio]

LaRose, P.M. First Case of Beers (N). Anoka, Minn.: 40 Press, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Laukkanen, Owen. Kill Fee (N). NY: G.P. Putnam's Sons, 2014. [St. Paul, Minn.]

Launer, L.J. Rurals and Townies (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [St. Charles, Mo.]

—. Rurals Rule: Molly's Revenge (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [St. Charles, Mo.]

Lawson, Jessica. *The Actual & Truthful Adventures of Becky Thatcher* (juv). NY: Simon & Schuster Books for Young Readers, 2014. [Hannibal, Mo.]

Lawton, Sue. *The Fire Keepers* (juv). Brookfield, Wis.: S.L. Wilson Center for the Arts, 2014. [Wis.]

Leasure, Robert. Billy Meets the Babe (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ohio]

 A Young Man's Adventures Growing up with Little League Baseball (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ohio]

Leatherman, Mary Kay. *Vanity Insanity* (N). Omaha, Neb.: Blue Wave Press, 2014. [Omaha, Neb.] Lee, Marlene. *Limestone Wall* (N). Newbury, Berks.: Holland House, 2014. [Jefferson City, Mo.] Lees, Arlette. *Code of Silence* (N). Leicester: Thorpe, 2014. [Wis.]

Lenz Muente, Tamera. *The Boy at the Museum* (N). Erlanger, Ky.: Tableaux, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Lenzo, Lisa. Strange Love (S). Detroit: Wayne State U P, 2014.

Leonard, Peter. Eyes Closed Tight (N). Stamford, Conn.: Story Plant, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Lerner, Scott A. Ruler of Demons (N). Seattle, Wash.: Camel Press, 2014. [Urbana, Ill.]

Leuthardt, Eric C. RedDevil 4 (N). NY: Forge Books, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

Levine, Kristin. *The Paper Cowboy* (juv). NY: Putnam Juvenile, 2014. [Downers Grove, Ill.] Levinson, Robert S. *Finders, Keepers, Losers, Weepers* (N). Waterville, Me.: Five Star, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.]

Lewis, Beverly see Lewis, David

Lewis, David and Beverly Lewis. *Child of Mine* (N). Minneapolis: Bethany House, 2014. [Ohio] Lewis, J.T. *Murder!: Too Close to Home* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

Lewis, Tracey Michae'l. *The Next Thing Is Joy* (N). S.l.: Brown Girls Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Lewis, Trudy. The Empire Rolls (N). Springfield, Mo.: Moon City Press, 2014. [Mo.]

Li, Yiyun. Kinder Than Solitude (N). NY: Random House, 2014. [Madison, Wis.]

Liljeblad, Patsy. *Musings of an Unquiet Mind* (P). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Duluth, Minn.]

Lingemann, Linda. Chasing My Sister's Shadow (N). Corvallis, Or.: WordWings, 2014. [Milwaukee, Wis.]

Linstrom, Steve. *The Murder Trial of the Last Lakota Warrior* (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [S.D.]

Little, Elizabeth. Dear Daughter (N). NY: Viking, 2014. [S.D.]

Littlefield, Sophie. House of Glass (N). Toronto: Mira Books, 2014. [Minn.]

- —. The Missing Place (N). NY: Gallery Books, 2014. [N.D.]
- -. The Moon Pool (N). London: Head of Zeus, 2014. [N.D.]

Lock, Norman. *The Boy in His Winter* (N). NY: Bellevue Literary Press, 2014. [Huckleberry Finn]

Locke, Bridget N. *Touch and Agree* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.] Lockwood, Patricia. *Motherland, Fatherland, Homelandsexuals* (P). NY: Penguin Books, 2014. Loecher, Eunice. *Root of Evil* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]

- -. Sin Lieth at the Door (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]
- -. A Subtle Serpent (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]

Loewenstein, Laurie. Unmentionables (N). NY: Akashic, 2014. [III.]

Logan, Kylie. *The Legend of Sleepy Harlow* (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [S. Bass Island, Ohio]

- —. A Tale of Two Biddies (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [South Bass Island, Ohio] Logan, Melissa. Backroad Reality (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]
- Crazy Girl (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]

-. Plastic Princess (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]

Logue, Mary. Lake of Tears (N). Blue Ash, Ohio: Tyrus Books, 2014. [Wis.]

Lohmann, Jennifer. A Promise for the Baby (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

London, Laura. Sunshine and Shadow (N). NY: Forever Yours, 2014. [Wis.]

Lone Hill, Dana. Pointing with Lips (N). Greenfield, Mass.: Blue Hand Books, 2014. [S.D.]

Lonsdorf, Linda. Don't Open the Door (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Xlibris, 2014. [Akron, Ohio]

Lourey, Jess. January Thaw (N). Woodbury, Minn.: Midnight Ink, 2014. [Minn.]

Lowe, Fiona. Runaway Groom (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Carina Press, 2014. [Wis.]

Löwenberg, Nele. Sommer der Wahrheit (N). Berlin: Ullstein, 2014. [Neb.]

Lowery, Darrin. *Congratulations X* (N). Chicago: Weekend Books Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

-. Love & Sex (N). Chicago: Weekend Books Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

—. The Mistress Rules (N). Chicago: Weekend Books Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Lowry, Dave. *Chinese Cooking for Diamond Thieves* (N). Boston: Mariner Books, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

Lundy, W.J. The Darkness (N). S.l.: Phalanx Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Luttrell, Esther. Double Jeopardy (S). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Topeka, Kan.]

Luzar, Candy. The Chest (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]

Lynne, Carol. *The Brick Yard* (N). Lincoln, Lincs.: Totally Bound Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Macallister, Greer. *The Magician's Lie* (N). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks Landmark, 2014. [Waterloo, Iowa]

McAloon, Peggy M. and Anneka Rogers. *Elle Burton and the Reflective Portals* (juv). Tucson, Ariz.: Wheatmark, 2014. [Menomonie, Wis.]

McAvoy, J.J. Ruthless People (N). Waxahachie, Tex.: TWCS Publishing House, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

McBride, Matthew. A Swollen Red Sun (N). NY: Open Road Media, 2014. [Mo.]

McBride, Susan. Mad as Helen (N). NY: Witness Impulse, 2014. [Ill.]

-. Not a Chance in Helen (N). NY: Witness Impulse, 2014. [III.]

—. To Helen Back (N). NY: Witness Impulse, 2014. [III.]

McClain, Kishauna. *Dying to Belong* (juv). Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

McClintock, Norah. From the Dead (juv). Victoria, B.C.: Orca Book Publishing, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

McClure, Wendy. Wanderville (juv). NY: Razorbill, 2014. [Kan.]

McCommons, K.K. Where Sun Meets Water (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Akron, Ohio]

McCoy, Robbi. The Farmer's Daughter (N). Tallahassee, Fla.: Bella Books, 2014. [Neb.]

McDaniel, RoseMary. Beckoning Bonneyville Mill & Other Fruithills Suspense Stories (S). Scottsdale, Ariz.: The Book Patch, 2014. [Bristol, Ind.]

 Murder at the Museum & Other Fruithills Suspense Stories (S). Scottsdale, Ariz.: The Book Patch, 2014. [Bristol, Ind.]

McDonough, Vickie. Song of the Prairie (N). New Kensington, Pa.: Whitaker House, 2014. [Kan.]

McElroy, Roland. *The Seventh Messenger* (N). Falls Church, Va.: McElroy & Associates, 2914. [Mich.]

McEvoy, John. *High Stakes* (N). Scottsdale, Ariz.: Poisoned Pen Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] McGauley, Pat. *The Last Moran* (N). Hibbing, Minn.: JPM Publishing, 2014. [Hibbing, Minn.]

McGuire, Seanan. Half-Off Ragnarok (N). NY: DAW Books, 2014. [Columbus, Ohio]

McHugh, Laura. The Weight of Blood (N). NY: Spiegel & Grau, 2014. [Mo.]

McInerny, Daniel. The Chronicles of Oliver Stoop, Squire Second Class: The Quest for Clodnus's Collectibles (juv). S.l.: Trojan Tub Entertainment, 2014. [Ind.]

Mackall, Dandi Daley. *The Secrets of Tree Taylor* (juv). NY: Alfred A. Knopf, 2014. [Mo.] McKay, Tom. *West Fork* (N). Rock Island, Ill.: East Hall Press, 2014. [Ill.]

MacLachlan, Patricia. Fly Away (juv). NY: Margaret K. McElderry Books, 2014. [N.D.]

McLaughlin, John M. *The Last Year of the Season* (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Minn.]

MacLearn, Brian L. Against the Current (N). Sarasota, Fla.: First Edition Design, 2014. [Iowa]

McNamara, Frances. *Death at Chinatown* (N). Forest Park, Ill.: Allium Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

McNear, Mary. Butternut Summer (N). NY: William Morrow, 2014. [Minn.]

McNees, Kelly O'Connor. *The Island of Doves* (N). NY: Berkley Books, 2014. [Mackinac Island, Mich.]

McWilson, Randy. Paradigm Rift (N). Cape Girardeau, Mo.: Moving Images, 2014. [Normal, Ill.]

Madison, Marla. *Trespass* (N). Prairie Lake, Wis.: M. Madison, 2014. [Wauwatosa, Wis.] Madsen, Diane Gilbert. *The Conan Doyle Notes: The Secret of Jack the Ripper* (N). London: MX Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Mae, Mara. *Hunter's Quest* (juv). Ironwood, Mich.: Old Wood Press, 2014. [Kalamazoo, Mich.]

Magorian, James. Prairie (P). Lincoln, Neb.: Black Oak Press, 2014. [Neb.]

Magruder, James. Let Me See It (S). Evanston, Ill.: TriQuarterly Books, 2014. [Midwest]

Mahoney, Timothy. Dead a Long Time (N). S.l.: T. Mahoney, 2014. [St. Paul, Minn.]

-. If the Dead Could Speak (N). S.I.: T. Mahoney, 2014. [St. Paul, Minn.]

Majette, Angela. *The Pretty Poodle* (juv). White Plains, N.Y.: Heiress, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.] Majors, Simone. *Tears of a True Hustler* (N). S.l.: Mahogany Publications, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Makkai, Rebecca. The Hundred-Year House (N). NY: Viking, 2012. [Chicago, Ill.]

Malone, Ross. The Monett Nine (juv). Union, Mo.: Bluebird Publishing, 2014. [Monett, Mo.]

—. Tobias and the Governor (juv). St. Louis, Mo.: Bluebird Publishing, 2014. [Mo.]

Maloney, Carrie. Breath to Breath (N). Star Prairie, Wis.: C. Maloney, 2014. [Wis.]

Maness, Jack Marshall. Song of the Jayhawk (N). Denver, Colo.: Wooden Stake Press, 2014. [Kan.]

Mantel, Tara. *Elemental* (N). Livingston, Ala.: Livingston Press/U West Alabama, 2014. [N.D.] Mapes, Creston. *Poison Town* (N). Colorado Springs, Colo.: David C. Cook, 2014. [Ohio]

Marchiando, George Anthony. *The Broken Hearts Manual: Wall of Love* (P). Indianapolis: IBJ Book Publishing, 2014.

Marie, Shelli. *Rose City Chic* (N). Tallahassee, Fla.: Sullivan Productions, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.] — *Rose City Chic* 2 (N). Tallahassee, Fla.: Sullivan Productions, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

-. Rose City Chic 3 (N). Surprise, Ariz.: Rose City Ink, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Markley, Bill. Deadwood Dead Men (N). Nashville, Tenn.: Goldminds, 2014. [Deadwood, S.D.]

Marlet, C.A. The Flawed (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Midwest]

Marmell, Ari. Hot Lead, Cold Iron (N). London: Titan Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Martens, Dawn. Renegade Lady (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mo.]

see also Minton, Emily

Martin, Chris. *History* (P). Minneapolis: Coffee House Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Martin, James Conroyd. *Hologram: A Haunting* (N). Chicago: Hussar Quill Press, 2014. [Hammond, Ind.]

Martin, Larry Jay. The Bakken (N). Clinton, Mont.: Wolfpack Publishing, 2014. [N.D.]
Martinez, Claudia Guadalupe. Pig Park (juv). El Paso, Tex.: Cinco Puntos Press, 2014.
[Chicago, Ill.]

Martinson, Lanny. *After the Rush* (N). Houston, Tex.: Strategic Book Publishing, 2014. [Minn.] Mauk, Courtney Elizabeth. *Orion's Daughters* (N). Indianapolis: Engine Books, 2014. [Ohio] Mauk, John. *Field Notes for the Earthbound* (N). Pittsburgh, Pa.: Black Lawrence Press, 2014. [Ohio]

Maurer, Paul C. Consider the Night (N). Raleigh, N.C.: Lulu, 2014. [Wis.]

Maxfield, Najiyah Diana. *Sophia's Journal* (juv). St. Paul, Minn.: Daybreak Press, 2014. [Kan.] Maxlyn, Amanda. *What's Left of Me* (N). Flower Mound, Tex.: Bandit Publishing, 2014. [Rochester, Minn.]

May, Eric Charles. Bedrock Faith (N). NY: Akashic, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

May, M.E. Purged (N). Crystal Lake, Ill.: M&B Literary Creations, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.]

Mda, Zakes. Rachel's Blue (N). Cape Town: Kwela Books, 2014. [Ohio]

Meader, Kate. All Fired Up (N). NY: Forever, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

-. Feel the Heat (N). NY: Forever, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Meeks, Jeanne. Wolf Pack (N). New Lenox, Ill.: Chart House Press, 2014. [Isle Royale, Mich.]

Mehl, Nancy. *Gathering Shadows* (N). Minneapolis: Bethany House, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.] Meitner, Erika. *Copia* (P). Rochester, N.Y.: BOA Editions, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Melland-Kuo, Rebecca. Sitka's Mirror (juv). Mahomet, Ill.: Mayhaven Publishing, 2014. [N.D.]

Mengestu, Dinaw. All Our Names (N). NY: Knopf, 2014. [Midwest]

Merkner, Christopher. *The Rise & Fall of the Scandamerican Domestic* (S). Minneapolis: Coffee House Press, 2014. [Midwest]

Merrell, Sue. Full Moon Friday (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]

Metres, Philip. Sand Opera (P). Farmington, Me.: Alice James Books, 2014.

Mevissen, Jerry. Good Shepherd (S). Menahga, Minn.: Jackpine Writersí Bloc, 2014. [Minn.]

Michael, Holly. Crooked Lines (N). S.l.: AMDG Publishing, 2014. [Wis.]

Michaels, Lee. *Marstown: The Beginning* (N). S.l.: Andrew Spencer, 2014. [Marshfield, Wis.] Miles, Scott. *Downriver Horseshoe* (S). Chicago, Ill.: Stolen Time Publishing, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Miller, Dee Ann. *Just Following Orders* (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Iowa; Kan.; Mo.]

-. Mighty Tall Orders (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Iowa; Kan.; Mo.]

Miller, Evie Yoder. Everyday Mercies (N). Milton, Wis.: Big Girl Press, 2014. [Wis.]

Miller, Judith. A Shining Light (N). Minneapolis: Bethany House, 2014. [Iowa]

Miller, Julie. Heroes of S.W.A.T. (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin, 2014. [Kansas City, Kan.]

Miller, Laura. By Way of Accident (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mo.]

Miller, Scott L. Interrogation (N). St. Louis, Mo.: Blank Slate Press, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

Millett, Larry. Strongwood (N). Minneapolis: U Minnesota P, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Mindel, Jenna. The Deputy's New Family (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Mich.]

Minette, Liz. November (P). Esko, Minn.: Little Cat Press, 2014. [Duluth, Minn.]

Minnema, Cheryl. *Hungry Johnny* (juv). St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Minton, Emily and Dawn Martens. *Renegade Reject* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mo.]

Mireles, Oscar, ed. I Didn't Know There Were Latinos in Wisconsin: Three Decades of Hispanic Writing (A). Middleton, Wis.: Cowfeather Press, 2014. [Wis.]

Mirriam-Goldberg, Caryn. *Chasing Weather* (P). North Liberty, Iowa: Ice Cub Press, 2014 [Midwest]

—. Poem on the Range (P). Lawrence, Kan.: Coal City Press, 2014. [Kan.]

Misko, James A. As All My Fathers Were (N). S.l.: Northwest Ventures Press, 2014. [Neb.]

Mohrbacher, Paul. Brothers (N). Edina, Minn.: Keen Editions, 2014. [N.D.]

Monaghan, Patricia. Mary: A Life in Verse (P). Loveland, Ohio: Dos Madres Press, 2014.

Moore, Layne. The Scaries (N). Lawrence, Kan.: Mancave Books, 2014. [Kan.]

Moore, Michel. Ruthless and Rotten (N). Wyandanch, N.Y.: Urban Books, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Moore, Portia. If I Break (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Morgan, Diana. An Amish Choice (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

-. Holly's Wish (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

Moriarty, Laura. Who That Divines (P). Brooklyn, N.Y.: Nightboat Books, 2014.

Morley, Isla. Above (N). NY: Simon & Schuster, 2014. [Kan.]

Morris, Bill. Motor City Burning (N). NY: Pegasus Books, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Morris, Ian. When Bad Things Happen to Rich People (N). DeKalb, Ill.: Switchgrass Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Morris, Richard. *Canoedling in Cleveland* (N). Hyattsville, Md.: Square Deal, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio]

Morris, T.J. *Blood Is Thicker than Color* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Morrison, Sade C. *Bridge Over Troubled Water* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2012. [Detroit, Mich.]

- -. My Mama Told Me (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2012. [Detroit, Mich.]
- —. Papa Don't Preach (N). S.l.: Story Marketplace Publishing, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Morrison, Slade see Morrison, Toni

Morrison, Toni and Slade Morrison. Please, Louise (juv). NY: Simon & Schuster, 2014.

Mozina, Andy. Quality Snacks (S). Detroit: Wayne State U P, 2014.

Muench, Simone. Wolf Centos (P). Louisville, Ky.: Sarabande Books, 2014.

Muir, Diane Greenwood. *Life Between the Lines* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Iowa]

- -. A Season of Change (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Iowa]
- -. Tomorrow's Promise (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Iowa]

Mulford, Carolyn. Show Me the Gold (N). Waterville, Me.: Five Star, 2014. [Mo.]

Muller, Wade. Transparent (P). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]

Mullons, Gloria. *Goodbye Late 20's* (P). Bloomington, Ind.: Trafford Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Murphy, Beverly S. Life at the ACPL (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ft. Wayne, Ind.]

Murphy, Mary Grace. Death Knock (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]

Murphy, Patricia. Dutch Treat (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Xlibris, 2014. [Wis.]

Murray, Kat. Busting Loose (N). NY: Kensington Books, 2014. [S.D.]

Must, Dennis. Hush Now, Don't Explain (N). Seattle, Wash.: Coffeetown Press, 2014. [Ohio]

Mustful, Colin. Grace at Spirit Lake (N). Raleigh, N.C.: Lulu, 2014. [Iowa; Minn.]

Mwari, Mesenti Mykynte. Revolutionary Love (P). Muskegon, Mich.: Iite Press, 2014.

Myracle, Lauren. Yolo (N). NY: Amulet Books, 2014. [Ohio]

Myrieckes, E.L. Wrong Chance (N). NY: Strebor Books, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio]

Natusch, Amber Lynn. Unborn (N). Seattle, Wash.: 47North, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Navarre, Hope. A Ranch for His Family (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin, 2014. [Kan.]

Nehring, Deena. Wholesome (N). Charleston, S.C.: PinkRibbonPress, 2014. [Iowa]

Neill, Chloe. Blood Games (N). NY: New American Library, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

—. Wild Things (N). NY: New American Library, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Nelscott, Kris. *Street Justice* (N). Lincoln City, Or.: WMG Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Nelson, Rodney. *Fargo* (P). West Union, W.Va.: Middle Island Press, 2014. [N.D.]

- -. Felton Prairie (P). West Union, W.Va.: Middle Island Press, 2014. [N.D.]
- -. Words for the Deed (P). Princeton, N.J.: Red Dashboard, 2014.

Neme, Laurel. *Orangutan Houdini* (juv). Piedmont, N.H.: Bunker Hill Publishing, 2014. [Omaha, Neb.]

Nemec, Philip T. *The Chicago Syncopator* (N). Rolling Meadows, Ill.: Windy City, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Neptuno, Minda. *Nebraska* (N). New Westminster, B.C.: Des Chantact Press, 2014. [Neb.] Neri, Greg. *Knockout Games* (N). Minneapolis: Carolrhoda Lab, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

Netzel, Stacey Joy. Autumn Bliss (N). Seymour, Wis.: S. Netzel, 2014. [Wis.]

-. Autumn Kiss (N). Seymour, Wis.: S. Netzel, 2014. [Wis.]

Netzer, Lydia. *How to Tell Toledo from the Night Sky* (N). NY: St. Martin's, 2014. [Toledo, Ohio] Neuman, Patricia Obermeier *see* Burgess, Rosalind

Newman, Christy. Trust Again (N). S.l.: D & D Publishing, 2014. [Ind.]

Newman, Ed. Unremembered Histories (S). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.

Newman, Paul A. Murder at the Maple Festival (N). Bloomington, Ind.: iUniverse, 2014. [Chardon, Ohio]

Ng, Celeste. Everything I Never Told You (N). NY: Penguin Press HC, 2014. [Ohio]

Nguyen, Bich Minh. Pioneer Girl (N). NY: Viking, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Nicholas, Erin. Getting Dirty (N). S.l.: E. Nicholas, 2014. [Neb.]

- -. Getting in the Spirit (N). S.l.: E. Nicholas, 2014. [Neb.]
- -. Getting out of Hand (N). S.l.: E. Nicholas, 2014. [Neb.]
- -. Getting Worked Up (N). S.1.: E. Nicholas, 2014. [Neb.]

Nickels, Judith. A Competent Witness (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Niebruegge, Kersti. Mistake, Wisconsin (juv). Brookfield, Wis.: K. Niebruegge, 2014. [Wis.]

Night, P.J. The Ride of Your Life (juv). NY: Simon Spotlight, 2014. [Iowa]

Nightingale, Kimberly, ed. Bittersweet Butterflies (P). Minneapolis: Horizon Press, 2014.

Noble, Lou Ann. Built to Order (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]

Norby, Arthur H. *The Deadly Winter* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Minn.]

Norman, Keith. Chasing the Dream (N). Jamestown, N.D.: Great Stories Books, 2014. [N.D.]

Northrup, Jim. Dirty Copper (N). Golden, Colo.: Fulcrum Publishing, 2014. [Minn.]

Novak, Rick. *The Doctor and Mr. Dylan* (N). San Jose, Calif.: Pegasus Books, 2014. [Dylan, Bob] Nusbickel, Ryan. *Who Moved My Gooey Butter Cake?* (juv). St. Louis, Mo.: R. Nusbickel, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

Nykanen, G. The Point (N). S.l.: G. Nykanen, 2014. [Mich.]

Nystuen, Mark A. *Death at a Distance* (N). Austin, Tex.: River Grove Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Oakes, Colleen. Elly in Love (N). Tempe, Ariz.: SparkPress, 2014. [Clayton, Mo.]

Oakley, Kristin A. Carpe Diem, Illinois (N). Mineral Point, Wis.: Little Creek Press, 2014. [Ill.]

Oates, Joyce Carol. Carthage (N). NY: Ecco, 2014.

-. High Crime Area (S). NY: Grove Press, 2014.

Oberle, Sylvia. Whiskers Travels Wisconsin (juy). S.l.: Capitol Cat Press, 2014. [Wis.]

O'Brien, Noreen. Badger State Buddies (juv). S.l.: Action Printing, 2014. [Wis.]

O'Guinn, Chris. Exiled to Iowa. Send Help. And Couture (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Iowa]

Ohl, Paul E. Les Fantômes de la Sierra Maestra (N). Montréal: Libre Expression, 2014. [Hemingway, Ernest]

O'Keeffe, Patrick. *The Visitors* (N). NY: Viking, 2014. [Ann Arbor, Mich.]

Oliver, Mary. Blue Horses (P). NY: Penguin Press, 2014.

—. Dog Songs: Thirty-Five Dog Songs and One Essay (P). NY: Penguin Press, 2013.

Olsen, M. Linda. *Prelude* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Kan.]

Ortolani, Al. Waving Mustard in Surrender (P). NY: NYQ Books, 2014. [Kan.]

Osborne, Stephen. *Dead End* (N). Tallahassee, Fla.: Dreamspinner Press, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.]

—. Rat Bastard (N). Tallahassee, Fla.: Dreamspinner Press, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.]

O'Shea, Dan. *Greed* (N). Nottingham: Exhibit A, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Osmund, Florence. Red Clover (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Evanston, Ill.]

Ost, Milt. *Tumbleweeds Burning* (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Xlibris, 2014. [N.D.]
Otto, Shawn Lawrence. *Sins of Our Fathers* (N). Minneapolis: Milkweed Editions, 2014.
[Minn.]

Pace, Pepper. Everything Is Everything (N). S.l.: Pepper Pace Publications, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Page, Emily. The Spirit Realm (juv). Farmington, Mo.: Solstice Publishing, 2014. [Wis.]
Panettiere, Vincent. A Woman to Blame (N). Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse, 2014.
[Chicago, Ill.]

Pappa, Randi Barlow. *Under the Rock* (N). Leslie, Mich.: EWH Press, 2014. [Ohio] Parks, Marquin. *Fighters of Foreclosure* (juv). Willoughby Hills, Ohio: Meridia Publishers, 2014. [Mich.]

Knights of Night School (juv). Willoughby Hills, Ohio: Meridia Publishers, 2012. [Mich.]
Parra, Nancy J. Engaged in Murder (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
Murder Gone a-Rye (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [Kan.]

Parsley, Jamie. *The Downstairs Tenant and Other Stories* (S). Fargo, N.D.: Institute for Regional Studies, North Dakota State U, 2014. [N.D.]

Pattou, Edith. Ghosting (juv). NY: Skyscape, 2014. [Midwest]

Paulsen, Gary. Family Ties: The Theory, Practice, and Destructive Properties of Relatives (juv). NY: Wendy Lamb Books, 2014.

Pauwels, C.L. Forty & Out (N). Marble Hill, Mo.: Deadly Writes, 2014. [Toledo, Ohio] Pearce, Daron. The Hoosier Hotbox (N). Lexington, Ky.: Panel-Thief, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Pearl, Melissa. Fever (N). Auckland, N.Z.: M. Pearl, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Pease, Randy. Once There Were Green Fields (N). Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse, 2014. [Evansville, Ind.]

Perez, Marlene. Fortune's Favors (N). S.l.: Orbit Us, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Peters, Susan D. *Broken Dolls* (N). Chicago: Sunrise Consulting, 2014. [South Holland, Ill.] Peterson, Jerry A. *Iced* (N). S.l.: Grand Medallion, 2014. [Wis.]

Petruck, Rebecca. Steering Toward Normal (juv). NY: Amulet Books, 2014. [Minn.]

Piercy, Marge. The Cost of Lunch, Etc. (S). Oakland, Calif.: PM Press, 2014.

Piiparinen, Richey and Anne Trubek, eds. *Rust Belt Chic: The Cleveland Anthology* (A). Cleveland, Ohio: Belt Publishing, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio]

Pinckney, Darryl. Blackballed: The Black Vote and US Democracy (M). NY: New York Review Books, 2014.

Pirrone, D.M. *Shall We Not Revenge* (N). Forest Park, Ill.: Allium Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Plettner, Edith D. *Beauty in Bryan* (P). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ohio]

Plumley, Lisa. *All He Wants for Christmas* (N). NY: Zebra Books, 2014. [Mich.]

Polacco, Patricia. Clara and Davie (juv). NY: Scholastic Press, 2014.

—. Fiona's Lace (juv). NY: Simon & Schuster Books for Young Readers, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

—. Mr. Wayne's Masterpiece (juv). NY: G.P. Putnamís Sons, 2014. [Mich.]

Polad, Rick. Harbor Nights (N). Chanhassen, Minn.: Calumet Editions, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.; Wis.]

Pollock, Darlene. *Lake Effect* (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Trafford Publishing, 2014. [Great Lakes] Portes, Andrea. *Anatomy of a Misfit* (juv). NY: HarperTeen, 2014. [Neb.]

— Bury This (N). Berkeley, Calif.: Soft Skull Press, 2014. [Muskegon, Mich.]

Powers, Richard. Orfeo (N). NY: W.W. Norton, 2014. [Ill.]

Prell, Allan V. The Killing of Andrew Mybull (N). Oakton, Va.: SBA Media, 2014. [Neb.]

Preston, Gretchen. Valley of the Cats (juv). Marquette, Mich.: Preston Hill Press, 2014. [Mich.]

Price, D.L. *The Evadeam Dragon* (juv). S.l.: Story Tyme Realm, 2014. [Mich.]

Prince, Cindy. Pickin' up Pawpaws (P). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.

Principe, Sandra. *Mystery at Lake Galena* (N). Galena, Ill.: Galena Publishing, 2014. [Galena, Ill.]

Pritzkow, Michael. Morning Light (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]

Purvis, Kimberly Ann. Hartley's Twisted Life (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Kan.]

Quick, Larry D. Fate Rode the Wind (N). Bloomington, Ind.: iUniverse, 2014. [Ill.]

Rader-Day, Lori. *The Black Hour* (N). Amherst, N.Y.: Seventh Street Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Raeder, Leah. *Unteachable* (N). NY: Atria Paperbacks, 2014. [Ill.]

Railey, Robert R. Detective Morris, Homicide (N). S.l.: WheelMan Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Raimondo, Lynne. *Dante's Poison* (N). Amherst, N.Y.: Seventh Street Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Rainy Day Writers. *Reflections of Christmas* (S). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Cambridge, Ohio]

Rajanen, Aini. Waters Like the Sky (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Great Lakes]

Rakestraw, Marian, et al. *Spirits of Oz* (juv). Topeka, Kan.: Topeka & Shawnee County Public Library, 2014. [Topeka, Kan.]

Rall, Fran. The Unspoken Word (P). Madison, Wis.: Fireweed Press, 2014. [Wis.]

Rand, Johnathan. *Incredible Ivy of Iowa* (juv). Topinabee Island, Mich.: Audiocraft, 2014. [Iowa]

Raphael, Lev. Assault with a Deadly Lie (N). Madison, Wis.: Terrace Books, 2014. [Mich.] Rasmussen, Rebecca. Evergreen (N). NY: Alfred A. Knopf, 2014. [Minn.]

Rausch, Marilyn. Writing Can Be Murder (N). Minneapolis: Red Quill Press, 2014. [Iowa; Minn.]

Reed, Amy Lynn. Damaged (juv). NY: Simon Pulse, 2014. [Mich.]

Reed, Hannah. Beewitched (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [Wis.]

Reed, Stephanie. Bachelor (N). Grand Rapids, Mich.: Kregel Publications, 2014. [Ohio]

Reedy, Trent. If You're Reading This (juv). NY: Arthur A. Levine Books, 2014. [Iowa]

Reese, Jim. Really Happy (P). NY: NYQ Books, 2014. [Midwest]

Regale, Rhea. *Brianna's Sinful Cowboys* (N). Austin, Tex.: Siren Publishing, 2014. [Kan.]

Reichl, Ruth. Delicious! (N). NY: Random House, 2014. [Akron, Ohio]

Reid, Penny. Friends Without Benefits (N). Cape May, N.J.: Caped Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Reid, Ruth. A Woodland Miracle (N). Nashville, Tenn.: Thomas Nelson, 2014. [Mich.]

Resnick, Michael D. Cat on a Cold Tin Roof (N). Amherst, N.Y.: Seventh Street Books, 2014 [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Reutiman, Wally. *The Art of Murder* (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Excelsior, Minn.]

Rhoades, Barbara. Breaking All the Rules (N). Salina, Kan.: Plantation Publishing, 2014. [Kan.]

Rhoades, Pat. Rodeo Snow (juv). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Riccard, Roger. Sherlock Holmes & the Case of the Twain Papers (N). Sawston: Irregular Special Press, 2014. [Clemens, Samuel L.]

Rich, Juliann. Caught in the Crossfire (N). Valley Falls, N.Y.: Bold Strokes Books, 2014. [Minn.] —. Searching for Grace (juv). Valley Falls, N.Y.: BSB Soliloquy, 2014. [Minn.]

Richards, Theodore. The Conversions (N). Stonington, Conn.: Homebound, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Richardson, Erik. A Berserker Stuck in Traffic (P). Sheboygan, Wis.: Pebblebrook Press, 2014.

Richmond, Lois. *The Missing Gargoyle of the Ladies' Library* (N). Kalamazoo, Mich.: Fortitude Graphic Design & Printing, 2014. [Kalamazoo, Mich.]

Riemer, Thomas E. *The Know Nothings* (N). College Station, Tex.: Virtualbookworm, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Rivenes, Erik. *The Big Mitt* (N). Beaverton, Or.: Trampoose Press, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.] Robbins, Trina. *A Midterm Night's Scheme* (juv). Minneapolis: Graphic Universe, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Roberts, J.R. The Salt City Scrape (N). NY: Jove Books, 2014. [Hutchinson, Kan.]

Roberts, Les. *Wet Work* (N). Cleveland, Ohio: Gray & Co., 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio] Roberts, Sherry. *Down Dog Diary* (N). Apple Valley, Minn.: Osmyrrah Publishing, 2014. [Minn.]

Roberts, Tom. Return to the Farm (juv). Sioux Falls, S.D.: ThT Publishing, 2014. [S.D.]

Robertson, Patricia M. Dreamweavers (N). Jackson, Mich.: Dreamweaver Press, 2014.

Robinson, Jarrett J. Chicago City Blues (N). S.l.: J Reed and Co., 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Robinson, Lauri. The Wrong Cowboy (N). Don Mills, Ont.: Harlequin, 2014. [Dak.]

Robinson, Marilynne. Lila (N). NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2014. [Iowa]

Robinson, S.E. Mine! (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Rodriguez, Linda. Every Hidden Fear (N). NY: Minotaur Books, 2014. [Mo.]

Roepke, Cynthia. *Nostalgia Road* (juv). High Springs, Fla.: Highland Press Publishing, 2014. [Minn.]

Roeser, Dana. *The Theme of Tonight's Party Has Been Changed* (P). Amherst: U Massachusetts P, 2014.

Rogers, Anneke see McAloon, Peggy M.

Rogers, Kenneth, Jr. *The Diary of Oliver Lee* (juv). Houston, Tex.: Strategic Book Publishing, 2014. [Ill.]

Rojstaczer, Stuart. *The Mathematician's Shiva* (N). NY: Penguin Books, 2014. [Madison, Wis.] Rolfes, Luke. *Flyover Country* (S). Georgetown, Ky.: Georgetown Review Press, 2014. [Midwest]

Rolfs, Judith. *Bullet in the Night* (N). S.l.: Prism Book Group, 2014. [Lake Geneva, Wis.] Rooney, Kathleen. *O, Democracy!* (N). Chicago: Fifth Star Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Roquet, Dana. Forevermore (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Iowa]

Rose, Ashli. Hearts on Fire (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Rose, Karen. Closer Than You Think (N). London: Headline, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio]

Rose, Leighton. Finding Home (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Omaha, Neb.]

Roseland, Bruce. Song for My Mother (P). Sioux Falls, S.D.: B. Roseland, 2014. [S.D.]

Rosen, Renée. What the Lady Wants (N). NY: New American Library, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Rosengren, Gayle. What the Moon Said (juv). NY: G.P. Putnamís Sons, 2014. [Wis.]

Rosenthal, Lucy. *The World of Rae English* (N). Pittsburgh, Pa.: Black Lawrence Press, 2014. [Iowa City, Iowa]

Rosolino, Lauren. *The Charm Necklace* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mich.] Ross, John. Trails: *A Western Saga* (N). Fort Collins, Colo.: Light Switch Press, 2014. [Abilene, Kan.]

Ross, William Mitchell. *Love's Obsession* (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Xlibris, 2014. [Monroe, Wis.]

Rotert, Rebecca. Last Night at the Blue Angel (N). NY: William Morrow, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Roth, Stephen. A Plot for Pridemore (N). Macon, Ga.: Mercer U P, 2014. [Mo.]

Roth, Ty. Goodness Falls (N). Sarasota, Fla.: First Edition Design Publishing, 2014. [Ohio]

Rust, Kevin. *Indian Summer* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [III.]

Ryan, Annelise. Board Stiff (N). NY: Kensington Publishing, 2014. [Wis.]

Rylander, Chris. Codename: Zero (juv). NY: Walden Pond Press, 2014. [N.D.]

Sacknoff, Lance M., Xavier Cavazos, and Stefanie Brook Trout, eds. *Prairie Gold: An Anthology of the American Heartland* (A). North Liberty, Iowa: Ice Cube Press, 2014.

Sailor, Kimberly. *The Clarinet Whale* (N). Mineral Point, Wis.: Little Creek Press, 2014. [Mich.]

Sales, Kathleen. Attack from Within (N). Bradenton, Fla.: BookLocker.com, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Sancken, Lynne P. *The Midwest: In Five Parts and Other Poems* (P). Bloomington, Ind.: Xlibris, 2014.

—. *Unmarked Crossings* (P). Bloomington, Ind.: Xlibris, 2014.

Sanders, Scott Russell. *Divine Animal* (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Earth Works Publishing, 2014.

Sandford, John. Deadline (N). NY: G.P. Putnam's Sons, 2012. [Minn.]

-. Field of Prey (N). NY: G.P. Putnam's Sons, 2012. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Sasson, N. Gemini. Memories and Matchsticks (N). Enon, Ohio: Cader Iris Press, 2014. [Ind.]Saundra. Her Sweetest Revenge 3 (N). San Antonio, Tex.: Delphine Publications, 2014.[Detroit. Mich.]

Sawatzki, Bob. Return to Circa '96 (N). Geneva, Ill.: Jet Books, 2014. [Iowa]

Sawyer, Kim Vogel. When Mercy Rains (N). Colorado Springs, Colo.: WaterBrook, 2014. [Ind.; Kan.]

-. Through the Deep Waters (N). Colorado Springs, Colo.: WaterBrook, 2014. [Kan.]

Schaffert, Timothy. The Swan Gondola (N). NY: Riverhead Books, 2014. [Omaha, Neb.]

Schild, David. The Black Earth (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ohio]

-. The Chosen Twelve (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ohio]

-. A Perfect Village (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ohio]

Schindler, Holly. Feral (juv). NY: HarperTeen, 2014. [Mo.]

Schnoor, Brian. In the Sanctity of Revenge (N). Lexington, Ky.: B. Schnoor, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Schnoor, Joel. A Spoonful of Dirt (N). Apex, N.C.: Gennesaret Press, 2014. [Iowa]

Schreck, Karen Halvorsen. Sing for Me (N). NY: Howard Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Schroeder, Shannyn. Catch Your Breath (N). NY: Kensington Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

—. Something to Prove (N). NY: Kensington Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Schuett, Kurt. Insurgency (N). S.l.: Bad Day Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Schultz, Cheryl. What Became of the Monk? (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Milwaukee, Wis.]

Schultz, Elizabeth A. *The Sauntering Eye* (P). Hayesville, N.C.: FutureCycle Press, 2014. [Kan.] Schummer, Darci. *Six Months in the Midwest* (S). S.l.: Unsolicited Press, 2014. [Minneapolis, Minn.]

Scot, Barbara J. The Nude Beach Notebook (M). Corvallis: Oregon State U P, 2014.

Scott, J. Wolf. *Midst the Dragon's Fire* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Muncie, Ind.] Seaman, Cora Alyce. *Grayson Lawson*, *MD* (N). Evansville, Ind.: Cordon Publications,

2014. [Ind.]

Seedorf, Julie. Granny Snows a Sneak (N). S.1.: Cozy Cat Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Sellon, Sue Ann. Secrets of the Porch (N). Mustang, Okla.: Tate Publishing, 2014. [Neb.]

Selvig, Lizbeth. Beauty and the Brit (N). NY: Avon Impulse, 2014. [Minn.]

Selzer, Adam. Play Me Backwards (juv). NY: Simon & Schuster Books for Young Readers, 2014. [Iowa]

Sexton, Marie see Cullinan, Heidi

Shaffer, Dale F. Souvenirs (N). Indianapolis: Dog Ear Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Shapiro, Gregg. *Lincoln Avenue: Chicago Stories* (S). Minneapolis: Squares & Rebels, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Sharp, Michelle. *Dream Huntress* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.] Sharpe, Jon. *Black Hills Deathblow* (N). NY: Signet Books, 2014. [Dak.]

Shaunta'e. For the Love of the Hustle (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Hammond, Ind.] Shaw, Anne. Dido in Winter (P). NY: Persea Books, 2014.

Sheldon, Tecori. When Truth Is Gangsta (N). Upper Marlboro, Md.: Strebor Books, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Shelton, Paige. If Catfish Had Nine Lives (N). NY: Berkley Prime Crime, 2014. [Mo.]

Shepard, Sam. *Heartless* (D). NY: Vintage Books, 2013. Shirley, John. *Wyatt in Wichita* (N). NY: Skyhorse Publishing, 2014. [Wichita, Kan.]

Shoemaker, Karen Gettert. *The Meaning of Names* (N). Pasadena, Calif.: Red Hen Press, 2014. [Neb.]

Sholar, Monica R. The 24th Letter (N). Canton, Mich.: Eden Life Publishing, 2014. [Mich.]

```
Siegel, Alec see Higgins, Kyle
```

Sievert, Sharolyn L. *Journey through the Storm* (N). S.I.: K9 Search Books, 2014. [Minn.] —. *Navigating the Journey*. S.I.: K9 Search Books, 2014. [Minn.]

Simmons, Rona. *The Quiet Room* (N). Atlanta, Ga.: Deeds Publishing, 2014. [Evansville, Ind.] Sisk, Gregory C. *Marital Privilege* (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Sitomer, Alan Lawrence. Caged Warrior (juv). NY: Hyperion, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Sivec, Tara. Shame on Me (N). Seattle, Wash.: Montlake Romance, 2014. [Ind.]

Skalka, Patricia. Death Stalks Door County (N). Madison, Wis.: Terrence Books, 2014. [Wis.]

Skwiot, Rick. Fail (N). St. Louis, Mo.: Blank Slate Press, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

Slater, Calvin. Lovers & Haters (juv). NY: Dafina KTeen Books, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]
Smallman, Steve. Santa Is Coming to Cleveland (juv). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks
Jabberwocky, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio]

—. Santa Is Coming to Madison (juv). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks Jabberwocky, 2014.
[Madison, Wis.]

Smiley, Jane. Some Luck (N). NY: Knopf, 2014. [Iowa]

Smith, Andrew. Grasshopper Jungle (juv). NY: Dutton Books, 2014. [Iowa]

Smith, Cathy. Where's Boomer? (juv). Herndon, Va.: Mascot Books, 2014. [Springfield, Mo.]

Smith, Clayton. Apocalypticon (N). Chicago: Dapper Press, 2014. [Midwest]

Smith, Dennis A. *Black on Black* (N). Hammond, Ind.: Lions Quarter Publishing, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Smith, Greg. 3 Times a Sparrow (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ft. Wayne, Ind.] Smith, Jan. Homesteading the Land (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Minn.]

Smith, Raen. Liam: Branded Brothers (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]

Smith, Roland. *The Windy City* (juv). Ann Arbor, Mich.: Sleeping Bear Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Smith, S.L. Murder on a Stick (N). Hanford, Calif.: Oak Tree Press, 2014. [Minn.]

Snelling Lauraine. To Everything a Season (N). Minneapolis: Bethany House, 2014. [N.D.]

 $Snively, David\,A.\ \textit{In the Zone}\ (N).\ Newbury, Ohio: Fairhaven\,Farm\,Publishing, 2014.\ [Ohio]$

Snow, Nicole. Outlaw Kind of Love (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [N.D.]

Snow, Tiffany. *Point of No Return* (N). Seattle, Wash.: Montlake Romance, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.]

Snow, Woody P. *Blood Silver: The Yocum Dollar* (N). Fayetteville, Ark.: Pen-L Publishing, 2014. [Mo.]

Snyder, Carolee. Herbal Blessings (N). Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse, 2014. [Ind.]

Snyder, Rachel Louise. What We've Lost Is Nothing (N). NY: Scribner, 2014. [Oak Park, Ill.]

Soderberg, Erin. The Quirks: Welcome to Normal (juv). NY: Bloomsbury, 2013. [Mich.]

Souza, Mark. Zombie-Saurus, Rex (N). Bellevue, Wash.: Wet Coast Media, 2014. [Neb.] Spallone, Jennie. Fatal Reaction (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Spangler, Rachel. *Timeless* (N). Valley Falls, N.Y.: Bold Strokes Books, 2014. [III.]

Spaulding, E. Leslie. *The Collected Poems of E. Leslie Spaulding* (P). Edited by Ronald Harris. Wisconsin Rapids, Wis.: Good Grit Press, 2014. [Iowa]

Spencer, John A. Round Prairie Inferno (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]

Spieker, Dwaine. *The Way Magellan Must Have Felt* (P). San Bernardino, Calif.: Rogue Faculty Press, 2014. [Neb.]

Springer, Kathryn. *The Dandelion Field* (N). Grand Rapids, Mich.: Zondervan, 2014. [Wis.]

St. Antoine, Sara. *Three Bird Summer* (juv). Somerville, Mass.: Candlewick Press, 2014. [Minn.]

- St. Germain, Mark. *Scott and Hem* (D). NY: Dramatists Play Service, 2014. [Fitzgerald, F. Scott; Hemingway, Ernest]
- St. John, Katherine. *The Key to Katie's House* (N). New Ulm, Minn.: Brown County Historical Society, 2014. [Minn.]

- St. John, Margarite. *Thirteen Stepping Stones* (N). Ft. Wayne, Ind.: Bauer Communications, 2014. [Ft. Wayne, Ind.]
- Stafford, William. Ask Me (P). Ed. Kim Stafford. Minneapolis: Graywolf Press, 2014.
- Starkey, Scott. Revenge of the Bully (juv). NY: Simon & Schuster, 2014. [Ohio]
- Stavig, Brian. Euphany: Horse on the Track (juv). Fergus Falls, Minn.: B. Stavig, 2014.
- Steele, L.A. The Real Steel D.J. (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]
- Stein, Allen F. *Gatsby's Daughters* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Fitzgerald, F. Scott]
- Stelma, T. Sandy Ground (N). College Station, Tex.: Virtualbookworm.com, 2014. [Mich.]
- Stevens, Connie. Willow Creek Brides (N). Uhrichsville, Ohio: Barbour, 2014. [Iowa]
- Stitts, Kip. *The Perfect Storm* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]
- Stone, Mark Everett. *Chicago, the Windigo City* (N). Seattle, Wash.: Camel Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
- —. Omaha Stakes (N). Seattle, Wash.: Camel Press, 2014. [Omaha, Neb.]
- Stratton, A.Y. Buried Secrets (N). Adams Basin, N.Y.: Wild Rose Press, 2013. [Milwaukee, Wis.]
 Stratton, Carol Grace. Lake Surrender (N). Raleigh, N.C.: Lighthouse Publishing, 2014.
 [Mich.]
- Strehllow, Rhonda. Second Act (N). White Bear Lake, Minn.: Melange Books, 2014. [Eagle River, Wis.]
- Stuber, Barbara. Girl in Reverse (juv). NY: Margaret K. McElderry Books, 2014. [Kansas City, Mo.]
- Sullivan, Jan'a. *Taking Wifey to the Grave 2* (N). S.l.: Shan Presents, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio] Summer, Mary Elizabeth. *Trust Me, I'm Lying* (juv). NY: Delacorte Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
- Sundst⁻l, Vidar. Only the Dead (N). Minneapolis: U Minnesota P, 2014. [Minn.]
- Susedik, Tina. *The Hat Peddler* (juv). Eau Claire, Wis.: Eau Claire Printing, 2014. [Wis.] and Alli Heers. *Uncle Bill's Farm* (juv). Eau Claire, Wis.: Eau Claire Printing, 2014. [Wis.]
- Swanson, Denise. Dead Between the Lines (N). NY: Obsidian, 2014. [Mo.]
- Swanson, Edward. *Madoc's Legacy* (N). Portsmouth, N.H.: RiverRun Select, 2014. [Mich.] Sweany, Brian. *Making out with Blowfish* (N). Waxahachie, Tex.: TWCS Publishing House, 2014. [Ind.]
- Swink, Linda. Grave Secrets (N). Bridgeville, Pa.: Red Engine Press, 2014. [Willoughby, Ohio]
- Tagg, Melissa. Here to Stay (N). Minneapolis: Bethany House, 2014. [Mich.]
- Taylor, Daniel. *Death Comes for the Deconstructionist* (N). Eugene, Or.: Slant, 2014. [St. Paul. Minn.]
- Taylor, Jennifer Hudson. For Love or Liberty (N). Nashville, Tenn.: Abingdon Press, 2014. [Ohio]
 TeKay, Rumont. Venom in My Veinz (N). East Orange, N.J.: Wahida Clark Presents, 2014.
 [Chicago, Ill.]
- Terman, Max R. Hiram's Hope (N). Hillsboro, Kan.: TESA Books, 2014. [Ohio]
- Tharp, B.D. *Patchwork Family* (N). Memphis, Tenn.: Bell Bridge Books, 2014. [Wichita, Kan.] Thomas, B.G. *Hound Dog & Bean* (N). Tallahassee, Fla.: Dreamspinner Press, 2014. [Kansas City, Kan.]
- Thomas, Lee. Butcher's Road (N). Maple Shade, N.J.: Lethe Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]
- Thompson, Connie K. *Angus* (N). Westcliffe, Colo.: Linchpin Bookbuilders, 2014. [Springfield, Mo.]
- Thompson, Rod. *The Black Hills* (N). NY: Berkley Books, 2014. [S.D.]
- -. The Saga of Jane Hicks (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [S.D.]
- Thorpe, Harold W. Aubrey's Attic (juv). Mineral Point, Wis.: Little Creek Press, 2014. [Wis.]
- -. Grayson's Garage (juv). Mineral Point, Wis.: Little Creek Press, 2014. [Wis.]
- Tierney, Heather Fellin. *The Freedom of a Tangled Vine* (juv). Minneapolis: Wise Ink, 2014. [Minn.]

Tiffenbach, Lanie. *Threads of the Past* (S). Highlands Ranch, Colo.: Tiffenbach Publishing, 2014. [Minn.]

Timberlake, Amy. One Came Home (juv). NY: Alfred A. Knopf, 2013. [Wis.]

Timmer, Julie Lawson. Five Days Left (N). NY: G.P. Putnam's Sons, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Titchener, Louise. Hard Water (N). Cincinnati: Mundania Press, 2014. [Put-in-Bay, Ohio]

Toles, Tina. Raising Hope (N). Englewood, Ohio: Toles Publishing House, 2014. [Dayton, Ohio]

Townsdin, Linda. Focused on Murder (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Minn.]

Trainor, Jim. Up North (N). Waupaca, Wis.: UpNorth Press, 2014. [Wis.]

Tripp, Valerie. Full Speed Ahead (juv). Middleton, Wis.: American Girl, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio] —. Read All About It! (juv). Middleton, Wis.: American Girl, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio] Trubek, Anne see Piiparinen, Richey

Tschetter, Pamela A. *Tucker's Travels in Northwest Iowa with Grandma Pam* (juv). Estherville, Iowa: P. Tschetter, 2014. [Iowa]

Tully, Alex. *Hope for Garbage* (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Cleveland, Ohio] Tunstall, Sherrod. *The Show Me State* (N). Savage, Md.: La Femme Fatale, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.] Turk, Steven. *Harvest of Stone* (N). S.I.: Ariete, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.; Wis.]

Turnbull, Rob. Thinning the Herd (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ohio]

Vachss, Andrew H. *Urban Renewal* (N). NY: Vintage Crime, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Valen, Christopher. *Death's Way* (N). St. Paul, Minn.: Conquill Press, 2014. [St. Paul, Minn.] Valentin, Barbara. *False Start* (N). Los Gatos, Calif.: Gemma Halliday, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Van Buren, Peter. *Ghosts of Tom Joad* (N). Carmel, Ind.: Luminis Books, 2014. [Ohio] Van Gorp. Mariorie and Julie Zuehlke. *The Big Ole Legend: An American Icon with*

Van Gorp, Marjorie and Julie Zuehlke. *The Big Ole Legend: An American Icon with Minnesota Roots* (N). Alexandria, Minn.: AMP-Squared Books, 2014. [Minn.]

Van Haren, Joyce. On Woodward (N). Bloomington, Ind.: Abbott Press, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]
Van Kirk, Susan. Three May Keep a Secret (N). Waterville, Me.: Five Star, 2014. [Ill.]
Vanderboom, Russ. The Good Guy List (N). Rochester, Minn.: Pepper Seed Publishing, 2014. [Wis.]

Vanderlinden, Colleen. Home (N). S.l.: Building Block Studios, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

- -. Nether (N). S.l.: Building Block Studios, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]
- —. Strife (N). S.l.: Building Block Studios, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.]

Vázquez, Diego, Jr. and Tish Jones, eds. *Our Years of Tears* (P). Minneapolis: Horizon Press, 2014.

—. *When Enough Is Enough* (P). Minneapolis: Horizon Press, 2014.

Vealitzek, Jessica Null. *The Rooms Are Filled* (N). Berkeley, Calif.: She Writes Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Venturini, Fred. The Heart Does Not Grow Back (N). NY: Picador, 2014. [Ill.]

Verner, Dan. On the Wings of Eagles (N). Little Elm, Tex.: eLectio Publishing, 2014. [Wis.]

Vickers, Dennis. *Mikawadizi Storms* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Wis.]

Vizenor, Gerald. Blue Ravens (N). Middletown, Conn.: Wesleyan U P, 2014. [Minn.]

—. Favor of Crows: New and Collected Haiku (P). Middletown, Conn.: Wesleyan U P, 2014. Vohs, J.W. Eastern Front (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

Wagner, D.R. and John Dorsey, eds. *Renegade Flowers* (A). Cleveland, Ohio: Hydeout Press, 2014.

Walker, Julie Ann. Full Throttle (N). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks Casablanca, 2014.

-. Hell for Leather (N). Naperville, Ill.: Sourcebooks Casablanca, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Walker, Lane. The Hunt for Scarface (juv). Mobile, Ala.: Evergreen Press, 2014. [Neb.]

Walker, Shiloh. Sweeter Than Sin (N). NY: St. Martin's Press, 2014. [Ind.]

Walters, Wendy S. Troy, Michigan (P). NY: Futurepoem Books, 2014. [Troy, Mich.]

Wanek, Connie. Summer Cars (S). Duluth, Minn.: Will o' the Wisp Books, 2014.

Wark, Kevin. Brought to Justice (N). S.1.: MadCap Publishing, 2014. [Madison, Wis.]

Warren, Pam. The Adventures of Penelope and Cece: Out of the Blue (juv). Bloomington, Ind.: Xlibris, 2014. [Minn.]

Warren, Susan May. Always on My Mind (N). Carol Stream, Ill.: Tyndale House, 2014. [Minn.]

- -. Evergreen (N). Carol Stream, Ill.: Tyndale House, 2014. [Minn.]
- —. When I Fall in Love (N). Carol Stream, Ill.: Tyndale House, 2014. [Minn.]

Warren, Thomas Franklin. Discovering Beloit (N). S.l.: Amphitryon Press, 2014. [Beloit, Wis.] Watson, Charles. Blood of a Gangsta Soul of a Hustler (N). S.l.: Educated Thug, 2014. [Columbus, Ohio]

Watterson, Kate. Buried (N). NY: Tor, 2014. [Milwaukee, Wis.]

Frozen (N). NY: Tor, 2013. [Wis.]

Webb, Wendy. The Vanishing (N). NY: Hyperion, 2014. [Minn.]

Wehman, Elizabeth. Under the Windowsill (N). Owosso, Mich.: Summit Street Publishing, 2014. [Mackinac Island, Mich.]

Weil, Dorothy. Love and Terror (N). Bloomington, Ind.: AuthorHouse, 2014. [Cincinnati, Ohio] Weil, J.L. Losing Emma (juv). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]

Welborn, Gina. The Heiress's Courtship (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Welch, Doug. The Ashippun Trap (N). Castroville, Tex.: Black Rose Writing, 2014. [Milwaukee, Wis.]

Welsh-Huggins, Andrew. Fourth Down and Out (N). Athens: Ohio UP, 2014. [Columbus, Ohio] Wertheim, L. Jon. *The Rookie Bookie* (juv). NY: Little, Brown, 2014. [Ind.]

Whaley, John Corey. Noggin (juv). NY: Atheneum Books for Young Readers, 2014. [Kansas City, Mo.]

Whitaker, Lynne Adams. The Chit'lin Coast (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

White, David L. Lost and Found (P). Milwaukee: Small Potatoes Press, 2014. [Wis.]

White, Edmund. Inside a Pearl: My Years in Paris (M). NY: Bloomsbury, 2014.

White, Laura Baker. Infinitum (N). S.1.: L. White, 2014. [St. Louis, Mo.]

White, William R. Little Oslo (N). Minneapolis: Huff Publishing, 2014. [Wis.]

Whitson, Stephanie Grace. A Captain for Laura Rose (N). NY: FaithWords, 2014. [Mo.]

Wilder, Jasinda. Trashed (N). S.l.: Seth Clarke, 2014. [Mackinac Island, Mich.]

Wilke, Lorraine Devon. After the Sucker Punch (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Willette, James K. Escapades (N). Kalamazoo, Mich.: Grassick Publishing, 2014. [Mich.] Williams, Crystal. Detroit as Barn (P). Sandpoint, Idaho: Lost Horse Press, 2014. [Detroit, Mich.] Williams, Gregory B. SinCinnati Soaps (N). Cincinnati: All Things All People, 2014.

[Cincinnati, Ohio]

Williams, Julie. Drama Queens in the House (juv). NY: Roaring Brook Press, 2014. [Minn.] Williams, T.R. Journey Into the Flame (N). NY: Atria Books, 2014. [Ill.]

Wilson, A.C. Black Hills Blessing (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [S.D.]

Wilson, James Matthew. Some Permanent Things (P). Milwaukee: Wiseblood Books, 2014.

Wilson, Laura Stringfellow. Jacob's Ladder (N). Chicago: L. Wilson, 2014. [Ill.]

Wilson, Ruby R. At the Rim of the Horizon (P). Georgetown, Ky.: Finishing Line Press, 2014. [S.D.] Wilson, Terry L. The Blanket Hill Insurgency (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.

[Kent, Ohio]

Wineberg, Ronna. On Bittersweet Place (N). S.I.: Relegation Books, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Winegar, Candace. Freedom Forever (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Mo.]

Winskye, Paula F. Right Hand Man (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [N.D.]

Witt, Clyde. Lost in the Tallgrass (N). Pella, Iowa: Write Place, 2014. [Kan.]

Wood, Naomi. Mrs. Hemingway (N). NY: Penguin Books, 2014. [Hemingway, Ernest]

Wood, Sondra. The Remainder Man (N). Hutchinson, Kan.: House of Canine, 2014. [Kan.] Woods-Jackson, Pamela. Genius Summer (N). Ladson, S.C.: Vinspire, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.] Woolard, Jim R. Raiding with Morgan (N). NY: Kensington Books, 2014. [Ohio]

Woollen, Ian. *Uncle Anton's Atomic Bomb* (N). Seattle, Wash.: Coffeetown Press, 2014. [Indianapolis, Ind.]

Wright, Daniel W. Working Bohemian's Blues (P). St. Louis, Mo.: Back of the Class Press, 2014. [Mo.]

Wright, Nina. *Whiskey, Large* (N). Kokomo, Ind.: Martin Brown Publishers, 2014. [Mich.] Wunderlich, Mark. *The Earth Avails* (P). Minneapolis: Graywolf Press, 2014. [Midwest]

Yanik, Anthony J. Conversion! (N). S.l.: Joseph Karl Publishing, 2014. [Mich.]

Ylvisaker, Anne. *The Curse of the Buttons* (juv). Somerville, Mass.: Candlewick Press, 2014. [Iowa]

Young, Julie. Fifteen Minutes of Fame (N). St. Louis, Mo.: Rocking Horse Publishing, 2014. [Ind.]

Young, Samantha. Out of the Shallows (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ind.]

Zaccard, Dan. *Fire and Murder* (N). Victoria, B.C.: Friesen Press, 2014. [Rockford, Ill.] Zachgo, Gloria. *Never Waste Tears* (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Kan.]

Zahler, S. Craig. *Mean Business on North Ganson Street* (N). NY: Thomas Dunne Books, 2014. [Mo.]

Zahrt, K.M. *Odd Man Outlaw* (N). Tullahoma, Tenn.: WordCrafts Press, 2014. [Grand Rapids, Mich.]

Zaroski, Melissa. The Living Weapon (N). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014. [Ill.]

Zediker, Rose Ross. Sweet on the Cowgirl (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [Neb.]

-. The Widow's Suitor (N). NY: Love Inspired Books, 2014. [S.D.]

Zettel, Sarah. Bad Luck Girl (juv). NY: Random House, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.]

Zhuikov, Marie. *Plover Landing* (N). St. Cloud, Minn.: North Star Press, 2014. [Duluth, Minn.]

Zink, Sharon. Welcome to Sharonville (N). London: Unthank Cameo, 2014. [Ohio]

Zorn, CeCelia R. *Angels Don't Get Tattoos* (juv). Indianapolis: Dog Ear Publishing, 2014. [Madison, Wis.]

Zubro, Mark Richard. *A Conspiracy of Fear* (N). Albion, N.Y.: MLR Press, 2014. [Chicago, Ill.] Zuehlke, Julie *see* Van Gorp, Marjorie

SECONDARY SOURCES

General

Beasecker, Robert, ed. Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature, 2012 (bibl). *MidAmerica*, 41 (2014), 127-96.

Buechsel, Mark. Sacred Land: Sherwood Anderson, Midwestern Modernism, and the Sacramental Vision of Nature (crit). Kent, Ohio: Kent State U P, 2014.

Busse, Sarah and Wendy Vardaman, eds. *Local Ground(s)—Midwest Poetics: Selected Prose* Verse Wisconsin 2009-2014 (crit). Middleton, Wis.: Cowfeather Press, 2014. [Wisconsin]

Christianson, Karen. Fit to Print and Then Some: Journalism in the Midwest Manuscript Collection (jrnl; Chicago, Ill.). *Newberry Magazine*, 3 (Fall 2014), 18-20.

Clark, A. Bayard. Forgotten Eyewitnesses: English Women Travel Writers and the Economic Development of America's Antebellum West (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, St. Louis U, 2013. [Midwest]

Drake, Derek and Alexander Kramer. Northwestern Dane County German: A "Speech Mixture Problem?" (lang). *Yearbook of German-American Studies*, 49 (2014), 167-93.

Falk, Angela. The Discourse of Place and Contact: Swedish Pioneers and Native Americans in the Smoky Valley (lang). *Studia Neophilologica*, 86 (July 2014), 138-52. [Kansas]

- Frey, Benjamin E. Toward a General Theory of Language Shift: A Case Study in Wisconsin German and North Carolina Cherokee (lang). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Wisconsin, Madison, 2013. [Wisconsin]
- Gillette, Meg, ed. *The Stories We Tell: Modernism in the Tri-Cities* (A; crit). Rock Island, Ill.: East Hall Press at Augustana College, 2014. [Ill.; Iowa]
- In the Middle of the Action: Publishing in America's Heartland Is a Cause for Celebration (pub). *Publishers Weekly*, 261 (29 Sept. 2014), 39-57. [Midwest]
- Lauck, Jon K. How Regionalism Dies: The Intellectual Journey of *The Minnesota Review* (crit; jrnl; pub). *MidAmerica*, 41 (2014), 80-87.
- Maher, Susan Naramore. Deep Map Country: Literary Cartography of the Great Plains (crit). Lincoln: U Nebraska P, 2014. [Midwest]
- Medina-Rivera, Antonio. El Español en Cleveland: Actitudes Lingüísticas y Variedades en Contacto (lang). Revista Internacional de Lingüística Iberoamericana, 12 (1) 2014, 61-76. [Cleveland, Ohio]
- Noodin, Margaret. Bawaajimo: A Dialect of Dreams in Anishinaabe Language and Literature (lang). East Lansing: Michigan State U P, 2014. [Ojibwa]
- Rankinen, Will. The Michigan Upper Peninsula English Vowel System in Finnish American Communities in Marquette County (lang). *American Speech*, 89 (Fall 2014), 312-47. [Michigan]
- Seals, Marc. No Place to Hide: Examining the Struggle Between Urban and Rural in Midwest Noir (crit). *Midwestern Miscellany*, 42 (Spr. 2014), 9-14.

Addams, Jane (1860-1935)

- Beauboeuf-Lafontant, Tamara. Becoming Jane Addams: Feminist Development Theory and "The College Woman" (crit). *Girlhood Studies*, 7 (Win. 2014), 61-78.
- Byttebier, Stephanie. "None of the Effect of an Invalid": The Trials of Empathy in Henry James's *The Wings of the Dove* (crit). *Henry James Review*, 35 (Sum. 2014), 157-74.
- Fischer, Marilyn. Addams on Cultural Pluralism, European Immigrants, and African Americans (crit). *Pluralist*, 9 (Fall 2014), 38-58.
- —. [Response to critical commentaries]. *Pluralist*, 9 (Fall 2014), 72-76.
- James, V. Denise. Comments on Marilyn Fischer's "Addams on Cultural Pluralism, European Immigrants, and African Americans" (crit). *Pluralist*, 9 (Fall 2014), 66-71.
- Lake, Danielle. Jane Addams and Wicked Problems: Putting the Pragmatic Method to Use (crit). *Pluralist*, 9 (Fall 2014), 77-94.
- Schaafsma, David, ed. Jane Addams in the Classroom (crit). Urbana: U Illinois P, 2014.
- Seigfried, Charlene Haddock. Commentary on the Discussion Paper of Marilyn Fischer, "Addams on Cultural Pluralism, European Immigrants, and African Americans" (crit). *Pluralist*, 9 (Fall 2014), 59-65.
- Wendler, Rachel. "Socializing Democracy": The Community Literary Pedagogy of Jane Addams (crit). *Community Literary Journal*, 8 (Spr. 2014), 33-48.
- Wilson, Sarah. Cosmopolitan Cordelia: Jane Addams's Industrial Parables (crit). *Modern Language Quarterly*, 75 (Dec. 2014), 459-86.

Aldrich, Bess Streeter (1881-1954)

Dalstrom, Harl A. Fiction and Fact: Bess Streeter Aldrich's *The Drum Goes Dead* and the Hard Times of the 1930s (crit). *Great Plains Quarterly*, 34 (Fall 2014), 293-315.

Anderson, Margaret (1886-1973)

Hannah, Matthew. Photoplay, Literary Celebrity, and The Little Review (crit). Journal of Modern Periodical Studies, 5 (2) 2014, 223-44.

Anderson, Sherwood (1876-1941)

- Buechsel, Mark. Sacred Land: Sherwood Anderson, Midwestern Modernism, and the Sacramental Vision of Nature (crit). Kent, Ohio: Kent State U P, 2014.
- Bossmann, Marilyn. Sherwood Anderson and Troutdale, Virginia: The Power of Natural Landscape as Mirrored in Two Blue Ridge Stories, "These Mountaineers" and "A Sentimental Journey" (crit). *MidAmerica*, 41 (2014), 115-26.
- De Fazio, Delia. Convergences in the Poetics of the Grotesque of Anderson and Gogol (crit). *Letteratura e Letterature*, 8 (2014), 45-60.
- Sanchez, Rebecca. Shattering Communicative Norms: The Politics of Embodied Language in *Winesburg, Ohio* (crit). *Modern Language Studies*, 43 (Win. 2014), 25-39.
- Tangedal, Ross. Designed to Amuse: Hemingway's *The Torrents of Spring* and Intertextual Comedy (crit). *MidAmerica*, 41 (2014), 11-22.
- Thomières, Daniel. Peut-on Déplier les Pilules de Papier de Sherwood Anderson? (crit). Mosaic: A Journal for the Interdisciplinary Study of Literature, 47 (Sept. 2014), 89-106.
- Zakeviciene, Indrè. Lithuanian Literature in the Scope of Distant Reading (crit). *Interlitteraria*, 19 (1) 2014, 120-30.

Audubon, John James (1785-1851)

Roberts, Jennifer L. *Transporting Visions: The Movement of Images in Early America* (crit). Berkeley: U California P, 2014.

Baum, L. Frank (1856-1919)

- Corliss, Richard, et al. The Wizard of Oz: 75 Years Along the Yellow Brick Road (crit). NY: Life Books, 2014.
- Cummings, Scott. *The Tik-Tok Man of Oz*: The Fairyland Extravaganza of 1913-14, Part One (crit). *Baum Bugle*, 58 (Aut. 2014), 8-22.
- —. The Tik-Tok Man of Oz: The Fairyland Extravaganza of 1913-14, Part Two (crit). Baum Bugle, 58 (Win. 2014), 29-40.
- Cutolo, Raffaele. *Into the Woods of Wicked Wonderland: Musicals Revise Fairy Tales* (crit). Heidelberg: Universitätsverlag Winter, 2014.
- Derry, Ken. "Like You Could Read What Was Inside of Me": Genocide, Hermeneutics, and Religion in *The Wizard of Oz* (crit). *Journal of Religion and Popular Culture*, 26 (Fall 2014), 293-309.
- Elza, Cary Marshall Jones. Boundary-Crossing Girls and Imaginary Worlds: Gender, Childhood, and the Cinematic Spaces of Modernity (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Northwestern U, 2013.
- Hanff, Peter E. St. Nicholas Magazine and Queen Zixi if Ix: The Transformation of American Fantasy (crit). Baum Bugle, 58 (Spr. 2014), 8-14.
- The Serial Publication of L. Frank Baum's Queen Zixi of Ix (bibl; crit). Baum Bugle, 58 (Spr. 2014), 15-18.
- Kérchy, Anna. Picturebooks Challenging Sexual Politics: Pro-Porn Feminist Comics and the Case of Melinda Gebbie and Alan Moore's Lost Girls (crit). Hungarian Journal of English and American Studies, 20 (Fall 2014), 121-42.
- Ostling, Michael. Myth, Religion, and the Man Behind the Curtain (crit). *Journal of Religion and Popular Culture*, 26 (Fall 2014), 275-86.
- Pendlebury, Kathleen Sarah. Cerebral Pleasures: Children's Literature and Philosophy (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Pittsburgh, 2013.
- Simpson, Paul. A Brief Guide to Oz (crit). London: Robinson, 2013.
- Smith, David L. "There's No Place Like Home": An American Koan (crit). *Journal of Religion and Popular Culture*, 26 (Fall 2014), 287-92.
- Taroff, Kurt. Home Is Where the Self Is: Monodrama, Journey Play Structure, and the Modernist Fairy Tale (crit). *Marvels & Tales*, 28 (2) 2014, 325-45.

Ziaukas, Tim. Oz in the Oilfields? Searching for L. Frank Baum in Bradford (biog; crit). Western Pennsylvania History, 97 (Sum. 2014), 34-47.

Bellow, Saul (1915-2005)

Fitzpatrick, Catherine. Friendship and Confession: Saul Bellow and John Berryman (crit). English: The Journal of the English Association, 63 (Sum. 2014), 132-52.

Grewal, Jyotsna. Women in Saul Bellow: A Cultural Study (crit). Delhi: Jyoti Enterprises, 2014.
 Halio, Jay L. Reverse Anti-Semitism in the Fiction of Bellow and Roth (crit). CLCWeb: Comparative Literature and Culture, 16 (June 2014), unpaginated.

Leader, Zachary. Response to Marcel Lepper (crit). Critical Inquiry, 41 (Aut. 2014), 160-62.Lepper, Marcel. Against Cultural Nationalism: Reply to Zachary Leader (crit). Critical Inquiry, 41 (Aut. 2014), 153-59.

Mikics, David. Bellow's Augie at Sixty (crit). Yale Review, 102 (Apr. 2014), 30-42.

Schroth, Terri and Bryant Smith. Muddled Origins in Picaresque Literature: The Foreshadowing of Chaotic Lives (crit). *Interlitteraria*, 19 (2) 2014, 293-306.

Berryman, John (1914-1972)

Cole, Henri. "Deep in the Mess of Things": Revisiting John Berryman's 77 Dream Songs (crit). Salmagundi, 182-183 (Spr.-Sum. 2014), 52-59.

Coleman, Philip. *John Berryman's Public Vision: Relocating "the Scene of Disorder"* (crit). Dublin: U College Dublin P, 2014.

Fitzpatrick, Catherine. Friendship and Confession: Saul Bellow and John Berryman (crit). *English: The Journal of the English Association*, 63 (Sum. 2014), 132-52.

Golden, Amanda. John Berryman at Midcentury: Annotating Ezra Pound and Teaching Modernism (crit). *Modernism/Modernity*, 21 (Apr. 2014), 507-28.

Jordan, Amy. "All Your Ages at the Mercy of My Loves": Rewriting History in John Berryman's *Homage to Mistress Bradstreet* (crit). *Journal of American Studies*, 48 (Nov. 2014), 999-1018.

Bierce, Ambrose (1842-1914?)

Cushman, Stephen. Belligerent Muse: Five Northern Writers and How They Shaped Our Understanding of the Civil War (crit). Chapel Hill: U North Carolina P. 2014.

Black Elk (1863-1950)

Taylor, Matthew A. "Contagious Emotions" and the Ghost Dance Religion: Mooney's Science, Black Elk's Fever (crit). *ELH*, 81 (Fall 2014), 1055-82.

Blei, Norbert (1935-2013)

D'Alessio, Alice, et al., eds. *The Professor's Quarters* (biog; crit; M). Oak Park, Ill.: After Hours Press. 2014.

Bly, Robert (b. 1926)

Gustafson, Mark. Bringing Blood to Trakl's Ghost (crit). Antioch Review, 72 (Fall 2014), 636-54.

Boyd, Thomas (1898-1935)

Rennie, David Alan. "The Best Combatant Story of the Great War"? Thematic and Descriptive Juxtaposition in Thomas Boyd's *Through the Wheat* (crit). *MidAmerica*, 41 (2014), 95-104.

Boyle, Kay (1902-1992)

Weik von Mossner, Alexa. Cosmopolitan Minds: Literature, Emotion, and the Transnational Imagination (crit). Austin: U Texas P, 2014.

Bradbury, Ray (1920-2012)

- Devers, Rebecca. "You Don't Prepare Breakfast...You Launch It Like a Missile": The Cold War Kitchen and Technology's Displacement of the Home (crit). *Americana: The Journal of American Popular Culture*, 13 (Spr. 2014), unpaginated.
- Eller, Jonathan R. Ray Bradbury Unbound (biog; crit). Urbana: U Illinois P, 2014.
- —, ed. The Collected Stories of Ray Bradbury: A Critical Edition, Volume 2: 1943-1944 (crit). Kent, Ohio: Kent State U P, 2014.
- Ellerhoff, Steve Gronert. "Sometimes Two People Like Each Other Who Shouldn't": Díaz, Schickler and Bradbury Stories That Defamiliarize the Teacher-Student Relationship (crit). *Short Fiction in Theory & Practice*, 4 (Apr. 2014), 51-65.
- Etchison, Dennis. Bradbury in Hollywood: A Conversation with Ray Bradbury (I). Weird Fiction Review, 5 (Fall 2014), 184-203.
- Filler, James. Ascending from the Ashes: Images of Plato in Bradbury's *Fahrenheit 451* (crit). *Philosophy and Literature*, 38 (Oct. 2014), 528-48.
- Kampff, Joseph and Greg Clinton. *Ray Bradbury and the Cold War* (crit). NY: Cavendish Square, 2014.
- Kohlmann, Benjamin. What Is It Like to Be a Rat? Early Cold War Glimpses of the Post-Human (crit). *Textual Practice*, 28 (July 2014), 655-75.
- Weller, Sam, ed. *Ray Bradbury: The Last Interview and Other Conversations* (I). Brooklyn, N.Y.: Melville House, 2014.

Brooks, Gwendolyn (1917-2000)

- Ahern, Megan K. Creative Multivalence: Social Engagement Beyond Naturalism in Gwendolyn Brooks's *Maud Martha* (crit). *African American Review*, 47 (Sum.-Fall 2014), 313-26.
- Allison, Raphael. *Bodies on the Line: Performance and the Sixties Poetry Reading* (crit). Iowa City: U Iowa P, 2014.
- Cole, Christopher Taylor. What Echoes Tell Us: The Underlying Queer and Racial Elements in Gwendolyn Brooks' *Maud Martha* and Selected Poems (crit). *New Academia: An International Journal of English Language and Literary Theory*, 3 (Jan. 2014), 1-12.
- Conrad, Rachel. Children Coming Home: The Anticipatory Present in Gwendolyn Brooks's Poems of Childhood (crit). *Callaloo*, 37 (Spr. 2014), 369-88.
- Edford, Rachel. Forms of Identity in Gwendolyn Brooks's World War II Poems (crit). *College Literature*, 41 (Fall 2014), 71-93.
- Evans, Meagan L. Sounding Silence: American Women's Experimental Poetics (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Oregon, 2012.
- Lambert, Elizabeth. The Face in the Mirror: Multiple Identities as a Cause of Madness in the Works of Gwendolyn Brooks and Sylvia Plath (crit). *New Academia: An International Journal of English Language and Literary Theory*, 3 (Jan. 2014), 1-10.
- Lieberman, Laurence. On the Brink of Secession: Gwendolyn Brooks (crit). *American Poetry Review*, 43 (Nov.-Dec. 2014), 29-30.
- Phillips, Michelle H. Moving In and Stepping Out: Gwendolyn Brooks's Children at Midcentury (crit). *African American Review*, 47 (Spr. 2014), 145-60.

Browne, Charles Farrar (1834-1867)

Martin, Justin. Rebel Souls: Walt Whitman and America's First Bohemians (crit). NY: Da Capo Press, 2014.

Burnett, W. R. (1899-1982)

- Szuberla, Guy. Little Caesar: Tough Guys Don't Dream (crit). *Midwestern Miscellany*, 42 (Spr. 2014), 15-26.
- W.R. Burnett's "Dressing Up," or, "Ain't I Boul' Mich'?" (crit). *Midwestern Miscellany*, 42 (Fall 2014), 40-55.

Burroughs, William S. (1914-1997)

- Allmer, Patricia and John Sears. *Taking Shots: The Photography of William S. Burroughs* (crit). Munich: Prestel, 2014.
- Ardoin, Paul. Product and Process: Making and Unmaking Films with Beckett and Burroughs (crit). D.Litt. Dissertation, U Antwerp, 2014.
- Arich-Gerz, Bruno. Stillschweigen in der Interzone: Tanger-Literatur und Intertextualität in Homi K. Bhabhas Postkolonialer Theorie (crit). Arcadia: Internationale Zeitschrift für Literaturwissenschaft, 49 (2) 2014, 323-33.
- Bockris, Victor. *El Affaire de Burroughs y Warhol* (biog; crit). Bilbao: Libros Crudos, 2014. Bolton, Michael Sean. *Mosaic of Juxtaposition: Williams S. Burroughs' Narrative Revolution* (crit). Amsterdam: Editions Rodopi, 2014.
- Breu, Christopher. *Insistence of the Material: Literature in the Age of Biopolitics* (crit). Minneapolis: U Minnesota P, 2014.
- Cran, Rona. Collage in Twentieth-Century Art, Literature and Culture: Joseph Cornell, William Burroughs, Frank O'Hara, and Bob Dylan (crit). Farnham: Ashgate, 2014.
- Dachy, Marc. William Burroughs, la Chimie de Génie: Un Dossier (crit). Le Magazine Littéraire, 542 (2014), 32-63.
- Haines, Christian. "Paradise Actually Exists": Biopolitics and Utopian Praxis in William S. Burroughs's The Place of Dead Roads (crit). Genre: Forms of Discourse and Culture, 47 (Sum. 2014), 171-97.
- Harrison, K.C. LeRoi Jones's Radio and the Literary "Break" from Ellison to Burroughs (crit). *African American Review*, 47 (Sum.-Fall 2014), 357-74.
- Hougue, Clémentine. Le Cut-Up de William S. Burroughs: Histoire d'une Révolution du Langage (crit). Dijon: Presses du RÈel Editions, 2014.
- Miles, Barry. Call Me Burroughs: A Life (biog). NY: Twelve, 2014.
- O'Hagen, Andrew. The Dark Dreams of William Burroughs (rev). New York Review of Books, 61 (9 Oct. 2014), 45-46.
- Ploog, Jürgen. Word Is Virus: Essays; 100 Jahre WSB (crit). Luzern: Der Kollaboratör, 2014. Rocha, Servando. Nada Es Verdad, Todo Está Permitido: El Día que Kurt Cobain Conoció a William Burroughs (biog). Barcelona: Alpha Decay, 2014.\
- Shoaf, Eric C. William S. Burroughs: A Collector's Guide (bibl). Providence, R.I.: Inkblot Publications, 2014.
- Stevens, Matthew Levi. Magical Universe of William S. Burroughs (biog; crit). Oxford: Mandrake of Oxford, 2014.
- and C.J. Bradbury Robinson. A Way with Words: Selected Essays (crit). Guildford: WhollyBooks, 2014.
- Tytell, John. The Beat Interviews: Conversations with Allen Ginsberg, William S. Burroughs, John Clellon Holmes, Herbert Huncke, and Carl Solomon (I). S.I.: Beatdom Books, 2014.
- Wolmart, Gregory. Styles of Anarchic Will in Cold War American Literature (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Pennsylvania, 2013.

Campbell, Bonnie Jo (b. 1962)

Noe, Marcia, Mollee Shannon, and Laura Duncan. The Dark Fairy Tale in the Fiction of Bonnie Jo Campbell (crit). *Midwestern Miscellany*, 42 (Spr. 2014), 33-44.

Castillo, Ana (b. 1953)

- Murphy, Patrick D. The Ecofeminist Subsistence Perspective Revisited in an Age of Land Grabs and Its Representations in Contemporary Literature (crit). *Feminismo/s*, 22 (Dec. 2013), 205-24.
- Park, Stephen M. The Pan American Imagination: Contested Visions of the Hemisphere in Twentieth-Century Literature (crit). Charlottesville: U Virginia P, 2014.
- Quintana Millmoto, María Esther. *Madres e Hijas Melancólicas en Seis Novelas Étnicas de Crecimiento de Autoras Latinas* (crit). Madrid: Instituto Franklin de Estudios NorteAmericanos. 2014.

Cather, Willa (1873-1947)

- Cox, Stephen D. The Cather Correspondence (rev). American Literary History, 26 (Sum. 2014), 418-29.
- Ferraro, Thomas J. No Forgiveness in Heaven, No Forgetting in Hell (crit). *American Literary History*, 26 (Spr. 2014), 83-109.
- Fortier, Eric. Aesthetic Experience in the Culture of Professionalism, 1890-1925 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Massachusetts, 2013.
- Frampton, Sara. "I Bid My Hideous Progeny Go Forth and Prosper": *Frankenstein*'s Homosocial Doubles and Twentieth Century American Literature (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Ottawa, 2013.
- Lee, Julia H. The Chinaman's Crime: Race, Memory, and the Railroad in Willa Cather's "The Affair at Grover Station" (crit). Western American Literature, 49 (Sum. 2014), 147-70.
- Legleitner, Rickie-Ann. The Artist Embodied: Female Creativity and Development in American Literature from 1850-1932 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U South Dakota, 2014.
- Lindemann, Marilee. Too Much of a Good Thing Is Wonderful: At Long Last, Cather's Letters (crit). *Resources for American Literary Study*, 37 (2014), 289-97.
- Lytal, Benjamin. Getting the Undulation (rev). *London Review of Books*, 36 (20 Feb. 2014), 29-30.
- Meihuizen, Nicholas. Achieving Form in Autobiography (crit). *Literator: Tydskrif vir Besondere en Vergelykende Taal*, 35 (2) 2014, unpaginated.
- Murphy, Joseph C. Wagnerism and American Modernism: Rereading Willa Cather's "A Wagner Matinée" (crit). Forum for Modern Language Studies, 50 (Oct. 2014), 405-25.
- Peabody, Megan M. The Reluctant Madonna: Mothers on the Margins in the Works of Mary E. Wilkins Freeman, Alice Dunbar-Nelson, Willa Cather, and Angelina Weld Grimke (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Nebraska, Lincoln, 2013.
- Rennie, David Alan. "The Best Combatant Story of the Great War"? Thematic and Descriptive Juxtaposition in Thomas Boyd's *Through the Wheat* (crit). *MidAmerica*, 41 (2014), 95-104.
- Squire, Kelsey. Legacy and Conflict: Willa Cather and the Spirit of the Western University (crit). *Great Plains Quarterly*, 34 (Sum. 2014), 239-56.
- Warnes, Andrew. American Tantalus: Horizons, Happiness, and the Impossible Pursuits of US Literature and Culture (crit). NY: Bloomsbury Academic, 2014.

Chaon, Dan (b. 1964)

Schmitt, Arnaud. Knots, Story Lines, and Hermeneutical Lines: A Case Study (crit). Storyworlds: A Journal of Narrative Studies, 6 (Win. 2014), 75-91.

Chesnutt, Charles W. (1858-1932)

- Barnard, John Levi. Ancient History, American Time: Chesnutt's Outsider Classicism and the Present Past (crit). *PMLA*, 129 (Jan. 2014), 71-86, 160.
- —. Ruins Amidst Ruins: Black Classicalism and the Empire of Slavery (crit). *American Literature* 86 (June 2014), 361-89.

- Bufkin, Sydney. Beyond "Bitter": Chesnutt's *The Marrow of Tradition* (crit). *American Literary Realism*, 46 (Spr. 2014), 230-50.
- Byrd, Gayle. The Presence and Use of the Native American and African American Oral Trickster Traditions in Zitkala-Sa's *Old Indian Legends* and *American Indian Stories* and Charles Chesnutt's *The Conjure Woman* (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Temple U, 2014.
- Ellis, R.J., ed. *The Colonel's Dream by Charles W. Chesnutt* (Regenerations: African American Literature and Culture, v.4). Morgantown: West Virginia U P, 2014.
- Emin Tunc, Tanfer. The De(con)struction of Black/White Binaries: Critiques of Passing in Charles Waddell Chesnutt's "The Wife of His Youth" and Other Stories of the Color Line (crit) Callaloo, 37 (Sum. 2014), 676-91.
- Fabi, M. Giulia. Out of the Kitchen of the House of Fiction (crit). Legacy: A Journal of American Women Writers, 31 (1) 2014, 66-69.
- Greene, Adrian. The War Against Weariness: Imaginative Energies in Southern American Novels (1864-1918) (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U North Carolina, Chapel Hill, 2013.
- Johnson, Lynn R. Bearing the Burden of Loss: Melancholic Agency in Charles W. Chesnutt's *Paul Marchand, FMC* (crit). *Southern Literary Journal*, 47 (Fall 2014), 1-20.
- Kim, Hyejin. Gothic Storytelling and Resistance in Charles W. Chesnutt's *The Conjure Woman* (crit). Orbis Litterarum, 69 (Oct. 2014), 411-38.
- Thompson, April. Trashed: The Myth of the Southern Poor White (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Arkansas, Fayetteville, 2014.
- Wise, Rachel A. Reading Rivalry, Race, and the Rise of a Southern Middle Class in Charles W. Chesnutt's The Marrow of Tradition (crit). Arizona Quarterly, 70 (Aut. 2014), 157-84.

Chopin, Kate (1850-1904)

- Bai, Limin. The Re-Understanding of Edna Pontellier's Death (crit). Theory and Practice in Language Studies, 4 (4) 2014, 845-49.
- Castro, Amanda Lee. Storm Warnings: The Eternally Recurring Apocalypse in Kate Chopin's *The Awakening* (crit). *Southern Literary Journal*, 47 (Fall 2014), 68-80.
- Crew, Teresa Ammons. A Creative Interpretation of the Short Stories of Kate Chopin through Dramatic Play-Manuscripts (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Wales, Trinity Saint David, 2014.
- Doloff, Steven. Kate Chopin's Lexical Diagnostic in "The Story of an Hour" (crit). Notes and Queries, 61 (Dec. 2014), 580-81.
- Ellis, Charles Steven. Escape as Motif and Theme in Modern American Fiction: Kate Chopin, Edith Wharton, F. Scott Fitzgerald, and Ernest Hemingway (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Florida State U. 2014.
- Evans, Robert C., ed. *The Awakening* (Critical Insights) (crit). Ipswich, Mass.: Salem Press, 2014.Kotlarczyk, Adam. Before PTSD: Combat Trauma in the Civil War Short Stories of Kate Chopin (crit). *Notes on American Literature*, 23 (2014), 23-31.
- McConnell, Mikaela. A Lost Sense of Self by Ignoring Other in *The Awakening* by Kate Chopin (crit). *Explicator*, 72 (Jan.-Mar. 2014), 41-44.
- Mohr, Amy Doherty. Down the River, Out to Sea: Mobility, Immobility, and Creole Identity in New Orleans Regionalist Fiction (1880-1910) (crit). *European Journal of American Studies*, 2014, unpaginated.
- Morgan, Thomas Lewis. Criticizing Local Color: Innovative Conformity in Kate Chopin's Short Fiction (crit). Arizona Quarterly, 70 (Spr. 2014), 135-71.
- Noe, Marcia, Rachel Davis, and Brittain Whiteside-Galloway. Performative Fashion in the Fiction of Kate Chopin (crit). *Midwestern Miscellany*, 42 (Fall 2014), 19-31.
- Picone, Michael D. Literary Dialect and the Linguistic Reconstruction of Nineteenth-Century Louisiana (crit). American Speech, 89 (Sum. 2014), 143-69.
- Thomiéres, Daniel. An Experiment in Identity: Kate and Edna in *The Awakening* (crit). LATCH: A Journal for the Study of the Literary Artifact in Theory, Culture, or History, 7 (2014), 20-54.

Cisneros, Sandra (b. 1954)

- Alfaro, Melissa J. Breaking the Silence: A Rhetorical Analysis of Selected Works by Sandra Cisneros and Toni Morrison through the Lens of Northrop Frye's Rhetorical Theories of Speech and Style (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Texas Woman's U, 2012.
- Bubíková, Sarká. The House and the Street as Topoi in Two Chikana Bildungsromane (crit). *Orbis Linguarum*, 40 (2014), 503-12.
- Burcar, Lilijana. *American Literature and Its Socio-Political Context* (crit). Ljubljana: Znanstvena Zalozba Filozofske Fakultete, 2014.
- García Argüelles, Elsa Leticia. Las Seducciones Literarias: Representaciones de la Literatura Femenina en América (crit). Zacatecas: SEDUZAC, Secretaría de Educación, 2014.
- Graf, Amara. Mexicanized Melodrama: Sandra Cisneros' Literary Translation of the Telenovela in *Caramelo* (crit). *Label Me Latina/o*, 4 (Fall 2014), 1-20.
- Latinez, Alejandro. Developments: Encounters of Formation in the Latin American and Hispanic/Latino Bildungsroman (crit). NY: Peter Lang, 2014.
- Mujcinovic, Fatima. Self-Expression and World-Expression: Critical Multicultural Literacy in Maxine Hong Kingston and Sandra Cisneros (crit). CEA Critic, 76 (Mar. 2014), 98-113.
- Quintana Millmoto, María Esther. Madres e Hijas Melancólicas en Seis Novelas Étnicas de Crecimiento de Autoras Latinas (crit). Madrid: Instituto Franklin de Estudios NorteAmericanos, 2014.
- Szeghi, Tereza M. Weaving Transnational Cultural Identity through Travel and Diaspora in Sandra Cisneros's *Caramelo* (crit). *MELUS*, 39 (Win. 2014), 162-85.
- Wickelson, Paul B. Out of Joint: Neoliberalism, Narrative, and the Gothic Quest for Place in the Dialectical West (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Utah, 2014.

Clemens, Samuel L. (1835-1910)

- Abu-Hilal, Fatin, and Ayman Abu-Shomar. The Construction of the "Self" in Mark Twain's *The Innocents Abroad*: "The Positional Superiority" of the American Identity in The Nineteenth-Century Travel Narrative (crit). *International Journal of Comparative Literature and Translation*, 2 (4) 2014, 15-26.
- Aloshyna, Maryna. Comparative Analysis of the Reproduction of Style in Ukrainian, Russian, and Polish Translations of Tom Sawyer and Huckleberry Finn (crit). Respectus Philologicus, 25 (30) 2014, 200-10.
- Aminrazavi, Mehdi, ed. Sufism and American Literary Masters (crit). Albany: SUNY P, 2014.
 Aum, Gidong. Henry Sutpen and Charles Bon: William Faulkner's Reimagining of Nineteenth-Century Interracial Male Bonding in Absalom, Absalom! (crit). British and American Fiction, 21 (Sum. 2014), 5-35.
- Bailey, Susan Madeline and Deborah Lynn Gosselin. *The Twain Shall Meet* (biog). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.
- Comfort, Ray. Mark Twain: Christian Response to His Battle with God (crit). Green Forest, Ark.: Master Books, 2014.
- Davis, John H. Mark Twain's Arousal of Curiosity in "A Curious Experience" (crit). American Literary Realism, 46 (Win. 2014), 176-86.
- Davis, Philip E. Comparative Philosophy: Four Philosophical Americans: William James, Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr., Mark Twain, and Thomas Jefferson (crit). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.
- Dixon, Miriam Christine Benner. The Pain Economy: Mark Twain's Investment in Pain (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Drew U, 2014.
- —. The Pain Economy: Mark Twain's Masochistic Understanding of Pain (crit). American Literary Realism, 47 (Fall 2014), 71-87.
- Doherty, Dennis M. *Why Read* The Adventures of Huckleberry Finn (crit). Wickford, R.I.: New Street Communications, 2014.

- Fortuny, Kim. Islam, Westernization, and Posthumanist Place: The Case of the Istanbul Street Dog (crit). *Isle: Interdisciplinary Studies in Literature and Environment*, 21 (Spr. 2014), 271-97.
- Gazaille, Brian A. Making a Mill of a Mouth More Productive: Efficiency and Linguistic Management in Twain's *Connecticut Yankee* (crit). *American Literary Realism*, 47 (Fall 2014), 55-70.
- Griffin, Benjamin, ed. A Family Sketch and Other Private Writings by Mark Twain (Jumping Frogs: Undiscovered, Rediscovered, and Celebrated Writings of Mark Twain, Vol. 5) (biog; crit). Oakland: U California P, 2014.
- Hasty, Will. Revolutions and Final Solutions: On Enlightenment and Its Dialectic in Mark Twain's A Connecticut Yankee in King Arthur's Court (crit). Arthuriana, 24 (Sum. 2014), 21-42.
- Hickman, Timothy A. A Chicago Architect in King Arthur's Court: Mark Twain, Daniel Burnham and the Imperialism of Gilded Age Modernity (crit). *Journal of American Studies*, 48 (Feb. 2014), 99-126.
- Howe, Lawrence. Narrating the Tennessee Land: Real Property, Fictional Land, and Mark Twain's Literary Enterprise (crit). American Literary Realism, 47 (Fall 2016), 4-26.
- Ikoma, Kumi. "Real Sentiment Is a Very Rare & Godlike Thing": Sentimentality and the Questions of Gender and Race in *The Adventures of Tom Sawyer* (crit). *Studies in English Literature*, 55 (2014), 39-57.
- Irvine, Colin. Teaching American Literature Inside the Box: A Narrative-Based Approach to Instruction (crit). *Teaching American Literature*, 7 (Spr.-Sum. 2014), 53-70.
- Katz, Harry L. Mark Twain's America: A Celebration in Words and Images (biog). NY: Little, Brown and Co., 2014.
- Lee, Judith Yaross. Brand Management: Samuel Clemens, Trademarks, and the Mark Twain Enterprise (crit). *American Literary Realism*, 47 (Fall 2014), 27-54.
- Leonard, James S. Great Darknesses, Mysterious Strangers, Infernal Personae: Mark Twain's Otherworldly Perspectives (crit). LATCH: A Journal for the Study of the Literary Artifact in Theory, Culture, or History, 7 (2014), 96-111.
- Long, Jordana Ashman. Blood on the Hills: The Hatfields and McCoys and Feuding Families in *Huckleberry Finn* (crit). *Teaching American Literature*, 7 (Spr.-Sum. 2014), 29-43.
- McPartland, Robert. Mark Twain's Audience: A Critical Analysis of Reader Responses to the Writings of Mark Twain (crit). Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books, 2014.
- Maruo-Schröder, Nicole and Chrisoph Ribbat, eds. *Literature and Consumption in Nineteenth-Century America* (crit). Heidelberg: Neckar Universitätsverlag Winter, 2014.
- Nafisi, Azar. The Republic of Imagination: America in Three Books (crit). NY: Viking Adult, 2014.Naparsteck, Martin and Michelle Cardulla. Mrs. Mark Twain: The Life of Olivia Langdon Clemens, 1845-1904 (biog). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co., 2014.
- Pavlyshenko, Bohdan. Genetic Optimization of Keyword Subsets in the Classification Analysis of Authorship of Texts (crit). *Journal of Quantitative Linguistics*, 21 (Nov. 2014), 341-49.
- Peltason, Timothy. Love and Judgment in the *Adventures of Huckleberry Finn* (crit). *Raritan*, 33 (Spr. 2014), 57-94.
- Petrakis, Harry Mark. Song of My Life: A Memoir (M). Columbia: U South Carolina P, 2014. Redding, Arthur F. American Tourism and the Emergence of Mass Culture: Mark Twain's The Innocents Abroad (crit). Anglistik und Englischunterricht, 82 (2014), 107-19.
- Rodríguez Herrera, José Manuel. The Reverse Side of Mark Twain's Brocade: The *Adventures of Huckleberry Finn* and the Translation of Dialect (crit). *European Journal of English Studies*, 18 (Dec. 2014), 278-94.
- Rohrkemper, John. Mark the Clothes: Mark Twain and Clothing as a Social Signifier (crit). *Midwestern Miscellany*, 42 (Fall 2014), 9-18.
- Rose, Stephany. Abolishing White Masculinity from Mark Twain to Hiphop (crit). Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books, 2014.
- Sachdev, Rita. Critical Interpretation of Mark Twain (crit). New Delhi: Wisdom Press, 2014.

- Scharnhorst, Gary, ed. Mark Twain on Potholes and Politics: Letters to the Editor (corr; crit). Columbia: U Missouri P. 2014.
- —. Mark Twain's First Report of the 1865 San Francisco Earthquake: A Recovered Document (crit). *American Literary Realism*, 46 (Spr. 2014), 268-70.
- Schilling, Peter. Mark Twain's Mississippi River: An Illustrated Chronicle of the Big River in Samuel Clemens's Life and Works (crit). Minneapolis: Voyageur Press, 2014.
- Smith, Cassander L. "Nigger" or "Slave": Why Labels Matter for Jim (and Twain) in *Adventures of Huckleberry Finn* (crit). *Papers on Language and Literature*, 50 (Spr. 2014), 182-206.
- Snider, Cara L. Christ in the Margins: Confronting Racism through the (Written) Word in Post-Civil War America (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, West Virginia U, 2014.
- Spanos, William V. Redeemer Nation and Apocalypse: Thinking the Exceptionalism of American Exceptionalism (crit). *Lit: Literature Interpretation Theory*, 25 (Apr.-June 2014), 174-200.
- Taghizadeh, Ali. A Theory of Literary Realism (crit). *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 4 (8) 2014, 1628-35.
- Tarnoff, Ben. *The Bohemians: Mark Twain and the San Francisco Writers Who Reinvented American Literature* (crit). NY: Penguin Press, 2014.
- Trupej, Janko. Prevajanje Rasisticnega Diskurza o Temnopoltih v Slovenscino (crit). *Primerjalna Knjizevnost*, 37 (3) 2014, 89-109.
- Xu, Ying. Note: Additions to the Mark Twain Library (bibl; corr). *American Literary Realism*, 46 (Win. 2014), 187-88.

Conroy, Jack (1899-1990)

Turner, Alison. The Role of the Anticanonical Text: Jack Conroy and the *Anvil*, a Case Study (crit). *Short Fiction in Theory & Practice*, 4 (Apr. 2014), 35-49.

Coover, Robert (b. 1932)

- Heitkemper-Yates, Michael David. Mytho-Historical Mode: Metafictional Parody and Postmodern High Irony in the Works of Donald Barthelme, Robert Coover, and Ishmael Reed (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Edinburgh, 2013.
- Kingsley, Erin. "Nothing Could Be That Grotesque and Live": Mapping Abject Body Space in Robert Coover's *Pinocchio in Venice* (crit). *Critique*, 55 (1) 2014, 33-45.

Crane, Hart (1899-1932)

- Michiels, Laura. The Presence of Hart Crane in Samuel R. Delany's "Atlantis: Model 1924" (crit). *Amerikastudien/American Studies*, 59 (1) 2014, 27-45.
- Pérez Montfort, Ricardo. Cuatro Miradas Norteamericanas Sobre el México de la Posrevolución 1922-1932: Tepoztlán Visto por Stuart Chase, Carleton Beals, Katherine Ann Porter y Hart Crane (crit). Habana Elegante, 55 (Spr.-Sum. 2014), unpaginated.
- Stenclik, Eric. Christian Tears; Pagan Smiles: Hart Crane's "Lachrymae Christi" (crit). *Religion and the Arts*, 18 (3) 2014, 349-72.
- Taylor, Julie. On Holding and Being Held: Hart Crane's Queer Intimacy (crit). *Twentieth Century Literature*, 60 (Fall 2014), 305-35.

Delbanco, Nicholas (b. 1942)

Delbanco, Nicholas, ed. Dear Wizard: The Letters of Nicholas Delbanco and Jon Manchip White (corr). Ann Arbor: U Michigan P, 2014.

Dell, Floyd (1887-1969)

Teller, Alex. Woman of Letters (biog; crit). Newberry Magazine, 3 (Fall 2014), 10-12.

Derleth, August (1909-1971)

Joshi, S.T., ed. Letters to Arkham: The Letters of Ramsey Campbell and August Derleth, 1961-1971 (corr). Hornsea, Yorks.: PS-PS Publishing, 2014.

Lehman, John. From Wisconsin (biog; crit). Rockdale, Wis.: Zelda Wilde Publishing, 2014.

De Vries, Peter (1910-1993)

Hiskes, Jonathan. The Rage of Peter De Vries: Reckoning with a Brokenhearted Humorist (crit). *Image: Art, Faith, Mystery*, 83 (Win. 2014), 81-89.

Dorn, Edward (1929-1999)

Fredman, Stephen. On Edward Dorn (crit). Chicago Review, 58 (Win. 2014), 123-31.

Dos Passos, John (1896-1970)

Burcar, Lilijana. *American Literature and Its Socio-Political Context* (crit). Ljubljana: Znanstvena Zalozba Filozofske Fakultete, 2014.

Cardenas, Jocelyn Shizuko. The Cinematic in the Travel Narratives of John Dos Passos and Graham Greene (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Hawaii, Manoa, 2014.

Hodgkins, John. The Drift: Affect, Adaptation, and New Perspectives on Fidelity (crit). NY: Bloomsbury, 2014.

Hutchinson, Colin. The Complicity of Consumption: Hedonism and Politics in Thomas Pynchon's Against the Day and John Dos Passos's USA (crit). Journal of American Studies, 48 (Feb. 2014), 173-98.

Sunny, Sanil T. Compromise to Defiance: An Ethical Surveillance of John Dos Passos' U.S.A. (crit). New Academia: An International Journal of English Language Literature and Literary Theory, 3 (Apr. 2014), 1-6.

Dreiser, Theodore (1871-1945)

Backes, Heidi. La Economía del Deseo: La Ropa, la Mujer y el Mercado en La de Bringas y Sister Carrie (crit). Anales Galdosianos, 49 (2014), 11-27.

Bai, Limin. Dreiser's Life and Creation: High Perspicacity from Crudity (crit). Theory and Practice in Language Studies, 4 (2) 2014, 423-27.

 Environment and Fate: Helpless Human Beings in Sister Carrie (crit). Theory and Practice in Language Studies, 4 (3) 2014, 647-51.

Boesenberg, Eva. Sex and the City: Gender and Consumption in Late Nineteenth-Century Fiction (crit). *Anglistik und Englischunterricht*, 82 (2014), 153-69.

Brevda, William. The Straw Hat in Dreiser's An American Tragedy (crit). Midwestern Miscellany, 42 (Fall 2014), 56-63.

Bruni, John. Scientific Americans: The Making of Popular Science and Evolution in Early-Twentieth-Century U.S. Literature Culture (crit). Cardiff: U Wales P, 2014.

Everson, William. An Encounter with Theodore Dreiser (crit). *Brick*, 93 (Sum. 2014), 36-37. Lee, Yun Jin. Spectacular Display of the New Modes of Existence: Rethinking Dreiser's Realism in *Sister Carrie* (crit). *British and American Fiction*, 21 (Sum. 2014), 91-117.

Leypoldt, Günter. What Carrie Wants: Romantic Longing and Balzac's Upward Mobility Novel in Theodore Dreiser's Sister Carrie (crit). REAL: The Yearbook of Research in English and American Literature, 30 (2014), 149-78.

Mauritzen, Michael R. Technologies of Representation and American Naturalism: The Limits of Photography and Early Film in Norris and Dreiser (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Purdue U, 2013.

Smiley, Robin H. Books Into Film: An American Tragedy/A Place in the Sun (crit). Firsts: The Book Collector's Magazine, 24 (Apr. 2014), 44-47.

Tseng, Chia-Chieh. Cultures of Glass in the Late Nineteenth-Century European Novel and Contemporary Sinophone Film (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Rutgers U, 2013.

Dunbar, Paul Laurence (1872-1906)

Boesenberg, Eva. Sex and the City: Gender and Consumption in Late Nineteenth-Century Fiction (crit). *Anglistik und Englischunterricht*, 82 (2014), 153-69.

Gelmi, Caroline. Negative Image: Fictions of the Speaker in American Poetry and Poetics, 1866-1915 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Tufts U, 2014.

Maruo-Schröder, Nicole and Chrisoph Ribbat, eds. *Literature and Consumption in Nineteenth-Century America* (crit). Heidelberg: Neckar Universitätsverlag Winter, 2014.

Dylan, Bob (b. 1941)

Banauch, Eugen, Alexandra Ganser, and Martin Blumenau, eds. *AustroBob: Österreichische Aneignungen von Bob Dylans Poesie und Musik* (crit). Vienna: Falter Verlag, 2014.

Batchelor, Bob. *Bob Dylan: A Biography* (biog; crit). Santa Barbara, Calif.: Greenwood, 2014. Bianu, Zéno. *Visions de Bob Dylan* (crit). Bègles: Castor Astral, 2014.

Brønnum, Jakob. Sange ved Himlens Port: Bob Dylans Bibelske Inspirationskilder (crit). Frederiksberg: Alfa, 2014.

Brown, Donald. *Bob Dylan: American Troubadour* (biog; crit). Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield, 2014.

Browne, David. Dylan's Accidental Masterpiece: How "The Basement Tapes" Were Made, Lost and, Finally, Released (crit). *Rolling Stone*, 1222 (20 Nov. 2014), 40-45.

Callahan, Erin Colleen. I Am America Singing: Bob Dylan's Identity Unified through Linguistic Performance (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Drew U, 2014.

Cran, Rona. Collage in Twentieth-Century Art, Literature and Culture: Joseph Cornell, William Burroughs, Frank O'Hara, and Bob Dylan (crit). Farnham: Ashgate, 2014.

Frere-Jones, Sasha. After the Fall: Bob Dylan's Legendary Basement Tapes (crit). *New Yorker*, 90 (3 Nov. 2014), 96-99.

Harris, Craig. *The Band: Pioneers of Americana Music* (crit). Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield, 2014.

Hodgers, Jonathan. Remembering "Knockin' on Heaven's Door" in *Pat Garrett and Billy the Kid* (crit). *Soundtrack*, 7 (Oct. 2014), 89-103.

Izquierdo, Eduardo. Bob Dylan: La Trilogía del Tiempo y del Amor (crit). Barcelona: 66 RPM, 2014.

Kinney, David. *The Dylanologists: Adventures in the Land of Bob* (crit). NY: Simon & Schuster, 2014.

Letourneur, Stéphane. Bob Dylan: L'Éternel Dissident (biog; crit). Paris: Oslo Éditions, 2014.

Lundell, Kristin. Bob Dylans Hibbing: Ett Resereportage från Dylans Födelsestad (biog). Stockholm: Telegram, 2014.

McDougal, Dennis. Dylan: The Biography (biog). Nashville, Tenn.: Wiley, 2014.

McNally, Dennis. On Highway 61: Music, Race, and the Evolution of Cultural Freedom (crit). Berkeley, Calif.: Counterpoint, 2014.

Maymudes, Victor. Another Side of Bob Dylan: A Personal History on the Road and off the Tracks (biog). NY: St. Martin's Press, 2014.

Russell, Ted. Bob Dylan: NYC 1961-1964 (biog). NY: Rizzoli, 2014.

Snævarr, Stefán. Dylan as Rortian: Bob Dylan, Richard Rorty, Postmodernism, and Political Skepticism (crit). *Journal of Aesthetic Education*, 48 (Win. 2014), 38-49.

Wilson, Rob. Bob Dylan in China, American in Bob Dylan: Visions of Social Beatitude and Critique (crit). *Boundary 2: An International Journal of Literature and Culture*, 41 (Fall 2014), 159-78.

Windmüller, Sonja and Harm-Peer Zimmermann, eds. Sound des Wunderhorns: Kulturwissenschaftliche Resonanzen auf Bob Dylan (crit). Berlin: Panama Verlag, 2014.

Wolkowski, Z.W. Bob Dylan: The Spirit and the Letter: A Chirographic and Semiotic Study (crit). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.

Ehrmann, Max (1872-1945)

Slavit, Michael R. Lessons from Desiderata: Psychological Perspectives on a Poem by Max Ehrmann (crit). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.

Elkin, Stanley (1930-1995)

Rajski, Brian. "The Price of Money": Stanley Elkin's *The Franchiser* and the Economic Crisis of the 1970s (crit). *Studies in American Fiction*, 41 (Fall 2014), 251-70.

Erdrich, Louise (b. 1954)

Bouzonviller, Elisabeth. *Louise Erdrich: Métissage et Écriture, Histoires d'Amérique* (crit). Saint-Étienne: Université de Saint-Étienne, 2014.

Hanif, Mohsen and Seyed Mohammad Marandi. The Significance of the Lake Monster in Louise Erdrich's *Tracks* (crit). *Explicator*, 72 (July-Sep. 2014), 249-52.

Izgajan, Aleksandra. Znakovi Vremena u Romanu *The Round House* Louise Erdrich (crit). *Knjizevna Smotra*, 46 (2) 2014, 47-54.

Krumholz, Linda. From Mysteries to Manidoos: Language and Transformation in Louise Erdrich's The Last Report on the Miracles at Little No Horse (crit). Western American Literature, 49 (Sum. 2014), 171-97.

Mace, Richard. Writing Ourselves: The Reclamation and Preservation of Native American Identity in Literature (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, St. John's U, 2013.

Palmer, Gus. Power of the Spoken Word (crit). American Indian Quarterly, 38 (Fall 2014), 512-23.

Strehle, Susan. "Prey to Unknown Dreams": Louise Erdrich, *The Plague of Doves*, and the Exceptionalist Disavowal of History (crit). *Lit: Literature Interpretation Theory*, 25 (Apr.-June 2014), 108-27.

—. "Prey to Unknown Dreams": Louise Erdrich, The Plague of Doves, and the Exceptionalist Disavowal of History (crit). REAL: The Yearbook of Research in English and American Literature, 30 (2014), 201-19.

Tharp, Julie Ann. Erdrich's Crusade: Sexual Violence in *The Round House* (crit). *Studies in American Indian Literatures*, 26 (Fall 2014), 25-40.

Farmer, Philip José (1918-2009)

Trofimova, Violetta. Aphra Behn in the Novels of Our Time: Adventuress, She-Spy, Detective (crit). *Interactions: Ege Journal of British and American Studies*, 23 (Spr.-Fall 2014), 273-80.

Ferber, Edna (1887-1968)

Emmert, Scott D. "Uniformed for Work": Clothes and Wartime Sacrifice in Edna Ferber's Last Emma McChesney Story (crit). *Midwestern Miscellany*, 42 (Fall 2014), 32-39.

Smiley, Kathryn. Edna Ferber: An American Treasure (biog; crit). Firsts: The Book Collector's Magazine, 24 (Jan. 2014), 10-19.

Smiley, Robin H. Edna Ferber: An Annotated Checklist of First Editions (bibl). *Firsts: The Book Collector's Magazine*, 24 (Jan. 2014), 20-32.

- Edna Ferber as Sleuth? The Mysteries of Ed Ifkovic (crit). Firsts: The Book Collector's Magazine, 24 (Jan. 2014), 33.
- Ferber's Films: A Special "Books into Film" (crit). Firsts: The Book Collector's Magazine, 24 (Jan. 2014), 34-41.
- Kaufman & Ferber's Features: A Special "Books into Film" (crit). Firsts: The Book Collector's Magazine, 24 (Feb. 2014), 36-41.

Wilson, Leslie Kreiner. Frances Marion, Studio Politics, Film Censorship, and the Box Office: Or, the Business of Adapting *Dinner at Eight* at MGM, 1933 (crit). *Literature/Film Quarterly*, 42 (1) 2014, 373-85.

Field, Eugene (1850-1895)

Doherty, Peter. The Poverty of Posthumanism: Evolution and Extinction in Eugene Field's "Extinct Monsters" (crit). *International Research in Children's Literature*, 7 (Dec. 2014), 180-97.

Fisher, Dorothy Canfield (1879-1958)

Stout, Janis P. Writing Politically: Dorothy Canfield and the "Wrongness of the World" (crit). *Modern Fiction Studies*, 60 (Sum. 2014), 251-75.

Fitzgerald, F. Scott (1896-1940)

- Abbott, Neal. *The Gatsby Reader: An Analysis of* The Great Gatsby (crit). Lexington, Ky.: Book Bear Publications, 2014.
- Albano, Robert A. Understanding Fitzgerald: The Great Gatsby (crit). Los Angeles, Calif.: Mercurye Press, 2014.
- Alexander, Jeanne M., comp. Annual Bibliography (bibl). F. Scott Fitzgerald Review, 12 (2014), 201-06.
- Batchelor, Bob. *Gatsby: The Cultural History of the Great American Novel* (crit). Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield, 2014.
- Benson, Alex. Gatsby's Tattoo: Gesture, Tic, and Description (crit). *Criticism*, 56 (Fall 2014), 725-59.
- Berman, Ronald. Fitzgerald and the Idea of Society (crit). F. Scott Fitzgerald Review, 12 (2014), 32-43.
- Bouzonviller, Elisabeth. Fitzgerald and France, or "The Course of True Love Never Did Run Smooth (rev). *F. Scott Fitzgerald Review*, 12 (2014), 194-200.
- Buechsel, Mark. Sacred Land: Sherwood Anderson, Midwestern Modernism, and the Sacramental Vision of Nature (crit). Kent, Ohio: Kent State U P, 2014.
- Bui, Thi Huong Giang. The Cycle of Trauma in *The Love of the Last Tycoon: A Western* (crit). *International Journal of Comparative Literature and Translation Studies*, 2 (2) 2014, 6-10.
- Cantrell, Owen. "It's Not Polite to Talk About Yourself": Regional Identity and Erasure in the Midwest from F. Scott Fitzgerald to Mad Men (crit). MidAmerica, 41 (2014), 39-61.
- Casto, William J. Fordism & Modernist Forms: The Transformation of Work and Style (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, SUNY Albany, 2014.
- Cobb, Cam, et al. Teaching Tarleton: A Roundtable (crit). F. Scott Fitzgerald Review, 12 (2014), 143-66.
- Corrigan, Maureen. So We Read On: How The Great Gatsby Came to Be and Why It Endures (crit). New York: Little, Brown, 2014.
- Donnelly, Kathleen Dixon. *Manager as Muse: Maxwell Perkins' Work with F. Scott Fitzgerald, Ernest Hemingway, and Thomas Wolfe* (crit). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.
- Ellis, Charles Steven. Escape as Motif and Theme in Modern American Fiction: Kate Chopin, Edith Wharton, F. Scott Fitzgerald, and Ernest Hemingway (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Florida State U, 2014.
- Fenstermaker, John. "Ave Atque Vale": F. Scott Fitzgerald, Ernest Hemingway, Thomas Wolfe—and Charles Scribner's Sons (crit). *Thomas Wolfe Review*, 37 (1-2) 2013, 23-41.
- Fobes, Alexander Starkweather. The Play on Nonsense in Modernist Creation (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Colorado, Boulder, 2013.
- Fuchs, Barbara. Ventriloquist Theatre and the Omniscient Narrator: Gatz and *El Pasado es un Animal Grotesco* (crit). *Modern Drama*, 57 (Sum. 2014), 165-86.
- Grissom, Candace Ursula. Fitzgerald and Hemingway on Film: A Critical Study of the Adaptations, 1924-2013 (crit). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co., 2014.
- Grotowicz, Wiktor. Samozaglada Straconego Pokolenia: W Stulecie Wybuchu Pierwszej Wojny Swiatowej (crit). *Odra*, 5 (2014), 25-32.

- Irwin, John T. F. Scott Fitzgerald's Fiction: "An Almost Theatrical Innocence" (crit). Baltimore, Md.: Johns Hopkins U P, 2014.
- Key, Laura E.B. "A Love-Hate Relationship": F. Scott Fitzgerald, Money Management and "The Diamond as Big as the Ritz" (crit). *English Studies*, 95 (6) 2014, 654-73.
- Kinugawa, Shosuke. "He's Not Dead—I Know He Isn't": The Narrative of Absence in F. Scott Fitzgerald's Short Stories (crit). F. Scott Fitzgerald Review, 12 (2014), 88-107.
- Koch, Matthew. Wealth and Women: The Expatriate Performance of Affluence (crit). Interactions: Ege Journal of British and American Studies, 23 (Spr.-Fall 2014), 145-60.
- Kopec-Umiastowska, Barbara. Dehnel na Trawniku (crit). Literatura na Swiecie, 3/4 (2014), 421-31.
- Kruse, Horst H. F. Scott Fitzgerald at Work: The Making of "The Great Gatsby" (crit). Tuscaloosa: U Alabama P, 2014.
- Lagomarsino, Andrea. The Fisher King of West Egg: The Influence of Jessie Weston's *From Ritual to Romance* on *The Great Gatsby* (crit). *F. Scott Fitzgerald Review*, 12 (2014), 44-66.
- Lee, Soyoung. Nick's Gatsby, Our Gatsby: Baz Luhrmann's Film Adaptation of *The Great Gatsby* (crit). *British and American Fiction*, 21 (2) 2014, 57-90.
- McLennan, Rachael. Aging, Adaptation, and the Curious Cases of Benjamin Button (crit). *Literature/Film Quarterly*, 42 (Oct. 2014), 635-48.
- Maguire, Leanne. Decadence and Disability: Capital Degeneration in the New York of Edith Wharton and F. Scott Fitzgerald (crit). *Edith Wharton Review*, 30 (Spr. 2014), 29-43.
- Mallier, Clara. Tenses in Translation: Benveniste's "Discourse" and "Historical Narration" in the First-Person Novel (crit). Language and Literature, 23 (Aug. 2014), 244-54.
- Marion, Laura Douglass. Digitizing the Fitzgerald Family at the University of South Carolina (biog). F. Scott Fitzgerald Review, 12 (2014), 167-73.
- Meehan, Adam. Repetition, Race, and Desire in *The Great Gatsby* (crit). *Journal of Modern Literature*, 37 (Win. 2014), 76-91.
- Mellette, Justin. Of Empresses and Indians: A Compositional History of "The End of Hate" (crit). F. Scott Fitzgerald Review, 12 (2014), 108-23.
- Meyers, Jeffrey. Gatsby Meets "Macomber" (crit). New Criterion, 32 (June 2014), 35-37.
- Investigative Reporter of the Spirit: The Search for Five Women (crit). Salmagundi, 182-183 (Spr.-Sum. 2014), 98-119.
- Morgan, Tom. Sentimentalizing Daisy for the Screen (crit). F. Scott Fitzgerald Review, 12 (2014), 13-31.
- Moynihan, Sinéad. Beautiful White Girlhood? Daisy Buchanan in Nella Larsen's *Passing* (crit). *African American Review*, 47 (Spr. 2014), 37-49.
- Nye, David E. and Sarah S. Elkind, eds. *The Anti-Landscape* (crit). Amsterdam: Editions Rodopi, 2014.
- Rose, Stephany. Abolishing White Masculinity from Mark Twain to Hiphop (crit). Lanham, Md.: Lexington Books, 2014.
- Salmose, Niklas. Reading Nostalgia: Textual Memory in *The Great Gatsby* (crit). F. Scott Fitzgerald Review, 12 (2014), 67-87.
- Warnes, Andrew. American Tantalus: Horizons, Happiness, and the Impossible Pursuits of US Literature and Culture (crit). NY: Bloomsbury Academic, 2014.
- West, James L.W., III, et al. Reading *Tender Is the Night* as a Serial Text (crit). F. Scott Fitzgerald Review, 12 (2014), 1-12.
- ed. Taps at Reveille (Cambridge Edition of the Works of F. Scott Fitzgerald). Cambridge: Cambridge U P, 2014.
- Zhang, Lihua and Liying Cui. A Feminist Reading of Fitzgerald's "Winter Dreams" (crit). *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 4 (3) 2014, 513-17.

Fitzgerald, Zelda Savre (1900-1948)

Lawson, Ashley. The Self-Representing Muse: Autobiographical Productions of Women in Artistic Partnerships (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Nebraska, Lincoln, 2014.

- Legleitner, Rickie-Ann. The Artist Embodied: Female Creativity and Development in American Literature from 1850-1932 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U South Dakota, 2014.
- —. The Cult of Artistry in Zelda Fitzgerald's Save Me the Waltz (crit). F. Scott Fitzgerald Review, 12 (2014), 124-42.

Franzen, Jonathan (b. 1959)

- Doliska, Jagoda. Autofiction and New Realist Prose: Jonathan Franzen's "Freedom" (crit). Polish Journal for American Studies, 8 (2014), 181-201.
- Gram, Margaret Hunt. Freedom's Limits: Jonathan Franzen, the Realist Novel, and the Problem of Growth (crit). American Literary History, 26 (Sum. 2014), 295-316.
- Mahon, Áine. Achieving Their Country: Richard Rorty and Jonathan Franzen (crit). Philosophy and Literature, 38 (Apr. 2014), 90-109.
- Moorey, Gerard. Aging, Death, and Revival: Representations of the Music Industry in Two Contemporary Novels (crit). Popular Music and Society, 37 (Jan. 2014), 65-84.
- Rowe, John Carlos. Literary Adaptations of James in Roth's, Ozick's, and Franzen's Work (crit). CLCWeb: Comparative Literature and Culture, 16 (June 2014), unpaginated.
- Tanrisal, Meldan and Tanfer EminTunç. The Health of the Nation (crit). Heidelberg: Universitätsverlag Winter, 2014.

Frostic, Gwen (1906-2001)

Josey, Denise. Die Werke der Amerikanischen Künstler Gwen Frostic und James Whitcomb Riley: Freie Prosa und Lyrik als Gegenstand der Fachsprachlichen Übersetzung (crit). Trier: Wissenschaftlicher Verlag Trier, 2014.

Gaiman, Neil (b. 1960)

- Abbruscato, Joseph and Tanya Jones, eds. The Gothic Fairy Tale in Young Adult Literature: Essays on Stories from Grimm to Gaiman (crit). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co., 2014. Campbell, Hayley. The Art of Neil Gaiman (biog; crit). NY: Harper Design, 2014.
- Croci, Daniele. Watching (through) the Watchmen: Representation and Deconstruction of the Controlling Gaze in Neil Gaiman's *The Sandman* (crit). Altre Modernità, 11 (2014), 120-35.
- Dunne, Alexandra and Gráinne O'Brien, eds. Good Madness: A Collection of Essays on the Work of Neil Gaiman (crit). Oxford: Inter-Disciplinary Press, 2014.
- Howarth, Michael. Under the Bed, Creeping: Psychoanalyzing the Gothic in Children's Literature (crit). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co., 2014.
- Landman, Mario. A Language for Contemporary Mythology: Towards a Model for the Literary Analysis of Graphic Novels with Special Reference to the Works of Neil Gaiman (crit). D.Tech. Disseration, Tshwane U Technology, 2014.
- Limpár, Ildikó. Mythic and Divine Quests in Holdstock's The Hollowing and Ancient Echoes and Gaiman's American Gods (crit). Hungarian Journal of English and American Studies, 20 (Spr. 2014), 77-90.

Garland, Hamlin (1860-1940)

- Pizer, Donald. The Significant Hamlin Garland: A Collection of Essays (crit). NY: Anthem Press, 2014.
- Rizza, Michael James. Art and Toil in Hamlin Garland's "Up the Coulee" (crit). Explicator, 72 (Oct.-Dec. 2014), 337-41.

Gass, William H. (b. 1924)

Lawless, Ciaran. The Failures of Fiction: William H. Gass's Other Modernism (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U College Dublin, 2014.

O'Hara, Daniel T. Inside Out Again: In William H. Gass's *Middle C* (crit). *Boundary 2: An International Journal of Literature and Culture*, 41 (Fall 2014), 203-18.

Glaspell, Susan (1876-1948)

Mulry, David. "In the Presence of a Domestic Drama": Susan Glaspell's Debt to Joseph Conrad's *The Secret Agent* (crit). *Explicator*, 72 (Oct.-Dec. 2014), 293-96.

Noh, Aegyung. "The Critical Entangled in the Creative": Modernist Credos and Female Egoism in Susan Glaspell's *The Verge* (crit). Journal of English Language and Literature/Yongo Yongmunhak, 60 (June 2014), 269-93.

Park, Noh-Chool. [The Problem of Interpretation on Susan Glaspell's *Trifles*: A Comparative Approach through Communication Model and Cognitive Model] (crit). *Journal of Modern English Drama*, 27 (Apr. 2014), 37-69.

Grey, Zane (1872-1939)

Friesen, Victor Carl. Zane Grey's Wild West: A Study of 31 Novels (crit). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co., 2014.

Tanner, Stephen L. Zane Grey's The U.P. Trail (crit). Studies in the Western, 22 (2014), 23-34.

Hansberry, Lorraine (1930-1965)

Shih, Yi-Chin. Dance Scenes in Lorraine Hansberry's A Raisin in the Sun (crit). Explicator, 72 (Oct.-Dec. 2014), 278-81.

Silva-Ford, Liana. Or Does It Explode? Sounding Out the U.S. Metropolis in Hansberry's A Raisin in the Sun (crit). Sounding Out!: The Sound Studies Blog, Feb. 2014, unpaginated.

Hay, John (1838-1905)

Zeitz, Joshua. Lincoln's Boys: John Hay, John Nicolay, and the War for Lincoln's Image (biog; crit). NY: Viking, 2014.

Hayden, Robert (1913-1980)

Lambert, Raphaël. The Slave Trade as Memory and History: James A. Emanuel's "The Middle Passage Blues" and Robert Hayden's "Middle Passage" (crit). *African American Review*, 47 (Sum.-Fall 2014), 327-38.

Heat-Moon, William Least (b. 1939)

Gipko, Jesse. Road Narratives as Cultural Critiques: Henry Miller, Jack Kerouac, John Steinbeck, and William Least Heat Moon (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Duquesne U, 2014.

Heat-Moon, William Least. Writing Blue Highways: The Story of How a Book Happened (crit; pub). Columbia: U Missouri P, 2014.

Heinlein, Robert A. (1907-1988)

Clareson, Thomas D. and Joe Sanders. *The Heritage of Heinlein: A Critical Reading of the Fiction* (crit). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co., 2014.

Krogulec, Jakub. Robert Anson Heinlein: An Overlooked Sci-Fi Beatnik (crit). *Anglica Wratislaviensia—Acta Universitatis Wratislavensis*, 52 (2014), 9-17.

Patterson, William H. Robert A. Heinlein: In Dialogue with His Century, Volume 2: 1948-1988, The Man Who Learned Better (biog; crit). NY: Tor, 2014.

Hemingway, Ernest (1899-1961)

Adair, William. Hemingway's *The Sun Also Rises*: The Dog in the Window and Other War Allusions (crit). *Hemingway Review*, 34 (Fall 2014), 76-81.

Adkins, Alyssa C., Maureen Harrington, Annemarie Thompson, and Carolyn Wadle, eds. Current Bibliography (bibl). *Hemingway Review*, 33 (Spr. 2014), 165-81.

- Ali, Sundus Muhsin and Khalid Shakir Hussein. The Comparative Power of Type/Token and Hapax Legomena/Type Ratios: A Corpus-Based Study of Authorial Differentiation (crit). *Advances in Language and Literary Studies*, 5 (June 2014), 112-19.
- Anderson, David L. Hemingway's Early Education in the Short Story: A Bibliographical Essay on Brander Matthews and Twenty Volumes of Stories at Windemere (bibl; crit). *Hemingway Review*, 33 (Spr. 2014), 48-65.
- Balaev, Michelle. Language's Limits and a Doubtful Nature: Ernest Hemingway's "Big Two-Hearted River" and Friedrich Nietzsche's Foreign Language (crit). *Hemingway Review*, 33 (Spr. 2014), 107-18.
- Bosse, Walter M. "Aggravatin' Papa": Race, Omission, and Discursive Liminality in Ernest Hemingway's *The Sun Also Rises* (crit). *Pivot: A Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies and Thought*, 3 (1) 2014, 6-33.
- Breaking the Iceberg: Ernest Hemingway, Black Modernism, and the Politics of Narrative Appropriation (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Cincinnati, 2014.
- Brandt, Kenneth K. and Alicia Mischa Renfroe. Intent and Culpability: A Legal Review of the Shooting in "The Short Happy Life of Francis Macomber" (crit). *Hemingway Review*, 33 (Spr. 2014), 8-29.
- Bryfonski, Dedria, ed. *Death in Ernest Hemingway's* The Old Man and the Sea (crit). Farmington, Mich.: Greenhaven Press, 2014.
- Calloway, Catherine. "The Sea Change": Clara Dunn and the Hemingway-Pfeiffer Connection (crit). *Arkansas Review*, 45 (Aug. 2014), 80-86.
- Cardoni, Alex A. Medicine and Medicines in Hemingway's Arkansas (crit). *Arkansas Review*, 45 (Aug. 2014), 104-12.
- Casto, William J. Fordism & Modernist Forms: The Transformation of Work and Style (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, SUNY Albany, 2014.
- Cirino, Mark. I Am Hemingway's Renata (biog; crit). PMLA, 129 (Mar. 2014), 257-66.
- —. The Nasty Mess: Hemingway, Italian Fascism, and the New Review Controversy of 1932 (crit). Hemingway Review, 33 (Spr. 2014), 30-47.
- Cohassey, John. *Hemingway and Pound: A Most Unlikely Friendship* (biog). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co., 2014.
- Coleman, Charles A., Jr. PTSD and Hemingway's "A Way You'll Never Be": The Mark of Confidence (crit). Chapel Hill, N.C.: PTSD Press, 2014.
- Colvin, Christina M. Uneasy Animals: Encountering Nonhuman Difference in American Literature, 1896-Present (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Emory U, 2014.
- Daiker, Donald A. Hemingway's Neglected Masterpiece: "Cross-Country Snow" (crit). MidAmerica, 41 (2014), 23-38.
- —. Irene and Ernest: A Love Story? (biog). Hemingway Review, 33 (Spr. 2014), 136-42.
- Dettman, Jonathan. Eclipse and Re-emergence of a Critical Discourse on Hemingway in Cuban Literature and Film (crit). *Latin Americanist*, 58 (Sept. 2014), 31-50.
- Donnelly, Kathleen Dixon. *Manager as Muse: Maxwell Perkins' Work with F. Scott Fitzgerald, Ernest Hemingway, and Thomas Wolfe* (crit). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.
- Doyle, Michael F., III. Hemingway's Pursuit of Self-Reliance (crit). *Litteraria Pragensia: Studies in Literature and Culture*, 24 (Dec. 2014), 66-78.
- Eby, Carl P. Who Is "The Destructive Type"?: Re-Reading Literary Jealousy and Destruction in *The Garden of Eden* (crit). *Hemingway Review*, 33 (Spr. 2014),99-106.
- Ellis, Charles Steven. Escape as Motif and Theme in Modern American Fiction: Kate Chopin, Edith Wharton, F. Scott Fitzgerald, and Ernest Hemingway (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Florida State U, 2014.
- Faulstick, Dustin. Misreading Resurrection: "The Three-Day Blow" and *The Anxiety of Influence* (crit). *Literature and Belief*, 33 (1) 2013, 23-38.
- Nothing New Under the Sun: Ecclesiastes and the Twentieth-Century-US-Literary Imagination (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Ohio U, 2014.

- Fenstermaker, John. "Ave Atque Vale": F. Scott Fitzgerald, Ernest Hemingway, Thomas Wolfe—and Charles Scribner's Sons (crit). *Thomas Wolfe Review*, 37 (1-2) 2013, 23-41.
- Fike, Matthew A. Hemingway's Francis Macomber in "God's Country" (crit). *Journal of Jungian Scholarly Studies*, 9 (5) 2014, unpaginated.
- Florczyk, Steven. *Hemingway, the Red Cross, and the Great War* (biog). Kent, Ohio: Kent State U P. 2014.
- Fuchs, Thomas. *Hemingway: Ein Mann mit Stil* (biog; crit). Hamburg: Mare Verlag, 2014. Fuller, Robert. Hemingway at Rambouillet (biog; crit). *Hemingway Review*, 33 (Spr. 2014), 66-80.
- Gammel, Irene. New Readings of American Expats in Paris (crit). Canadian Review of American Studies/Revue Canadienne d'Études Américaines, 44 (Spr. 2014), 148-58.
- Gibson, Jason M. The American Dream: A Place of My Own, a Place to Call Home (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Florida State U, 2013.
- Giemza, Bryan. A Source Text for the Opening Passage of *A Farewell to Arms* (crit). *Hemingway Review*, 33 (Spr. 2014), 119-25.
- Grimes, Larry and Bickford Sylvester, eds. *Hemingway, Cuba, and the Cuban Works* (biog; crit). Kent, Ohio: Kent State U P, 2014.
- Grissom, Candace Ursula. Fitzgerald and Hemingway on Film: A Critical Study of the Adaptations, 1924-2013 (crit). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co., 2014.
- Guill, Stacey. "Los Aviónes": The Interpretation of a New Warscape in *The Spanish Earth*, Picasso's *Guernica*, and Hemingway's *For Whom the Bell Tolls* (crit). *Hemingway Review*, 34 (Fall 2014), 13-29.
- Hardivilliers, Albéric d'. *Ernest Hemingway: Vivre, Écrire, Tout est Là* (biog; crit). Paris: Éditions Transboréal, 2014.
- Haugen, David and Susan Musser, eds. War in Ernest Hemingway's A Farewell to Arms (crit). Detroit, Mich.: Greenhaven Press, 2014.
- Hayes, Kevin J. A Closer Look at Hemingway's Friend Mike Ward (crit). *Notes and Queries*, 61 (Dec. 2014), 594-97.
- Hays, Peter L. Fifty Years of Hemingway Criticism (crit). Lanham, Md.: Scarecrow Press, 2014.
 Hemingway, Seán, ed. The Sun Also Rises: The Hemingway Library Edition (bibl; crit). NY: Scribner, 2014.
- Herlihy-Mera, Jeffrey. Cormac McCarthy's Debt to Ernest Hemingway's Maestro: Allusions to Arnold Samuelson in All the Pretty Horses (crit). Cormac McCarthy Journal, 12 (1) 2014. 89-94.
- Hernandez, Alexa. Man Up: The Obsessive Use of Joke in *For Whom the Bell Tolls* (crit). *CCTE Studies*, 79 (Oct. 2014), 81-88.
- Hurley, C. Harold. "Pen," "Pencil," and "Penis" in Ernest Hemingway's "The Snows of Kilimanjaro" (crit). *Explicator*, 72 (Jan. 2014), 38-40.
- Ivancich, Adriana. I Am Hemingway's Renata [translated and introduction by Mark Cirino] (crit). PMLA, 129 (Mar. 2014), 257-66.
- Josephs, Allen. On Hemingway and Spain: Essays and Reviews, 1979-2013 (crit). Wickford, R.I.: New Street Communications, 2014.
- Justice, Hilary Kovar. "Somewhat Rough Withal": Hemingway's Personal Copy of Old English Ballads (English I, Oak Park High School) (crit). Hemingway Review, 33 (Spr. 2014), 126-35.
- Karslake, Rachel. Alice the Beautiful: Removing Society's Judgment in Hemingway's "The Light of the World" (crit). MidAmerica, 41 (2014), 105-14.
- Koch, Matthew. Wealth and Women: The Expatriate Performance of Affluence (crit). *Interactions: Ege Journal of British and American Studies*, 23 (1-2) 2014, 145-60.
- Larson, Kelli A. Current Bibliography (bibl). *Hemingway Review*, 34 (Fall 2014), 114-31.
- Lawrence, Jeffrey Taylor. The Experiencer and the Reader in the Twentieth-Century Literatures of the Americas (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Princeton U, 2014.

- —. "I Read Even the Scraps of Paper I Find on the Street": A Thesis on the Contemporary Literatures of the Americas (crit). American Literary History, 26 (Fall 2014), 536-58.
- Leineweber, Gino. Hemingway—Wie Alles Begann: Kindheit und Jugend in Michigan (biog). Hamburg: LIT Verlag Expeditionen, 2014.
- McFarland, Ronald E. Appropriating Hemingway: Using Him as a Fictional Character (crit). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co, 2014.
- Maszewski, Zbigniew. "It Is a Beautiful Country, Jim": The Art of Ernest Hemingway's Letters (crit). *Polish Journal for American Studies*, 8 (2014), 217-25.
- "Under Kilimanjaro": Homesickness for the Wild and Hemingway's African Dressing Gown (crit). Polish Journal for American Studies, 8 (2014), 101-11.
- Mellette, Justin. "Floating I Saw Only the Sky": Leisure and Self-Fulfillment in Hemingway's *The Sun Also Rises* (crit). *Hemingway Review*, 34 (Fall 2014), 61-75.
- Meyers, Jeffrey. Gatsby Meets "Macomber" (crit). New Criterion, 32 (June 2014), 35-37.
- Investigative Reporter of the Spirit: The Search for Five Women (crit). Salmagundi, 182-183 (Spr.-Sum. 2014), 98-119
- Shooting Big Game with Orwell and Hemingway (crit). Notes on Contemporary Literature, 44 (Mar. 2014), 2-4.
- Valor and Art in Hemingway's Letters (crit). Raritan: A Quarterly Review, 34 (Sum. 2014), 142-54.
- Newman, Daniel Aurelaino. Flaubertian Aesthetics, Modernist Ethics and Animal Representation in Hemingway's *Green Hills of Africa* (crit). *Style*, 47 (Win. 2013), 509-24.
- Ooms, Julie. "Our Grand Narrative of Women and War": Writing, and Writing Past, a Gendered Understanding of War Front and Home Front in the War Writing of Hemingway, O'Brien, Plath, and Salinger (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Baylor U, 2014.
- Paul, Steve, Gail Sinclair, and Steven Trout, eds. War + Ink: New Perspectives on Ernest Hemingway's Early Life and Writings (biog; crit). Kent, Ohio: Kent State U P, 2014.
- Pekkanen, Hikka. Who's Got Rhythm? Rhythm-Related Shifting in Literary Translation (crit). *Palimpsestes*, 27 (2014), 129-47.
- Poe, George. The Hadley Years in Paris (rev). Sewanee Review, 122 (Fall 2014), 675-80.
- Ragsdell-Hetrick, Danell. Catherine, the Baby, and the Gas: The Fatal Effects of Twilight Sleep in *A Farewell to Arms* (crit). *Arkansas Review*, 45 (Aug. 2014), 115-19.
- Rennie, David Alan. "The Best Combatant Story of the Great War"? Thematic and Descriptive Juxtaposition in Thomas Boyd's *Through the Wheat* (crit). *MidAmerica*, 41 (2014), 95-104.
- Rodenberg, Hans-Peter. The Making of Ernest Hemingway: Celebrity, Photojournalism and the Emergence of the Modern Lifestyle Media (biog; crit). Zurich: Lit Verlag, 2014.
- Rodríguez-Pazos, Gabriel. Bulls, Bullfights, and Bullfighters in Hemingway's *The Sun Also Rises* (crit). *Hemingway Review*, 34 (Fall 2014), 82-94.
- Sá Pereira, Moacir Pranas de. The Site of the Novel: Objects in American Realism, 1930-1940 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Chicago, 2014.
- Schmidt, Amy. Forty Plus Coats of Paint: Pauline Pfeiffer-Hemingway as an (Almost) Delta Debutante (crit). *Arkansas Review, 45* (Aug. 2014), 87-100.
- Sindelar, Nancy W. *Influencing Hemingway: People and Places That Shaped His Life and Work* (biog; crit). Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield, 2014.
- Smith, Jennifer J. Writing Ritual, Resisting Resolution: The Short Story Cycles of Hemingway and Steinbeck (crit). *Short Fiction in Theory & Practice*, 3 (Oct. 2013), 175-91.
- Tangedal, Ross. Designed to Amuse: Hemingway's *The Torrents of Spring* and Intertextual Comedy (crit). *MidAmerica*, 41 (2014), 11-22.
- Tong, Man. On Tang Xinmei's Translation of A Farewell to Arms (crit). Journal of Modern Literature in Chinese, 11 (Spr. 2014), 129-45.

- Trogdon, Robert W. "I Am Constructing a Legend": Ernest Hemingway in Guy Hickok's *Brooklyn Daily Eagle* Articles (crit). *Resources for American Literary Study*, 37 (2014), 181-207.
- Vaill, Amanda. Hotel Florida: Truth, Love, and Death in the Spanish Civil War (biog). NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2014.
- Valaire, Nicole. *The Little Book of Hemingway* (biog). Wickford, R.I.: New Street Communications, 2014.
- Verhave, Jan Peter. Ernest Hemingway and Paul de Kruif (biog; crit). *Hemingway Review*, 33 (Spr. 2014), 143-50.
- Vernon, Alex, Almudena Cros, and Peter Davis. *The Spanish Earth* and the Non-Nonfiction War Film (crit). *Hemingway Review*, 34 (Fall 2014), 30-46.
- Wapshott, Nicholas. Hemingway's Homophobia (corr). *Newsweek* Global, 162 (2) 2014, 115-22.
- Wellawatte, Geemi. *Ernest Hemingway: The Unwritten Story* (biog). Nugegoda: Sanghinda Printers & Publishers, 2014.
- Wright, Frederick A. The Short Story Just Got Shorter: Hemingway, Narrative, and the Six-Word Urban Legend (crit). *Journal of Popular Culture*, 47 (Apr. 2014), 327-40.
- Wyatt, David. Awkwardness and Appreciation in *Death in the Afternoon* (crit). *Hemingway Review*, 33 (Spr. 2014), 81-98.
- Yanagisawa, Hideo. Harry Morgan's Identity Crisis: Orientalism and Slumming During the Great Depression in Hemingway's *To Have and Have Not* (crit). *Hemingway Review*, 34 (Fall 2014), 47-60.
- Zaidi, Ali Shehzad. The Camouflage of the Sacred in Hemingway's Short Fiction (crit). *Theory in Action*, 7 (Apr. 2014), 104-20.
- Zakeviciene, Indre. Lithuanian Literature in the Scope of Distant Reading (crit). *Interlitteraria*, 19 (1) 2014, 120-30.

Herrick, Robert (1868-1938)

Barrish, Phillip. The Sticky Web of Medical Professionalism: Robert Herrick's *The Web of Life* and the Political Economy of Health Care at the Turn of the Century (crit). *American Literature*, 86 (Sept. 2014), 583-610.

Hicok, Bob (b. 1960)

Hendrickson, Brian. Irreverently Unromantic: A Rhetorical Path to Sophistic Poetics in the Poetry of Bob Hicok (crit). Mosaic: A Journal for the Interdisciplinary Study of Literature, 47 (June 2014), 135-52.

Howells, William Dean (1837-1920)

- Alders, Maximilian. "Mind Telling" in Silas Lapham (crit). Journal of Narrative Theory, 44 (Sum. 2014), 212-43.
- Darda, Joseph. The Sacrificial Enterprise: Negotiating Mutilation in W.D. Howells' *A Hazard of New Fortunes* (crit). *American Literary Realism*, 46 (Spr. 2014), 210-29.
- Knewitz, Simone. "Try My Tivoli": Conspicuous Consumption in William Dean Howells's *A Modern Instance* (crit). *Anglistik und Englischunterricht*, 82 (2014), 133-52.
- Kohler, Michelle. Some Glittering Nondescript Vertebrate: The Provocative Style of Realism in Howells' A Hazard of New Fortunes (crit). American Literary Realism, 46 (Spr. 2014), 189-209.
- Korobkin, Laura H. William Dean Howells's Deserted Wife: E.D.E.N. Southworth, A Modern Instance, and Sentimental Divorce Narration (crit). American Literature, 86 (June 2014), 333-60.

- Maruo-Schröder, Nicole and Chrisoph Ribbat, eds. *Literature and Consumption in Nineteenth-Century America* (crit). Heidelberg: Neckar Universitätsverlag Winter, 2014.
- Parker, Melissa Pluta. "The Hollow Men": Divorce and Manhood in the Novels of Howells, James, and Wharton (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U South Carolina, 2013.
- Storey, Mark. Spectacular Distractions: P.T. Barnum and American Modernism (crit). *Modernism/Modernity*, 21 (Jan. 2014), 107-23.
- Taghizadeh, Ali. A Theory of Literary Realism (crit). *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 4 (8) 2014, 1628-35

Huff, Keith (b. 1959)

Sponberg, Arvid F. Noir on the Chicago Stage: Keith Huff's *A Steady Rain* (crit). *Midwestern Miscellany*, 42 (Spr. 2014), 57-65.

Hughes, Langston (1902-1967)

- Boukari-Yabara, Amzat. Les Militants Noirs Anglophones des Années 1920 à 1940 (crit). *Gradhiva*, n.s. 19 (2014), 30-50, 220.
- Disrud, Rebecca Anne. Late Modern Lyricism: The Poetry and Opera of Stein, Auden, and Hughes (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Indiana U, 2013.
- Dualé, Christine. Harlem Blues: Langston Hughes et la Poétique de la Renaissance Afro-Américaine (crit). Paris: L'Harmattan, 2014.
- Gewaily, M. OUTSELVES Linked: Cultural Alienation in Literary Performance (crit). *Advances in Language and Literary Studies*, 5 (2) 2014, 142-48.
- Graham, Shane. Cultural Exchange in a Black Atlantic Web: South African Literature, Langston Hughes, and Negritude (crit). Twentieth Century Literature, 60 (Win. 2014), 481-512.
- Jackson, Ashley J. Margaret Bonds and *The Ballad of the Brown Dog*: An Historical Overview and Analysis (crit). D.M.A. Dissertation, Juilliard School, 2014.
- Johnson, Claudia Durst, ed. Race in the Poetry of Langston Hughes (crit). Detroit: Greenhaven Press, 2014.
- Kaisary, Philip. The Haitian Revolution in the Literary Imagination: Radical Horizons, Conservative Constraints (crit). Charlottesville: U Virginia P, 2014.
- Kernan, Ryan James. The Coup of Langston Hughes's Picasso Period: Excavating Mayakovsky in Langston Hughes's Verse (crit). Comparative Literature, 66 (Spr. 2014), 227-46.
- Lawrence, Jeffrey Taylor. The Experiencer and the Reader in the Twentieth-Century Literatures of the Americas (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Princeton U, 2014.
- Nelson, Lydia. Reanimating Archiving/Archival Corporealites: Deploying "Big Ears" in De Rigueur Mortis Intervention (crit). QED: A Journal of GLBTQ Worldmaking, 1 (Sum. 2014), 132-59.
- Oler, Andy. "Their Song Filled the Whole Night": *Not Without Laughter*, Hinterlands Jazz, and Rural Modernity (crit). *College Literature*, 41 (Fall 2014), 94-110.
- Russell, Richard Rankin. Down in the Delta: Tallahatchie County, Mississippi, and Langston Hughes's Blues Poetry About Emmett Till (crit). *Five Points*, 16 (2) 2014, 147-63.
- Sifuentes-Jáuregui, Ben. Lecturas Mexicanas de Langston: Estética, Política, Raza y Cuerpo (crit). *Habana Elegante*, 55 (Spr.-Sum. 2014), unpaginated.
- Slate, Nico. *The Prism of Race: W.E.B. Du Bois, Langston Hughes, Paul Robeson, and the Colored World of Cedric Dover* (crit). NY: Palgrave Macmillan, 2014.
- Son, Hyesook. [Langston Hughes's Poetics of Diaspora and Fluid Self] (crit). Journal of English Language and Literature/Yongo Yongmunhak, 60 (Dec. 2014), 695-718.
- Soto, Isabel. "I Knew That Spain Once Belonged to the Moors": Langston Hughes, Race, and the Spanish Civil War (crit). Research in African Literatures, 45 (Fall 2014), 130-46.

Thompson, Gordon E., ed. Black Music, Black Poetry: Blues and Jazz's Impact on African American Versification (crit). Farnham: Ashgate, 2014.

Woods, Michelle and Sarah LaBrec Wyman. Aesthetic Radicalism: Langston Hughes's Lost Translation of Federico García Lorca's Bodas de Sangre/Blood Wedding (crit). Modern Drama, 57 (Win. 2014), 469-92.

Inge, William (1913-1973)

Bryer, Jackson R. and Mary C. Hartig, eds. William Inge: Essays and Reminiscences on the Plays and the Man (biog; crit). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co., 2014.

Johnson, Diane (b. 1934)

Durham, Carolyn. A Memoir of the Midwest: Flyover Lives by Diane Johnson (crit). MidAmerica, 41 (2014), 88-94.

Prose, Francine. Hunting Diane (rev). New York Review of Books, 61 (6 Mar. 2014), 25-27.

Jones, James (1921-1977)

Grindrod, Jacqueline C. The Construction of Female Subjectivity in Selected Mid-Twentieth Century American War Literature (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Fordham U, 2013.

Kantor, MacKinlay (1904-1977)

Hoagwood, Terence. Multiple Makers: The Best Years of Our Lives (crit). Journal of Adaptation in Film and Performance, 7 (1) 2014, 9-25.

Keillor, Garrison (b. 1942)

Coulouma, Flore. The Soundscape of Oral Tradition on the Printed Page: Garrison Keillor's Radio Romance (crit). *Cahiers de Littérature Orale*, 75-76 (2014), 141-62.

Lauck, Jon. Garrison Keillor: An Interview (I). Salmagundi, 184 (Fall 2014), 46-67.

Kirk, Russell (1918-1994)

Mordarski, Ryszard. Russell Kirk i Amerykanska Tradycja Konserwatywna (crit). Filo-Sofija, 14 (1) 2014, 289-302.

Woodward, J. David. *The Politics of Morality: Portraits in Seven Lives* (biog; crit). South Bend, Ind.: St. Augustine's Press, 2014.

Kooser, Ted (b. 1939)

Howerton, Phillip. From Imagining to Experiencing: Ted Kooser's Unpredictable Sense of Place (crit). EAPSU Online: A Journal of Critical and Creative Work, 11 (Fall 2014), 6-17.

Lane, Rose Wilder (1886-1968)

Laperi, Eleni. Rose Wilder Lane dhe Shqiptarët (biog). Tiranë: UET Press, 2014.

Larsen, Nella (1891-1964)

Byron, Lindsay. Modernism from the Margins: Unruly Women and the Politics of Representation (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Georgia State U, 2013.

Goodspeed-Chadwick, Julie. Trauma and Identity Politics in Ai's *Dread* (crit). *College Literature*, 41 (Sum. 2014), 114-32.

Mays, Andrea. Revisioning Reality: Normative Resistance in the Cultural Works of the Lincoln Motion Picture Company, Nella Larsen, and Allan Rohan Crite, 1915-1945 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U New Mexico, 2014.

Moynihan, Sinéad. Beautiful White Girlhood? Daisy Buchanan in Nella Larsen's *Passing* (crit). *African American Review*, 47 (Spr. 2014), 37-49.

- Schmidt, Suzanne C. "Crafting" the Race House of the Domestic Individual: Political Subjectivities, Hierarchy and Value in the Crafting and Do-It-Yourself Labors of Domestic Fiction, 1850-Present (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Washington, 2014.
- Ziarek, Ewa Plonowska. Feminist Aesthetics: Transformative Practice, Neoliberalism, and the Violence of Formalism (crit). *Differences: A Journal of Feminist Cultural Studies*, 25 (Sum. 2014), 101-15.

Leiber, Fritz (1910-1992)

Barr, Mark. "Two Sought Adventure": Fritz Leiber and the Architecture of Fantasy (crit). *Extrapolation*, 55 (Spr. 2014), 1-24.

Leonard, Elmore (1925-2013)

Haney, Bill. What Were They Thinking: Reflections on Michigan Difference-Makers (crit). Ortonville, Mich.: MB Books, 2014.

Leopold, Aldo (1886-1948)

- Cokinos, Christopher. The Pastoral Complexities of Clifford Simak: The Land Ethic and Pulp Lyricism in *Time and Again* (crit). *Extrapolation*, 55 (Sum. 2014), 133-52.
- Cryer, Daniel. A Model Citizen: Ethos, Conservation, and the Rhetorical Construction of Aldo Leopold (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U New Mexico, 2014.

Levine, Philip (1928-2015)

Brickey, Russell. Philip Levine is an Extreme Visionary: "Fist," "Coming Home, Detroit, 1968," and "Ask for Nothing" (crit). *MidAmerica*, 41 (2014), 62-71.

Lewis, Sinclair (1885-1951)

- Glennon, Jenny. The Custom of Main Street: Wharton, Sinclair Lewis, and Middle-Class Taste (crit). *Edith Wharton Review*, 30 (Spr. 2014), 45-59.
- Harode, Reeta S. *Sinclair Lewis: His Mind and Art* (crit). Jaipur: Swastik Book Distributors, 2014. Kaiser, Wilson. The Micropolitics of Fascism in Carson McCuller's *The Heart Is a Lonely*
- Hunter and Sinclair Lewis's It Can't Happen Here (crit). Genre: Forms of Discourse and Culture, 47 (Fall 2014), 285-307.
- Matzke, Brian S. All Scientific Stuff: Science, Expertise, and Everyday Reality in 1926 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Michigan, 2013.
- Nafisi, Azar. The Republic of Imagination: America in Three Books (crit). NY: Viking Adult, 2014.Rogal, Samuel J. Magazine Illustrators of Sinclair Lewis's Short Fiction: A Case History of Early 20th-Century Popular Art (crit). Lewiston, N.Y.: Edwin Mellen Press, 2014.
- Wandler, Steven. Race and Citizenship in Sinclair Lewis's Kingsblood Royal (crit). Twentieth Century Literature, 60 (Spr. 2014), 79-98.

Lincoln, Abraham (1809-1865)

- Cushman, Stephen. Belligerent Muse: Five Northern Writers and How They Shaped Our Understanding of the Civil War (crit). Chapel Hill: U North Carolina P, 2014.
- Finley, Cheryl. Visual Legacies of Slavery and Emancipation (crit). Callaloo, 37 (Fall 2914), 1023-32.
- Henson, D. Leigh. Classic Rhetoric as a Lens for Reading the Key Speeches of Lincoln's Political Rise, 1852-1856 (crit). Journal of the Abraham Lincoln Association, 35 (Win. 2014), 1-25.
- Horrocks, Thomas A. *Lincoln's Campaign Biographies* (biog; crit). Carbondale: Southern Illinois U P, 2014.

- Kaufer, David S. and Shawn J. Parry-Giles. Refined vs. Middling Styles in the Lincoln Reminiscence: Comparing the Rhetoric of Formality and Familiarity (crit). *Rhetoric Review*, 33 (4) 2014, 344-61.
- McDonald, Brian J. Philip Roth's Mock Lincoln (crit). Canadian Review of American Studies/Revue Canadienne d'Études Américaines, 44 (Win. 2014), 389-401.
- Shelton, Barry. "Root, Hog, or Die": A Republican Proverb (crit). Proverbium: Yearbook of International Proverb Scholarship, 31 (2014), 395-408.
- Solis, Linda Grace. Abraham Lincoln and the Language of Leadership (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Our Lady of the Lake U, 2013.

Lindsay, Vachel (1879-1931)

Gelmi, Caroline. Negative Image: Fictions of the Speaker in American Poetry and Poetics, 1866-1915 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Tufts U, 2014.

Lockridge, Ross, Jr. (1914-1948)

Lockridge, Ernest. Skeleton Key to the Suicide of My Father Ross Lockridge, Jr.: Author of Raintree County (biog). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.

McCloskey, Robert (1914-2003)

Marcus, Leonard S. Robert McCloskey at 100 (biog; crit). *Horn Book Magazine*, 90 (Sept. 2014), 16-21.

McGrath, Thomas (1916-1990)

Speser, Arendt Oak. Round Song: Narrative Bibliography and the Living Archive (bibl; crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Washington, 2013.

Malcolm X (1925-1965)

- Ambar, Saladin M. *Malcolm X at Oxford Union: Racial Politics in a Global Era* (crit). Oxford: Oxford U P, 2014.
- Assensoh, A.B. *Malcolm X: A Biography* (biog). Santa Barbara, Calif.: Greenwood, 2013.
- Benson, Richard D., II. "Fighting for Our Place in the Sun": Malcolm X and the Radicalization of the Black Student Movement, 1960-1973 (crit). NY: Peter Lang, 2014.
- Colley, Zoe. "All America Is a Prison": The Nation of Islam and the Politicization of African American Prisoners, 1955-1965 (crit). *Journal of American Studies*, 48 (May 2014), 393-415.
- Couper, Scott Everett. South Africa's Historiographic Conflation: Comparing and Contrasting the Memories of King and Malcolm X with Luthuli and Mandela (crit). *Historia: Amptelike Orgaan*, 59 (2) 2014, 289-308.
- Nikpour, Golnar. Revolutionary Journeys, Revolutionary Practice: The Hajj Writings of Jalal Al-E Ahmad and Malcolm X (crit). *Comparative Studies of South Asia, Africa and the Middle East*, 34 (1) 2014, 67-85.
- Tuck, Stephen G.N. The Night Malcolm X Spoke at the Oxford Union: A Transatlantic Story of Antiracist Protest (crit). Oakland: U California P, 2014.

Mamet, David (b. 1947)

- Goldensohn, Barry. The Law Plays of David Mamet: *Race* and *The Anarchist* (crit). *Yale Review*, 102 (Oct. 2014), 117-28.
- Holmberg, Arthur. David Mamet and Male Friendship: Buddy Plays and Buddy Films (crit). NY: Palgrave Macmillan, 2014.
- Kriesch, Désireé. Ausgetrickst!: Zuschauertäuschung im Zeitgenössischen US-Amerikanischen Long Con-Film (crit). Trier: Wissenschaftlicher Verlag Trier, 2014.

Masters, Edgar Lee (1868-1950)

Gelmi, Caroline. Negative Image: Fictions of the Speaker in American Poetry and Poetics, 1866-1915 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Tufts U, 2014.

McCue, Jim. T.S. Eliot, Edgar Lee Masters and Glorious France (crit). *Essays in Criticism*, 64 (Jan. 2014), 45-73.

Meier, Emerenz (1874-1928)

Fegert, Friedemann. Emerenz Meier in Chicago: Auswanderung und Leben Ihrer Familie in Amerika (biog). Freyung: Edition Lichtland, 2014.

Moberg, Vilhelm (1898-1973)

Hyltén-Cavallius, Gunnar. Inte Nöjd Med sin Otro—Vilhelm Mobergs Relation till Kristen Tro (crit). *Vilhelm Moberg-Sällskapets Småskrifter*, 10 (2014), 14-24.

Mälarstedt, Kurt. Vilhelm Moberg i Californien (crit). Vilhelm Moberg-Sällskapets Småskrifter, 10 (2014), 33-43.

Nettervik, Ingrid. Kristussymboliken i Din Stund på Jorden (crit). Vilhelm Moberg-Sällskapets Småskrifter, 10 (2014), 25-32

Torstensson, Erland. Åkianerna och Åkianismen (crit). Vilhelm Moberg-Sällskapets Småskrifter, 10 (2014), 7-13.

Moore, Lorrie (b. 1957)

Varvogli, Aliki. Home, Land, Security: Lorrie Moore's *A Gate at the Stairs* as a 9/11 Novel (crit). *Journal of Modern Literature*, 37 (Spr. 2014), 177-90.

Morris, Wright (1910-1998)

Prieto Aguaza, Alberto. Ventanas, Espejos y Sombras: Imagen Analógica y Textualidad en Wright Morris, Duane Michals y Sophie Calle (crit). Zaragoza: Prensas de la Universidad de Zaragoza, 2014.

Morrison, Toni (b. 1931)

Akhtar, Jaleel. *Dismemberment in the Fiction of Toni Morrison* (crit). Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars, 2014.

Al Areqi, Rashad Mohammed Moqbel. Thorny Journey from Slavery to Salvation (crit). *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 4 (3) 2014, 466-72.

Alban, Gillian. The Irrepressible Lilith in Angela Carter and Toni Morrison (crit). *Interactions: Ege Journal of British and American Studies*, 23 (Spr.-Fall 2014), 13-27.

Alfaro, Melissa J. Breaking the Silence: A Rhetorical Analysis of Selected Works by Sandra Cisneros and Toni Morrison through the Lens of Northrop Frye's Rhetorical Theories of Speech and Style (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Texas Womanís U, 2012.

Anderson, Eric. The Blackness of Black (W)holes (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, SUNY Albany, 2014.
 Barrio-Vilar, Laura. Neocolonialism, Migration, and Black Women's Bodies: Transnational Experiences in African-American and Afro-Caribbean Women's Fiction (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Kentucky, 2011.

Basu, Biman. Postcolonial World Literature: Forster—Roy—Morrison (crit). *Comparatist: Journal of the Southern Comparative Literature Association*, 38 (Oct. 2014), 158-87.

Bauer, Margaret Donovan. A Study of Scarletts: Scarlett O'Hara and Her Literary Daughters (crit). Columbia: U South Carolina P, 2014.

Bennett, Juda. *Toni Morrison and the Queer Pleasure of Ghosts* (crit). Albany: State U New York P, 2014.

Benson, Josef. Hypermasculinities in the Contemporary Novel: Cormac McCarthy, Toni Morrison, and James Baldwin (crit). Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield, 2014.

- Burcar, Lilijana. *American Literature and Its Socio-Political Context* (crit). Ljubljana: Znanstvena Zalozba Filozofske Fakultete, 2014.
- Buzacott, Lucy. The Black Mother as Murderess: William Faulkner's *Requiem for a Nun* and Toni Morrison's *Beloved* (crit). *English Studies/Södertörns Högskola*, 4 (2014), 85-94.
- Carney, Jo Eldridge. "Being Born a Girl": Toni Morrison's Desdemona (crit). *Borrowers and Lenders: The Journal of Shakespeare and Appropriation*, 9 (Sum.-Fall 2014), unpaginated.
- Carrascosa, Denise. Pós-Colonialidade, Pós-Escravismo, Bioficçao e Con(tra)temporaneidade (crit). *Estudios de Literatura Brasileira Contemporânea*, 44 (2014), 105-24.
- Castor, Laura. "This House Is Strange": Digging for American Memory of Trauma, or Healing the "Social" in Toni Morrison's *Home* (crit). English Studies/Södertörns Högskola, 4 (2014), 139-50.
- Chattaraj, Arpita. *Childhood in Toni Morrison's Fiction* (crit). New Delhi: Sarup Book Publishers, 2014.
- Clough, Patricia Ticineto. After Slavery (crit). Women's Studies Quarterly, 42 (Spr.-Sum. 2014), 185-89.
- Earle, Monalesia. Does 21st Century Feminist Fiction Challenge or Uphold Conventional Notions of the Family? A Critique of *A Mercy* and *Fun Home* (crit). *ImageTexT: Interdisciplinary Comics Studies*, 7 (4) 2014, unpaginated.
- Egan, Caroline Louise. Sum of the Parts: The Trilogy in McCarthy, Morrison, and Roth (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Maryland, College Park, 2013.
- El-Meligi, Eman. *Nine Writers of Postmodernist Metafiction: Explaining the Literary Tricks that Undo Realistic Discourse* (crit). Lewiston, N.Y.: Edwin Mellen Press, 2014.
- Emmett, Hilary. A Valediction Forbidding Mo'nin?: *Beloved Revisited (crit). English Studies/Södertörns Högskola*, 4 (2014), 95-106.
- Fetters, Cassandra Denise. Searching for Solidarity: Disputes, Disruptions, and Transformative Possibilities in Female Friendships and American Feminist Thought and Literature (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Kentucky, 2013.
- Frampton, Sara. "I Bid My Hideous Progeny Go Forth and Prosper": *Frankenstein*'s Homosocial Doubles and Twentieth Century American Literature (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Ottawa, 2013.
- Goad, Jill. Enslaved by Mother and Lover: Florens' Impossible Search for Self-Love in Toni Morrison's *A Mercy* (crit). *New Academia: An International Journal of English Language, Literature and Literary Theory*, 3 (Apr. 2014), 1-6.
- Hassan Khan, Md Reza and Shafiqur Rahman. The Framework of Racism in Toni Morrison's *The Bluest Eye*: A Psychosocial Interpretation (crit). *Advances in Language and Literary Studies*, 5 (2) 2014, 25-28.
- Holloway, Karla F.C. *Beloved:* America's Grammar Book (crit). *Dædalus*, 143 (Win. 2014), 107-14.
- Humann, Heather Duerre. Family and Violence in Love (crit). Women's Studies, 43 (Feb. 2014), 246-62.
- Iatsenko, Anna. Bodies, Music, and Embodied Cognition in Toni Morrison's Fictional Works (crit). *English Studies/Södertörns Högskola*, 4 (2014), 55-65.
- Ibarrola, Aitor. The Challenges of Recovering from Individual and Cultural Trauma in Toni Morrison's *Home* (crit). *International Journal of English Studies*, 14 (1) 2014, 109-24.
- Jefferson, William. *Toni Morrison and the Limits of a Politics of Recognition* (crit). Charleston, S.C.: CreateSpace, 2014.
- Kekeh-Dika, Andrée-Anne, Maryemma Graham, and Janis A. Mayes. *Toni Morrison, audelà du Visible Ordinaire = Toni Morrison, Beyond the Ordinary Visible* (crit). Saint-Denis: Presses Universitaires de Vincennes, 2014.
- Lake, Christina Bieber. Prophets of the Posthuman: American Fiction, Biotechnology, and the Ethics of Personhood (crit). Notre Dame, Ind.: Notre Dame UP, 2013.

- Lalthlamuani, K.C. *Toni Morrison and the Politics of Narrative* (crit). Saarbrücken: Scholar's Press, 2014.
- Lawler, Sarah Doris. Visions and Revisions: Isolation, Marginalization and Infanticide in Euripides' Medea and Toni Morrison's Beloved (crit). D.Litt. Dissertation, Drew U, 2014.
- Lehner, Brooklynn. Why Is There a Demon in the House?: Reading and Fetishizing Bad Mothers (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Illinois State U, 2013.
- Li, Stephanie. Paradise Lost: Reconciling the Semiotic and Symbolic in Toni Morrison's *Love* (crit). *Studies in the Literary Imagination*, 47 (Spr. 2014), 27-47.
- Maguire, Eileen M. Wrestling Love: Reading Race, Sex, and Religion in Morrison's Novels, 1986-2008 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, SUNY Binghamton, 2012.
- Melancon, Trimiko. *Unbought and Unbossed: Transgressive Black Women, Sexuality, and Representation* (crit). Philadelphia: Temple U P, 2014.
- Mikrut, Giulia Grillo. "You Your Best Thing, Sethe. You Are": African American Maternal Experience in Toni Morrison's *Beloved* (crit). *English Studies/Södertörns Högskola*, 4 (2014), 67-84.
- Morgenstern, Naomi. Maternal Love/Maternal Violence: Inventing Ethics in Toni Morrison's *A Mercy* (crit). *MELUS*, 39 (Spr. 2014), 7-29.
- Mori, Aoi. Rethinking Race Matters (crit). *English Studies/Södertörns Högskola*, 4 (2014), 127-38.
- Mujahid, Syed. *Black American Predicament in Toni Morrison's Fiction* (crit). New Delhi: Authorspress, 2014.
- Murphy, Patrick D. The Ecofeminist Subsistence Perspective Revisited in an Age of Land Grabs and Its Representations in Contemporary Literature (crit). *Feminismo/s*, 22 (Dec. 2013), 205-24.
- Nawa, Rei. A New Conception of Black Masculinity in Toni Morrison's *Beloved* (crit). *Sophia English Studies*, 39 (2014), 17-33.
- Newcomb, Lori. "A Little Universe for Themselves": Narrative and Community in Postmodern American Fiction (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U South Dakota, 2014.
- Ollende-Etsendji, Tracy. Littérature et Musique: Essai Poétique d'une Prose Narrative Musicalisée dans *Ritournelle de la Faim* de Jean-Marie Gustave le Clézio, *Tous les Matins du Monde* de Pascal Quignard, *Les Ruines de Paris* de Jacques Réda et *Jazz* de Toni Morrison (crit). Thése de Doctorat, Université de Tours, 2014.
- Pal, Payel and Gurumurthy Neelakantan. Morrison's Prostitutes in *The Bluest Eye* (crit). *Notes on Contemporary Literature*, 44 (Mar. 2014), 4-7.
- Penrod, Lynn. Toni Morrison's *The Bluest Eye*: Lost and Found in Translation (crit). *English Studies/Södertörns Högskola*, 4 (2014), 33-44.
- Perez, Richard. The Debt of Memory: Reparations, Imagination, and History in Toni Morrison's *Beloved* (crit). *Women's Studies Quarterly*, 42 (Spr.-Sum. 2014), 190-98.
- Rayamajhi, Sangita. Teaching Toni Morrison to a Culturally Diverse Class: Experiences from Bangladesh (crit). *English Studies/Södertörns Högskola*, 4 (2014), 45-53.
- Revelles-Benavente, Beatriz. How Toni Morrison's Facebook Page Re(Con)Figures Race and Gender (crit). CLCWeb: Comparative Literature and Culture, 16 (Dec. 2014), unpaginated.
- Risko, Guy Andre. Trilogies and Temporality: Progress and the Temporal Structure of American Exceptionalism (crit). Ph.D Dissertation, SUNY Binghamton, 2014.
- Roynon, Tessa. Lobbying the Reader: Toni Morrison's Recent Forewords to Her Novels (crit). *European Journal of American Culture*, 33 (2) 2014, 85-96.
- Schell, David. Engaging Foundational Narratives in Morrison's *Paradise* and Pynchon's *Mason and Dixon* (crit). *College Literature*, 41 (Sum. 2014), 69-94.
- Schindler, Melissa. Home, or the Limits of the Black Atlantic (crit). *Research in African Literatures*, 45 (Fall 2014), 72-90.

- Schmidt, Suzanne C. "Crafting" the Race House of the Domestic Individual: Political Subjectivities, Hierarchy and Value in the Crafting and Do-It-Yourself Labors of Domestic Fiction, 1850-Present (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Washington, 2014.
- Seward, Adrienne Lanier and Justine Tally, eds. *Toni Morrison: Memory and Meaning* (crit). Jackson: U P Mississippi, 2014
- Sillis, Andrea. Forms of Time and Typologies of Culture: Language, Time, and Identity in the Work of Toni Morrison (crit) *English Studies/Södertörns Högskola*, 4 (2014), 15-32.
- Simon, Libby Bagno. A Home on the Threshold: Family, Community and Identity in the Liminal Landscape of Toni Morrison's A Mercy (crit). Interactions: Ege Journal of British and American Studies, 23 (Spr.-Fall 2014), 243-50.
- Singh, Vanita. An Insight into the Works of Toni Morrison (crit). New Delhi: Alfa Publications, 2014.
- Still, Erica. Prophetic Remembrance: Black Subjectivity in African American and South African Trauma Narratives (crit). Charlottesville: U Virginia P, 2014.
- Stone, Rebecca. Breastfeeding in the Psychoanalytic Imagination (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Adelphi U, 2013.
- Tanrisal, Meldan and Tanfer EminTunç. *The Health of the Nation* (crit). Heidelberg: Universitätsverlag Winter, 2014.
- Terry, Jennifer. "Breathing the Air of a World So New": Rewriting the Landscape of America in Toni Morrison's A Mercy (crit). Journal of American Studies, 48 (Feb. 2014), 127-45.
- Tafreshi, Leila and Wan Roselezam Wan Yahya. Migration, Trauma, PTSD: A Gender Study of Morrison's Jazz (crit). Advances in Language and Literary Studies, 5 (June 2014), 120-25.
- Thyssen, Christina. Reading after the End of the World (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, SUNY Albany, 2014.
- Valkeakari, Tuire. After Eden: Constructs of Home, House, and Racial Difference in Toni Morrison's *A Mercy* (crit). *English Studies/Södertörns Högskola*, 4 (2014), 107-26.
- Vásquez, Sam. In Her Own Image: Literary and Visual Representations of Girlhood in Toni Morrison's *The Bluest Eye* and Jamaica Kincaid's *Annie John* (crit). *Meridians: Feminism, Race, Transnationalism,* 12 (1) 2014, 58-87.
- Visser, Irene. Entanglements of Trauma: Relationality and Toni Morrison's *Home* (crit). *Postcolonial Text*, 9 (2) 2014, 1-21.
- Wagner-Martin, Linda. *Toni Morrison and the Maternal: From* The Bluest Eye to Home (crit). NY: Peter Lang, 2014.
- Wallace, Cynthia R. L as Language: *Love* and Ethics (crit). *African American Review*, 47 (Sum.-Fall 2014), 375-90.
- Warnes, Andrew. American Tantalus: Horizons, Happiness, and the Impossible Pursuits of US Literature and Culture (crit). NY: Bloomsbury Academic, 2014.
- Webb, Barbara J. "Unspeakable Things Unspoken": Reflections on Teaching *Beloved* (crit). *Women's Studies Quarterly*, 42 (Spr.-Sum. 2014), 199-204.
- Whightsel, Oren Aytch, III. Hearing the Voice First, Later the Name: Queer(ed) Poetics, the Rhetorics of Failure, and the Reparative Practices of Feminism(s) (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Illinois State U, 2012.
- Willard, Mara. Interrogating A Mercy: Faith, Fiction, and the Postsecular (crit). Christianity and Literature, 63 (Sum. 2014), 467-87.
- Wyatt, Jean. The Economic Grotesque and the Critique of Capitalism in Toni Morrison's *Tar Baby* (crit). *MELUS*, 39 (Spr. 2014), 30-55.
- Zamalin, Alex. Beloved Citizens: Toni Morrison's *Beloved*, Racial Inequality, and American Public Policy (crit). *Women's Studies Quarterly*, 42 (Spr.-Sum. 2014), 205-11.

Muir, John (1838-1914)

Colwell, Mary. John Muir: The Scotsman Who Saved America's Wild Places (biog). Oxford: Lion, 2014.

Hall, Dewey W. Romantic Naturalists, Early Environmentalists: An Ecocritical Study, 1789-1912 (crit). Farnham, Surrey: Ashgate, 2014.

Heacox, Kim. John Muir and the Ice That Started a Fire: How a Visionary and the Glaciers of Alaska Changed America (biog). Guildford, Conn.: Lyons Press, 2014.

Mukherjee, Bharati (b. 1940)

Lo, Aline. Manifested Destinies: Refugee Narratives in Contemporary American Literature (crit). Ph.D Dissertation, U Wisconsin, 2013.

Lavigilante, Natasha. Globalization and Change in India: The Rise of an "Indian Dream" in Miss New India: An Interview with Bharati Mukherjee (I). *MELUS*, 39 (Fall 2014), 178-94.

Sangwan, Uplabdhi. Jasmine as Fantasy (crit). Gender Forum, 48 (2014), unpaginated.

Neihardt, John G. (1881-1973)

Taylor, Matthew A. "Contagious Emotions" and the Ghost Dance Religion: Mooney's Science, Black Elk's Fever (crit). *ELH*, 81 (Fall 2014), 1055-82.

Niedecker, Lorine (1903-1970)

Cocola, Jim. Lorine Niedecker "After the Bay of Pigs" (crit). College Literature, 41 (Spr. 2014), 76-96.

Evans, Meagan L. Sounding Silence: American Women's Experimental Poetics (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Oregon, 2012.

Lehman, John. From Wisconsin (biog; crit). Rockdale, Wis.: Zelda Wilde Publishing, 2014.

Norris, Frank (1870-1902)

Alawneh, Ghada Sasa. "Fiction Is Selection": An Approach to Teaching Frank Norris's *McTeague* (crit). *Teaching American Literature*, 6 (Fall-Win. 2014), 16-23.

Clarke, Michael Tavel. The New Naturalism: Cormac McCarthy, Frank Norris, and the Question of Postmodernism (crit). *Studies in American Naturalism*, 9 (Sum. 2014), 52-78.

D'Alessandro, Michael. The Mouth Trap: Orality and the Rabelaisian Grotesque in Norris's *McTeague* (crit). *Studies in American Naturalism*, 9 (Sum. 2014), 1-25.

Jennings, Randee Dax. The Economy of Affect in Frank Norris's *Vandover and the Brute* (crit). *Studies in the Novel*, 46 (Fall 2014), 335-53.

Mauritzen, Michael R. Technologies of Representation and American Naturalism: The Limits of Photography and Early Film in Norris and Dreiser (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Purdue U, 2013.

Stampone, Christopher. "You Can't Buck Against the Railroad": The Arthurian World of Frank Norris's *The Octopus* (crit). *Studies in American Naturalism*, 9 (Sum. 2014), 29-51.

Northrup, Jim (b. 1943)

Kirch, Claire. Author Profile: On the Rez (biog). *Publishers Weekly*, 261 (12 May 2014), 31-32).

Oates, Joyce Carol (b. 1938)

Dirda, Michael. The Comédie Humaine of Joyce Carol Oates (rev). New York Review of Books, 61 (8 May 2014), 45-48.

Hillsburg, Heather A. Reading Nostalgia, Anger, and the Home in Joyce Carol Oates's Foxfire (crit). Bearing Witness: Joyce Carol Oates Studies, 1 (2014), unpaginated.

Jönsson, Ola. Suburbia Rewritten: Masculinity and Affect in Contemporary American Literature (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Uppsala Universitet, 2014.

Landers, Robert K. Writing a Life: What Should Literary Biography Do? (crit). *Commonweal*, 141 (2 May 2014), 17-19.

- Reynolds, Andrew. The Secret History of Sprawl: Joyce Carol Oates's Expensive People and the Deterritorialization of Suburbia (crit). Genre: Forms of Discourse and Culture, 47 (Sum. 2014), 199-229.
- Rutledge, David. Distaste: Joyce Carol Oates and Food (crit). *Bearing Witness: Joyce Carol Oates Studies*, 1 (2014), unpaginated.
- Wills, Deborah. Fatal Attractions: "Snuff Fiction" and the Homicidal Romance (crit). *Mosaic: A Journal for the Interdisciplinary Study of Literature*, 47 (June 2014), 67-83.

O'Brien, Tim (b. 1946)

- Faubion, S. Renée. "The Savage Ethic of Speech": Tim O'Brien's "Sweetheart of the Song Tra Bong" as Travel Narrative (crit). *Critique*, 55 (3) 2014, 318-28.
- Griffiths, Peter. The Logic of Life Narratives in Short Fiction (crit). Short Fiction in Theory & Practice, 4 (2) 2014, 187-96.
- Newcomb, Lori. "A Little Universe for Themselves": Narrative and Community in Postmodern American Fiction (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U South Dakota, 2014.
- Ooms, Julie. "Battles Are Always Fought Among Human Beings, Not Purposes": Tim O'Brien's Fiction as a Response to the Crisis of Modernity (crit). *Renascence: Essays on Values in Literature*, 66 (Win. 2014), 25-45.
- "Our Grand Narrative of Women and War": Writing, and Writing Past, a Gendered Understanding of War Front and Home Front in the War Writing of Hemingway, O'Brien, Plath, and Salinger (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Baylor U, 2014.
- Pederson, Joshua. Speak, Trauma: Toward a Revised Understanding of Literary Trauma Theory (crit). *Narrative*, 22 (Oct. 2014), 333-53.

Olsen, Tillie (1912-2007)

Montse, Feu. "Transformation Was Definitely Her Specialty": Teaching Representation with Roberta Fernandez's "Amanda" (crit). Interdisciplinary Humanities, 31 (Sum. 2014), 47-61.

Perera, Sonali. No Country: Working-Class Writing in the Age of Globalization (crit). NY: Columbia U P, 2014.

Ostenso, Martha (1900-1963)

McGregor, Hannah and Michelle Smith. Martha Ostenso, Periodical Culture, and the Middlebrow (crit). *International Journal of Canadian Studies/Revue Internationale d'Études Canadiennes*, 48 (2014), 67-83.

Paretsky, Sara (b. 1947)

Kim, Julie H., ed. Class and Culture in Crime Fiction: Essays on Works in English Since the 1970s (crit). Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland & Co., 2014.

Parks, Gordon (1912-2006)

Tillet, Salamishah. "I Got No Comfort in This Life": The Increasing Importance of Patsey in 12 Years a Slave (crit). American Literary History, 26 (Sum. 2014), 354-61.

Payne, Alexander (b. 1961)

Beadling, Laura. Aging Women on Screen: Alexander Payne's Depiction of Older Women in *About Schmidt* and *Nebraska* (crit). MidAmerica, 41 (2014), 72-79.

Piercy, Marge (b. 1936)

- Furlanetto, Elton. "There Is No Silence": An Interview with Marge Piercy (I). *Utopian Studies*, 25 (2) 2014, 416-30.
- Sargent, Lyman Tower. Sex in Utopia: Eutopian and Dystopian Sexual Relations (crit). *Utopian Studies*, 25 (2) 2014, 299-320.

Powers, Richard (b. 1957)

- El-Meligi, Eman. *Nine Writers of Postmodernist Metafiction: Explaining the Literary Tricks that Undo Realistic Discourse* (crit). Lewiston, N.Y.: Edwin Mellen Press, 2014.
- Gonzalez, Jeffrey. Necessary Fictions: The U.S. Novel in the End of Ideology (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Pennsylvania State U, 2011.
- Huggins, Paul. Great Conversations: Systems, Complexity, and Epic Encyclopedic Narratives in Contemporary American Fiction, 1960-2007 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Southern Illinois U, Carbondale, 2013.
- Knirsch, Christian. Richard Powers's *The Echo Maker*: Reassessing the Neuronovel in American Literature (crit). *Amerikastudien/American Studies*, 59 (1) 2014, 47-62.
- Oppermann, Serpil. Feminist Ecocriticism: The New Ecofeminist Settlement (crit). *Feminismo/s*, 22 (Dec. 2013), 65-88.
- Rich, Nathaniel. The Music of Big Questions (rev). *New York Review of Books*, 61 (20 Feb. 2014), 25-27.
- Staes, Toon. The Fictionality Debate and the Complex Texts of Richard Powers and William T. Vollmann (crit). *Neophilologus*, 98 (Apr. 2014), 177-92.
- Wiese, Doro. *The Powers of the False: Reading, Writing, Thinking Beyond Truth and Fiction* (crit). Evanston, Ill.: Northwestern U P, 2014.

Richardson, John (1796-1852)

Godeanu-Kenworthy, Oana. Creole Frontiers: Imperial Ambiguities in John Richardson's and James Fenimore Cooper's Fiction (crit). Early American Literature, 49 (3) 2014, 741-70.

Riley, James Whitcomb (1849-1916)

Josey, Denise. Die Werke der Amerikanischen Künstler Gwen Frostic und James Whitcomb Riley: Freie Prosa und Lyrik als Gegenstand der Fachsprachlichen Übersetzung (crit). Trier: Wissenschaftlicher Verlag Trier, 2014.

Rivera, Tomás (1935-1984)

Gallego, Carlos. Topographies of Resistance: Cognitive Mapping in Chicano/a Migrant Literature (crit). *Arizona Quarterly*, 70 (Sum. 2014), 21-53.

Robinson, Marilynne (b. 1944)

Acocella, Joan. Lonesome Road (rev). New Yorker, 90 (6 Oct. 2014), 79-82.

- Domestico, Anthony. Blessings in Disguise: The Unfashionable Genius of Marilyn Robinson (crit). *Commonweal*, 141 (14 Nov. 2014), 12-17.
- "Imagine a Carthage Sown with Salt": Creeds, Memory, and Vision in Marilynne Robinson's Housekeeping (crit). Literature & Theology, 28 (Mar. 2014), 92-109.
- Esteve, Mary. Robinson's Crusoe: *Housekeeping* and Economic Form (crit). *Contemporary Literature*, 55 (Sum. 2014), 219-48.
- Evans, Justin. Subjectivity and the Possibility of Change in the Novels of Marilynne Robinson (crit). Renascence: Essays on Values in Literature, 66 (Spr. 2014), 131-50.
- Fleming, David J. Religious Experience and the Contemporary Novel (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Victoria U, Wellington, 2014.
- Gardner, Thomas. Dickinson, Calvin, and the Drama of Perception (crit). *Religion and Literature*, 46 (Spr. 2014), 195-203.
- Gonzalez, Jeffrey. Necessary Fictions: The U.S. Novel in the End of Ideology (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Pennsylvania State U, 2011.
- Ontologies of Interdependence, the Sacred, and Health Care: Marilynne Robinson's Gilead and Home (crit). Critique, 55 (4) 2014, 373-88.
- Kohn, Robert E. Secrecy and Radiance in Marilynne Robinson's *Gilead* and *Home* (crit). *Explicator*, 72 (Jan.-Mar. 2014), 6-11.

- Lake, Christina Bieber. Prophets of the Posthuman: American Fiction, Biotechnology, and the Ethics of Personhood (crit). Notre Dame, Ind.: Notre Dame UP, 2013.
- Mauro, Aaron. Ordinary Happiness: Marilynne Robinson's Tragic Economies of Debt and Forgiveness (crit). Symploke: A Journal for the Intermingling of Literary, Cultural and Theoretical Scholarship, 22 (1-2) 2014, 149-66.
- Milota, Megan. From "Compelling and Mystical" to "Makes You Want to Commit Suicide": Quantifying the Spectrum of Online Reader Responses (crit). Scientific Study of Literature, 4 (2) 2014, 178-95.
- Painter, Rebecca M. On the Responsibility of Churches to Safeguard and Promote the Spirit of Democracy, the Potential of the Humanities, and Other Thoughts: An Interview with Marilyn Robinson (I). Renascence: Essays on Values in Literature, 66 (Spr. 2014), 151-60.
- Park, Haein. The Face of the Other: Suffering, Kenosis, and a Hermeneutics of Love in Dietrich Bonhoeffer's Letters and Papers from Prison and Marilynne Robinson's *Gilead* (crit). *Renascence: Essays on Values in Literature*, 66 (Spr. 2014), 103-18.
- Schine, Cathleen. A Triumph of Love (rev). New York Review of Books, 61 (23 Oct. 2014), 18-20.Schmidt, D.W. The Name of the Father: Male Voice, Feminist Authorship, and the Reader in Gilead (crit). Renascence: Essays on Values in Literature, 66 (Spr. 2014), 119-30.
- Schmidt, Suzanne C. "Crafting" the Race House of the Domestic Individual: Political Subjectivities, Hierarchy and Value in the Crafting and Do-It-Yourself Labors of Domestic Fiction, 1850-Present (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Washington, 2014.
- Stout, Andrew C. "A Little Willingness to See": Sacramental Vision in Marilynne Robinson's *Housekeeping* and *Gilead* (crit). *Religion and the Arts*, 18 (4) 2014, 571-90.
- Tóibín, Colm. Putting Religion in Its Place (rev). London Review of Books, 36 (23 Oct. 2014), 19-23.
- Tyndall, Paul and Fred Ribkoff. Loss, Longing, and the Optative Mode in Marilynne Robinson's *Housekeeping*: On the Spiritual Value of Ruth's Wandering Narrative (crit). *Renascence: Essays on Values in Literature*, 66 (Spr. 2014), 87-102.

Roethke, Theodore (1908-1963)

Aguiló Obrador, Borja. The Construction of the Speaking Subject in Theodore Roethke's Poetry (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Universidad de Salamanca, 2014.

Sandburg, Carl (1878-1967)

Golden, Tasha. "Hope" in *The People, Yes*: Carl Sandburg at the Intersection of Poetry and Politics (crit). *Ethos: A Digital Review of Arts, Humanities and Public Ethics,* 1 (Apr. 2014), 10-17.

Schaffert, Timothy (b. 1969)

Kirch, Claire. Author Profile: The Wizard of Omaha (biog; crit). Publishers Weekly, 261 (3 Feb. 2014), 28-29.

Shepard, Sam (b. 1943)

- Bratic, Vesna. Stanja soka: Sto je Samu Shepardu Ostalo da Kaze Devedesetih? (crit). *Knjizevna Smotra*, 46 (1) 2014, 139-45.
- Nylin, Lars. En (Äkta) Cowboy i Hollywood: Ett Reportage om Multikonstnären Sam Shepard (biog). Stockholm: Telegram, 2014.
- Yu, Hojun. [A Study on the Dissolution of American Family Life in *A Lie of the Mind*] (crit). *Journal of Modern English Drama*, 27 (Dec. 2014), 225-55.

Simak, Clifford D. (1904-1988)

Cokinos, Christopher. The Pastoral Complexities of Clifford Simak: The Land Ethic and Pulp Lyricism in *Time and Again* (crit). *Extrapolation*, 55 (Sum. 2014), 133-52.

Sinclair, Upton (1878-1968)

Henningsgaard, Per. Teaching Australian Literature in a Class About Literatures of Social Reform (crit). Antipodes: A North American Journal of Australian Literature, 28 (June 2014), 63-73.

Smiley, Jane (b. 1949)

- Schmidt, Suzanne C. "Crafting" the Race House of the Domestic Individual: Political Subjectivities, Hierarchy and Value in the Crafting and Do-It-Yourself Labors of Domestic Fiction, 1850-Present (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Washington, 2014.
- Vermillion, Mary. The Uses of Tragedy: A Thousand Acres and American Exceptionalism (crit). Lit: Literature Interpretation Theory, 25 (Apr.-June 2014), 151-73.
- —. The Uses of Tragedy: A Thousand Acres and American Exceptionalism (crit). REAL: The Yearbook of Research in English and American Literature, 30 (2014), 179-200.

Smith, Scott (b. 1965)

Emmert, Scott D. The Horror of a Simple Man: Midwestern Evil in Scott Smith's *A Simple Plan* (crit). *Midwestern Miscellany*, 42 (Spr. 2014), 27-32.

Stafford, William (1914-1993)

- Kirch, Claire. Stafford's 100th Celebrated with Readings, Releases (biog; crit). *Publishers Weekly*, 261 (13 Jan. 2014), 43-44.
- Long, Jason Douglas. "The Road Not Taken": A Writer's Approach to Research on Poetry Writing in Creative Writing Studies (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Indiana U Pennsylvania, 2014.
- Shank, Richard. The Salt City Poet: Hutchinson Celebrates the Centennial of the Prairie-Town Kid-Turned-Poet Laureate, William Stafford (biog; crit). *Hutchinson Magazine*, 6 (Spr. 2014), 46-51.

Stegner, Wallace (1909-1993)

Teorey, Matthew. The Lorax and Wallace Stegner: Inspiring Children's Environmental Activism (crit). *Children's Literature in Education*, 45 (Dec. 2014), 324-39.

Stowe, Harriet Beecher (1811-1896)

- Adams, Bluford. "A Word or Two on the Other Side": Harriet Beecher Stowe in the Debate Over Women's Health (crit). *ESQ: A Journal of the American Renaissance*, 60 (4) 2014, 593-633.
- Banion, Kimberly Winschel. "The Continent of Glories": Geographical Concepts in Historical Literature, 1846-1877 (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Nebraska, Lincoln, 2013.
- Bannett, Nina. Keepsakes, Promises, Exchange: Female Friendship in Harriet Beecher Stowe's *The Pearl of Orr's Island* (crit). *New England Quarterly*, 87 (Sept. 2014), 412-33.
- Bezio, Kelly L. Communicable Disease in the American Literary Imagination (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U North Carolina, Chapel Hill, 2012.
- Cherry, James M. Parody, E.E. Cummings, and *Uncle Tom's Cabin* (crit). *Modern Drama*, 57 (Sum. 2014), 187-206.
- Diller, Christopher G. Signifying on Stowe: Ralph Ellison and the Sentimental Rhetoric of Invisible Man (crit). Modern Language Quarterly, 75 (Dec. 2014), 487-509.
- Edmunds, Susan Louise. "Just Like Home": Richard Wright, Harriet Beecher Stowe, and the New Deal (crit). *American Literature*, 86 (Mar. 2014), 61-86.
- Gardner, David. How Novels Act: The Dramaturgy of Nineteenth-Century American Fiction (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Pennsylvania, 2013.
- Helms, Whitney. Symbolic Capital and the Performativity of Authorship: The Construction of Commodification of the Nineteenth-Century Authorial Celebrity (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Nebraska, Lincoln, 2013.

- Henningsgaard, Per. Teaching Australian Literature in a Class About Literatures of Social Reform (crit). Antipodes: A North American Journal of Australian Literature, 28 (June 2014), 63-73.
- Jernigan, Adam T. James Baldwin's Post-Sentimental Fiction: From "Previous Condition" to Another Country (crit). Arizona Quarterly, 70 (Spr. 2014), 173-201.
- Jin, Wen. Sentimentalism's Translational Journeys: Bitter Society and Lin Shu's Translation of Uncle Tom's Cabin (crit). Modern Chinese Literature and Culture, 26 (Spr. 2014), 105-36.
- Koester, Nancy. *Harriet Beecher Stowe: A Spiritual Life* (biog). Grand Rapids, Mich.: Wm. B. Eerdmans Publishing Co., 2014.
- Raabe, Wesley. Estranging Anthology Texts of American Literature: Digital Humanities Resources for Harriet Beecher Stowe, Walt Whitman, and Emily Dickinson. CEA Critic, 76 (July 2014), 169-90.
- Rosenthal, Debra J. The Sentimental Appeal to Salvific Paternity in *Uncle Tom's Cabin* and *Moby-Dick* (crit). *Texas Studies in Literature and Language*, 56 (Sum. 2014), 135-47.
- Schmidt, Suzanne C. "Crafting" the Race House of the Domestic Individual: Political Subjectivities, Hierarchy and Value in the Crafting and Do-It-Yourself Labors of Domestic Fiction, 1850-Present (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Washington, 2014.
- Schoolman, Martha. Abolitionist Geographies (crit). Minneapolis: U Minnesota P, 2014.
- Thompson, April. Trashed: The Myth of the Southern Poor White (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Arkansas, Fayetteville, 2014.
- Trupej, Janko. Prevajanje Rasisticnega Diskurza o Temnopoltih v Slovenscino (crit). *Primerjalna Knjizevnost*, 37 (3) 2014, 89-109.

Terkel, Studs (1912-2008)

Frisch, Michael. Studs Terkel, Historian (crit). *Oral History Review*, 41 (Sum.-Fall 2014), 269-78.

Thompson, Era Bell (1905-1986)

Weissinger, Thomas. *The Book Collecting Practices of Black Magazine Editors* (crit). Sacramento, Calif.: Litwin Books, 2014.

Thurber, James (1894-1961)

Grant, Charles. The Secret Life of Walter Mitty (crit). Sight and Sound, 24 (Jan. 2014), 14-15.

Treuer, David (b. 1970)

Eils, Colleen G. The Politics of Make-Believe: Dissimulation and Reciprocity in David Treuer's *The Translation of Dr. Apelles* (crit). *Studies in American Indian Literatures*, 26 (Win. 2014), 39-58.

Van Allsburg, Chris (b. 1949)

Cusenza, Vincent. A Portrait of a Young Writer with Roots in Grand Rapids (biog). *East Grand Rapids Life* (Feb. 2014), 14-17.

Van Vechten, Carl (1880-1964)

White, Edward. *The Tastemaker: Carl Van Vechten and the Birth of Modern America* (biog; crit). NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2014.

Vizenor, Gerald (b. 1934)

Marandi, Seyed Mohammed and Mohsen Hanif. Aesthetics of Opposition: The Politics of Metamorphosis in Gerald Vizenor's *Bearheart* (crit). 452 F: Revista de Teoría de la Literatura y Literatura Comparada, 11 (2014), 142-60.

Sinclair, Jane. No Admission Required: Sovereignty, Slots and Native American Art (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U New Mexico, 2014.

Vonnegut, Kurt (1922-2007)

- Azahua, Marina. Dos Dedicatorias y Un Oficio (crit). *Letras Libres*, 16 (June 2014), 96-97. Babaee, Ruzbeh, Wan Roselezam Bt Wan, and Shivani Sivagurunathan. Dystopian Cybernetic Environment in Kurt Vonnegut's *Slaughterhouse-Five* (crit). *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 4 (2) 2014, 237-43.
- Burcar, Lilijana. *American Literature and Its Socio-Political Context* (crit). Ljubljana: Znanstvena Zalozba Filozofske Fakultete, 2014.
- Farrell, Susan. "A Convenient Reality": Kurt Vonnegut's *Mother Night* and the Falsification of History (crit). *Critique*, 55 (2) 2014, 226-36.
- Faucher, Benoôt. By Indirections Find Directions out: Thinkable Worlds in Abbott and Vonnegut (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Université de Montréal, 2013.
- Oramus, Dominika. Two Exercises in Consilience: Annie Dillard and Kurt Vonnegut on the Galapagos Archipelago as the Archetypal Darwinian Setting (crit). *Anglica: Studies in English and American Literature*, 23 (1) 2014, 19-29.
- Rossi, Umberto. Bombardamenti Disumanitari: La Guerra Aerea Americana in Falstein, Heller e Vonnegut, 1950-1969 (crit). *Fictions: Studi Sulla Narratività*, 13 (2014), 31-48. Scheck, Denis. *Kurt Vonnegut* (biog). Berlin: Deutscher Kunstverlag, 2014.
- Simut, Andrei. Elements of Science Fiction and the Fascination with the Post-Human Gaze in Kurt Vonnegut's *Galápagos* (crit). *Caietele Echinox*, 26 (2014), 282-91.
- Wakefield, Dan. Kurt Vonnegut, Christ-Loving Atheist (crit). *Image: Art, Faith, Mystery*, 82 (Fall 2014), 67-75.
- Wicks, Amanda. "All This Happened, More or Less": The Science Fiction of Trauma in *Slaughterhouse-Five* (crit). *Critique*, 55 (3) 2014, 329-40.

Walker, Margaret (1915-1998)

Brown, Carolyn J. *Song of My Life: A Biography of Margaret Walker* (biog; crit). Jackson: U P of Mississippi, 2014.

Wallace, David Foster (1962-2008)

- Bolger, Robert K. and Scott Korb, eds. *Gesturing Toward Reality: David Foster Wallace and Philosophy* (crit). NY: Bloomsbury Academic, 2014.
- Boswell, Marshall. Author Here: The Legal Fiction of David Foster Wallace's *The Pale King* (crit). *English Studies*, 95 (Jan 2014), 25-39.
- ed. David Foster Wallace and "The Long Thing" (crit). NY: Bloomsbury Academic, 2014.
- Brousseau, Simon. Croire aux Pouvoirs de la Littérature: David Foster Wallace et la Question de l'Influence Littéraire (crit). D.Litt. Dissertation, Université du Québec à Montréal, 2014.
- Burn, Stephen J. Toward a General Theory of Vision in Wallace's Fiction (crit). *English Studies*, 95 (Jan. 2014), 85-93.
- De Bourcier, Simon. Forms, Punch Cards and LETTERS: Self-Reference, Recursion and (Un)self-Consciousness in *The Pale King's* Representation of Bureaucracy (crit). *English Studies*, 95 (Jan. 2014), 40-58.
- Dulk, Allard den. Existentialist Engagement in Wallace, Eggers and Foer: A Philosophical Analysis of Contemporary American Literature (crit). NY: Bloomsbury Academic, 2014.
- Elderon, Shannon. The Shaping of Storied Selves in David Foster Wallace's *The Pale King* (crit). *Critique*, 55 (5) 2014, 508-21.
- Fest, Bradley J. The Apocalypse Archive: American Literature and the Nuclear Bomb (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Pittsburgh, 2013.

- Godden, Richard and Michael Szalay. The Bodies in the Bubble: David Foster Wallace's *The Pale King* (crit). *Textual Practice*, 28 (Dec. 2014), 1273-1322.
- Gonzalez, Jeffrey. Necessary Fictions: The U.S. Novel in the End of Ideology (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Pennsylvania State U, 2011.
- Hamilton, Robert C. "Constant Bliss in Every Atom": Tedium and Transcendence in David Foster Wallace's *The Pale King* (crit). *Arizona Quarterly*, 70 (Win. 2014), 167-90.
- Harris, Charles B. The Anxiety of Influence: The John Barth/David Foster Wallace Connection (crit). Critique, 55 (2) 2014, 103-26.
- Herrera, José María. David Foster Wallace y el Aburrimiento (crit). Cuadernos Hispanoamericanos, 773 (Nov. 2014), 69-78.
- Himmelheber, Rachel Haley. "I Believed She Could Save Me": Rape Culture in David Foster Wallace's "Brief Interviews with Hideous Men #20" (crit). Critique, 55 (5) 2014, 522-35.
- Hogg, Emily J. Subjective Politics in *The Pale King* (crit). *English Studies*, 95 (Jan. 2014), 59-69.
- Houser, Heather. Managing Information and Materiality in *Infinite Jest* and *Running the Numbers* (crit). *American Literary History*, 26 (Win. 2014), 742-64.
- Jansen, Brian Douglas. "On the Porousness of Certain Borders": Attending to Objects in David Foster Wallace's *Infinite Jest* (crit). *English Studies in Canada*, 40 (Dec. 2014), 55-77.
- Kaiser, Wilson. David Foster Wallace and the Ethical Challenge of Posthumanism (crit). Mosaic: A Journal for the Interdisciplinary Study of Literature, 47 (Sept. 2014), 53-69.
- Kelly, Adam. Dialectic of Sincerity: Lionel Trilling and David Foster Wallace (crit). Post45 (17 Oct. 2014), unpaginated.
- Kirichenko, Alexander. Satura und Pikareske: Der Unendliche Spass der Satyrica Petrons (crit). LiLi: Zeitschrift für Literaturwissenschaft und Linguistik, 44 (175) 2014, 24-48.
- McGurl, Mark. The Institution of Nothing: David Foster Wallace in the Program (crit). Boundary 2: An International Journal of Literature and Culture, 41 (Fall 2014), 27-54.
- Peffer, Christine. City Upon the Convexity: The Satire of American Exceptionalism in David Foster Wallace's *Infinite Jest* (crit). *REAL: The Yearbook of Research in English and American Literature*, 30 (2014), 221-35.
- Rye Anderson, Tore. Pay Attention! David Foster Wallace and His Real Enemies (crit). English Studies, 95 (Jan. 2014), 7-24.
- Shapiro, Stephen. From Capitalist to Communist Abstraction: *The Pale King*'s Cultural Fix (crit). *Textual Practice*, 28 (Dec. 2014), 1249-71.
- Staes, Toon. The Coatlicue Complex in David Foster Wallace's *Infinite Jest* (crit). *Explicator*, 72 (Jan.-Mar. 2014), 67-71.
- Work in Process: A Genesis for The Pale King (crit). English Studies, 95 (Jan. 2014), 70-84.
- Thompson, Lucas. Programming Literary Influence: David Foster Wallace's "B.I. #59" (crit). *Texas Studies in Literature and Language*, 56 (Sum. 2014), 113-34.
- Valenzuela Magana, Juan Fernando. Acerca de David Foster Wallace (crit). *Cuadernos Hispanoamericanos*, 773 (Nov. 2014), 79-86.
- Watts, Richard. Floating Signifiers: Cruise Ships and the Memory of Other Voyages (crit). *Journal of Romance Studies*, 14 (Sum. 2014), 78-90.
- West, Mark Peter. Between Times: 21st Century American Fiction and the Long Sixties (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Glasgow, 2014.

Waller, Robert James (b. 1939)

Accetta, Valerie. Framing *The Bridges of Madison County* (crit). *Studies in Musical Theatre*, 8 (June 2014), 185-94.

Ware, Chris (b. 1967)

Chute, Hillary. Panel: Graphic Novel Forms Today (crit). *Critical Inquiry*, 40 (Spr. 2014), 151-68.

White, Randy Wayne (b. 1950)

Smiley, Kathryn. "Absolutely Almost Feverish": Randy Wayne White (biog; crit). *Firsts: The Book Collector's Magazine*, 24 (Nov.-Dec. 2014), 12-14.

Smiley, Robin. Randy Wayne White: An Annotated Checklist of First Editions (bibl). *Firsts: The Book Collector's Magazine*, 24 (Nov.-Dec. 2014), 15-21, 24-39.

Wilder, Laura Ingalls (1867-1957)

Lynn, Teresa. Little Lodges on the Prairie: Freemasonry & Laura Ingalls Wilder (biog). Austin, Tex.: Tranquility Press, 2014.

Slater, Katharine. "Now We're All Snug": The Regionalism of *Little House on the Prairie* (crit). *Genre: Forms of Discourse and Culture*, 47 (Spr. 2014), 55-77.

Wilder, Laura Ingalls. *Pioneer Girl: The Annotated Autobiography* (biog; crit). Ed. Pamela Smith Hill. Pierre: South Dakota Historical Society P, 2014.

Wilder, Thornton (1897-1975)

Fernández Rodríguez, Daniel. Nuevos Datos Acerca de los Repertorios Teatrales en el Primer Catálogo de *El Peregrino en su Patria* (crit). *Studia Aurea: Revista de Literatura Española y Teoría Literaria del Renacimiento y Siglo de Oro*, 8 (2014), 277-314.

Gunn, Tony. Grover's Corners Gets Sexy: The Appealing Dissonance of David Cromer's Our Town (crit). Theatre Symposium: A Journal of the Southeastern Theatre Conference, 22 (2014), 110-20.

Lehman, John. *From Wisconsin* (biog; crit). Rockdale, Wis.: Zelda Wilde Publishing, 2014. McAlindon, Tom. Cathedral Musings: Larkin, Wilder, and the Mutability Tradition (crit). *English: The Journal of the English Association*, 63 (Sum. 2014), 115-31.

Ronen, Irena. Pervy? Angloiazychny? Roman Nabokova v Kontekste Anglo-Amerikanskoi Prozy ego Sovremennikov (crit). *Zvezda*, 4 (2014), unpaginated.

Williams, Tennessee (1911-1983)

Andreach, Robert J. *Tragedy in the Contemporary American Theatre* (crit). Lanham, Md.: U P of America. 2014.

Arnold, Kevin. Masculinity and Fantasy in Postwar American Literature (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, SUNY Buffalo, 2013.

Bak, John S., ed. *Tennessee Williams and Europe: Intercultural Encounters, Transatlantic Exchanges* (crit). Amsterdam: Editions Rodopi, 2014.

Bottoms, Stephen J., et al. A Student Handbook to the Plays of Tennessee Williams (crit). London: Bloomsbury Methuen Drama, 2014.

Cope, Virginia H. A Multiethnic *Streetcar Named Desire*: We've Had This Date from the Beginning (crit). *Modern Drama*, 57 (Win. 2014), 493-512.

Costa, Francisco. "There Was Something Different About the Boy": Queer Subversion in Tennessee Williams's A Streetcar Named Desire (crit). Interactions: Ege Journal of British and American Studies, 23 (Spr.-Fall 2014), 77-85.

Eggert, Viki Zavales. Authentic Monsters and Artificial Mothers: Maternal Frustration in Pedro Almodóvar's *All About My Mother* (crit). *Literature/Film Quarterly*, 42 (1) 2014, 386-97.

Emin Tunc, Tanfer. "The Game is the Double Game": Medical Discourse in Tennessee Williams's *The Loss of a Teardrop Diamond* (crit). *Literature and Medicine*, 32 (Spr. 2014), 169-92.

- Kolin, Philip C. "Darling" Pru: Four Unpublished Tennessee Williams Letters to Truman Capote (corr; crit). *Journal of Modern Literature*, 37 (Win. 2014), 161-76.
- —. The Theatricalization of Belief in Tennessee Williams's "Thank You, Kind Spirit" (crit). *Notes on Contemporary Literature*, 44 (Jan. 2014), 7-10.
- Lahr, John. *Tennessee Williams: Mad Pilgrimage of the Flesh* (biog; crit). NY: W.W. Norton, 2014.
- Maruéjouls-Koch, Sophie. The Haunted Stage of *Summer and Smoke*: Tennessee Williams's Forgotten Silent Film Sequences (crit). *Modern Drama*, 57 (Spr. 2014), 19-40.
- Michiels, Laura. Transmuting Performance: Esotericism and Metatheatre in Tennessee Williams's *The Two-Character Play* (crit). *Arcadia: Internationale Zeitschrift für Literaturwissenschaft*, 49 (2) 2014, 392-412.
- Murphy, Brenda. *The Theatre of Tennessee Williams* (crit). NY: Bloomsbury Methuen Drama, 2014.
- O'Brien, Geoffrey. The Outsider Art of Tennessee (rev). New York Review of Books, 61 (23 Oct. 2014), 28, 30-31.
- Porter, Darwin and Danforth Prince. Pink Triangle: The Feuds and Private Lives of Tennessee Williams, Gore Vidal, Truman Capote, and Members of their Entourages (biog). NY: Blood Moon Productions, 2014.
- Powers, Thomas. One Great Good Thing (rev). *London Review of Books*, 36 (20 Nov. 2014), 13-15.
- Rea, Robert. Tennessee Williams's *The Rose Tattoo*: Sicilian Migration and the Mississippi Gulf Coast (crit). *Southern Literary Journal*, 46 (Spr. 2014), 140-54.
- San Segundo, Pablo Ruano. El Valor Caracterizador de las Acotaciones en *The Glass Menagerie* y Su Traducción al Español (crit). *Anuario de Estudios Filológicos*, 37 (2014), 215-35.
- Wlodek, Patrycja. Miédzy Stlumieniem a Ekscesem: Tennessee Williams w Amerykanskim Kinie lat 50 (crit). *Kwartalnik Filmowy*, 87/88 (2014), 83-98.

Woodrell, Daniel (b. 1953)

- Claxton, Mae Miller. Eudora Welty and Daniel Woodrell: Writings of the Upland South (crit). *Eudora Welty Review*, 6 (Spr. 2014), 83-95.
- Petitjean, Vincent. Un Conte d'Hiver: Des Fréres Grimm à Daniel Woodrell et Debra Granik (crit). Revue de Littérature Comparée, 349 (Jan.-Mar. 2014), 53-68, 126, 128.
- Wydeven, Joseph J. Daniel Woodrell's New American Adam: Myth and Country Noir in *Winter's Bone* (crit). *Midwestern Miscellany*, 42 (Spr. 2014), 45-56.

Woolson, Constance Fenimore (1840-1894)

- Campana, Carlo, Gregory Dowling, and Rosella Mamoli Zorzi, eds. *Two Lovers of Venice: Byron and Constance Fenimore Woolson* (biog). Venezia: Supernova, 2014.
- Yeazell, Ruth Bernard. In What Sense Did She Love Him? (rev). *London Review of Books*, 36 (8 May 2014), 33-35.
- Yoder, Edwin M. Sad Rags: Tales of Enchanted Dresses (crit). Sewanee Review, 122 (Sum. 2014), 478-83.

Wright, James A. (1927-1980)

- Gustafson, Mark. Bringing Blood to Trakl's Ghost (crit). *Antioch Review*, 72 (Fall 2014), 636-54.
- Lieberman, Laurence. Of Two Sublimities: Love Poems (crit). American Poetry Review, 43 (July-Aug. 2014), 37-38.

Wright, Richard (1908-1960)

- Ahern, Megan K. Creative Multivalence: Social Engagement Beyond Naturalism in Gwendolyn Brooks's *Maud Martha* (crit). *African American Review*, 47 (Sum.-Fall 2014), 313-26.
- Brink, Dean Anthony. Richard Wright's Search for a Counter-Hegemonic Genre: The Anamorphic and Matrixial Potential of Haiku (crit). *Textual Practice*, 28 (Oct. 2014), 1077-1102.
- Craven, Alice Mikal and William E. Dow, eds. *Richard Wright in a Post-Racial Imaginary* (crit). NY: Bloomsbury Academic, 2014.
- Davis, Kenneth. The South in Richard Wright's Haiku (crit). *Valley Voices*, 14 (Spr. 2014), 89-95.
- Dunbar, Eve. The Multiple Frames for a Dynamic Diaspora in Richard Wright's *Black Power* (crit). *Papers on Language and Literature*, 50 (Sum.-Fall 2014), 269-80.
- Edmunds, Susan Louise. "Just Like Home": Richard Wright, Harriet Beecher Stowe, and the New Deal (crit). *American Literature*, 86 (Mar. 2014), 61-86.
- Fisher, Rebecka Rutledge. Habitations of the Veil: Metaphor and the Poetics of Black Being in African American Literature (crit). Albany: SUNY Press, 2014.
- Fraile-Marcos, Ana María. The Transcultural Intertextuality of George Elliott Clarke's African Canadianité: (African) American Models Shaping *George & Rue* (crit). *African American Review*, 47 (Spr. 2014), 113-28.
- Garcia, Michael Nieto. Autobiography in Black & Brown: Ethnic Identity in Richard Wright and Richard Rodriguez (crit). Albuquerque: U New Mexico P, 2014.
- Gleich, Lewis S. Richard Wright's "I Am an American, but...": Dating an Unpublished Manuscript (crit). *Notes and Queries*, 61 (Mar. 2014), 113-14.
- Hakutani, Yoshinobu. Richard Wright and Haiku (crit). Columbia: U Missouri P, 2014.
- Johnson, Jeffrey Buck. Oneness in Opposing Forces in Richard Wrightís Haiku (crit). Valley Voices, 14 (Spr. 2014), 81-88.
- Lowndes, Sarah. All Art Is Political: Writings on Performative Art (crit). Edinburgh: Luath Press, 2014.
- Matthews, Kadeshia L. Black Boy No More? Violence and the Flight from Blackness in Richard Wright's *Native Son* (crit). *Modern Fiction Studies*, 60 (Sum. 2014), 276-97.
- Schnettler, Tobias. Darstellungen der Great Migration: Richard Wright und Jacob Lawrence (crit). Frankfurt am Main: Peter Lang, 2014.
- Shimazu, Naoko. Diplomacy as Theatre: Staging the Bandung Conference of 1955 (crit). *Modern Asian Studies*, 48 (Jan. 2014), 225-52.
- Warnes, Andrew. American Tantalus: Horizons, Happiness, and the Impossible Pursuits of US Literature and Culture (crit). NY: Bloomsbury Academic, 2014.
- Weik von Mossner, Alexa. Cosmopolitan Minds: Literature, Emotion, and the Transnational Imagination (crit). Austin: U Texas P, 2014.
- Wolmart, Gregory. Styles of Anarchic Will in Cold War American Literature (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, U Pennsylvania, 2013.

Young Bear, Ray A. (b. 1950)

Beard, Laura. Playing Indian in the Works of Rebecca Belmore, Marilyn Dumont, and Ray Young Bear (crit). *American Indian Quarterly*, 38 (Fall 2014), 492-511.

Zitkala-Sa (Red Bird) (1876-1938)

- Byrd, Gayle. The Presence and Use of the Native American and African American Oral Trickster Traditions in Zitkala-Sa's *Old Indian Legends* and *American Indian Stories* and Charles Chesnutt's *The Conjure Woman* (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Temple U, 2014.
- Dosch, Corey J. Paradoxically Progressive: The Red Progressives and the Creation of a Modern Native American Subjectivity (crit). Ph.D. Dissertation, Syracuse U, 2014.

Suhr-Sytsma, Mandy. Spirits from Another Realm, Activists in Their Own Right: The Figure of the Yankton/Romantic Child in Zitkala-Sa's Work (crit). *Children's Literature*, 42 (2014), 136-68.

LIBRARY OF AMERICA EDITIONS

- Leonard, Elmore. Four Novels of the 1970s. Gregg Sutter, ed. NY: Library of America, 2014. [no.255]
- Vonnegut, Kurt. Novels 1976-1985. Sidney Offit, ed. NY: Library of America, 2014. [no.252]

PERIODICALS

- Bearing Witness: Joyce Carol Oates Studies. Vol. 1- (2014-). Annual. Randy Souther, editor. Gleeson Library, University of San Francisco, San Francisco, California 94117.
- Middle West Review: An Interdisciplinary Journal About the American Midwest. Vol. 1-(Fall 2014-). Semiannual. University of Nebraska Press, 1111 Lincoln Mall, Lincoln, Nebraska 68588.
- Old Northwest Review. Vol. 1- (Fall 2014-). Annual? Brandon James Anderson, editor. The Fly Came Near It, Flint, Michigan.

The Society for the Study of Midwestern Literature congratulates

Steven Trout

Winner of the 2017 MidAmerica Award for distinguished contributions to the study of Midwestern literature

and

Gloria Whelan

Winner of the 2017 Mark Twain Award for distinguished contributions to Midwestern literature

These awards will be presented at noon on June 2, 2017, at the Society's 47th annual meeting, Kellogg Center, Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan, June 1-3, 2017.

For registration information, go to the "annual symposium" link at ssml.org

CALL FOR MONOGRAPHS: LORINE NIEDECKER MONOGRAPH SERIES

The Friends of Lorine Niedecker are pleased to announce the formation of an editorial board to oversee the creation, production, and distribution of monographs on the life and work of Lorine Niedecker. The series is titled, *What Region?* in homage to Niedecker's response when she learned that the library at the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee had cataloged her work under local or regional poetry. "What region?" Niedecker asked. "London, Wisconsin, New York?" The editorial board for the series consists of Tom Montag (Managing Editor), Chuck Stebelton (Production Editor), Nancy Rafal, and Karl Gartung. The editors envision publishing two monographs per year, intending to solicit writing about Lorine Niedecker that is personable, insightful, and appropriate to an encounter with Lorine. The first two monographs were launched on May 12, 2015. They are available for sale at Woodland Pattern Book Center in Milwaukee and through the Woodland Pattern website.



Dictionary of Midwestern Literature Volume 2

Dimensions of the Midwestern Literary Imagination Edited by Philip A. Greasley

A project of the Society for the Study of Midwestern Literature

The Midwest is often thought of as the most American of the nation's regions. Its literature and culture reflect its locales, landforms, and history while remaining vibrant, evolving entities that partake fully of national and international trends. Midwestern literature and culture are sophisticated, complex amalgams marked by diversity, egalitarian values, and emphasis on education.

Volume Two of the *Dictionary of Midwestern Literature* delineates the Midwestern literary imagination through multiple entries in each of the following categories:

- »» Thirty-five pivotal Midwestern literary texts
- »» Literatures of the twelve Midwestern states and leading cities
- »» Literatures of the Midwest's many diverse population groups
- »» Historical and cultural developments, like the introduction of printing and publishing as agents of civilization, evolving views of Native Americans, and shifting perspectives on business, technology, religion, and philosophy
- »» Social movements and cultural change, from small towns, immigration, and migration to urban life, protest, radicalism, and progressivism
- »» Literary genres from the age of exploration to comic strips, film, science fiction, environmental writing, poetry slams, and graphic novels
- »» Literary periodicals
- »» Regional studies

PHILIP A. GREASLEY is a retired Associate Professor of English, Dean, University Extension, and Associate Provost for University Engagement at the University of Kentucky. He has served as General Editor of the *Dictionary of Midwestern Literature* and has published widely on Midwestern writers, the Chicago Renaissance, and modern poetics.



RECIPIENTS OF THE MARK TWAIN AWARD for distinguished contributions to Midwestern Literature

I 1 C	1000
Jack Conroy	1980
Frederick Manfred	1981
Wright Morris	1982
John Voelker (Robert Traver)	1983
Harriette Arnow	1984
Gwendolyn Brooks	1985
John Knoepfle	1986
Andrew Greeley	1987
Harry Mark Petrakis	1988
Dudley Randall	1989
Jim Harrison	1990
Don Robertson	1991
Ray Bradbury	1992
Mona Van Duyn	1993
William H. Gass	1994
William Maxwell	1995
Sara Paretsky	1996
Toni Morrison	1997
Jon Hassler	
Judith Minty	1998
Virginia Hamilton	1999
William Kienzle	2000
Dan Gerber	2001
Herbert Woodward Martin	2002
David Citino	2003
Richard Thomas	2004
Margo Lagattuta	2005
David Diamond	2006
Stuart Dybek	2007
Jonis Agee	2008
Scott Russell Sanders	2009
Jane Hamilton	2010
Louise Erdrich	2011
Sandra Seaton	2012
Ted Kooser	2013
Naomi Long Madgett	2014
Philip Levine	2015
Michael Martone	2016